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PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Information)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:

Trade, net of allowance for credit losses of $515 and $606, respectively

Retainage
Income taxes receivable
Other current
Inventory
Contract assets
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of depreciation
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net of amortization
Financing lease right-of-use assets, net of amortization
Inventory, non-current
Intangible assets, net of amortization
Deferred income tax asset
Other non-current

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current debt, net of debt issuance costs
Accounts payable:
Trade
Retainage
Accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Contract liabilities
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Current portion of financing lease liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs
Operating lease liabilities
Financing lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred income tax liability
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock -- $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 authorized, none issued

Common stock -- $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 authorized, 32,885,972 and 32,770,550 issued; 32,174,741 and
32,059,319 outstanding at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively

Treasury stock, 711,231 shares, at cost, as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Retained loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

March 31, December 31,
2023 2022
(Unaudited)

2,845 $ 3,784
99,612 106,758
52,870 50,873

399 402

3,830 3,526

2,791 2,862
30,020 43,903

9,789 8,229

202,156 220,337
97,307 100,977
14,765 14,978
15,202 15,839

5,464 5,469

7,155 7,317

73 70

2,065 2,168

344,187  $ 367,155
40,122 $ 34,956
72,033 87,605

1,188 1,198
20,839 18,466

1,210 522
36,573 37,720

4,936 4,738

3,486 4,031

180,387 189,236
(93) 716
10,609 11,018
10,882 11,102
16,577 17,072
268 211
218,630 229,355
329 328
(6,540) (6,540)

188,535 188,184

(56,767) (44,172)

125,557 137,800

344187  $ 367,155

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Information)

(Unaudited)
Three months ended March 31,
2023 2022

Contract revenues $ 159,174  $ 174,931
Costs of contract revenues 153,334 162,115

Gross profit 5,840 12,816
Selling, general and administrative expenses 17,017 16,170
Amortization of intangible assets 162 310
Gain on disposal of assets, net (696) (809)

Operating loss (10,643) (2,855)
Other (expense) income:

Other income 293 44

Interest income 28 19

Interest expense (1,633) (740)

Other expense, net (1,312) (677)

Loss before income taxes (11,955) (3,532)

Income tax expense 640 1,324

Net loss $ (12,595) $ (4,856)
Basic loss per share $ 0.39) $ (0.16)
Diluted loss per share $ 0.39) $ (0.16)
Shares used to compute loss per share:

Basic 32,180,274 30,971,379

Diluted 32,180,274 30,971,379

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Information)

Balance, December 31, 2022
Stock-based compensation

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Payments related to tax withholding for
stock-based compensation

Net loss

Balance, March 31, 2023

Balance, December 31, 2021
Stock-based compensation

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Payments related to tax withholding for
stock-based compensation

Net loss

Balance, March 31, 2022

(Unaudited)
Common Treasury Additional
Stock Stock Paid-In Retained
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Loss Total
32,770,550 $ 328 (711,231) $ (6,540) $ 188,184 $ (44,172) $ 137,800
— — — — 524 — 524
187,275 2 — — ) — —
(8,977) — — — — — —
(62,876) ) — — (171) — (172)
— — — — —  (12,595)  (12,595)
32,885,972 $ 329 (711,231) $ (6,540) $ 188,535 $(56,767) $ 125,557
Common Treasury Additional
Stock Stock Paid-In Retained
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Loss Total
31,712,457 $ 317 (711,231) $ (6,540) $ 185,881 $ (31,560) $ 148,098
— — — — 370 — 370
8,929 — — — — — —
(39,922) — — — _ _
(4,739) — — — (15) — (15)
— — — — —  (4856)  (4,856)
31,676,725 $ 317 (711,231) $ (6,540) $ 186,236 $ (36,416) $ 143,597

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in Thousands)

(Unaudited)

Three months ended March 31,
2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (12,595) $ (4,856)
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities:

Operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 4,721 5,503
Amortization of ROU operating leases 1,211 1,176
Amortization of ROU finance leases 725 760
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs 163 32
Deferred income taxes 54 19
Stock-based compensation 524 370
Gain on disposal of assets, net (695) (809)
Allowance for credit losses (35) —
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 5,011 (13,907)
Income tax receivable 3 —
Inventory 76 (189)
Prepaid expenses and other (1,457) 2,504
Contract assets 13,883 4,055
Accounts payable (14,757) 12,689
Accrued liabilities 1,802 (3,075)
Operating lease liabilities (1,208) (1,183)
Income tax payable 688 1,376
Contract liabilities (1,147) 5,595
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (3,033) 10,060
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 576 713
Purchase of property and equipment (1,876) (3,523)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,300) (2,810)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings from Credit Facility 5,000 —
Payments made on borrowings from Credit Facility (69) (11,671)
Loan costs from Credit Facility (586) (494)
Payments of finance lease liabilities (779) (637)
Payments related to tax withholding for share-based compensation (172) (15)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 3,394 (12,817)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (939) (5,567)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 3,784 12,293
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 2,845 $ 6,726

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 1,576 $ 154
Taxes, net of refunds $ (104) $ (71)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements




Table of Contents

Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular Amounts in Thousands, Except Share and per Share Amounts)
(Unaudited)

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business

Orion Group Holdings, Inc., its subsidiaries and affiliates (hereafter collectively referred to as the “Company”),
provide a broad range of specialty construction services in the infrastructure, industrial, and building sectors of
the continental United States, Alaska, Canada and the Caribbean Basin. The Company’s marine segment
services the infrastructure sector through marine transportation facility construction, marine pipeline
construction, marine environmental structures, dredging of waterways, channels and ports, environmental
dredging, design, and specialty services. Its concrete segment services the building sector by providing turnkey
concrete construction services including place and finish, site preparation, layout, forming, and rebar placement
for large commercial, structural and other associated business areas. The Company is headquartered in Houston,
Texas with offices throughout its operating areas.

The tools used by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”) to allocate resources and assess performance
are based on two reportable and operating segments: marine, which operates under the Orion brand and logo,
and concrete, which operates under the TAS Commercial Concrete brand and logo.

Although we describe the business in this report in terms of the services the Company provides, its base of
customers and the areas in which it operates, the Company has determined that its operations currently comprise
two reportable segments pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 280, Segment Reporting.

In making this determination, the Company considered the similar economic characteristics of its operations
that comprise its marine segment. For the marine segment, the methods used, and the internal processes
employed, to deliver marine construction services are similar throughout the segment, including standardized
estimating, project controls and project management. This segment has the same customers with similar funding
drivers and are subject to similar regulatory regimes driven through Federal agencies such as the U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and U.S.
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”), among others. Additionally, the segment is driven
by macro-economic considerations including the level of import/export seaborne transportation, development of
energy-related infrastructure, cruise line expansion and operations, marine bridge infrastructure development,
waterway pipeline crossings and the maintenance of waterways. These considerations, and others, are key
catalysts for future prospects and are similar across the segment.

For the concrete segment, the Company also considered the similar economic characteristics of these
operations. The methods used, and the internal processes employed, to deliver concrete construction services are
similar throughout the segment, including standardized estimating, project controls and project management.
The projects of this segment are subject to similar regulatory regimes such as OSHA. Additionally, this segment
is driven by macro-economic considerations, including movements in population, commercial real estate
development, institutional funding and expansion, and recreational development, specifically in metropolitan
areas of Texas. These considerations, and others, are key catalysts for current operations and future prospects
and are similar across the segment.
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Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and financial information included herein have
been prepared pursuant to the interim period reporting requirements of Form 10-Q. Consequently, certain
information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted.
Readers of this report should also read the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 (“2022 Form 10-K”)
as well as Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
also included in its 2022 Form 10-K.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
contain all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial position, results
of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented. Such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.
Interim results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2023.

In connection with preparing consolidated financial statements for each annual and interim reporting period, the
Company is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that
the financial statements are issued. Substantial doubt exists when conditions and events, considered in
aggregate, indicate that it is probable that a company will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due
within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued. This evaluation initially does
not take into consideration the potential mitigating effect of management’s plans and actions that have not been
fully implemented as of the date that the financial statements are issued. When substantial doubt exists,
management evaluates whether the mitigating effect of its plans sufficiently alleviates substantial doubt about
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The mitigating effect of management’s plans, however, is
only considered if both: (1) it is probable that the plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the
date that the financial statements are issued; and (2) it is probable that the plans, when implemented, will
mitigate the relevant conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. Generally, to be
considered probable of being effectively implemented, the plans must have been approved before the date that
the financial statements are issued.

The assessment of the liquidity and going concern requires the Company to make estimates of future activity
and judgments about whether the Company is compliant with financial covenant calculations under its debt and
other agreements and has adequate liquidity to operate. Significant assumptions used in the Company's
forecasted model of liquidity include forecasted sales, costs, and capital expenditures and expected timing and
proceeds of planned real estate transactions. The Company has sustained operating losses for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021. Also as described in Note 11, the Company had $40.0 million of outstanding
indebtedness under its Credit Facility as of March 31, 2023 which matures on July 31, 2023. As of the date of
the filing of the Company’s 2022 Form 10-K on March 16, 2023, the Company’s existing cash and cash
equivalents were not sufficient to satisfy the Company’s operating cash needs for at least one year after the
issuance of the financial statements. These conditions raised substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the date the financial statements were issued. As such,
management concluded at the date of the issuance of the financial statements included in the Company’s 2022
Form 10-K that substantial doubt existed as to going concern.
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To alleviate this condition, the Company engaged in a syndication process to refinance the outstanding debt. On
May 15, 2023, the Company entered into a new three-year $103.0 million senior secured credit facility with
White Oak ABL, LLC and White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC (collectively, “White Oak”) which includes a
$65.0 million asset based revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”) and a $38.0 million fixed asset term loan
(the “Term Loan”). See Note 19 for more information regarding the debt refinancing.

Based on an assessment of the completion of the debt refinancing process and the other factors above,
management believes that the Company will have adequate liquidity for its operations for at least the next 12
months. Therefore, management’s conclusion is that the conditions that previously raised substantial doubt have
been resolved and substantial doubt is no longer raised as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management’s estimates, judgments and assumptions are
continually evaluated based on available information and experience; however, actual amounts could differ
from those estimates.

On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates the significant accounting policies used to prepare its condensed
consolidated financial statements, including, but not limited to, those related to:

® Revenue recognition from construction contracts;

e The recording of accounts receivable and allowance for credit losses;

® The carrying value of property, plant and equipment;

o Leases;

e Finite and infinite-lived intangible assets, testing for indicators of impairment;
e Stock-based compensation;

e Income taxes; and

e Self-insurance.
Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue is derived from contracts to provide marine construction, dredging, turnkey concrete
services, and other specialty services. The Company’s projects are typically brief in duration, but occasionally,
span a period of over one year. The Company determines the appropriate accounting treatment for each contract
before work begins and, subject to qualifications discussed in the next paragraph, generally records contract
revenue over time.

Performance obligations are promises in a contract to transfer distinct goods or services to the customer and are
the unit of account under Topic 606. Each of the Company’s contracts and related change orders typically
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represent a single performance obligation because the Company provides an integrated service and individual
goods and services are not separately identifiable. Revenue is recognized over time because control of the
promised goods and services are continuously transferred to the customer over the life of the contract. For
contracts with multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the contract’s transaction price to each
performance obligation using its best estimate of the stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service.
Progress is measured by the percentage of actual contract costs incurred to date to total estimated costs for each
contract. This method is used because management considers contract costs incurred to be the best available
measure of progress on these contracts. Contract costs include all direct costs, such as material and labor, and
those indirect costs incurred that are related to contract performance such as payroll taxes and insurance.
General and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Upfront costs, such as costs to mobilize
personnel and equipment prior to satisfying a performance obligation are capitalized and amortized over the
contract performance period.

Changes in job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from final
contract settlements, may result in revisions to costs and reported revenue and are recognized in the period in
which the revisions are determined. The effect of changes in estimates of contract revenue or contract costs is
recognized as an adjustment to recognized revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis. When the Company
anticipates a loss on a contract that is not yet complete, it recognizes the entire loss in the period in which such
losses are determined. Revenue is recorded net of any sales taxes collected and paid on behalf of the customer,
if applicable.

Contract revenue is derived from the original contract price as modified by agreed-upon change orders and
estimates of variable consideration related to incentive fees and change orders or claims for which price has not
yet been agreed by the customer. The Company estimates variable consideration based on its assessment of the
most likely amount to which it expects to be entitled. Variable consideration is included in the estimated
recognition of revenue to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative recognized revenue
will not occur. A determination that the collection of a claim is probable is based upon compliance with the
terms of the contract and the extent to which the Company performed in accordance therewith but does not
guarantee collection in full.

Assets and liabilities derived from contracts with customers include the following:

e Accounts Receivable: Trade, net of allowance - Represent amounts billed and currently due from
customers and are stated at their estimated net realizable value.

e Accounts Receivable: Retainage - Represent amounts which have not been billed to or paid by
customers due to retainage provisions in construction contracts, which amounts generally become
payable upon contract completion and acceptance by the customer.

e Contract Assets - Represent revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed, which management
believes will be billed and collected within one year of the completion of the contract and are recorded
as a current asset, until such amounts are either received or written off.

e Contract Liabilities - Represent billings in excess of revenues recognized and are recorded as a current
liability, until the underlying obligation has been performed or discharged.

10
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Classification of Current Assets and Liabilities

The Company includes in current assets and liabilities amounts realizable and payable in the normal course of
contract completion.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to
be cash equivalents. At times, cash held by financial institutions may exceed federally insured limits. The
Company has not historically sustained losses on its cash balances in excess of federally insured limits. Cash
equivalents at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted primarily of overnight bank deposits.

Risk Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk principally consist of
accounts receivable.

The Company depends on its ability to continue to obtain federal, state and local governmental contracts, and
indirectly, on the amount of funding available to these agencies for new and current governmental projects.
Therefore, a portion of the Company’s operations is dependent upon the level and timing of government
funding. Statutory mechanics liens provide the Company high priority in the event of lien foreclosures
following financial difficulties of private owners, thus minimizing credit risk with private customers.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the historical carrying value, net of allowances for credit losses. The Company
had significant investments in billed and unbilled receivables as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.
Billed receivables represent amounts billed upon the completion of small contracts and progress billings on
large contracts in accordance with contract terms and milestone achievements. Unbilled receivables on contracts
represent recoverable costs and accrued profits that are not yet capable of being billed under the terms of the
applicable contracts. Revenue associated with these billings is recorded net of any sales tax, if applicable.

Past due balances over 90 days and other higher risk receivables identified by management are reviewed
individually for collectability. In establishing an allowance for credit losses, the Company evaluates its contract
receivables and contract assets and thoroughly reviews historical collection experience, the financial condition
of its customers, billing disputes and other factors. The Company writes off potentially uncollectible accounts
receivable against the allowance for credit losses if it is determined that the amounts will not be collected or if a
settlement with respect to a disputed receivable is reached for an amount that is less than the carrying value. As
of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had recorded an allowance for credit losses of $0.5
million and $0.6 million, respectively.

Balances billed to customers but not paid pursuant to retainage provisions in construction contracts generally
become payable upon contract completion and acceptance by the owner. Retainage at March 31, 2023 totaled
$52.9 million, of which $4.5 million is expected to be collected beyond March 31, 2024. Retainage at
December 31, 2022 totaled $50.9 million.

From time to time, the Company negotiates change orders and claims with its customers. Unsuccessful
negotiations of claims could result in a change to contract revenue that is less than amounts previously recorded,
which could result in the recording of a loss in the amount of the shortfall. Successful claims negotiations could

11
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result in the recovery of previously recorded losses. Significant losses on receivables could adversely affect the
Company’s financial position, results of operations and overall liquidity.

Advertising Costs

The Company primarily obtains contracts through the open bid process, and therefore advertising costs are not a
significant component of expense. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

Environmental Costs

Costs related to environmental remediation are charged to expense. Other environmental costs are also charged
to expense unless they increase the value of the property and/or provide future economic benefits, in which
event the costs are capitalized. Environmental liabilities, if any, are recognized when the liability is considered
probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The Company did not recognize any environmental
liabilities as of March 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company evaluates and presents certain amounts included in the accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements at “fair value” in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires the Company to base its
estimates on assumptions that market participants, in an orderly transaction, would use to price an asset or
liability, and to establish a hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to determine fair value. Refer to
Note 8 for more information regarding fair value determination.

The Company generally applies fair value valuation techniques on a non-recurring basis associated with
(1) valuing assets and liabilities acquired in connection with business combinations and other transactions;
(2) valuing potential impairment loss related to long-lived assets; and (3) valuing potential impairment loss
related to goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Inventory

Current inventory consists of parts and small equipment held for use in the ordinary course of business and is
valued at the lower of cost (using historical average cost) or net realizable value. Where shipping and handling
costs are incurred by the Company, these charges are included in inventory and charged to cost of contract
revenue upon use. Non-current inventory consists of spare parts (including engines, cutters and gears) that
require special order or long-lead times for manufacture or fabrication, but must be kept on hand to reduce
downtime and is valued at the lower of cost (using historical average cost) or net realizable value.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Ordinary maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend
the useful life of the asset are expensed as incurred. Major renewals and betterments of equipment are
capitalized and depreciated generally over three to ten years until the next scheduled maintenance.

When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in results of operations for the respective
period.

12
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Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets for
financial statement purposes, as follows:

Automobiles and trucks 3 to 10 years
Buildings and improvements 10 to 30 years
Construction equipment 3 to 10 years
Vessels and other equipment 3 to 40 years
Office equipment 3to 5 years

The Company generally uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes where beneficial.

Dry-docking costs are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over a period ranging from three
to seven years. Dry-docking costs include, but are not limited to, the inspection, refurbishment and replacement
of steel, engine components, tailshafts, mooring equipment and other parts of the vessel. Amortization related to
dry-docking activities is included as a component of depreciation. These costs and the related amortization
periods are periodically reviewed to determine if the estimates are accurate. If warranted, a significant upgrade
of equipment may result in a revision to the useful life of the asset, in which case the change is accounted for
prospectively.

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used
is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows,
an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair
value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of are separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the
lower of the carrying amount or the fair value, less the costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. There was
$0.8 million of assets classified as held for sale as of both March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 included in
prepaid expenses and other in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Leases

Management determines if a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract or modification of the
contract. A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period in exchange for consideration. Control over the use of the identified asset means the lessee has both
(a) the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset and (b) the right to
direct the use of the asset.

Finance and operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and liabilities are recognized based on the present
value of future minimum lease payments over the expected lease term at commencement date. As the implicit
rate is not determinable in most of the Company’s leases, management uses the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of
future payments. The expected lease term includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably
certain the Company will exercise such option. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the expected lease term.

The Company’s lease arrangements have lease and non-lease components. Leases with an expected term of
12 months or less are not accounted for on the balance sheet and the related lease expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the expected lease term.
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The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive
covenants.

See Note 18 for more information regarding leases.
Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that have finite lives are amortized. In addition, the Company evaluates the remaining useful
life of intangible assets in each reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a
revision of the remaining period of amortization. If the estimate of an intangible asset’s remaining life is
changed, the remaining carrying value of such asset is amortized prospectively over that revised remaining
useful life. Intangible assets that have infinite lives are not amortized, but are subject to impairment testing at
least annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired.

The Company has one infinite-lived intangible asset, a trade name, which it tests for impairment annually on
October 31, or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the trade name may not
be recoverable. Impairment is calculated as the excess of the trade name’s carrying value over its fair value. The
fair value of the trade name is determined using the relief from royalty method, a variation of the income
approach. This method assumes that if a company owns intellectual property, it does not have to “rent” the asset
and is, therefore, “relieved” from paying a royalty. Once a supportable royalty rate is determined, the rate is
then applied to the projected revenues over the expected remaining life of the intangible assets to estimate the
royalty savings. This approach is dependent on a number of factors, including estimates of future growth and
trends, royalty rates, discount rates and other variables.

See Note 9 for additional discussion of intangible assets and trade name impairment testing.
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for equity awards over the vesting period based on the fair
value of these awards at the date of grant. The computed fair value of these awards is recognized as a non-cash
cost over the period the employee provides services, which is typically the vesting period of the award. The fair
value of restricted stock grants and restricted stock units is equivalent to the fair value of the stock issued on the
date of grant and is measured as the closing price of the stock on the date of grant.

Compensation expense is recognized only for stock-based payments expected to vest. The Company estimates
forfeitures at the date of grant based on historical experience and future expectations. This assessment is
updated on a periodic basis. See Note 15 for further discussion of the Company’s stock-based compensation
plan.

Income Taxes

The Company determines its consolidated income tax provision using the asset and liability method prescribed
by U.S. GAAP, which requires the recognition of income tax expense for the amount of taxes payable or
refundable for the current period and for deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of
events that have been recognized in an entity’s financial statements or tax returns. The Company must make
significant assumptions, judgments and estimates to determine its current provision for income taxes, its
deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowance to be recorded against any deferred tax asset. The
current provision for income tax is based upon the current tax laws and the Company’s interpretation of these
laws, as well as the probable outcomes of any tax audits. The value of any net deferred tax asset depends
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upon estimates of the amount and category of future taxable income reduced by the amount of any tax benefits
that the Company does not expect to realize. Actual operating results and the underlying amount and category of
income in future years could render current assumptions, judgments and estimates of recoverable net deferred
taxes inaccurate, thus impacting the Company’s financial position and results of operations. The Company
computes deferred income taxes using the liability method. Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Under the liability method, the effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740, Income Taxes
which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial statement disclosure of tax
positions taken, or expected to be taken, on its consolidated tax return. The Company evaluates and records any
uncertain tax positions based on the amount that management deems is more likely than not to be sustained
upon examination and ultimate settlement with the tax authorities in the tax jurisdictions in which it operates.

See Note 13 for additional discussion of income taxes.
Insurance Coverage

The Company maintains insurance coverage for its business and operations. Insurance related to property,
equipment, automobile, general liability, and a portion of workers’ compensation is provided through traditional
policies, subject to a deductible or deductibles. A portion of the Company’s workers’ compensation exposure is
covered through a mutual association, which is subject to supplemental calls.

The marine segment maintains five levels of excess loss insurance coverage, totaling $200 million in excess of
primary coverage. The marine segment’s excess loss coverage responds to most of its policies when a primary
limit of $1 million has been exhausted; provided that the primary limit for Contingent Maritime Employer’s
Liability is $10 million and the Watercraft Pollution Policy primary limit is $5 million. The concrete segment
maintains five levels of excess loss insurance coverage, totaling $200 million in excess of primary coverage.
The concrete segment’s excess loss coverage responds to most of its policies when a primary limit of $1 million
has been exhausted.

If a claim arises and a potential insurance recovery is probable, the impending gain is recognized separately
from the related loss. The recovery will only be recognized up to the amount of the loss once the recovery of the
claim is deemed probable and any excess gain will fall under contingency accounting and will only be
recognized once it is realized. The Company does not net insurance recoveries against the related claim liability
as the amount of the claim liability is determined without consideration of the anticipated insurance recoveries
from third parties.

Separately, the Company’s marine segment employee health care is paid for by general assets of the Company
and currently administered by a third party. The administrator has purchased appropriate stop-loss coverage.
Losses on these policies up to the deductible amounts are accrued based upon known claims incurred and an
estimate of claims incurred but not reported. The accruals are derived from known facts, historical trends and
industry averages to determine the best estimate of the ultimate expected loss. Actual claims may vary from
estimates. Any adjustments to such reserves are included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations
in the period in which they become known. The Company’s concrete segment employee health care
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is provided through two policies. A fully funded policy is offered primarily to salaried employees and their
dependents while a partially self-funded plan with an appropriate stop-loss is offered primarily to hourly
employees and their dependents. The self-funded plan is funded to the maximum exposure and, as a result, is
expected to receive a partial refund after the policy expiration.

The total accrual for insurance claims liabilities was $4.9 million and $5.8 million at December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively, reflected as a component of accrued liabilities in the condensed consolidated
balance sheets.

3. Revenue

Contract revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customer
in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods
or services. The following table represents a disaggregation of the Company’s contract revenues by service line
for the marine and concrete segments:

Three months ended March 31,

2023 2022
Marine Segment
Construction $ 54,012 $ 59,152
Dredging 20,730 22,166
Specialty Services 4,556 3,162
Marine segment contract revenues $ 79,298 $ 84,480
Concrete Segment
Structural $ 15,744  $ 13,676
Light Commercial 64,132 76,775
Other — —
Concrete segment contract revenues $ 79,876 $ 90,451
Total contract revenues $ 159,174 $ 174,931

The Company has determined that it has two reportable segments pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 280, Segment
Reporting, but has disaggregated its contract revenues in the above chart in terms of services provided within
such segments. In making this determination, the Company considered the similar characteristics of its
operations as discussed in Note 1. Additionally, as discussed, both the marine and concrete segments have
limited contracts with multiple performance obligations. The Company’s contracts are often estimated and bid
as one project and evaluated as to performance as one project, not by individual services performed by each.
Both the marine and concrete segments have a single individual responsible for managing the entire segment,
not by service lines of the segments. Resources are allocated by segment and financial and budgetary
information is compiled and reviewed by segment, not service line.

Marine Segment

Construction services include construction, restoration, maintenance, dredging and repair of marine
transportation facilities, marine pipelines, bridges and causeways and marine environmental structures.
Dredging services generally enhance or preserve the navigability of waterways or the protection of shorelines

16




Table of Contents

through the removal or replenishment of soil, sand or rock. Specialty services include design, salvage,
demolition, surveying, towing, diving and underwater inspection, excavation and repair.

Concrete Segment

Structural services include elevated concrete pouring for products such as columns, elevated beams and
structural walls. Light commercial services include horizontally poured concrete for products such as slabs,
sidewalks, ramps and tilt walls. Other services comprise labor related to concrete pouring such as rebar
installation and pumping services and typically support the Company’s structural and light commercial services.

4. Concentration of Risk and Enterprise-Wide Disclosures

In both reportable segments accounts receivable include amounts billed to governmental agencies and private
customers and do not bear interest. Balances billed to customers but not paid pursuant to retainage provisions
generally become payable upon contract completion and acceptance by the owner.

The table below presents the concentrations of current receivables (trade and retainage) at March 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively:

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Federal Government $ 11,006 7% $ 4,612 3%
State Governments 3,862 2 % 3,111 2 %
Local Governments 11,721 8 % 16,197 10 %
Private Companies 126,408 83 % 134,317 85 %
Gross receivables 152,997 100 % 158,237 100 %
Allowance for credit losses (515) (606)

Net receivables $ 152,482 $ 157,631

At March 31, 2023, one customer in the Private Companies category accounted for 10.9% of total current
receivables. At December 31, 2022, no single customer accounted for more than 10.0% of total current
receivables.

Additionally, the table below represents concentrations of contract revenue by type of customer for the three
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively:

Three months ended March 31,

2023 % 2022 %
Federal Government $ 23,056 14 % $ 22,695 13 %
State Governments 18,328 12 % 7,704 4 %
Local Governments 20,688 13 % 32,402 19 %
Private Companies 97,102 61 % 112,130 64 %
Total contract revenues $ 159,174 100 % $ 174,931 100 %

In the three months ended March 31, 2023, one customer in the Private Companies category accounted for
10.9% of total contract revenues. In the three months ended March 31, 2022, one customer in the Federal
Government category accounted for 10.4% of total contract revenues.
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The Company does not believe that the loss of any one of its customers would have a material adverse effect on
the Company or its subsidiaries and affiliates since no single specific customer sustains such a large portion of
receivables or contract revenue over time.

The concrete segment primarily purchases concrete from select suppliers. The loss of any one of these suppliers
could adversely impact short-term operations.

Contract revenues generated outside the United States totaled 1.7% and 0.4% of total revenues for the three
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and were primarily located in the Caribbean Basin.

5. Contracts in Progress

Contracts in progress are as follows at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

March 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts $ 1,317,066 $ 1,251,853
Estimated earnings 187,445 180,705
1,504,511 1,432,558
Less: Billings to date (1,511,064) (1,426,375)

$ (6,553) $ 6,183

Included in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets under the

following captions:

Contract assets $ 30,020 $ 43,903

Contract liabilities (36,573) (37,720)
$ (6,553) $ 6,183

Included in contract assets is approximately $12.6 million and 13.4 million at March 31, 2023 and December
31, 2022, respectively, related to claims and unapproved change orders. See Note 2 to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for discussion of the accounting for these claims.

Remaining performance obligations represent the transaction price of firm orders or other written contractual
commitments from customers for which work has not been performed or is partially completed and excludes
unexercised contract options and potential orders. As of March 31, 2023, the aggregate amount of the remaining
performance obligations was approximately $467.4 million. Of this amount, the current expectation of the
Company is that it will recognize $441.1 million, or 94%, in the next 12 months and the remaining balance
thereafter.
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6. Property and Equipment

The following is a summary of property and equipment at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

March 31, December 31,

2023 2022
Automobiles and trucks $ 2,243  $ 2,232
Building and improvements 36,953 36,952
Construction equipment 129,883 130,660
Vessels and other equipment 89,946 91,495
Office equipment 6,885 6,885

265,910 268,224
Less: Accumulated depreciation (198,058) (195,948)
Net book value of depreciable assets 67,852 72,276
Construction in progress 1,570 816
Land 27,885 27,885

$ 97,307 $ 100,977

For the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, depreciation expense was $4.6 million and $5.2 million,
respectively. Substantially all depreciation expense is included in the cost of contract revenue in the Company’s
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Substantially all of the assets of the Company are pledged
as collateral under the Company’s Credit Agreement (as defined in Note 11).

Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets are located in the United States.

See Note 2 to the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion of property and
equipment.

7. Other Current Accounts Receivable

Other current accounts receivable at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

March 31,2023 December 31, 2022

Accident loss receivables $ 1,296 $ 1,328
Vendor receivables 729 807
Purchase incentive receivable 965 695
Bond premium dividend receivable 431 391
Other current accounts receivable 409 305
Total other current accounts receivable $ 3,830 % 3,526

8. Fair Value
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The fair value of financial instruments is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties. Due to their short-term nature, the Company believes that the carrying value
of its accounts receivable, other current assets, accounts payable and other current liabilities approximate their
fair values.
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The Company classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following three levels based on the inputs used to
measure fair value in the order of priority indicated:

e Level 1- fair values are based on observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

e Level 2 - fair values are based on pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets and liabilities and are either directly or indirectly observable as of the measurement date; and

e Level 3- fair values are based on unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant
to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair
value requires judgment and may affect the placement of assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy
levels.

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s recurring financial assets
and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2023 and December 31,
2022:

Fair Value Measurements

Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

March 31, 2023
Assets:
Cash surrender value of life insurance policy $ 1,895 — 1,895 —
December 31, 2022
Assets:
Cash surrender value of life insurance policy $ 1,811 — 1,811 —

Our concrete segment had life insurance policies with a combined face value of $11.1 million as of March 31,
2023. The policies are invested in mutual funds and the fair value measurement of the cash surrender balance
associated with these policies is determined using Level 2 inputs within the fair value hierarchy and will vary
with investment performance. These assets are included in the "Other noncurrent" asset section in the
Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company generally applies fair value valuation techniques on a non-recurring basis associated with
(1) valuing assets and liabilities acquired in connection with business combinations and other transactions;
(2) valuing potential impairment loss related to long-lived assets; and (3) valuing potential impairment loss
related to the infinite-lived intangible asset.

Other Fair Value Measurements

The fair value of the Company’s debt at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 approximated its carrying
value of $40.0 million and $35.7 million, respectively, as interest is based on current market interest rates for
debt with similar risk and maturity. If the Company’s debt was measured at fair value, it would have been
classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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9. Intangible Assets

The tables below present the activity and amortization of finite-lived intangible assets:

March 31, December 31,
2023 2022

Finite-lived intangible assets, beginning of period $ 35240 $ 35,240
Additions — —
Total finite-lived intangible assets, end of period $ 35240 $ 35,240
Accumulated amortization, beginning of period $ (34,815 $ (33,576)
Current year amortization (162) (1,239)
Total accumulated amortization (34,977) (34,815)
Net finite-lived intangible assets, end of period $ 263 425
Infinite-lived intangible assets 6,892 6,892
Total net intangible assets $ 7,155 $ 7,317

Remaining net finite-lived intangible assets were acquired as part of the purchase of TAS during 2015 and TBC
during 2017 and included customer relationships. Customer relationships were valued at approximately $18.8
million and are being amortized over eight years using an accelerated method based on the pattern in which the
economic benefits of the assets are consumed. For the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, $0.2
million and $0.3 million, respectively, of amortization expense was recognized for these assets.

Future expense remaining of approximately $0.3 million will be amortized as follows:

2023 226
2024 37
$ 263

The most recent annual impairment test of the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible asset concluded that the
fair value of the trade name was in excess of the carrying value, therefore no impairment was recorded.
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10. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

March 31,2023  December 31, 2022

Accrued salaries, wages and benefits $ 9,718 $ 7,605
Accrued liabilities expected to be covered by insurance 4,968 5,757
Sales taxes 2,155 1,737
Property taxes 561 522
Sale-leaseback arrangement 830 813
Accounting and audit fees 547 222
Interest 93 60
Other accrued expenses 1,967 1,750
Total accrued liabilities $ 20,839 $ 18,466
11. Debt

The Company entered into an amended syndicated credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement” also known as the
“Fourth Amendment”) on July 31, 2018 with Regions Bank, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and
the following co-syndication agents: Bank of America, N.A., BOKF, NA dba Bank of Texas, KeyBank National
Association, NBH Bank, IBERIABANK, Trustmark National Bank, First Tennessee Bank NA, and Branch
Banking and Trust Company. The Credit Agreement was subsequently amended in March 2019 (the “Fifth
Amendment”), May 2019 (the “Sixth Amendment”), June 2020 (the “Seventh Amendment”), October 2020 (the
“Eighth Amendment”), and March 2022 (the “Ninth Amendment”). The Company incurred debt issuance costs
related to the initial Credit Agreement and several of the subsequent amendments. The Credit Facility had a
maturity date of July 31, 2023.

The Credit Agreement provided for borrowings under a revolving line of credit and a term loan (together, the
“Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility was guaranteed by the subsidiaries of the Company, secured by the assets
of the Company, including stock held in its subsidiaries, and was used to finance general corporate and working
capital purposes, to finance capital expenditures, to refinance existing indebtedness, to finance permitted
acquisitions and associated fees, and to pay for all related expenses to the Credit Facility. Interest was due and
was computed based on the designation of the loan, with the option of a Base Rate Loan (the base rate plus the
Applicable Margin), or an Adjusted LIBOR Rate Loan (the adjusted LIBOR rate plus the Applicable Margin).
Interest was due on the last day of each quarter end for Base Rate Loans and at the end of the LIBOR rate
period for Adjusted LIBOR Rate Loans. Principal balances drawn under the Credit Facility could be prepaid at
any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty. Amounts repaid under the revolving line of credit
could be re-borrowed.

Effective, March 1, 2022, the Company entered into the Ninth Amendment to the Credit Agreement to, among
other things, waive certain covenant defaults, reset the revolver limit, implement an anti-cash hoarding
provision and institute temporary covenant requirements. The amendment reduced the commitment on the
revolving line of credit to $42.5 million. With the execution of the Ninth Amendment, the existing Credit
Facility was treated as a modification of debt and accounted for under the guidelines of ASC 470-50, Debt,
Modifications and Extinguishments. The new debt issuance costs of approximately $1.0 million, inclusive of
appraisal and bank consulting fees, related to the execution of the Ninth Amendment was amortized and will be
written off at the early termination of the Credit Agreement.
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The quarterly weighted average interest rate for the Credit Facility as of March 31, 2023 was 10.22%.

The Company’s obligations under debt arrangements consisted of the following:

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Debt Issuance Debt Issuance
Principal Costs() Total Principal Costs() Total
Revolving line of credit $ 40,000 $ (164) $ 39,836 $ 35,000 $ (327) $ 34,673
Other debt 286 — 286 283 — 283
Total current debt 40,286 (164) 40,122 35,283 (327) 34,956
Refinancing debt issuance costs — (736) (736) — — —
Other debt 643 — 643 716 — 716
Total long-term debt 643 (736) (93) 716 — 716
Total debt $ 40,929 $ (900) $ 40,029 $ 35999 $ (327) $ 35,672

(1) Total debt issuance costs include underwriter fees, legal fees, syndication fees and fees related to the execution of the Ninth
Amendment to the Credit Agreement and the refinancing of the Company’s debt further discussed in Note19.

Provisions of the revolving line of credit

The Company had a maximum borrowing availability under the revolving line of credit and swingline loans (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) of $42.5 million. There was a letter of credit sublimit that was equal to the
lesser of $20.0 million and the aggregate unused amount of the revolving commitments then in effect. There
was also a swingline sublimit equal to the lesser of $5.0 million and the aggregate unused amount of the
revolving commitments then in effect.

Revolving loans could be designated as Base Rate Loan or Adjusted LIBOR Rate Loans, at the Company’s
request, and could be drawn in an aggregate minimum amount of $1.0 million and integral multiples of
$250,000 in excess of that amount. Swingline loans could be drawn in an aggregate minimum amount of
$250,000 and integral multiples of $50,000 in excess of that amount. The Company could convert, change, or
modify such designations from time to time.

The Company was subject to a commitment fee for the unused portion of the maximum borrowing availability
under the revolving line of credit. The commitment fee, which is due quarterly in arrears, was equal to the
Applicable Margin of the actual daily amount by which the Aggregate Revolving Commitments exceeds the
Total Revolving Outstanding. The revolving line of credit termination date was the earlier of the Credit Facility
termination date, July 31, 2023, or the date the outstanding balance is permanently reduced to zero, in
accordance with the terms of the amended Credit Facility.

As of March 31, 2023, the Company had $40.0 million of borrowings under the revolving line of credit. There
were $1.5 million in outstanding letters of credit as of March 31, 2023, which reduced the maximum borrowing
availability on the revolving line of credit to $1.0 million. During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the
Company drew down $5.0 million for general corporate purposes on the revolving line of credit.

Other debt

The Company has entered into debt agreements with De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc. and Mobilease
for the purpose of financing equipment purchased. As of March 31, 2023, the carrying value of this debt was
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$0.9 million. The agreements are secured by the financed equipment assets and the debt is included as a
component of current debt and long-term debt on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Financial covenants

The Company obtained from the Credit Facility lenders an extension of the consent with respect to the delivery
of its annual financial statements with an audit opinion unqualified as to going concern and a consent for the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio to exceed 3.00 to 1.00 and for the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio to
be less than 1.25 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter Ending March 31, 2023.

Debt Refinancing

On May 15, 2023, the Company entered into a new three-year $103.0 million senior secured credit facility with
White Oak which includes a $65.0 million asset based revolving credit facility and a $38.0 million fixed asset
term loan. See Note 19 for more information regarding the debt refinancing.

12. Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

March 31, 2023  December 31, 2022

Sale-leaseback arrangement $ 14,941 $ 15,156
Deferred compensation 1,325 1,639
Accrued liabilities expected to be covered by insurance 311 277
Total other long-term liabilities $ 16,577  $ 17,072

Sale-Leaseback Arrangement

On September 27, 2019, the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “Purchase and Sale
Agreement”). Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Company sold its 17300 & 17140
Market Street location in Channelview, Texas (the “Property”) for a purchase price of $19.1 million. Concurrent
with the sale of the Property, the Company entered into a fifteen-year lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”),
whereby the Company will lease back the Property at an annual rental rate of approximately $1.5 million,
subject to annual rent increases of 2.0%. Under the Lease Agreement, the Company has two consecutive options
to extend the term of the Lease by ten years for each such option. This transaction was recorded as a failed sale-
leaseback. The Company recorded a liability for the amounts received, will continue to depreciate the non-land
portion of the asset, and has imputed an interest rate so that the net carrying amount of the financial liability and
remaining assets will be zero at the end of the initial lease term.

13. Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rate is based on expected income, statutory rates and tax planning opportunities
available to it. For interim financial reporting, the Company estimates its annual tax rate based on projected
taxable income for the full year and records a quarterly tax provision in accordance with the anticipated annual
rate.
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Income tax expense included in the Company’s accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations was as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Three months ended

March 31,
2023 2022
Income tax expense $ 640 $ 1,324
Effective tax rate (5.4H)% (37.5)%

The effective rate for the three months ended March 31, 2023 differed from the Company’s statutory federal rate
of 21% primarily due to the tax impact from the valuation allowance for current year activity, state income taxes
and the non-deductibility of other permanent items.

The Company assessed the realizability of its deferred tax assets and determined that it was more likely than not
that some portion or all the deferred tax assets would not be realized and therefore recorded a valuation
allowance on the net deferred tax assets. The Company assesses the available positive and negative evidence to
estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to use the existing deferred tax assets. The
Company considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, available carryback periods, and tax-
planning strategies in making this assessment. For the period ended March 31, 2023 the Company evaluated all
positive and negative evidence in determining the amount of deferred tax assets more likely than not to be
realized. Based on the review of available evidence, Management believes that a valuation allowance on the net
deferred tax assets at March 31, 2023 remains appropriate.

The Company does not expect that unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2023 for certain federal income
tax matters will significantly change due to any settlement and/or expiration of statutes of limitations over the
next 12 months. The final outcome of these tax positions is not yet determinable. The Company’s uncertain tax
benefits, if recognized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate.

14. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each
period. Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding as
well as the effect of all dilutive common stock equivalents during each period net income is generated. For
the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had 280,644 and 680,447 securities,
respectively, that were potentially dilutive in earnings per share calculations. Such dilution is dependent on the
excess of the market price of our stock over the exercise price and other components of the treasury stock
method. The exercise price for certain stock options awarded by the Company exceeded the average market
price of the Company’s common stock for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. Such stock
options are antidilutive and are not included in the computation of earnings per share for those periods.
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The following table reconciles the denominators used in the computations of both basic and diluted earnings per
share:

Three months ended March 31,

2023 2022

Basic:
Weighted average shares outstanding 32,180,274 30,971,379
Diluted:

Total basic weighted average shares outstanding 32,180,274 30,971,379

Effect of potentially dilutive securities:

Common stock options — —

Total weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution 32,180,274 30,971,379

15. Stock-Based Compensation

The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the administration of the
Company’s stock incentive plans, which include the balance of shares remaining under the 2022 Long Term
Incentive Plan (the “2022 LTIP”), which was approved by shareholders in May of 2022 and authorized
2,175,000 shares, the maximum aggregate number to be issued, plus any shares available for grant under prior
long term incentive plans as of the date the 2022 LTIP was approved, and any shares subject to awards granted
under the prior plans that expire or are cancelled, forfeited, exchanged, settled in cash or otherwise terminated.
In general, the Company’s 2022 LTIP provides for grants of restricted stock, performance based awards and
stock options to be issued with a per-share price not less than the fair market value of a share of common stock
on the date of grant. Option terms are specified at each grant date but generally are 10 years from the date of
issuance. Options generally vest over a three to five-year period.

The Company applies a 3.2% and a 5.5% forfeiture rate, which is compounded over the vesting terms of the
individual award, to its restricted stock and option grants, respectively, based on historical analysis.

In the three months ended March 31, 2023, compensation expense related to stock-based awards outstanding
was $0.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively. In the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, payments
related to tax withholding for stock-based compensation for certain officers of the Company was $0.2 million
and less than $0.1 million, respectively.

In January 2023, certain officers and executives of the Company were awarded a total of 180,333 shares of
restricted common stock with a vesting period of three years and a fair value of $3.00 per share.

In March 2023, the Company granted certain executives a total of 335,851 performance-based units. The
performance-based units will potentially vest 100% if the target is met, with 100% of the units to be earned
based on the achievement of an objective, tiered return on invested capital, measured over a three-year
performance period. The Company evaluates the probability of achieving this each reporting period. The fair
value of all grants awarded in March 2023 was $2.65 per unit.

In the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no options exercised.

At March 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock was approximately $3.1
million, which is expected to be recognized over a period of approximately 2.4 years.
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16. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is involved in various legal and other proceedings which are incidental to the conduct of its
business, none of which in the opinion of management will have a material effect on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. Management believes that it has recorded adequate accrued
liabilities and believes that it has adequate insurance coverage or has meritorious defenses for these claims and
contingencies.

17. Segment Information

The Company currently operates in two reportable segments: marine and concrete. The Company’s financial
reporting systems present various data for management to run the business, including profit and loss statements
prepared according to the segments presented. Management uses operating income to evaluate performance
between the two segments. Segment information for the periods presented is provided as follows:

Three months ended

March 31,
2023 2022

Marine

Contract revenues $ 79,298 $ 84,480

Operating (loss) income $ (6,080) $ 1,840

Depreciation and amortization expense $ (3,835 $ (4,323)

Total assets $ 231,851 $ 173,577

Property and equipment, net $ 88,957 $ 92,725
Concrete

Contract revenues $ 79,876 $ 90,451

Operating loss $ (4,563) $ (4,695)

Depreciation and amortization expense $ (1,611) $ (1,940)

Total assets $ 112,336 $ 167,299

Property and equipment, net $ 8,350 $ 12,249

There were less than $0.1 million and no intersegment revenues between the Company’s two reportable
segments for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The marine segment had foreign
revenues of $2.8 million and $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
These revenues are derived from projects in the Caribbean Basin and are paid primarily in U.S. dollars. There
was no foreign revenue for the concrete segment.
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18. Leases
The Company has operating and finance leases for office space, equipment and vehicles.

Leases recorded on the balance sheet consists of the following:

March 31, December 31,

Leases 2023 2022
Assets
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net (1) $ 14,765 $ 14,978
Financing lease right-of-use assets, net (2) 15,202 15,839
Total assets $ 29,967 $ 30,817
Liabilities
Current
Operating $ 4,936 $ 4,738
Financing 3,486 4,031
Total current 8,422 8,769
Noncurrent
Operating 10,609 11,018
Financing 10,882 11,102
Total noncurrent 21,491 22,120
Total liabilities $ 29,913 $ 30,889

(1) Operating lease right-of-use assets are recorded net of accumulated amortization of $11.0 million and $10.5
million as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

(2) Financing lease right-of-use assets are recorded net of accumulated amortization of $5.7 million and $5.1
million as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Other information related to lease term and discount rate is as follows:
March 31, December 31,

2023 2022
Weighted Average Remaining L.ease Term (in years)
Operating leases 3.70 3.90
Financing leases 4.02 4.36
Weighted Average Discount Rate
Operating leases 5.01 % 4.86 %
Financing leases 5.58 % 5.62 %
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The components of lease expense are as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2023 2022

Operating lease costs:

Operating lease cost $ 1,390 $ 1,317

Short-term lease cost (1) 641 316
Financing lease costs:

Interest on lease liabilities 195 167

Amortization of right-of-use assets 725 760
Total lease cost $ 2,951 $ 2,560

(1) Includes expenses related to leases with a lease term of more than one month but less than one year.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows for operating leases $ 1,391 $ 1,325
Operating cash flows for finance leases $ 195 $ 167
Financing cash flows for finance leases $ 779 $ 637
Non-cash activity:
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 1,028 $ 1,521
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new financing lease liabilities $ 1,036 $ 3,670

Maturities of lease liabilities are summarized as follows:

Operating Leases  Finance Leases

Year ending December 31,

2023 (excluding the three months ended March 31, 2023) $ 4,266 $ 3,220
2024 5,016 4,373
2025 3,569 3,562
2026 1,823 1,822
2027 1,704 1,529
Thereafter 656 1,584
Total future minimum lease payments 17,034 16,090
Less - amount representing interest 1,489 1,722
Present value of future minimum lease payments 15,545 14,368
Less - current lease obligations 4,936 3,486
Long-term lease obligations $ 10,609 $ 10,882
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19. Subsequent Events

On April 26, 2023, the Company entered into a Land Sale Contract with Equity Resource Partners - East West,
LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, who, subject to normal due diligence conditions, has agreed to
purchase two parcels of land in Harris County, Texas (approximately 341.3 acres), previously used by the
Company as dredge placement areas. The purchase price is approximately $36.0 million, and closing is
anticipated on or before September 29, 2023.

On, May 5, 2023, the Company obtained from the Credit Facility lenders an extension of the consent with
respect to the delivery of its annual financial statements with an audit opinion unqualified as to going concern
and a consent for the Consolidated Leverage Ratio to exceed 3.00 to 1.00 and for the Consolidated Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.25 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter Ending March 31, 2023.

On May 15, 2023, the Company entered into a new three-year $103.0 million senior secured credit facility with
White Oak. This credit facility has replaced the Company’s $42.5 million revolver with Regions Bank and other
lenders. At the same time, the Company entered into a $13.0 million sale-leaseback of certain concrete segment
equipment with Gordon Brothers (the “Sale-Leaseback”).

The new credit facility includes a $65.0 million asset based revolving credit facility and a $38.0 million fixed
asset term loan. The Revolver will initially bear interest at a rate of the 30-day SOFR plus 5.5% and the Term
Loan at a rate of the 30-day SOFR plus 8.0%, subject to a SOFR floor of 4.0%. At closing, the Company made
an initial Revolver draw of $9.5 million. Borrowings from the facility will primarily be used to refinance
existing debt as well as for other general corporate and working capital purposes. The Sale-Leaseback includes
equipment on lease schedules of 24-months and 36-months.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Unless the context otherwise indicates, all references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to “Orion,”
“the Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us” are to Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries as a whole.

Certain information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including but not limited to Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”), may constitute forward-
looking statements as such term is defined within the meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of Section 27A of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

All statements other than statements of historical facts, including those that express a belief, expectation, or
intention are forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements may include projections and
estimates concerning the timing and success of specific projects and our future production, conversion of
backlog, revenues, income and capital spending. Our forward-looking statements are generally accompanied by
words such as “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “potential,” “plan,” “goal” or
other words that convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes.

» <« » « » « » <« » «

We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and assumptions about future
events. While our management considers these expectations and assumptions to be reasonable, they are
inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive, regulatory and other risks, contingencies and
uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control, including
unforeseen productivity delays and other difficulties encountered in project execution, levels of government
funding or other governmental budgetary constraints, contract modifications and changes, including change
orders and contract cancellation at the discretion of the customer. These and other important factors, including
those described under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2022 (“2022 Form 10-K”) may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to
differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-
looking statements. The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q speak only as of the
date of this report; we disclaim any obligation to update these statements unless required by securities law, and
we caution you not to rely on them unduly.

MD&A provides a narrative analysis explaining the reasons for material changes in the Company’s (i) financial
condition since the most recent fiscal year-end, and (ii) results of operations during the current fiscal year-to-
date period and current fiscal quarter as compared to the corresponding periods of the preceding fiscal year. In
order to better understand such changes, this MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our 2022 Form 10-K, Item 7 Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our 2022 Form 10-K and
with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Overview

Orion Group Holdings, Inc., its subsidiaries and affiliates (hereafter collectively referred to as the “Company”),
provide a broad range of specialty construction services in the infrastructure, industrial and building sectors
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throughout the continental United States, Alaska, and the Caribbean Basin. The Company’s marine segment
services the infrastructure sector through marine transportation facility construction, marine pipeline
construction, marine environmental structures, dredging of waterways, channels and ports, environmental
dredging, design, and specialty services. Its concrete segment services the building sector by providing turnkey
concrete construction services including place and finish, site preparation, layout, forming, and rebar placement
for large commercial structural and other associated business areas. The Company is headquartered in Houston,
Texas with offices throughout its operating areas.

Our contracts are obtained primarily through competitive bidding in response to “requests for proposals” by
federal, state and local agencies and through negotiation and competitive bidding with private parties and
general contractors. Our bidding activity and strategies are affected by factors such as our backlog, current
utilization of equipment and other resources, job location, our ability to obtain necessary surety bonds and
competitive considerations. The timing and location of awarded contracts may result in unpredictable
fluctuations in the results of our operations.

Most of our revenue is derived from fixed-price contracts. We generally record revenue on construction
contracts over time, measured by the percentage of actual contract costs incurred to date to total estimated costs
for each contract. There are a number of factors that can create variability in contract performance and therefore
impact the results of our operations. The most significant of these include the following:

® completeness and accuracy of the original bid;

e increases in commodity prices such as concrete, steel and fuel;

e customer delays, work stoppages, and other costs due to weather and environmental restrictions;
e availability and skill level of workers; and

e achange in availability and proximity of equipment and materials.

All of these factors can have a negative impact on our contract performance, which can adversely affect the
timing of revenue recognition and ultimate contract profitability. We plan our operations and bidding activity
with these factors in mind and they generally have not had a material adverse impact on the results of our
operations in the past.

Consolidated Results of Operations
Backlog Information

Our contract backlog represents our estimate of the revenues we expect to realize under the portion of contracts
remaining to be performed. Given the typical duration of our contracts, which is generally less than a year, our
backlog at any point in time usually represents only a portion of the revenue that we expect to realize during a
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twelve-month period. We have not been adversely affected by contract cancellations or modifications in the
past, however we may be in the future, especially in economically uncertain periods.

Backlog as of the periods ended below are as follows (in millions):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 September 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 March 31, 2022
Marine segment $ 1870 $ 216.7 $ 2802 % 281.0 $ 317.4
Concrete segment 280.4 232.1 268.4 322.2 286.7
Consolidated $ 4674 % 4488 $ 5486 $ 6032 $ 604.1

We are optimistic in our end-markets and in the opportunities that are emerging across our
various marketplaces as evidenced by the $3.1 billion of quoted bids outstanding at quarter end, of which over
$610 million we have been awarded contracts subsequent to the end of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2023.

These estimates are subject to fluctuations based upon the scope of services to be provided, as well as factors
affecting the time required to complete the project. Backlog is not necessarily indicative of future results. In
addition to our backlog under contract, we also have a substantial number of projects in negotiation or pending
award at any given time. Delays in decisions on pending awards also have a negative impact on the timing and
amount by which we are able to increase backlog.

Three months ended March 31, 2023 compared with three months ended March 31, 2022.

Three months ended March 31,

2023 2022
Amount Percent Amount Percent
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Contract revenues $ 159,174 100.0 % $ 174,931 100.0 %
Cost of contract revenues 153,334 96.3 % 162,115 92.7 %
Gross profit 5,840 3.7 % 12,816 7.3 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses 17,017 10.8 % 16,170 9.1 %
Amortization of intangible assets 162 0.1 % 310 0.2 %
Gain on disposal of assets, net (696) (0.5) (809) (0.4)
Operating loss (10,643) (6.7)% (2,855) (1.6)%
Other (expense) income:
Other income 293 0.2 % 44 — %
Interest income 28 — % 19 — %
Interest expense (1,633) (1.0)% (740) (0.4)%
Other expense, net (1,312) (0.8)% (677) (0.4)%
Loss before income tax expense (11,955) (7.5)% (3,532) (2.0)%
Income tax expense 640 0.4 % 1,324 0.8 %
Net loss $ (12,595) (7.9)% $ (4,856) (2.8)%

Contract Revenues. Contract revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2023 of $159.2 million decreased
$15.7 million or 9.0% as compared to $174.9 million in the prior year period. The decrease was primarily due to
weather and customer delays in both businesses and a reduction of concrete segment revenue in central Texas.

Gross Profit. Gross profit was $5.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to $12.8
million in the prior year period, a decrease of $7.0 million or 54.4%. Gross profit in the first quarter was 3.7%
of total contract revenues as compared to 7.3% in the prior year period. Approximately half of this decrease
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was due to the impact of weather in Texas, which lowered labor and equipment utilization. The rest of the
remaining decrease related to clean-up of low-margin projects resulting in write-downs in both the marine and
concrete businesses. This was partly offset by actions to manage costs during project delays including
reallocating equipment, reducing the size of the fleet and headcount reductions, as well as realizing margin
improvements in the concrete business that reflected our margin improvement initiatives.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense. Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses were
$17.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to $16.2 million in the prior year period, an
increase of $0.8 million or 5.2%. As a percentage of total contract revenues, SG&A expenses increased from
9.1% to 10.8%, primarily due to lower revenues in the current period. The increase in SG&A dollars was
primarily due to an increase in compensation expense, partially offset by lower consulting expense related to the
completion of the management transition.

Gain on Disposal of Assets, net. During the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, we realized $0.7
million and $0.8 million, respectively, of net gains on disposal of assets.

Other Income, net of Expense. Other expense primarily reflects interest on our borrowings, partially offset by
interest income and non-operating gains or losses.

Income Tax Expense. We recorded tax expense of $0.6 million in the three months ended March 31, 2023,
compared to $1.3 million in the prior year period. Our effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31,
2023 differs from the federal statutory rate of 21% primarily due to the tax impact from the valuation allowance
for current year activity, state income taxes and the non-deductibility of other permanent items.

Segment Results

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, statements of operations data by segment, segment
revenues as a percentage of consolidated revenues and segment operating (loss) income as a percentage of
segment revenues.

34




Table of Contents

Three months ended March 31, 2023 compared with three months ended March 31, 2022.

Three months ended March 31,
2023 2022
Amount Percent Amount Percent

(dollar amounts in thousands)

Contract revenues
Marine segment

Public sector $ 57,926 73.0 % $ 57,308 67.8 %
Private sector 21,372 27.0 % 27,172 32.2 %
Marine segment total $ 79,298 100.0 95 $ 84,480 100.0 9o
Concrete segment

Public sector $ 4,146 52% $ 5,493 6.1 %
Private sector 75,730 94.8 % 84,958 93.9 %
Concrete segment total $ 79,876 100.0 95 $ 90,451  100.0 9
Total $ 159,174 $ 174,931

Operating (loss) income

Marine segment $ (6,080) (7.7)% $ 1,840 22 %
Concrete segment 4,563)  (5.7)% (4,695)  (5.2)%
Total $ (10,643) $ (2,855)

Marine Segment

Revenues for our marine segment for the three months ended March 31, 2023 were $79.3 million compared to
$84.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, a decrease of $5.2 million, or 6.1%. The decrease
was primarily due to weather and customer delays in the current year period.

Operating loss for our marine segment for the three months ended March 31, 2023 was $6.1 million, compared
to operating income of $1.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, a decrease in operating income
of $7.9 million. This decrease in operating income was primarily due to decreased revenue, clean-up of low-
margin projects resulting in write-downs and lower labor and equipment utilization.

Concrete Segment

Revenues for our concrete segment for the three months ended March 31, 2023 were $79.9 million compared to
$90.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, a decrease of $10.6 million, or 11.7%. This decrease
was primarily due to weather and customer delays and a reduction of revenue in central Texas.

Operating loss for our concrete segment for the three months ended March 31, 2023 was $4.6 million, compared
to $4.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, a decrease in operating loss of $0.1 million. This
decrease in operating loss was primarily due to lower indirect costs due to the winding down of the central
Texas region, partially offset by the write-downs on several projects in the central Texas region.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Changes in working capital are normal within our business given the varying mix in size, scope and timing of
delivery of our projects. At March 31, 2023, our working capital was $21.8 million, as compared with $31.1
million at December 31, 2022. As of March 31, 2023, we had unrestricted cash on hand of $2.8 million. Our
borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility at March 31, 2023 was approximately $1.0 million.
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Our primary liquidity needs are to finance our working capital, fund capital expenditures, and pursue strategic
acquisitions. Historically, our source of liquidity has been cash provided by our operating activities, sale of
underutilized assets, and borrowings under our credit facilities. The assessment of the liquidity and going
concern requires us to make estimates of future activity and judgments about whether we are compliant with
financial covenant calculations under our debt and other agreements and have adequate liquidity to operate.
Significant assumptions used in our forecasted model of liquidity include forecasted sales, costs, and capital
expenditures; expected timing and proceeds of planned real estate transactions.

The following table provides information regarding our cash flows and our capital expenditures for the three
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022:

Three months ended

March 31,
2023 2022

Net loss $ (12,595) $ (4,856)
Adjustments to remove non-cash and non-operating items 6,668 7,051
Cash flow from net income after adjusting for non-cash and non-operating

items (5,927) 2,195
Change in operating assets and liabilities (working capital) 2,894 7,865
Cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities $ (3,033) § 10,060
Cash flows used in investing activities $ (1,300) $ (2,810)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities $ 3,394 $ (12,817)
Capital expenditures (included in investing activities above) $ (1,876) $ (3,523)

Operating Activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2023, we used approximately $3.0 million in
cash from our operating activities. The net cash outflow is comprised of $5.9 million of cash outflows from net
income, after adjusting for non-cash items, partially offset by $2.9 million of inflows related to changes in net
working capital. The changes in net working capital, which are reflected as changes in operating assets and
liabilities in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, were primarily driven by a $12.7 million
cash inflow pursuant to the relative timing and significance of project progression and billings during the period
and $0.8 million of other inflows, partially offset by a $7.9 million cash outflow related to a decrease in our net
position of accounts receivable and accounts payable plus accrued liabilities during the period, a $1.5 million
cash outflow from the increase in prepaid expenses and a $1.2 million decrease in operating lease liabilities.

Investing Activities. Capital asset additions and betterments to our fleet were $1.9 million in the three months
ended March 31, 2023, as compared with $3.5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2022. Proceeds
from the sale of property and equipment were $0.6 million in the three months ended March 31, 2023, as
compared with $0.7 million in the three months ended March 31, 2022.

Financing Activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2023, we had borrowings of $5.0 million on
our revolving line of credit and had payments of $0.8 million on finance lease liabilities, loan costs of $0.6
million and a cash outflow of $0.2 million for payments related to tax withholdings for share-based
compensation.
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Sources of Capital

Financial covenants

We obtained from the Credit Facility lenders an extension of the consent with respect to the delivery of our
annual financial statements with an audit opinion unqualified as to going concern and a consent for the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio to exceed 3.00 to 1.00 and for the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio to
be less than 1.25 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter Ending March 31, 2023

On May 15, 2023, we entered into a new three-year $103.0 million senior secured credit facility with White Oak
which includes a $65.0 million asset based revolving credit facility and a $38.0 million fixed asset term loan.

See Note 19 in the Notes to the Financial Statements (of this Form 10-Q) for further discussion on the
Company’s Debt Refinancing.

Bonding Capacity

We are often required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide additional security to our customers
for our performance under certain government and private sector contracts. Our ability to obtain surety bonds
depends on our capitalization, working capital, past performance and external factors, including the capacity of
the overall surety market. At March 31, 2023, the capacity under our current bonding arrangement was at least
$750 million, with approximately $210 million of projects being bonded. We believe our balance sheet and
working capital position will allow us to continue to access our bonding capacity.

Effect of Inflation

We are subject to the effects of inflation through increases in the cost of raw materials, and other items such as
fuel, concrete and steel. Due to the relative short-term duration of our projects, we are generally able to include
anticipated price increases in the cost of our bids.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business, our results of operations are subject to risks related to fluctuations in
commodity prices and fluctuations in interest rates. Historically, our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations
has not been material and has been limited to temporary field accounts located in foreign countries where we
perform work. Foreign currency fluctuations were immaterial in this reporting period.

Commodity price risk

We are subject to fluctuations in commodity prices for concrete, steel products and fuel. Although we routinely
attempt to secure firm quotes from our suppliers, we generally do not hedge against increases in prices for
commodity products. Commodity price risks may have an impact on our results of operations due to the fixed-
price nature of many of our contracts, although the short-term duration of our projects may allow us to include
price increases in the costs of our bids.
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Interest rate risk

At March 31, 2023, we had $40.0 million in outstanding borrowings under our credit facility, with a weighted
average ending interest rate of 10.20%. Based on the amounts outstanding under our credit facility as of March
31, 2023, a 100 basis-point increase in LIBOR (or an equivalent successor rate) would increase the Company’s
annual interest expense by approximately $0.4 million.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required, the Company’s management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2023.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2023 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For information about litigation involving us, see Note 16 to the condensed consolidated financial statements in
Part I of this report, which we incorporate by reference into this Item 1 of Part II.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”,
of our 2022 Form 10-K.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

There were no sales of equity securities in the period ended March 31, 2023.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6.

Exhibit
Number

EXHIBITS

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Orion Group Holdings, Inc. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2016, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 5, 2016 (File
No. 001-33891)).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Orion Group Holdings, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to

—
—

—_
N

*
—_
o8]

*
(o8]
—
—

Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 5, 2016 (File No. 001-33891)).

Land Sale Contract, dated April 26, 2023, by and between Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and Equity
Resource Partners — East West, LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 2, 2023
(File No. 001-33891)).

Consent Letter, dated May 5, 2023, by and between Orion Marine Group, Inc. as Borrower, certain
subsidiaries of the Borrower, as Guarantors, the Lenders Party thereto, Regions Bank, as
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and Bank of America, N.A. and BOKF, NA dba Bank
of Texas, as Co-Syndication Agents. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2023
(File No. 001-33891)).

Loan Agreement dated as of May 15, 2023 among Orion Group Holdings, Inc. and certain of its
subsidiaries from time to time party hereto as borrowers, the entities from time to time party hereto,
as Lenders, White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Title 18
U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Exhibit
Number

Description

*101.INS
*101.SCH
*101.CAL
*101.DEF
*101.LAB
*101.PRE

*104

XBRL Instance Document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

Inline XBRL Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

*  Filed herewith
**  Furnished herewith
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ORION GROUP HOLDINGS, INC.

May 15, 2023 By:/s/ Travis J. Boone

Travis J. Boone
President and Chief Executive Officer

May 15, 2023 By:/s/ Scott Thanisch

Scott Thanisch
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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dated as of May 15, 2023
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ORION GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. and
CERTAIN OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO AS BORROWERS,

THE ENTITIES FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO,
as Lenders,

WHITE OAK COMMERCIAL FINANCE, LLC,
as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
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LOAN AGREEMENT

This Loan AGrReeMENT, dated as of May 15, 2023, is entered into by and among ORION GROUP
HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Orion"), certain Subsidiaries of Orion from time to time
party hereto as a Borrower (collectively and together with Orion, jointly and severally, the "Borrowers" and
each individually a "Borrower"), the several financial institutions from time to time party to this Agreement
as Lenders, WHITE OAK COMMERCIAL FINANCE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
("WOCF"), as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, together with its successors and
assigns in such capacity, "Administrative Agent") and as collateral agent for the Lenders (in such capacity,
together with its successors and assigns in such capacity, "Collateral Agent").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested that Lenders make available to the Borrowers the
extensions of credit referenced herein on the terms and conditions contained herein; and

WHEREAS, Lenders have agreed severally to make such extensions of credit available to the
Borrowers on the terms and conditions contained herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, provisions and covenants
contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

ARTICLE 1
CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS; CERTAIN RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

SECTION 1.01 CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS.
As used herein:

"ABR Index Rate" means, as of any SOFR Index Adjustment Date, a rate per annum equal to the highest
of: (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1.00%; (b) the rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street
Journal as the "Prime Rate" in the U.S. or, if The Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest
per annum interest rate published by the Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15
(519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the "bank prime loan" rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted therein, any
similar rate quoted therein (as reasonably determined by Administrative Agent) or any similar release by the
Federal Reserve Board (as reasonably determined by Administrative Agent), and (c) the Floor.

"Accounts" means, as to any Person, all accounts (as that term is defined in the UCC) now owned or
hereafter acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a
secured party), including: (a) all accounts (as that term is defined in the UCC), payment intangibles (as that
term is defined in the UCC), other receivables, book debts, all other rights to payment and/or reimbursement
of every kind and description, including under governmental entitlement programs, and all other forms of
obligations (other than forms of obligations evidenced by chattel paper or instruments) (including any such
obligations that may be characterized as an account or contract right under the UCC); (b) all of such
Person's rights in, to and under all purchase orders or receipts for goods or services; (c) all of such Person's
rights to any goods represented by any of the foregoing (including unpaid sellers' rights of rescission,
replevin, reclamation and stoppage in transit and rights to returned, reclaimed or repossessed goods); (d) all
rights to payment due to such Person for goods or other property sold, leased, licensed,




assigned or otherwise disposed of, for a policy of insurance issued or to be issued, for a secondary
obligation incurred or to be incurred, for the use or hire of a vessel under a charter or any other contract,
arising out of the use of a credit card or charge card, or for services rendered or to be rendered by such
Person or in connection with any other transaction (whether or not yet earned by performance on the part of
such Person); and (e) all collateral security of any kind given by any Account Debtor or any other Person
with respect to any of the foregoing.

"Account Debtor" means any Person who is or may become obligated with respect to, or on account of, an
Account, Chattel Paper or General Intangible (including a payment intangible (as that term is defined in the
UCQ)).

"Accounts Formula Amount" means the result of the sum of (i) 90% of the Value of Eligible Accounts,
minus (b) the amount, if any, of the Dilution Reserve.

"Acquisition" means the acquisition, whether through a single transaction or a series of related transactions,
of (a) a majority of the voting Equity Interests or other controlling ownership interest in another Person
(including the purchase of an option, warrant or convertible or similar type security to acquire such a
controlling interest at the time it becomes exercisable by the holder thereof), whether by purchase of such
equity or other ownership interest or upon the exercise of an option or warrant for, or conversion of
securities into, such equity or other ownership interest, or (b) assets of another Person which constitute all
or substantially all of the assets of such Person or of a division, line of business or other business unit of
such Person.

"Administrative Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
"Administrative Borrower" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(g).

"Administrative Detail Form" means an administrative detail form supplied by, or otherwise acceptable to,
Administrative Agent.

"Affected Financial Institution" means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial
Institution.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified;
provided, that, none of the Agents, any Lender or any of their respective Affiliates shall be considered an
Affiliate of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof; provided, further that for purposes of the definition of
Eligible Accounts, if any Person owns directly or indirectly 15% or more of the Equity Interests having
ordinary voting power for the election of directors or other members of the governing body of a Person or
15% or more of the partnership or other ownership interests of a Person (other than as a limited partner of
such Person), then both such Persons shall be Affiliates of each other.

"Agent" means each of Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and "Agents" means collectively,
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent.

"Agent Indemnitees" means Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent and each of their respective officers,
directors, employees, Affiliates, agents and attorneys.

"Agent's Office" means Administrative Agent's address and, as appropriate, account as set forth on
Schedule 10.02, or such other address or account as Administrative Agent may from time to time notify
Administrative Borrower and each other Lending Party.




"Agreement" means this Loan Agreement, as amended, restated, replaced, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time.

"ALTA Survey" means a survey reasonably satisfactory to the Agents prepared by a surveyor licensed to
perform surveys in the jurisdiction in which such Mortgaged Property is located in accordance with the
standards adopted by the American Land Title Association and the National Society of Professional
Surveys, known as the "Minimum Standard Detail Requirements of Land Title Surveys (Effective February
23, 2021)", including such table A items as are reasonably required by Agents, and sufficient form to satisfy
the requirements of the Title Company to issue the applicable policy of mortgage title insurance without a
standard survey exception, with all extended coverage and endorsements reasonably requested by the
Agents, and otherwise in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Agents.

"Anti-Corruption Laws" means the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, as amended, and all other
applicable laws and regulations or ordinances concerning or relating to bribery or corruption in any
jurisdiction in which any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is located or is doing business.

"Anti-Money Laundering Laws" means the applicable laws or regulations in any jurisdiction in which any
Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is located or is doing business that relates to money laundering,
including the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the PATRIOT Act, any predicate crime to money
laundering, or any financial record keeping and reporting requirements related thereto.

"Applicable Lender" means (i) with respect to the Term Loan Obligations, the Term Loan Lenders and (ii)
with respect to the Revolver Obligations, the Revolver Lenders.

"Applicable Level I EBITDA Threshold" means, for the Quarterly Test Period ended June 30, 2023,
$3,000,000, for the Semi-Annual Test Period ended September 30, 2023, $11,000,000, for the Tri-Quarterly
Test Period ended December 31, 2023, $19,000,000, for the TFQ Test Period ended March 31, 2024,
$37,500,000, and for the TFQ Test Period ended June 30, 2024, $57,500,000.

"Applicable Level II/III EBITDA Threshold" means, for the Quarterly Test Period ended June 30, 2023,
$1,000,000, for the Semi-Annual Test Period ended September 30, 2023, $8,000,000, for the Tri-Quarterly
Test Period ended December 31, 2023, $13,500,000, for the TFQ Test Period ended March 31, 2024,
$27,000,000, and for the TFQ Test Period ended June 30, 2024, $41,500,000.

"Applicable Margin" means, as of any date of determination, with respect to any (a) Term Loan, eight
percent (8.00%) per annum, and (b) Revolver Loan, the applicable margin set forth in the following table
that corresponds to the Average Excess Revolver Availability of Borrowers for the most recently completed
month (to be re-determined as of the first day of each month) and either Consolidated EBITDA (prior to the
Covenant Toggle Date) or, Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (from and after the Covenant Toggle
Date), of Borrowers for the most recently completed Fiscal Quarter for which financial statements and a
certified calculation of Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio have been
delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(a) or (b), as applicable, and Section 6.02(a) (to be re-determined as of
the first day of each month, commencing with September 1, 2023, following the month in which such
financial statements and Compliance Certificate are delivered); provided that (i) for the period from the
Closing Date through and including May 31, 2023, the Applicable Margin shall be set at the margin in the
row styled "Level II", and (ii) the row styled "Level I" shall not be available until after delivery of the
Compliance Certificate for the Fiscal Quarter ended June 30, 2023, and, prior to such delivery through
August 31, 2023, the Applicable Margin shall be set at Level IT or Level III, as applicable, based solely on
the Average Excess Revolver Availability calculation for the applicable prior month




Level | Average Excess Revolver Availability, Applicable Margin
Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio

I Average Excess Revolver Availability of > 5.25 percentage points
$35,000,000 and Consolidated EBITDA (prior
to the Covenant Toggle Date) of > the
Applicable Level I EBITDA Threshold, and
Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
(from and after the Covenant Toggle Date) of >
1.20:1.00 (collectively, the "Level I
Requirements")

II Average Excess Revolver Availability of > 5.50 percentage points
$20,000,000, and Consolidated EBITDA (prior
to the Covenant Toggle Date) of > the
Applicable Level II/ITT EBITDA Threshold and
Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
(from and after the Covenant Toggle Date) of >
1.00:1.00, and the Level I Requirements are
not met

III Average Excess Revolver Availability of < 5.75 percentage points
$20,000,000, Consolidated EBITDA (prior to
the Covenant Toggle Date) of < the Applicable
Level II/III EBITDA Threshold, or
Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
(from and after the Covenant Toggle Date) of <
1.00:1.00

Average Excess Revolver Availability shall be calculated by Administrative Agent based on the Borrowing
Base Reports delivered by Administrative Borrower during the preceding Fiscal Month, and the
Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio shall be reported by the Borrowers
in each Compliance Certificate delivered for a Fiscal Quarter end in accordance with Section 6.02(a);
provided, however, that solely for purposes of determining the Applicable Margin, the Consolidated Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio shall be based on a Semi-Annual Test Period. Any increase or decrease in the
Applicable Margin resulting from a change in Average Excess Revolver Availability and/or the
Consolidated EBITDA or Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, as applicable, shall become effective
as of the first calendar day of each Fiscal Month; provided, that if the Borrowing Base Reports (including
any required financial information in support thereof), annual or quarterly financial statements or
Compliance Certificates are not delivered when due, then Level III shall apply until such time as such
Borrowing Base Reports and supporting information, financial statements and Compliance Certificates, as
applicable, are delivered. In the event that the information regarding the Consolidated EBITDA or the
Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio contained in any Compliance Certificate delivered pursuant to
Section 6.02(a) is shown to be inaccurate, and such inaccuracy, if corrected, would have led to the
application of a higher Applicable Margin for any period (an "Applicable Period") than the Applicable
Margin actually applied for such Applicable Period, then (i) Borrowers shall immediately deliver to
Administrative Agent a correct Compliance Certificate for such Applicable Period, (ii) the Applicable
Margin shall be determined as if the correct Applicable Margin (as set forth in the table above) were
applicable for such Applicable Period, and (iii) Borrowers shall immediately deliver to Administrative
Agent full payment in respect of the accrued additional interest as a result of such increased Applicable
Margin for such Applicable Period, which payment shall be promptly applied by Administrative Agent to
the affected Obligations. Any adjustment in the Applicable Margin shall be applicable to all Revolver
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Loans then existing or subsequently made during the applicable period for which the relevant Applicable
Margin applies.

If Borrowers have not received sufficient cash proceeds from Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transactions
to meet any deadline set forth in item 1 of Schedule 6.19 (without giving effect to the grace periods set forth
therein), then the Applicable Margin shall be increased by 0.50 percentage points on each of (x) the date of
such missed deadline and (y) the first day of every 7 day period after such missed deadline, until the
Borrowers having received sufficient cash proceeds from Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transactions to
meet the required threshold for the deadline that was missed, at which time any increases in the Applicable
Margin that have occurred as a result of such missed deadline (but not any other missed deadline) shall
cease to be effective; provided, that the Applicable Margin shall not be increased by more than 2.00
percentage points in the aggregate at any time as a result of this sentence. Additionally, if Borrowers have
not received sufficient cash proceeds from Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transactions to meet any
deadline set forth in item 1 of Schedule 6.19 after giving effect to any applicable grace period set forth
therein, then Level III shall apply as of the end of such grace period (or deadline, if no grace period is
applicable) until the Borrowers have received sufficient cash proceeds from Specified Post-Closing
Liquidity Transactions to meet the required threshold for the deadline that was missed.

"Application Event" means the occurrence of (a) a failure by Borrowers to repay all of the Obligations in
full on the Maturity Date, or (b) an Event of Default and the election by Administrative Agent or the
Required Lenders to require that payments and proceeds of Collateral be applied pursuant to Section
8.02(d) of this Agreement.

"Approved Fund" means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making,
purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in the
ordinary course of its activities, which Person is administered or managed by (a) a Lending Party, (b) an
Affiliate of a Lending Party or (c) an entity, or an Affiliate of an entity, that administers or manages a
Lending Party; provided, that an "Approved Fund" shall not include any Loan Party or any of its Affiliates.

"Approved Operating Jurisdiction" shall mean the United States and the Bahamas; provided that, upon
Administrative Agent's prior written consent, another operating jurisdiction may be approved but only if
such jurisdiction provides Administrative Agent with the satisfactory ability to enforce ship mortgages as
determined by the Agents in their Permitted Discretion (it being understood that Agents may request
customary local counsel legal opinions in making such determination).

"Assignment and Assumption" means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lending Party and
an Eligible Assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 10.06(b)), and
accepted by the Administrative Agent, substantially in the form of Exhibit C, or such other form as agreed
by the Administrative Agent.

"Assignment of Earnings" means that certain Assignment of Earnings given by certain Loan Parties in
favor of Administrative Agent, dated as of May 15, 2023, as the same may be amended or modified from
time to time.

"Assignment of Insurances" that certain Assignment of Insurances given by certain Loan Parties in favor
of Administrative Agent, dated as of May 15, 2023, as the same may be amended or modified from time to
time.

"Attributable Debt" means, on any date of determination: (a) in respect of any Capital Lease of any
Person, the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of
such date in accordance with GAAP; and (b) in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligation, the
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capitalized amount of the remaining lease payments under the relevant lease that would appear on a balance
sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease were accounted for as
a Capital Lease.

"Audited Closing Financial Statements" means the audited financial statements of Orion, comprised of
the balance sheet of Orion as of December 31, 2022, and the related statements of income, stockholder's
equity and cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, together with all related notes thereto.

"Auditor" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01(a).

"Authorized Financial Officer" means, with respect to each Loan Party, the chief executive officer,
president, chief financial officer, or any other senior officer in the finance department of such Loan Party.
Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by an Authorized Financial Officer of a Loan Party shall
be conclusively presumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership and/or other
action on the part of such Loan Party and such Authorized Financial Officer shall be conclusively presumed
to have acted on behalf of such Loan Party.

"Average Excess Revolver Availability" means, with respect to any period, the sum of the aggregate
amount of Revolver Availability for each Business Day in such period (as calculated by Administrative
Agent as of the end of each respective Business Day) divided by the number of Business Days in such
period.

"Average Revolver Usage" means, with respect to any period, the sum of the aggregate amount of
Revolver Usage for each Business Day in such period (as calculated by Administrative Agent as of the end
of each respective Business Day) divided by the number of Business Days in such period.

"Bail-In Action" means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable
Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

"Bail-In Legislation" means, (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of
Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the
implementing law, regulation, rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which
is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, Part I of
the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law, regulation or rule
applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or
other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other
insolvency proceedings).

"Bankruptcy Code" means Title 11 of the United States Code, as in effect from time to time.

"Bankruptcy Laws" means, collectively: (a) the Bankruptcy Code; and (b) all other liquidation,
conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement,
receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor-relief Laws of the United States or other
applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"Base Rate" means an interest rate equal to (a) the sum of: (x) the SOFR Index Rate, as adjusted as of each
SOFR Index Adjustment Date, plus (y) the Applicable Margin in effect from time to time per annum or
(b) with respect to the affected Loans, during the existence of a Market Disruption Event (commencing on
the first day of the first month following such Market Disruption Event and for each subsequent month
occurring during such Market Disruption Event with respect to any outstanding affected
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Loans), the sum (x) of the ABR Index Rate, as adjusted as of each SOFR Index Adjustment Date, plus
(y) the Applicable Margin in effect from time to time per annum.

"BHC Act Affiliate" of a party means an "affiliate" (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in
accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

"Board of Directors" means, as to any Person, the board of directors (or comparable managers) or other
governing Person or body of such Person, or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of the
board of directors (or comparable managers).

"Books and Records" means, as to any Person, all of such Person's books and records including ledgers,
federal and state tax returns, records regarding such Person's assets or liabilities, business operations or
financial condition, and all computer programs or storage or any equipment containing such information.

"Borrower" and "Borrowers" have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the introductory paragraph
hereof.
"Borrowing Base "
applicable.

means the Revolver Loan Borrowing Base or the Term Loan Borrowing Base, as

"Borrowing Base Report" means a report of the Revolver Loan Borrowing Base and the Term Loan
Borrowing Base, in the form of Exhibit F (together with such supporting detail attached thereto as is
reasonably required by Administrative Agent) or otherwise in form and substance satisfactory to
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion.

"Borrowing Request" means a written request for funding of the Loan, substantially in the form of
Exhibit D.

"Business Day" means (i) any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks
are authorized to close under the Laws of, or are in fact closed in, New York, New York or any city and state
where Administrative Agent's Office is located, (ii) any day that any of the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York or the New York Stock Exchange is closed, and (iii) any other day included in the recommended
holiday schedule of the Loan Syndications and Trading Association for calculating delayed compensation;
provided, that, if such day relates to any interest rate settings as to a Loan that is based on SOFR, any
fundings, disbursements, settlements, and payments in respect of any Loan accruing interest based upon the
SOFR Index Rate, or any other dealings in Dollars to be carried out pursuant to this Agreement in respect of
any such Loan, the term "Business Day" means any such day that is also a U.S. Government Securities
Business Day.

"Capital Expenditures" means, with respect to any Person, all expenditures (whether paid in cash or other
consideration or accrued as a liability and including that portion of Capital Leases that is capitalized on the
balance sheet of such Person including in connection with a sale leaseback transaction) by such Person for
the acquisition or leasing of fixed or capital assets or additions to equipment (including replacements,
capitalized repairs and improvements during such period) that are required to be capitalized under GAAP on
a balance sheet of such Person. For purposes of this definition, but without duplication: (a) the amount of
any Capital Expenditure in connection with the purchase of any of equipment that is purchased
simultaneously with the trade-in of existing equipment owned by such Person thereof or with insurance
proceeds shall be the result of (i) the gross amount of the purchase price, minus (ii) the credit granted by the
seller of such equipment for such equipment being traded in at such time, or the amount of such proceeds,
as the case may be; (b) Capital Expenditures shall be offset (but not to an amount less than
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zero) by the amount of sale proceeds (excluding gains) from the Disposition of fixed or capital assets or
additions to equipment (other than any such proceeds of the Specified Sale Leaseback Transactions or any
other Specified Asset Disposition) that are not otherwise treated as a credit pursuant to the foregoing clause
(a) or attributable to an exclusion from Capital Expenditures pursuant to the following clause (c), and (c) the
following shall not constitute "Capital Expenditures": (i) an acquisition to the extent made with the
proceeds of a Disposition in accordance with Section 7.05(c), (ii) expenditures to the extent that they are
made to effect leasehold improvements to any property leased by such Person as lessee, to the extent that
such expenses have been reimbursed in cash by the landlord that is not a Loan Party or a Subsidiary thereof,
(iii) expenditures to the extent that they are actually paid for by a third party (excluding any Loan Party or
any Subsidiary thereof) and for which no Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof has provided or is required
to provide or incur, directly or indirectly, any consideration or monetary obligation to such third party or any
other person (whether before, during or after such period), (iv) [reserved], and (v) expenditures financed
with the proceeds of capital contributions to, or issuances of qualified Equity Interests by, Orion that are
received by Orion substantially contemporaneously with the making of such expenditure.

"Capital Lease" means any lease which, in accordance with GAAP, is required to be capitalized for
financial reporting purposes.

"Cash Dominion Event" means the occurrence of either of the following: (i) the occurrence and
continuance of any Event of Default, or (ii) Liquidity falls below (x) $10,000,000, at any time,
() $20,000,000, as of the second consecutive date of delivery of a Borrowing Base Certificate reflecting
Liquidity of less than $20,000,000, or (z) $20,000,000, at any time, and Borrowers, in their sole and
absolute discretion in the case of this clause (z), direct Administrative Agent that a Cash Dominion Event
has occurred and a Cash Dominion Period has commenced.

"Cash Dominion Period" means the period commencing after the occurrence of a Cash Dominion Event
and continuing until the date when (i) no Event of Default shall exist and be continuing, and (ii) Liquidity is
greater than $20,000,000 for 30 consecutive days.

"Cash Equivalents" means any of the following types of property, to the extent owned by Orion or any of
its Domestic Subsidiaries that are Loan Parties free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens):

(a) cash, denominated in Dollars;

(b) readily marketable direct obligations of the government of the United States or any
agency or instrumentality thereof, or obligations the timely payment of principal and interest on which are
fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the government of the United States or any state or municipality
thereof, in each case so long as such obligation has an investment grade rating by S&P and Moody's;

(o) commercial paper rated at least P-1 (or the then equivalent grade) by Moody's and
A-1 (or the then equivalent grade) by S&P, or carrying an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized
rating agency if at any time neither Moody's nor S&P shall be rating such obligations;

(d) insured certificates of deposit or bankers' acceptances of, or time deposits with any
Lender or with any commercial bank that (i) is a member of the Federal Reserve System, (ii) issues (or the
parent of which issues) commercial paper rated as described in the first portion of clause (c) above, (iii) is
organized under the laws of the United States or of any state thereof and (iv) has combined capital and
surplus of at least $250,000,000;




(e) readily marketable general obligations of any corporation organized under the laws
of any state of the United States of America, payable in the United States of America, expressed to mature
not later than twelve months following the date of issuance thereof and rated A or better by S&P or A3 or
better by Moody's; and

® readily marketable shares of investment companies or money market funds that, in
each case, invest solely in the forgoing Investments described in clauses (a) through (f) above.

"CFC" means a controlled foreign corporation within the meaning of Section 957 of the Code in which any
Loan Party or direct or indirect owner of a Loan Party is a "United States shareholder" within the meaning
of Section 951(b) of the Code; provided however, for the purposes of this Agreement and any other Loan
Document, ORION MARINE CONSTRUCTION BAHAMAS, LLC or any Subsidiary thereof, shall not be
treated as a CFC.

"Change in Law" means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following: (a) the
adoption or taking effect of any Law, rule, regulation or treaty; (b) any change in any Law, rule, regulation
or treaty or in the administration, interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any Governmental
Authority; or (c) the making or issuance of any request, rule, guideline or directive (whether or not having
the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; provided that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein: (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests,
rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith or the implementation thereof
and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements,
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or
foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a
"Change in Law" regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued or implemented.

"Change of Control" means that:

(a) an event or series of events by which any "person" or "group" (as such terms are
used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rules
13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of 35% or more of the Equity Interests of
Orion entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote for the election of members of
the board of directors or equivalent governing body of Orion on a fully diluted basis (and taking into
account all such securities that such person or group has the right to acquire pursuant to any option right); or

(b) Orion fails to own and control, beneficially and of record, directly or indirectly,
100% of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of each of its Subsidiaries which constitute Borrowers
or other Loan Parties, except pursuant to a transaction expressly permitted pursuant to the terms of the Loan
Document.

"Chattel Paper" means, as to any Person, all chattel paper (as that term is defined in the UCC), including
electronic chattel paper (as that term is defined in the UCC), now owned or hereafter acquired by such
Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a secured party).

"Claims" means, collectively, any claim or cause of action based upon or arising out of this Agreement, the
other Loan Documents or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including contract claims,
tort claims, breach of duty claims, and all other common law or statutory claims.

"Closing Date" means May 15, 2023.

"Closing Date Accounts" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.12(a).




"CME Term SOFR Page" means, as of any time on any SOFR Index Adjustment Date, the display
designated as "CME Term SOFR Rates" on the website of CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited
at such time on such date (or, if such display is unavailable, then on any successor or substitute page of such
service, or any successor to, or substitute for, such service, providing rate quotations comparable to those
currently provided on such page of such service, as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent
from time to time for purposes of providing forward-looking term rates for SOFR).

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Collateral" means all assets and interests in assets and proceeds thereof now owned or hereafter acquired
by any Loan Party or any of their respective Subsidiaries or any Pledgor in or upon which a Lien is granted
by such Person in favor of either Agent or the Lenders under any of the Loan Documents; provided that the
"Collateral" shall not include Excluded Property or Excluded Real Property.

"Collateral Access Agreement" means a landlord waiver, bailee letter, licensor agreement or
acknowledgement agreement between Administrative Agent and any lessor, warehouseman, processor,
consignee, licensor of a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, with respect to
any leased Real Property), or any other Person in possession of, having a Lien upon, or having rights or
interests in any Loan Party's or any of its Subsidiaries' books and records, Equipment, or Inventory, or
Intellectual Property in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent.

"Collateral Accounts" means all commodity accounts, deposit accounts and securities accounts (in each
case, as defined in the UCC) of any Loan Party, other than the Excluded Accounts.

"Collateral Documents" means, collectively: (a) this Agreement; (b) each Control Agreement entered into
in connection with this Agreement; (c) each Deed of Trust; (d) the Guaranty and Security Agreement; (e)
each Copyright Security Agreement; (f) each Patent Security Agreement; (g) each Trademark Security
Agreement; (h) each Collateral Access Agreement, (i) each Ship Mortgage, (j) the Maritime Security
Documents, (k) any guaranty, guaranty and security agreement or other document similar to the documents
referred to in clauses (a) through (j) of this definition executed on or after the Closing Date pursuant to the
terms hereof or otherwise in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby; and (k) all financing
statements (or comparable documents now or hereafter filed in accordance with the Uniform Commercial
Code or other comparable Law) against Borrowers or any other Loan Party or any other Loan Document as
debtor in favor of each Agent, for the benefit of itself and each other Lending Party (or any of the
foregoing), as secured party.

"Collateralization" and "Collateralize" each means, with respect to Letters of Credit, the deposit by
Borrowers in a cash collateral account established and controlled by or on behalf of Administrative Agent of
an amount equal to 105% of the aggregate Letter of Credit Usage.

"Collection Account" means a special account established by Borrowers at Regions Bank, or another bank
reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent, over which Administrative Agent has control for withdrawal
purposes following the issuance of a notice provided by the Administrative Agent during a Cash Dominion
Period.

"Commitment" means for any Lender, the aggregate amount of such Lender's Revolver Commitment
and/or Term Loan Commitment.

"Commitments" means the aggregate amount of all Revolver Commitments and Term Loan Commitments.
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"Compliance Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit A.

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, for any applicable Test Period, for Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries on
a consolidated basis, the sum for such period of (without duplication): (a) Consolidated Net Income; plus
(b) Consolidated Interest Expense (net of interest income) to the extent included in the determination of
such Consolidated Net Income; plus (c) all amounts treated as expenses for depreciation and the
amortization of intangibles of any kind, but in each case only to the extent included in the determination of
such Consolidated Net Income; plus (d) all accrued taxes on or measured by income and distributions for
such taxes, but in each case only to the extent deducted in the determination of such Consolidated Net
Income; plus (e) fees, charges and expenses incurred by the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries in
connection with the execution, delivery and performance by each Loan Party and their applicable
Subsidiaries of the Loan Documents to which they are or are intended to be a party and the funding of
Loans thereunder, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $6,000,000, but in each case only to the extent
included in the determination of such Consolidated Net Income; plus (f) non-cash charges, expenses and
losses (including, without limitation, all of the foregoing incurred in connection with equity based
compensation or equity based incentive plan), but in each case only to the extent included in the
determination of such Consolidated Net Income; plus (g) all extraordinary, unusual or one-time or non-
recurring non-cash losses or expenses so long as not related to a future cash payment, but in each case only
to the extent included in the determination of such Consolidated Net Income; plus (h) all extraordinary,
unusual, or one-time or non-recurring cash losses or expenses but in each case only to the extent approved
by Administrative Agent in writing, and only to the extent included in the determination of such
Consolidated Net Income; plus (i) [reserved]; plus (j) fees, costs and expenses incurred by the Loan Parties
in connection with amendments, modifications and consents related to the Loan Documents, but in each
case only to the extent included in the determination of such Consolidated Net Income; minus (k) non-cash
income, gains or profits realized during such period, but in each case only to the extent included in the
determination of such Consolidated Net Income; minus (1) cash income, gains or profits related to any
Specified Sale Leaseback Transaction and any other Specified Asset Disposition, but in each case only to
the extent included in the determination of such Consolidated Net Income, minus (m) cash income, gains or
profits in excess of $2,500,000 for any TFQ Test Period (or a pro-rated amount thereof for any shorter Test
Period) realized during such period from any other Disposition of Equipment not deducted pursuant to the
foregoing clause (1), but in each case only to the extent included in the determination of such Consolidated
Net Income.

"Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio" means, as of the last day of any TFQ Test Period, in each
case determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, subject to Section 1.02(f), the ratio of:
(a) the result for such period of (without duplication): (i) Consolidated EBITDA; minus (ii) all payments in
cash for taxes on or measured by income made by Orion and its Subsidiaries (including any amounts paid as
Tax Distributions); minus (iii) Capital Expenditures actually made in cash by Orion and its Subsidiaries (net
of any insurance proceeds, condemnation award or proceeds relating to any financing with respect to such
expenditures); minus (iv) Restricted Payments (without duplication of Restricted Payments on account of
Tax Distributions to the extent already accounted for in clause (ii) above) paid in cash by any Loan Party to
any Person that is not a Loan Party to (b) the sum for such period of (without duplication): (i) Consolidated
Interest Expense; plus (ii) the aggregate amount of scheduled principal payments actually made or required
to be made on the Loans; plus (iii) without duplication, all scheduled principal payments and all principal
payments made for future periods made with respect to Capital Leases and other Debt (other than the
Obligations). The Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio will be calculated on a pro forma basis in a
manner to be mutually and reasonably agreed upon by Agents and Orion to give effect to any redemptions
or repayments of Debt as though such redemption or repayment occurred as of the first day of the applicable
period.
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"Consolidated Interest Expense" means, for any period determined on a consolidated basis, total interest
expense (including that attributable to Capital Leases) of Orion and its Subsidiaries for such period with
respect to all outstanding Debt of Orion and its Subsidiaries (including all commissions, discounts and other
fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit and bankers' acceptances to the extent such net costs
are allocable to such period in accordance with GAAP) net of interest income, calculated on a consolidated
basis for Orion and its Subsidiaries for such period in accordance with GAAP.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period, for Orion and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis,
net income (or loss) for such period, but excluding (without duplication): (a) any income of any Person if
such Person is not a Subsidiary, except that a Loan Party's direct or indirect equity in the net income of any
such Person for such period shall be included in such computation of net income (or loss) up to the
aggregate amount of cash actually distributed by such Person during such period to a Loan Party or a
Subsidiary thereof as a dividend or other distribution; (b) net income of any Subsidiary to the extent that the
declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by such Subsidiary of that income is prohibited
by operation of the terms of its Organizational Documents or any Contractual Obligation or Laws applicable
to such Subsidiary or by which Subsidiary is bound and (c) any unrealized net gains in the fair market value
of any arrangements under swap contracts and gains attributable to the early extinguishment or conversion
of arrangements under swap contracts or other derivative instruments.

"Contractual Obligation" means, as to any Person, any document or other agreement or
undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.

"Control" means (other than when used in the terms "Change of Control" and "Control Agreement") the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies
of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. The terms
"Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, a Person shall be deemed to be Controlled by another Person if such other Person possesses,
directly or indirectly, the power to vote more than 15% or more of the securities having ordinary voting
power for the election of directors, managing general partners, managers or the equivalent or power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person whether by contract or
otherwise.

"Control Agreement" means any agreement entered into among a depository institution, commodities
intermediary or securities intermediary at which a Loan Party maintains a Collateral Account, such Loan
Party and Collateral Agent, pursuant to which Collateral Agent obtains control (within the meaning of the
UCC) over such Collateral Account, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to each Agent.

"Conversion Ratio" means, with respect to any fiscal period and with respect to the Borrowers on a
consolidated basis, the ratio of (a) all earned but previously unbilled Eligible Retainage Accounts actually
billed by a Borrower during the immediately preceding three Fiscal Month period, to (b) the amount of
earned and unbilled Eligible Retainage Accounts projected by the Borrowers to be billed during such
immediately preceding three Fiscal Month period, as reflected in the applicable Borrowing Base Reports for
such monthly periods; provided that the Conversation Ratio shall in no event exceed 100%.

"Copyright License" means, as to any Person, all licenses and other similar rights now provided or
hereafter provided to such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a
secured party) with respect to any Copyright of another Person.

"Copyrights" means, as to any Person, all of the following now owned or hereafter adopted or acquired by
such Person: (a) all copyrights in any original work of authorship fixed in any tangible medium
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of expression, now known or later developed, all registrations and applications for registration of any such
copyrights in the United States or any other country, including registrations, recordings and applications,
and supplemental registrations, recordings, and applications in the United States Copyright Office; and
(b) all proceeds of the foregoing, including license royalties and proceeds of infringement suits, the right to
sue for past, present and future infringements, all rights corresponding thereto throughout the world and all
renewals and extensions thereof.

"Copyright Security Agreement" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Guaranty and Security
Agreement.

"Covenant Toggle Date" means the date on which the Compliance Certificate for the Fiscal Quarter ended
September 30, 2024) shall have been delivered in accordance with Section 6.02(a).

"Covered Entity" means any of the following:

(a) a "covered entity" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. § 252.82(b);

(b) a "covered bank" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with,
12 C.F.R. § 47.3(b); or

(©) a "covered FSI" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with,
12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

"Covered Party" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.21.

"Credit Extensions" means all of the following: (a) the Term Loan, (b) the Revolver Loan, (c) all
Protective Advances, and (d) all Letters of Credit.

"Credit Outstandings" means, as of any date of determination, the then Outstanding Amount of all Credit
Extensions and the Make-Whole Amount (if any, that is due and payable as of such date of determination)
owing with respect thereto.

"Curative Equity" means cash proceeds of an equity investment (other than in respect of Disqualified
Equity Interests) made by Orion's equityholders to a Borrower in immediately available funds and which is
designated "Curative Equity" by such Borrower under Section 8.03 at the time it is contributed. For the
avoidance of doubt, the forgiveness of antecedent debt (whether Debt, trade payables, or otherwise) shall
not constitute Curative Equity.

"Debt" means, as to any Person as of any date of determination, without duplication, all of the following,
whether or not included as indebtedness or liabilities in accordance with GAAP: (a) all obligations of such
Person for borrowed money and all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, loan
agreements or other similar instruments; (b) all direct or contingent obligations of such Person arising under
letters of credit (including standby and commercial letters of credit), bankers' acceptances, bank guaranties,
surety bonds and similar instruments; (c) the swap termination value (after giving effect to netting) under
swap contracts or hedge contracts to which such Person is a party; (d) all obligations of such Person to pay
the deferred purchase price of property or services when due and payable (other than trade accounts payable
in the ordinary course of business); (e) indebtedness (excluding prepaid interest thereon) secured by a Lien
on property owned or being purchased by such Person (including indebtedness arising under conditional
sales or other title retention agreements), whether or not such indebtedness shall have been assumed by such
Person or is limited in recourse; (f) the amount of

13




Attributable Debt in respect of all Capital Lease obligations and Synthetic Lease Obligations of such
Person, (g) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters
of credit and letters of guaranty, (h) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of
bankers' acceptances, (i) all Earn-Out Obligations of such Person, other than any Earn-Out Obligation or
purchase price adjustment until such obligation (A) becomes a liability on the balance sheet (excluding
footnotes thereto) of such Person in accordance with GAAP and (B) has not been paid within 30 days after
becoming due and payable, (j) any other Off-Balance Sheet Liability of such Person, (k) all obligations of
such Person to purchase, redeem, retire, defease or otherwise make any payment in respect of any
Disqualified Equity Interest, valued, in the case of a Disqualified Equity Interest that is a redeemable
preferred interest, at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus accrued and
unpaid dividends; and (1) all Guarantees of such Person in respect of any Debt referred to in the
immediately preceding clauses (a) through (k). For all purposes hereof, the Debt of any Person shall
include the Debt of any partnership or joint venture (other than a joint venture that is itself a corporation or
limited liability company) in which such Person is a general partner or a joint venturer (but solely to the
extent that such joint venturer is liable therefor as a result of its ownership interest in such entity), unless
such Debt is expressly made non-recourse to such Person. The amount of Debt of any Person for purposes
of clause (e) shall be deemed to be equal to the lesser of (i) the aggregate unpaid amount of such
Indebtedness and (ii) the fair market value of the property encumbered thereby.

"Deed of Trust" means each mortgage or deed of trust or other similar document executed and delivered to
either Agent (or to be executed and delivered to either Agent) pursuant to the terms hereof or otherwise in
connection herewith by Borrowers, any Guarantor or any other Loan Party, as security for the Obligations,
in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agents, including but not limited to those deeds of trust
recorded against the real property located at (i) 1110 Broadway Street, Port Lavaca, TX; (ii) 619 Bayview
Drive, Port Lavaca, TX; (iii) 1003 and 1004 Olin Mathieson Road, Pasadena, TX; and (iv) 2705 S Highway
146, Baytown, TX 77520.

"Deed of Trust Related Documents" means, with respect to any Mortgaged Property, the following: (a)
ALTA or TLTA, as applicable, mortgagee title policies (or binder therefor), in form and substance
reasonably acceptable to Agents, with such endorsements as are reasonably required by Agents and
available in the applicable jurisdiction, insuring Collateral Agent's interest under the Deed of Trust, in an
amount equal to the 100% of the Fair Market Value of such Mortgaged Property and issued by a title
insurance company reasonably acceptable to Collateral Agent (the "Title Company"), which must be fully
paid on such effective date; (b) either (1) an ALTA Survey dated not more than 90 days prior to the date of
delivery to Collateral Agent or (2) an existing ALTA Survey with an affidavit of no change, if applicable, in
favor of the Title Company, in each case sufficient to allow the Title Company to issue the applicable policy
of title insurance without a standard survey exception, with all extended coverage and endorsements
reasonably requested by the Agents and available in the jurisdiction where such Mortgaged Property is
located, each of the foregoing in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agents; (c) all Flood
Documentation; (d) an environmental assessment, prepared by licensed environmental engineers reasonably
acceptable to Agents, which shall all be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agents; (e) an
environmental indemnity agreement as the Agents may reasonably require; (f) a zoning report sufficient to
allow the Title Company to issue the applicable policy of title insurance with a customary zoning
endorsement (if a zoning endorsement is available in the applicable jurisdiction), with such report otherwise
in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agents, (g) an executed legal opinion of local counsel
licensed in the jurisdiction in which such Mortgaged Property is located regarding the due execution, power,
authority, delivery, and enforceability of such Deed of Trust and such other matters as are reasonably
required by Agents, (h) evidence of payment of all expenses and premiums of the Title Company and all
other sums required in connection with the issuance of the aforementioned title policies and all recording,
mortgage, documentary, and stamp taxes (including, without limitation, mortgage recording and intangible
taxes) payable in connection with recording the Deeds of Trust in the
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applicable real property records, (i) such UCC financing statements and other documents, affidavits,
indemnities, and certificates as Collateral Agent may reasonably request with respect to any Mortgaged
Property, (j) with respect to any Mortgaged Property that constitutes Real Property leased, subleased,
licensed or otherwise occupied by any Loan Party, such comparable deliverables and other customary
deliverables as reasonably requested by Collateral Agent, including, without limitation collateral access
agreements and landlord's waivers, and (k) any consents necessary for the granting of any Deed of Trust to
Collateral Agent pursuant to the terms hereof.

"Default" means any Event of Default or any event or condition that, with the giving of notice, the passage
of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default.

"Default Rate" means an interest rate equal to the sum of: (a) the Base Rate then in effect, plus (b) (i) with
respect to Term Loans, the Applicable Margin otherwise applicable thereto plus 2.00% per annum and (ii)
with respect to Revolver Loans, the Applicable Margin otherwise applicable thereto plus 2.00% per annum.

"Default Right" has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. §8 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

"Defaulting Lender" means any Lender that (a) has failed to (i) fund all or any portion of its Loans within
two (2) Business Days of the date such Loans were required to be funded hereunder unless such Lender
notifies the Administrative Agent and Administrative Borrower in writing that such failure is the result of
such Lender's determination that one or more conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions
precedent, together with any applicable Default or Event of Default, shall be specifically identified in such
writing) has not been satisfied, or (ii) pay to the Administrative Agent or any other Lender any other amount
required to be paid by it hereunder within two (2) Business Days of the date when due, (b) has notified
Administrative Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing that it does not intend to comply with its
funding obligations hereunder, or has made a public statement to that effect (unless such writing or public
statement relates to such Lender's obligation to fund a Loan hereunder and states that such position is based
on such Lender's determination that a condition precedent to funding (which condition precedent, together
with any applicable Default or Event of Default, shall be specifically identified in such writing or public
statement) cannot be satisfied), (c) has failed, within three (3) Business Days after written request by the
Administrative Agent or Administrative Borrower, to confirm in writing to such Agent and Administrative
Borrower that it will comply with its prospective funding obligations hereunder (provided, that such Lender
shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upon receipt of such written confirmation
by such Agent and Administrative Borrower), or (d) has, or has a direct or indirect parent company that has,
(i) become the subject of any Insolvency Proceeding, (ii) had appointed for it a receiver, custodian,
conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with
reorganization or liquidation of its business or assets, including the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
or any other state or federal regulatory authority acting in such a capacity, or (iii) become the subject of a
Bail-in Action; provided, that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownership or
acquisition of any equity interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect parent company thereof by a
Governmental Authority so long as such ownership interest does not result in or provide such Lender with
immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of judgments or
writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such Governmental Authority) to reject,
repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made with such Lender. Any determination by
Administrative Agent that a Lender is a Defaulting Lender under any one or more of clauses (a) through (d)
above shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a
Defaulting Lender upon delivery of written notice of such determination to Administrative Borrower and
each Lender.
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"Defaulting Lender Rate" means (a) for the first three days from and after the date the relevant payment is
due, the Base Rate, and (b) thereafter, the interest rate then applicable to Revolver Loans that are Base Rate
Loans (inclusive of the Applicable Margin).

"Dilution" means, as of any date of determination, a percentage, determined by Administrative Agent in its
Permitted Discretion taking into account the then current timing of rebates, that is the result of dividing the
Dollar amount of (a) bad debt write-downs, discounts, advertising allowances, credits, or other dilutive
items with respect to Borrowers' Accounts during such period, by (b) Borrowers' billings with respect to
Accounts during such period.

"Dilution Reserve" means, as of any date of determination, an amount sufficient to reduce the advance rate
against Eligible Accounts, and Eligible Retainage Accounts of the Borrowers by the extent to which
Dilution of such Borrower is in excess of two and one-half percent (2.50%).

"Deposit Account” means any deposit account (as that term is defined in the UCC).

"Disposition" means the sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, license, lease or other disposition
(including any sale and leaseback transaction) of any property by any Person (or the granting of any option
or other right to do any of the foregoing), including any transfer of assets by way of division, and any sale,
assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts
receivable or any rights and claims associated therewith. The term "Dispose" has a meaning correlative
thereto.

"Disposition Limit" means, with respect to any Disposition permitted pursuant to Section 7.05(a), Section
7.05(c) or Section 7.05(h), $6,000,000 in the aggregate for all such Dispositions in any Fiscal Year, so long
as, in each case, no Revolver Overadvance and no Term Loan Overadvance shall exist, in each case before
or immediately after giving effect to such Disposition.

"Disqualified Equity Interest" means any Equity Interest of any Person that, by its terms (or by the terms
of any Equity Interest or other security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable at the
option of the holder thereof), or upon the happening of any event or circumstance (other than customary
asset sale offers and redemptions upon a change of control, in each case, so long as any rights of the holders
thereof upon the occurrence of such asset sale or change of control shall be subject to the prior repayment in
full of all the Loans and other Obligations that are due and payable and the termination of all Commitments)
matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable
at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part, or requires or mandates payments or distributions in
cash (other than Tax Distributions), on or prior to the date that is ninety-one days after the Maturity Date,
including for the avoidance of doubt, the Series A Preferred Stock authorized by the Organizational
Documents of Orion; provided, that if such Equity Interest is issued to any plan for the benefit of any
employee, director or manager of Orion or any of its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employee,
director or manager, in each case, in accordance with this Agreement, such Equity Interest shall not
constitute a Disqualified Equity Interest solely because it may be required to be repurchased by Orion or
any of its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations or as a result of the
termination, death or disability of such employee, director or manager.

"Documented Vessels" means the Fleet Equipment of a Borrower subject to a certificate of documentation
issued by the U.S. Coast Guard National Vessel Documentation Center, including, without limitation, the
vessels listed on Schedule 1.01.

"Documents" means, as to any Person, all documents (as that term is defined in the UCC) now owned or
hereafter acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer
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rights to a secured party), wherever located, including all bills of lading, dock warrants, dock receipts,
warehouse receipts, and other documents of title, whether negotiable or non-negotiable.

"Dollar" and "$" mean lawful money of the United States.

"Domestic Loan Party" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of any political subdivision
of the United States or the District of Columbia (but excluding any territory or possession thereof).

"Domestic Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary of a Loan Party that is organized under the laws of any
political subdivision of the United States or the District of Columbia (but excluding any territory or
possession thereof).

"Due Diligence Certificate" means the due diligence certificate dated as of the Closing Date in form and
substance acceptable to Administrative Agent.

"Earn-Out Obligations" means all obligations of the Loan Parties consisting of earn-outs or other
payments related to the enhanced performance of an entity acquired in connection with an Acquisition,
calculated in accordance with GAAP as the estimated amount thereof for the applicable Acquisition, which
determination shall be made on the date the definitive documentation for the applicable Acquisition is
entered into.

"East and West Jones Sale" means the sale of the real property at 1003 and 1004 Olin Mathieson Road,
Pasadena, TX.

"EEA Financial Institution" means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA
Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity
established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this
definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a subsidiary of
an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with
its parent.

"EEA Member Country" means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein,
and Norway.

"EEA Resolution Authority" means any public administrative authority or any person entrusted with
public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility
for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

"Electronic Platform" means an electronic system for the delivery of information (including documents),
such as Intralinks On Demand Workspaces™ or DXSyndicate™, that may or may not be provided or
administered by Administrative Agent or an Affiliate thereof.

"Eligible Account" means those Accounts (other than Eligible Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled
Retainage Accounts) created by any Borrower in the ordinary course of its business, that arise out of such
Borrower's sale of goods or rendition of services, that comply with each of the representations and
warranties respecting Eligible Accounts made in the Loan Documents, and that are not excluded as
ineligible by virtue of one or more of the excluding criteria set forth below; provided, that such criteria may
be revised from time to time by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion to address the results of
any field examination. Eligible Accounts shall not include the following:
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(a) Accounts that (i) with respect to which the Account Debtor is a customer of the
marine division of the applicable Borrower, the Account Debtor has failed to pay within ninety (90) days of
original invoice date or Accounts that are more than sixty (60) days past due, and (ii) with respect to which
the Account Debtor is a customer of the concrete division of the applicable Borrower, the Account Debtor
has failed to pay within one hundred twenty (120) days of original invoice date; provided that, with respect
to this clause (a)(ii), the aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts for which the Account Debtor has failed to
pay for more than ninety (90) days of original invoice date but less than one hundred twenty (120) days of
original invoice date shall not exceed $7,500,000;

(b) Accounts owed by an Account Debtor (or its Affiliates) where 50% or more of all
Accounts owed by that Account Debtor (or its Affiliates) are deemed ineligible under clause (a) above;

() Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is an employee or agent of any
Borrower or any Affiliate of any Borrower;

(d) Accounts (i) arising in a transaction wherein goods are placed on consignment or
are sold pursuant to a guaranteed sale, a sale or return, a sale on approval, a bill and hold, a rebate, or any
other terms by reason of which the payment by the Account Debtor may be conditional, or (ii) with respect
to which the payment terms are "C.0.D.", cash on delivery or other similar terms;

(e) Accounts that are not payable in Dollars;

® Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor either (i) does not maintain its
chief executive office in the United States, or (ii) is not organized under the laws of the United States or any
state thereof, unless (A) the Account is supported by an irrevocable letter of credit reasonably satisfactory to
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion (as to form, substance, and issuer or domestic confirming
bank) that has been delivered to Administrative Agent and is directly drawable by Administrative Agent, or
(B) the Account is covered by credit insurance in form, substance, and amount, and by an insurer,
reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion;

(g) [reserved];

(h) Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is a creditor of any Borrower,
has asserted a right of recoupment or setoff, or has disputed its obligation to pay all or any portion of the
Account, provided, that any such Account shall be ineligible under this clause (h) only to the extent of such
claim, right of recoupment or setoff, or dispute, or Accounts constituting "contra" accounts;

@) Accounts with respect to an Account Debtor whose total obligations (x) owing to
all Borrowers (other than Alston Construction) exceed 25% of all Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage
Accounts and Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts, with respect to all Account Debtors, or (y) owing to all
Borrowers by Alston Construction exceed 50% of all Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage Accounts and
Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts, with respect to all Account Debtors, in each case to the extent of the
obligations owing by such Account Debtor in excess of such percentage; provided, that, in each case, the
amount of Accounts that are excluded because they exceed the foregoing percentage shall be determined by
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion based on all of the otherwise Eligible Accounts, Eligible
Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts, prior to giving effect to any eliminations
based upon the foregoing concentration limit; provided further, that such percentages, as applied to a
particular Account Debtor, shall be subject to reduction by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion
if the creditworthiness of such Account Debtor deteriorates;
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)] Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is subject to an Insolvency
Proceeding, is not Solvent, has gone out of business, or as to which any Borrower has received notice of an
imminent Insolvency Proceeding or a material impairment of the financial condition of such Account
Debtor, provided, that Administrative Agent may, in its Permitted Discretion (but only if evidenced by a
writing signed by Administrative Agent), include Accounts from Account Debtors subject to such
proceedings or other circumstance if and to the extent that such Accounts are fully covered by credit
insurance, letters of credit or other sufficient third-party credit support, or are otherwise deemed by the
Administrative Agent in writing signed by Administrative Agent not to pose an unreasonable risk of non-
collectability;

k) Accounts, the collection of which, Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion,
believes to be doubtful, including by reason of the Account Debtor's financial condition or credit
worthiness;

Q)] Accounts that are not subject to a valid and perfected first-priority Lien in favor of
Administrative Agent or which are subject to priority subrogation rights in favor of surety bond providers;

(m) Accounts with respect to which (i) the goods giving rise to such Account have not
been shipped and billed to the Account Debtor, or (ii) the services giving rise to such Account have not been
performed and billed to the Account Debtor;

(n) Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is a Sanctioned Person;

(o) Accounts (i) that represent deferred revenue or advance billings (including pre-
billings and unearned upfront mobilization billings), (ii) that constitute Retainage Accounts, or (iii) that
represent the right to receive progress or milestone payments that are due prior to the completion of full
performance by any Borrower of the subject contract for goods or services, unless, solely in the case of this
clause (0)(iii), such Accounts are owing in accordance with the applicable billing procedures, performance
thresholds and other provisions of the subject contract for goods or services, and represent payments owing
in respect of performance milestones that have been achieved pursuant to the written terms of such contract;

(p) Accounts that are finance charges billed to Account Debtors;

(@ Accounts that consist of obligations of a Governmental Account Debtor, unless
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion has agreed to the contrary in writing and Administrative
Agent has received from such Governmental Account Debtor the acknowledgement of Administrative
Agent's notice of assignment of such obligation; provided that up to $10,000,000 of Accounts that consist of
obligations of a Governmental Account Debtor and that otherwise constitute Eligible Accounts will not be
excluded therefrom by virtue of this clause (r) so long as Liquidity exceeds $20,000,000, and

(r) Accounts or any portion of Accounts otherwise deemed ineligible by
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion.

An Account which is at any time an Eligible Account, but which subsequently fails to meet any of
the foregoing requirements, shall forthwith cease to be an Eligible Account. Further, with respect to any
Account, if Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion at any time hereafter determines that the
prospect of payment or performance by the Account Debtor with respect thereto is materially impaired for
any reason whatsoever, such Account shall cease to be an Eligible Account.

The aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled Retainage
Accounts shall be reduced to the extent billings in excess of costs exceeds cost in excess of
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billings. The amount of such reduction, calculated on a customer by customer basis, shall equal the lesser
of (a) the aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled
Retainage Accounts owing by such Account Debtor, and (b) the amount by which billings in excess of costs
is greater than cost in excess of billings for all projects for such Account Debtor.

"Eligible Assignee" means any of the following: (I) with respect to the Term Loans, (a) a Term Loan Lender
(other than a Defaulting Lender); (b) an Affiliate of a Term Loan Lender; (c) an Approved Fund of the Term
Loan Lenders; (d) any fund or account managed or administered solely by WOABL or any of its Affiliates;
and (e) any other Person (other than a natural person) consented to by the Administrative Agent and, so long
as no Event of Default is continuing as of the date of any assignment to such Person, Administrative
Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and (IT) with respect to
the Revolver Loans, (a) a Revolver Lender (other than a Defaulting Lender); (b) an Affiliate of a Revolver
Lender; (c) an Approved Fund of the Revolver Lenders; (d) any fund or account managed or administered
solely by WOCEF or any of its Affiliates; and (e) any other Person (other than a natural person) consented to
by the Administrative Agent and, so long as no Event of Default is continuing as of the date of any
assignment to such Person, Administrative Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed).

"Eligible Equipment" means Equipment (other than Fleet Equipment) of a Borrower, that complies with
each of the representations and warranties respecting Eligible Equipment made in the Loan Documents, and
that is not excluded as ineligible by virtue of one or more of the criteria set forth below; provided, that such
criteria may be revised from time to time by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion to address the
results of any due diligence information with respect to the Borrowers' business or assets of which
Administrative Agent becomes aware, including any field examination or appraisal performed or received
by Administrative Agent from time to time after the Closing Date. An item of Equipment shall only be
included in Eligible Equipment if it:

(a) is owned by such Borrower, such Borrower has the right to subject it to a security
interest in favor of Collateral Agent and it is subject to a first priority perfected security interest in favor of
Collateral Agent;

(b) if held for sale or lease or furnishing under contracts of service, it is (except as
Administrative Agent may otherwise consent in writing) free from defects which would, in Administrative
Agent's Permitted Discretion, materially affect its market value;

(©) it is located in the United States on a project site, on real property owned by any
Borrower, or on real property leased by any Borrower or in a contract warehouse, in each case (with respect
to leased locations or contract warehouses), so long as it is subject to a Collateral Access Agreement
executed by the lessor or warehouseman, as the case may be, and so long as it is segregated or otherwise
separately identifiable from goods of others, if any, stored on the premises; provided, however,
Administrative Agent may in its Permitted Discretion implement a Term Loan Reserve in an amount
reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent in lieu of such Collateral Access Agreement;

(d is not Equipment (A) with respect to which any of the representations and
warranties contained in this Agreement relating to Equipment are untrue in any material respect; or
(B) which violates any of the covenants of Borrowers contained in this Agreement relating to Equipment;
and

(e) with respect to Equipment other than Equipment included in the Term Loan
Borrowing Base on the Closing Date, such Equipment has an appraised NOLV of greater than $10,000.
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"Eligible Fleet Equipment" means Fleet Equipment of a Borrower, that complies with each of the
representations and warranties respecting Fleet Equipment made in the Loan Documents, and that is not
excluded as ineligible by virtue of one or more of the excluding criteria set forth below; provided, that such
criteria may be revised from time to time by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion to address the
results of any due diligence information with respect to the Borrowers' business or assets of which
Administrative Agent becomes aware, including any field examination or appraisal performed or received
by Administrative Agent from time to time after the Closing Date. An item of Fleet Equipment shall not be
included in Eligible Fleet Equipment if it:

(a) it is not subject to a perfected first priority security interest in favor of Collateral
Agent;

(b) it is subject to any Lien other than a Permitted Lien;

(© it is not owned by a Borrower with good, valid, and marketable title thereto;

(d) it is located in (1) any Sanctioned Jurisdiction, (2) any Listed Area as defined by
the Joint War Committee, unless Borrowers shall (if not already in place), at their sole cost and expense,
obtain and maintain, or cause or procure to be obtained and maintained on such Fleet Equipment, war risks
(including war protection and indemnity liability) covering, inter alia, the perils of terrorism, piracy,
confiscation, expropriation, seizure and blocking and trapping or (3) any other location other than the
United States or an Approved Operating Jurisdiction (provided, however, that Fleet Equipment shall not be
ineligible pursuant to this clause (d)(3) as a result of it being engaged in a voyage or route to the United
States or an Approved Operating Jurisdiction, so long as such voyage or route is not prohibited by the
insurance for such item of Fleet Equipment);

(e) it is in-transit other than in the ordinary course of business;

® it is not in good working order and marketable condition (ordinary wear and tear
excepted);

(8) it is worn out, obsolete, damaged or defective;

(h) it is leased by a Borrower or it is leased to a Borrower;

@) it is a Documented Vessel, Titled Vessel, Undocumented Vessel or Vessel Eligible

for Documentation with respect to which Borrowers have failed to comply with any representation,
warranty or covenant set forth in this Agreement with respect to such vessels, as applicable;

) it is in lay-up status or out of class;

k) from and after the date that is sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, unless
(x) otherwise agreed in writing by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, or (y) it is an Undocumented
Vessel previously identified to the Administrative Agent as not able to be documented with the US Coast
Guard solely as a result of missing shipyard building documentation; provided, that the NOLV of such
Undocumented Vessels included pursuant to this clause (k)(y) shall not exceed $6,000,000 in the aggregate,
it is a Vessel Eligible for Documentation but not a Documented Vessel;

) from and after the date that is sixty days after the Closing Date, unless otherwise

agreed in writing by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, it is required to be a Titled Vessel (as
determined by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion) but is not a Titled Vessel;
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(m) it is not flagged in the United States or titled in a State of the United States; or
(n) it is seized by or forfeited to a Governmental Authority or is the subject of an arrest.

"Eligible Real Property" means the real property owned by a Borrower set forth on Schedule 5.09(b)
located in the United States, or any other real property owned by a Borrower included as Eligible Real
Property from time to time, in each case that complies with each of the representations and warranties
respecting real property made in the Loan Documents, and that is not excluded as ineligible by virtue of one
or more of the excluding criteria set forth below; provided, that such criteria may be revised from time to
time by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion to address the results of any information with
respect to the Borrowers' business or assets of which Administrative Agent becomes aware, including any
field examination or appraisal performed by or received by Administrative Agent from time to time after the
Closing Date. Subject to Schedule 6.19, an item of real property shall not be included in Eligible Real
Property unless the Administrative Agent shall have received, with respect to each parcel of real property,
each Deed of Trust Related Document, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent, together with such other information, documentation, and certifications as may be reasonably
required by the Administrative Agent.

"Eligible Retainage Accounts" means those Retainage Accounts, other than Eligible Accounts, created by
each Borrower in the ordinary course of its business, that arise out of such Borrower's sale of goods or
rendition of services, that comply with each of the representations and warranties respecting Eligible
Retainage Accounts made in the Loan Documents, and that are not excluded as ineligible by virtue of one or
more of the excluding criteria set forth below; provided, that such criteria may be revised from time to time
by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion to address the results of any field examination
performed by (or on behalf of) Administrative Agent from time to time. Eligible Retainage Accounts shall
not include Retainage Accounts that (a) are not in accordance with the applicable billing procedures,
performance thresholds and other provisions of an executed contract or other documentation satisfactory to
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion with the applicable Account Debtor, (b) are invoiced more
than one hundred twenty (120) days after completion of such Borrower's sale of goods or rendition of
services, (c) relate to contracts or other documentation with respect to which performance has not been
completed by the applicable Borrower, (d) are not otherwise satisfactory to Administrative Agent in its
Permitted Discretion and (e) would not otherwise constitute Eligible Accounts in all respects but for clauses
(a), and (0)(ii) of such definition.

The aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled Retainage
Accounts shall be reduced to the extent billings in excess of costs exceeds cost in excess of billings. The
amount of such reduction, calculated on a customer by customer basis, shall equal the lesser of (a) the
aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled Retainage
Accounts owing by such Account Debtor, and (b) the amount by which billings in excess of costs is greater
than cost in excess of billings for all projects for such Account Debtor.

"Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts" means those accrued and unbilled Retainage Accounts, accrued
by a Borrower and created by such Borrower in the ordinary course of its business, that arise out of such
Borrower's sale of goods or rendition of services, that comply with each of the representations and
warranties respecting Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts made in the Loan Documents, and that are not
excluded as ineligible by virtue of one or more of the excluding criteria set forth below; provided, that such
criteria may be revised from time to time by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion to address the
results of any field examination performed by (or on behalf of) Administrative Agent from time to time.
Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts shall not include Retainage Accounts that (a) are not in accordance
with the applicable billing procedures, performance thresholds and other provisions of an executed contract
or other documentation satisfactory to Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion with the applicable
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Account Debtor, (b) are not expected to be billed by the applicable Borrower within the immediately
subsequent ninety (90) day period, (c) relate to contracts or other documentation with respect to which
performance has not been completed by the applicable Borrower, (d) are otherwise not satisfactory to
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion and (f) would otherwise constitute not Eligible Accounts in
all respects but for clauses (a), (m) (solely in respect of such amounts having been billed), (0)(ii) and (0)(iii)
of such definition.

The aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled Retainage
Accounts shall be reduced to the extent billings in excess of costs exceeds cost in excess of billings. The
amount of such reduction, calculated on a customer by customer basis, shall equal the lesser of (a) the
aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage Accounts and Eligible Unbilled Retainage
Accounts owing by such Account Debtor, and (b) the amount by which billings in excess of costs is greater
than cost in excess of billings for all projects for such Account Debtor.

"Environmental Claims" means all claims, however asserted, by any Governmental Authority or other
Person alleging Environmental Liabilities.

"Environmental Laws" means all Laws relating to pollution, the protection of the environment or the
release of any materials into the environment, including those related to Hazardous Materials or wastes, air
emissions and discharges to waste or public systems.

"Environmental Liability" means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for
damages, costs of environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of Borrowers, any other Loan
Party, or any of their respective Subsidiaries directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon:
(a) violation of any Environmental Law; (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment
or disposal of any Hazardous Materials; (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials; (d) the Release or
threatened Release of any Hazardous Materials; or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual
arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

"Environmental Lien" means any Lien in favor of any Governmental Authority for Environmental
Liabilities.

"Equipment" means, as to any Person, all equipment (as that term is defined in the UCC) now owned or
hereafter acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a
secured party), wherever located, including any and all machinery, apparatus, equipment, fittings, furniture,
fixtures, motor vehicles and other similar tangible personal property (other than Inventory) of every kind
and description, and all parts, accessories and accessions thereto and substitutions and replacements
therefor.

"Equipment Formula Amount" means the product of (a) 85%, multiplied by (b) the appraised NOLV of
Eligible Equipment (according to appraisals conducted by Gordon Brothers Group, LLC or such other
appraisal company acceptable to Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, as such appraisals may be
updated from time to time), as such NOLV is adjusted to deduct the amount of book depreciation
attributable to such Eligible Equipment for each calendar month, commencing with the first day of the
calendar month beginning on May 1, 2023; provided, however, that the Equipment Formula Amount shall
be reset (to disregard prior reductions for book depreciation) with each updated appraisal delivered in
connection therewith.

"Equity Interests" means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other
ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the warrants, options or other rights for the purchase or
acquisition from such Person of shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such
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Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of (or other
ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or acquisition
from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and all of the other ownership or profit interests in
such Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or non-voting, and
whether or not such shares, warrants, options, rights or other interests are outstanding on any date of
determination.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

"ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with
any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof within the meaning of Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code (and
Sections 414(m) and (o) of the Code for purposes of provisions relating to Section 412 of the Code).

"ERISA Event" means any of the following: (a) a Reportable Event with respect to a Pension Plan; (b) the
incurrence by any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate of any liability with respect to a withdrawal by any
Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan subject to Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan
year in which it was a "substantial employer" (as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA) or a cessation of
operations that is treated as such a withdrawal under Section 4062(e) of ERISA; (c) the incurrence by any
Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate of any liability with respect to a complete or partial withdrawal by any
Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan or the receipt by any Loan Party or any
ERISA Affiliate of notification that a Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization, insolvent, or in critical or
endangered status, (d) the filing of a notice of intent to terminate, the treatment of a Pension Plan
amendment as a termination under Sections 4041 or 4041A of ERISA, or the commencement of
proceedings by the PBGC to terminate a Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan; (e) an event or condition that
constitutes grounds under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to
administer, any Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan; (f) the determination that any Pension Plan is
considered an at-risk plan or a plan in endangered or critical status within the meaning of Sections 430, 431
and 432 of the Code or Sections 303, 304 and 305 of ERISA; (g) the imposition of any liability under
Title IV of ERISA, other than for PBGC premiums due but not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA,
upon any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate; or (h) a failure by any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate to
meet all applicable requirements under the Pension Funding Rules in respect of a Pension Plan, whether or
not waived, or the failure by any Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate to make any required contribution to a
Multiemployer Plan.

"Erroneous Payment" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.18.

"Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.18.
"Erroneous Payment Impacted Loans" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.18.
"Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.18.

"EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule" means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan
Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.

"Event of Default" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 8.01.

"Event of Loss" means, with respect to any property of any Loan Party, any of the following: (a) any loss,
destruction or damage of such property; or (b) any actual condemnation, seizure or taking, by
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exercise of the power of eminent domain or otherwise, of such property, or confiscation of such property or
the requisition of the use of such property.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

"Excluded Accounts" means (i) Deposit Accounts specially and exclusively used for payroll, payroll taxes,
withholding tax payments related thereto and other employee wage and benefit payments to or for any Loan
Party's employees and accrued and unpaid employee compensation (including salaries, wages, benefits and
expense reimbursements) to or for the benefit of any Loan Party's employees, in each case, so long as the
funds held or maintained in any such Deposit Account do not exceed the amounts expected to be used for
current requirements for such purpose, (ii) Deposit Accounts with a balance which does not exceed
$100,000 for all such accounts in the aggregate at any one time, plus, so long as solely for a period of not
less than 10 consecutive Business Days at any time, an additional $100,000, (iii) any Deposit Account
specifically and exclusively used for sales tax payments so long as the funds held or maintained in any such
Deposit Account do not exceed the amounts expected to be used for current requirements for such purpose,
(iv) any deposit account that contains only cash collateral in an aggregate amount and subject to a Lien
permitted under Section 7.01(f), (o) or (r), (v) any deposit account that is specifically and exclusively used
as a trust account or escrow account for the benefit of a Person that is not an Affiliate of Orion or any of its
Subsidiaries, (vi) Deposit Accounts, located in foreign jurisdictions, for which the Borrowers have used,
subject to Section 6.19, commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a Control Agreement and have been
unable to obtain a Control Agreement with respect thereto, so long as the aggregate balance on deposit in all
such Deposit Accounts does not exceed $500,000 for all such Deposit Accounts, and (vii) other Deposit
Accounts which Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion.

"Excluded Property" has the meaning specified therefor in the Guaranty and Security Agreement; provided
for the avoidance of doubt, the Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary that is not a CFC, owned directly
by a Loan Party, shall not be treated as Excluded Property.

"Excluded Real Property" means (a) any leasehold interests in real property, (b) any fee-owned real
property of a Loan Party with a purchase price of less than $250,000, individually, or $500,000 in the
aggregate for all such excluded fee owned parcels (unless such real property is contiguous to other owned
real property that is or is to be subject to a Deed of Trust pursuant to the terms hereof), and (c) solely until
the date that is six months after the Closing Date, 159 Highway 316, South Yard, Port Lavaca Texas 77979.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Lending Party or
required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a Lending Party: (a) Taxes imposed on or measured
by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes and branch profits taxes, in each case (i) imposed as
a result of such Lending Party being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the
case of any Lender, its applicable Lending Office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any
political subdivision thereof) or (ii) which are Other Connection Taxes; (b) in the case of a Lender,
U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender with
respect to an applicable interest in the Loans or its Commitments pursuant to applicable Law in effect on the
date on which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Loans or its Commitments (other than pursuant
to an assignment request by any Loan Party pursuant to Section 2.11) or (ii) such Lender changes its
Lending Office, except in each case to the extent that, pursuant to Section 2.08, amounts with respect to
such Taxes were payable either to such Lender's assignor immediately before such Lender became a party
hereto or to such Lender immediately before it changed its Lending Office; (c) United States Taxes
attributable to such Person's failure to comply with Section 2.08(f); and (d) any withholding Taxes imposed
under FATCA.
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"Existing Letters of Credit" means (i) that certain letter of credit issued by Regions Bank to Signal Mutual
Indemnity Association, Ltd., as beneficiary thereunder, in an amount equal to $378,222.00, (ii) that certain
letter of credit issued by Regions Bank to Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, as beneficiary thereunder, in
an amount equal to $670,000.00 and (iii) that certain letter of credit issued by Regions Bank to Bank of
America, N.A., as beneficiary thereunder, in an amount equal to $420,000.00.

"Fair Market Value" means, with respect to any asset or any group of assets, as of any date of
determination, the value of the consideration obtainable in a sale of such assets at such date of
determination assuming a sale by a willing seller to a willing purchaser dealing at arm's length and arranged
in an orderly manner over a reasonable period of time giving regard to the nature and characteristics of such
asset.

"FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended
or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any
current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant to
Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant
to any intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention among Governmental Authorities and
implementing such Sections of the Code.

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the rates on
overnight federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System, as published by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that (a) if such
day is not a Business Day, then the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions
on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day and (b) if no such
rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, then the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall
be the average rate (rounded upward, if necessary, to a whole multiple of one-hundredth of one percent
(0.01%)) charged to major money center banks on such day on such transactions as determined by the
Administrative Agent and (c) if the Federal Funds Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to
be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

"Fee Letter" means that certain Fee Letter, dated as of the Closing Date, by and between Administrative
Agent and Borrowers.

"Fiscal Month" means, as of any date of determination with respect to Orion or any Subsidiary thereof,
each calendar month occurring during each Fiscal Year.

"Fiscal Quarter" means, as of any date of determination with respect to Orion or any Subsidiary thereof,
each calendar quarter occurring during each Fiscal Year.

"Fiscal Year" means, as of any date of determination with respect to Orion or any Subsidiary thereof, a
calendar year which ends on December 31 of each calendar year.

"Fleet Equipment" shall mean all vessels now or hereafter owned by the Loan Parties, including dredges,
barges, motor vessels, dry docks, flexi floats and miscellaneous watercraft and shall include but not be
limited to all Documented Vessels, Titled Vessels and Undocumented Vessels.

"Fleet Equipment Formula Amount" means the product of (a) 85%, multiplied by (b) the appraised
NOLV of Eligible Fleet Equipment (according to appraisals conducted by North American Marine
Consultants, LLC or such other appraisal company acceptable to Administrative Agent in its sole discretion,
as such appraisals may be updated from time to time), as such NOLV is adjusted to deduct the amount of
book depreciation attributable to such Eligible Fleet Equipment for each calendar month, commencing with
the first day of the calendar month beginning on May 1, 2023; provided, however, that
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the Fleet Equipment Formula Amount shall be reset (to disregard prior reductions for book depreciation)
with each updated appraisal delivered in connection therewith.

"Flood Documentation" means, with respect to any Mortgaged Property (or Real Property to which Agents
have a right to a mortgage with respect thereto), (a) a completed "Life-of-Loan" Federal Emergency
Management Agency Standard Flood Hazard Determination with respect to each such Mortgaged Property
in the United States (together with a notice about special flood hazard area status and flood disaster
assistance, which, if applicable, shall be accompanied by a flood notice about special flood hazard area
status and flood disaster assistance duly executed by the applicable Loan Party or Subsidiary thereof
relating to such Mortgaged Property), (b) if such Mortgaged Property is in an area determined by the
Federal Emergency Management Agency to have special flood hazards, evidence of such flood insurance as
may be required under Applicable Law, including Regulation H of the FRB, and otherwise in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Agents, and (c) and a copy of or a certificate as to coverage under,
along with a declaration page relating to, such flood insurance policies, each of which (1) shall be endorsed
or otherwise amended to name the Agents as mortgagee and loss payee, (2) shall (i) identify the addresses of
each Mortgaged Property located in a special flood hazard area, (ii) indicate the applicable flood zone
designation, the flood insurance coverage, and the deductible relating thereto, and (iii) provide that the
insurer will give the Agents thirty (30) days' written notice of cancellation or non-renewal, and (3) shall
otherwise be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agents.

"Floor" means, with respect to Revolver Loans, a rate of interest equal to 2.50% per annum and, with
respect to Term Loans, a rate of interest equal to 4.00%.

"Foreign Lender" means any Lender that is not a United States Person (as such term is defined in
Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code).

"FRB" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States set forth in the opinions and
pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such
other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United
States, that are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.

"Goodwill" means, as to any Person, all goodwill, trade secrets, proprietary or confidential information,
technical information, procedures, formulae, quality control standards, designs, operating and training
manuals, customer lists, and distribution agreements now owned or hereafter acquired by such Person (or in
which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a secured party).

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any
political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, department, instrumentality,
regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing,
regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including, without
limitation, any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

"Guarantee" means, as to any Person, any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person guaranteeing
or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Debt or other obligation payable or performable by
another Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any
obligation of such Person, whether direct or indirect: (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for
the purchase or payment of) such Debt or other obligation; (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or
services for the purpose of assuring the obligee in respect of such Debt or other
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obligation of the payment or performance of such Debt or other obligation; (c) to maintain working capital,
equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity or level of income or cash flow of the
primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Debt or other obligation; or (d) entered into
for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee in respect of such Debt or other obligation of the
payment or performance thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in
part). The amount of any Guarantee shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable
amount of the related primary obligation, or portion thereof, in respect of which such Guarantee is made or,
if not stated or determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined
by the guaranteeing Person in good faith. The term "Guarantee" as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

"Guarantors" means, collectively, each Person who, on or following the date hereof pursuant to the terms
of any Loan Document, has executed or is required to execute a Guaranty of all or any portion of the
Obligations or a third-party pledge agreement (or similar document), as pledgor or in a pledgor capacity, in
favor of each Agent or the Lending Parties with respect to all or any portion of the Obligations; provided
that no CFC or CFC Holdco or any direct or indirect Subsidiary of a CFC or CFC Holdco shall become a
Guarantor.

"Guaranty" means any guaranty or third party pledge agreement (or similar document), in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to each Agent, made by a Person for the benefit of the Lending Parties or
an Agent on behalf of the Lending Parties and includes the guaranty set forth in the Guaranty and Security
Agreement.

"Guaranty and Security Agreement" means a guaranty and security agreement, dated as of the date of this
Agreement, in form and substance satisfactory to each Agent, executed and delivered by each of the Loan
Parties to each Agent.

"Hawaii Project" means an installation of pile shoring wall for the United States Government for the
construction of a new drydock at their facility in Honolulu, Hawaii.

"Hazardous Materials" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic
substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos
containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other
substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.

"Hedge Agreement" means a "swap agreement" as that term is defined in Section 101(53B)(A) of the
Bankruptcy Code.

"Increased Reporting Period" means the Initial Increased Reporting Period and, thereafter, the period
commencing after the continuance of an Increased Reporting Event having been reported on two
consecutive Borrowing Base Reports, and continuing until the date on which the Increased Reporting Exit
Conditions have been satisfied.

"Increased Reporting Event" means the occurrence of either of the following: (i) the occurrence and
continuance of any Event of Default, or any other event or condition that, with the giving of notice, the
passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default that has been continuing for three (3)
Business Days, in respect of a failure to comply with any requirement of Section 6.01 or Section 6.02(a), or
five (5) Business Days in respect of any other such Default, or (ii) Liquidity falls below $25,000,000 for
five (5) consecutive Business Days.
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"Increased Reporting Exit Conditions" means (i) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and
be continuing and (ii) Liquidity shall be equal to or greater than $25,000,000 for 30 consecutive days.

"Indemnified Taxes" means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any
payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document and (b) to
the extent not otherwise described in the immediately preceding clause (a), Other Taxes.

"Indemnitees" means, collectively, each Lending Party and each Related Party of any of the foregoing
Persons.

"Information" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.07.

"Initial Increased Reporting Period" means the period from the Closing Date through and including the
later of the end of the eighth full week ending after the Closing Date and the date on which the Initial
Increased Reporting Exit Conditions have been satisfied.

"Initial Increased Reporting Exit Conditions" means (i) no Default or Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing and (ii) Liquidity is not less than $25,000,000.

"Insolvency Proceeding" means any case or proceeding commenced by or against a Person under any
state, federal or foreign law for, or any agreement of such Person to, (a) the entry of an order for relief under
the Bankruptcy Code, or any other insolvency, debtor relief or debt adjustment law; (b) the appointment of a
receiver, trustee, liquidator, administrator, conservator or other custodian for such Person or any part of its
Property; or (c) an assignment or trust mortgage for the benefit of creditors.

"Intellectual Property" means, as to any Person, all Copyrights, Licenses, Patents, Trademarks, inventions
(whether or not patentable), designs, trade secrets, know-how, confidential information, domain names, data
and database, customers lists, other proprietary rights, whether registered or not, now owned or hereafter
acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a secured
party), wherever located.

"Intercompany Subordination Agreement" means an intercompany subordination agreement, dated as of
the date of this Agreement, executed and delivered by Orion, each of its Subsidiaries, and each Agent, the
form and substance of which is satisfactory to each Agent.

"Interest Payment Date" means: (a) with respect to the Revolver Loans, the last Business Day of each
Fiscal Month during the term hereof during which Revolver Loans are outstanding commencing with the
last Business Day of April, 2023; (b) with respect to the Term Loans, the last Business Day of each Fiscal
Month during the term hereof commencing with the last Business Day of April, 2023, and (c) with respect
to all Loans, the applicable Maturity Date.

"Intracompany Master Service Agreement" means that certain Intracompany Master Service Agreement,
dated as of October 1, 2013, (as amended by that certain Intracompany Master Service Agreement First
Amendment, dated as of October 1, 2013, that certain Intracompany Master Service Agreement Second
Amendment, dated as of October 1, 2014, that certain Intracompany Master Service Agreement Third
Amendment, dated as of December 21, 2017, that certain Intracompany Master Service Agreement Fourth
Amendment, dated as of February 3, 2023, and as further amended, amended and restated, supplemented or
modified from time to time).
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"Inventory" means, as to any Person, all inventory (as that term is defined in the UCC) now owned or
hereafter acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a
secured party), wherever located, including all inventory, merchandise, goods and other personal property
that are held by or on behalf of such Person for sale or lease or are furnished or to be furnished under a
contract of service or that constitute raw materials, work in process, finished goods, returned goods or
materials or supplies of any kind.

"Investment" means, as to any Person, any direct or indirect acquisition or investment by such Person in
another Person, whether by means of: (a) an Acquisition with respect to another Person or (b) a loan,
advance or capital contribution to, Guarantee or assumption of Debt of, or purchase or other acquisition of
any other debt or Equity Interests in, another Person, including any partnership, limited liability company or
joint venture interest in such other Person and any arrangement pursuant to which the investor Guarantees
Debt of such other Person. For purposes of covenant compliance, the amount of any Investment (i) shall be
the amount actually invested, without adjustment for subsequent increases or decreases in the value of such
Investment, less all returns of principal or equity thereon (and without adjustment by reason of the financial
condition of such other Person), (ii) if made by the transfer or exchange of property other than cash, shall be
deemed to be the original principal or capital amount equal to the fair market value of such property at the
time of such transfer or exchange, and (iii) if made in the form of a Guarantee or acquisition or assumption
of Debt, shall be deemed the maximum principal amount of such Debt or maximum value of the obligation
Guaranteed when made, as applicable.

"Investment Property" means, as to any Person, all investment property (as that term is defined in the
UCC) now owned or hereafter acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to
transfer rights to a secured party), wherever located.

"IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service or, as applicable, any successor agency.

"Issuing Bank" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the definition of "Letter of Credit Agreement"
contained in this Section 1.01.

"Laws" means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state and local laws, statutes, treaties, rules,
authorities, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents or
judgments, orders, decrees, permits and other governmental restrictions, including the interpretation or
administration thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or
administration thereof, and all applicable administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses,
authorizations, concessions, grants, franchises and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental
Authority.

"Lender" means, initially, each Person designated on Schedule 2.01(a) or Schedule 2.01(b) as a "Lender"
and, thereafter, each Person that has a Commitment or that has an outstanding Loan.

"Lending Office" means, as to any Lender, the account or office of such Lender described as such in such
Lender's Administrative Detail Form, or such other account, office or offices as a Lender may from time to
time notify Administrative Borrower and Lending Parties.

"Lending Parties" means, collectively, each Agent and the Lenders.

"Licenses" means, as to any Person, all Copyright Licenses, Patent Licenses, Trademark Licenses or other
licenses of Intellectual Property rights or interests now held or hereafter acquired by such Person.
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"Letter of Credit Agreement" means the collective reference to any and all agreements from time to time
entered into by Administrative Agent and a bank acceptable to Administrative Agent (each, an "Issuing
Bank") pursuant to which an Issuing Bank issues Letters of Credit for the account of Borrowers in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

"Letter of Credit Disbursement" means any payment made by Issuing Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit.
"Letter of Credit Request" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.05(b).

"Letter of Credit Rights" means, as to any Person, all letter of credit rights (as that term is defined in the
UCC) now owned or hereafter acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to
transfer rights to a secured party), including rights to payment or performance under a letter of credit,
whether or not such Person, as beneficiary, has demanded or is entitled to demand payment or performance
thereunder.

"Letter of Credit Sublimit" means $5,000,000.

"Letter of Credit Usage" means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn
amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit, plus (b) the aggregate amount of outstanding reimbursement
obligations with respect to Letters of Credit which remain unreimbursed or which have not been paid
through a Revolver Loan.

"Letters of Credit" mean all letters of credit issued for the account of Borrowers under Section 2.05 and all
amendments, renewals, extensions or replacements thereof.

"Letter of Direction" means that certain Lender of Direction, dated as of the date hereof, by and among the
Borrowers and Administrative Agent.

"Licensor" means any Person from whom Loan Party obtains the right to use any Intellectual Property.

"Lien" means any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt, assignment of leasehold interest or rents,
pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), option,
right of first offer, right of first refusal, easement, encroachment, title defect, claim, restriction, charge,
limitation or preference, priority or other security interest or preferential arrangement in the nature of a
security interest of any kind or nature whatsoever (including any conditional sale or other title retention
agreement and any easement, right of way or other encumbrance on title to real property).

"Liquidity" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) the aggregate Revolver Availability
on such date, plus (b) the amount of Qualified Cash as of such date.

"Loan" means any Term Loan, Revolver Loan or Protective Advance made (or to be made) hereunder.
"Loan Account" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.01(b)(v).
"Loan Documents" means, collectively, this Agreement, each Letter of Credit, each Fee Letter, the Letter

of Direction, each Note, each Guaranty, each Collateral Document, the Due Diligence Certificate, the
Intercompany Subordination Agreement, any Subordination Agreement, and all other present or future
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documents entered into by any Loan Party for the benefit of Lending Parties (or any of them), in connection
with this Agreement.

"Loan Parties" means, collectively, Borrowers and each Guarantor.
"Loss and Disposition Threshold Amount" has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.03(c)(i).

"Lockbox" means a postal box rented in Revolver Lender's name or its designee to be used for collection of
remittances received in payment of accounts receivable.

"Make-Whole Amount" means in connection with any Prepayment Event, in each case, with respect to (x)
all or any portion of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan: (a) if such event occurs (i) prior to
the first anniversary of the Closing Date, the Term Loan Minimum Interest Amount; (ii) on or after the first
anniversary of the Closing Date but prior to the second anniversary of the Closing Date, two percent
(2.0%) of the amount of the Term Loans subject to such Prepayment Event; (iii) on or after the second
anniversary of the Closing Date but prior to the third anniversary of the Closing Date, one half of one
percent (0.5%) of the amount of the applicable Term Loans subject to such Prepayment Event; and (iv) on
or after the third anniversary of the Closing Date, no Make-Whole Amount is applicable and (y) any
reduction or termination of the Revolver Commitments: (a) if such event occurs (i) prior to the first
anniversary of the Closing Date, the Revolver Minimum Interest Amount; (ii) on or after the first
anniversary of the Closing Date but prior to the second anniversary of the Closing Date, two percent
(2.0%) of the amount of the Revolver Commitments subject to such Prepayment Event; (iii) on or after the
second anniversary of the Closing Date but prior to the third anniversary of the Closing Date, one half of
one percent (0.5%) of the amount of the Revolver Commitments subject to such Prepayment Event; and (iii)
on or after the third anniversary of the Closing Date, no Make-Whole Amount is applicable.

"Maritime Reserves" shall mean reserves established by Administrative Agent for preferred maritime liens,
obligations owing to subcontractors for work performed on Fleet Assets and liens for crew wages, repairs,
fuel, maintenance, dockage and other necessaries that may have priority over Collateral Agent's Lien on the
Collateral.

"Maritime Security Documents" shall mean the Ship Mortgages, the Assignment of Earnings and the
Assignment of Insurances.

"Market Disruption Event" means any of the following: (a) any Lender notifies Administrative Agent that
the SOFR Index Rate does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lender of funding its respective
Loans, or any Lender determines that any Law has made it unlawful, or that any Governmental Authority
has asserted that it is unlawful, for such Lender or its applicable lending office to make, maintain or fund
Loans whose interest is determined by reference to the SOFR Index Rate or to determine or charge interest
rates based upon such SOFR Index Rate or any Governmental Authority has imposed material restrictions
on the authority of such Lender to do any of the foregoing; or (b) the circumstances set forth in
Section 2.02(e)(i) exist or the Scheduled Unavailability Date has occurred, and no SOFR Successor Rate
has been determined in accordance with Section 2.02(e).

"Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect on, the
operations, business, assets, properties, liabilities (actual or contingent), or financial condition of Orion and
its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (b) a material adverse effect on the ability of the Loan Parties, taken as a
whole, to perform their obligations under the Loan Documents or of any Lending Party's ability to enforce
the Obligations or realize upon the Collateral (other than as a result of as a result of an action taken or not
taken that is solely in the control of either Agent); (c) a material adverse effect on the legality,
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validity, binding effect or enforceability of, or the rights or benefits available to (or remedies of) Agents or
the Lenders under the Loan Documents; or (d) a material impairment of the enforceability or priority of any
Agent's Liens with respect to a material portion of the Collateral.

"Material Contract" means, with respect to any Loan Party and its Subsidiaries, each contract or
agreement, or series of contracts or agreements (irrespective of whether related to the same subject matter
and including any related purchase orders), to which such Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is a party
involving aggregate consideration or revenues under all such contract(s) and agreement(s) payable to such
Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries by a specific Person or such Person's Affiliates, or by such Loan Party
or any of its Subsidiaries to a specific Person or such Person's Affiliates, as applicable, in excess of
$50,000,000 in any calendar year (and, with respect to contracts involving amounts payable to a Loan Party
or any Subsidiary, such amount shall be determined based upon the remaining estimated consideration or
revenue to be recognized as set forth in the executive WIP report delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(1)).

"Material Intellectual Property" means Intellectual Property that is material to the business of the
Borrowers and their Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

"Maturity Date" means (a) in the case of the Term Loan Obligations, the Term Loan Maturity Date or (b)
in the case of the Revolver Obligations, the Revolver Commitment Termination Date.

"Maximum Rate" means, at any time, the maximum rate of non-usurious interest permitted by applicable
Laws.

"Mortgaged Property" means all Real Property owned by or leased, subleased, licensed or otherwise
occupied by any of the Loan Parties over which a Mortgage has been granted, or is to be granted, or to
which the Agents have a right to a Deed of Trust pursuant to Section 6.22 herein.

"Multiemployer Plan" means any employee benefit plan of the type described in Section 4001(a)(3) of
ERISA to which any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate makes or is obligated to make contributions, or
during the preceding five plan years, has made or been obligated to make contributions.

"Net Proceeds" means:

(a) 100% of the cash proceeds actually received by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary
from any Disposition, Event of Loss, or settlement of any claim, net of:

@) attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, investment banking fees, survey costs,
title insurance premiums, and related search and recording charges, transfer taxes, deed or mortgage
recording taxes, required debt payments and required payments of other obligations that are secured
by the applicable asset or property (including without limitation principal amount, premium or
penalty, if any, interest and other amounts) (other than pursuant to the Loan Documents), other
expenses and brokerage, consultant and other fees actually incurred in connection therewith;

(ii) in the case of any Disposition, any escrow or reserve for any
indemnification payments (fixed or contingent) attributable to the seller's indemnities and
representations and warranties to the purchaser in respect thereof (provided that, upon release of
any such escrow or reserve, the amount released shall constitute Net Proceeds); and

(iii)  taxes paid or reasonably estimated to be payable as a result thereof
(provided that, if the amount of any such estimated taxes exceeds the amount of taxes actually
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required to be paid in cash in respect of such Disposition or Event of Loss, the aggregate amount of
such excess shall constitute Net Proceeds at the time such taxes are actually paid); and

(b) 100% of the cash proceeds from the incurrence, issuance or sale by any Loan Party
or Subsidiary of any Debt or by Orion of any Equity Interests, net of all taxes paid or reasonably estimated
to be payable as a result thereof and fees (including investment banking fees and discounts), commissions,
costs and other expenses, in each case incurred in connection with such issuance or sale; provided that, if
the amount of any estimated taxes exceeds the amount of taxes actually required to be paid in cash, the
aggregate amount of such excess shall constitute Net Proceeds at the time such taxes are actually paid;

provided that for purposes of calculating the amount of Net Proceeds, fees, commissions and other costs and
expenses payable to any Loan Party or any Affiliate thereof (other than reasonable and documented out-of-
pocket expenses) shall be disregarded.

"NOLV" means, as of any date of determination, in respect of Eligible Equipment or Eligible Fleet
Equipment, as applicable, the net orderly liquidation value thereof as determined by a third-party appraiser
satisfactory to Administrative Agent in the most recent appraisal of such Equipment satisfactory to
Administrative Agent that has been obtained by Administrative Agent.

"Non-Consenting Lender" means any Lender that does not approve any consent, waiver or amendment
that (a) requires the approval of all or all affected Lenders in accordance with the terms of Section 10.01
and (b) has been approved by the Required Lenders.

"Non-Defaulting L.ender" means each Lender other than a Defaulting Lender.

"Note" means each promissory note (if any) executed and delivered by each Borrower in favor of a Lender
evidencing that portion of the Credit Extensions owed to such Lender, such note being substantially in the
form of Exhibit G or Exhibit H, as applicable.

"Obligations" means with respect to the Term Loans, the Term Loan Obligations and with respect to the
Revolver Loans, the Revolver Obligations.

"OFAC" means the United States Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.

"Off-Balance Sheet Liability" of a Person means (a) any repurchase obligation or liability of such Person
with respect to accounts or notes receivable sold by such Person, (b) any indebtedness, liability or
obligation under any so-called "synthetic lease" transaction entered into by such Person, or (c) any
indebtedness, liability or obligation arising with respect to any other transaction which is the functional
equivalent of or takes the place of borrowing but which does not constitute a liability on the balance sheet of
such Person (other than operating leases).

"Ordinary Course of Business" means as to any Person, the ordinary course of business of such Person or
if stated otherwise, such other Person, undertaken in good faith and consistent with applicable Laws.

"Organizational Documents" means: (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles of
incorporation and the bylaws (or equivalent or comparable constitutive documents with respect to any non-
U.S. jurisdiction) of such Person; (b) with respect to any limited liability company, the certificate or articles
of formation or organization and operating agreement or limited liability company agreement (or equivalent
comparable documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction) of such Person; (c) with respect to any
partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership, joint venture
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or other applicable agreement of formation or organization (or equivalent or comparable documents with
respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction) of such Person; and (d) any agreement, instrument, filing or notice
with respect thereto (other than routine filings as to registered agent, annual statements and similar notices
and filings) filed in connection with such Person's formation, governance, or organization with the
applicable Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if applicable, any
certificate or articles of formation or organization of such Person.

"Orion" shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

"Orion COI" means that certain Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Orion dated as of
May 19, 2016 and filed as of June 28, 2016, as the same has been and may be amended, restated, amended
and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Other Connection Taxes" means, with respect to any Lending Party, Taxes imposed as a result of a
present or former connection between such Lending Party and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other
than connections arising from such Lending Party having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed
its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in
any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any
Loan or Loan Document).

"Other Taxes" means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or
similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution, delivery, performance,
enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a Lien under, or otherwise with respect to,
any Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an
assignment or participation by a Lender of an interest in a Loan or Commitment after the date hereof (other
than such an assignment pursuant to Section 2.11 or another request by a Loan Party).

"Outstanding Amount" means, as of any date of determination, (a) with respect to any Loans on any date,
the aggregate outstanding principal amount thereof after giving effect to prepayments or repayments of such
Loans or the making of such Loans, as the case may be, occurring on such date, and (b) with respect to any
Letters of Credit, the aggregate Letter of Credit Usage.

"Paid in Full" or "Repaid in Full" (or any variation thereof, such as "payment in full" or "repayment in
full") means, with respect to any Obligations, the payment in full of such Obligations (other than
Unasserted Obligations) in cash (or otherwise to the written satisfaction, in such holder's discretion, of the
holder thereof), and, in the event any such Obligations are paid over time or modified pursuant to
Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code (or any similar provision of any other applicable Bankruptcy Law),
shall further mean that the holder thereof shall have received the final payment due on account of such
Obligations and, in the case of contingent reimbursement obligations with respect to Letters of Credit,
providing cash collateral in respect thereof pursuant to Section 2.05. For purposes of the foregoing, the
"holder" of any applicable Obligations shall be deemed to be the Person entitled to receipt of payment
thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Obligations shall not be deemed to have been "Paid in Full"
until all Commitments have expired or been terminated in accordance with their terms.

"Participant” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.06(d).
"Participant Register" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.06(d).
"Patent License" means, as to any Person, all licenses and other similar rights now provided or hereafter

provided to such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a secured
party) with respect to any Patent of another Person.
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"Patent Security Agreement" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Guaranty and Security Agreement.

"Patents" means, as to any Person, all of the following in which such Person now holds or hereafter
acquires any interest: (a) all letters patent of the United States or any other country, all registrations and
recordings thereof, and all applications for letters patent of the United States or any other country, including
registrations, recordings and applications filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office or in any
similar office or agency of any other country; and (b) all reissues, reexaminations, divisionals,
continuations, continuations-in-part or extensions thereof and foreign counterparts thereof.

"PATRIOT Act" means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required
to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act, Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)).

"Payment Conditions" means, at the time of determination (but only from and after the date that is 180
days after the Closing Date, except with respect to not more than $2,000,000 in the aggregate of
prepayments of Debt made in accordance with the terms of Section 7.06(c)(iii)) with respect to a proposed
payment to fund a Specified Transaction, that:

(a) no Event of Default, and no other Default that has been continuing for three (3)
Business Days, in respect of a failure to comply with any requirement of Section 6.01 or Section 6.02(a), or
five (5) Business Days in respect of any other any event or condition that, with the giving of notice, the
passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default, then exists or would arise as a result of the
consummation of such Specified Transaction,

(b)  both

@) Liquidity (x) at all times during the 30 consecutive days immediately
preceding the date of such proposed payment and the consummation of such Specified Transaction,
calculated on a pro forma basis as if such proposed payment was made, and the Specified
Transaction was consummated, on the first day of such period, (y) after giving effect to such
proposed payment and Specified Transaction, and (z) as projected on a month end basis for each of
the 6 consecutive Fiscal Months immediately succeeding the date of the proposed payment and the
consummation of such Specified Transaction, based on Borrower's projections reasonably
acceptable to Administrative Agent, in each case, is not less than $20,000,000, and

(ii) the Loan Parties are in compliance, on a pro forma basis, with the then
applicable financial covenant set forth in Section 6.13(a) or 6.13(d), as applicable, for the Test
Period most recently ended for which financial statements are required to have been delivered to
Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 6.01(a) or Section 6.01(b) of this Agreement (and, in the
case of Section 6.13(a), calculated on a pro forma basis as if such proposed payment is a Fixed
Charge made on the last day of such Test Period (it being understood that such proposed payment
shall also be a Fixed Charge made on the last day of such Test Period for purposes of calculating the
Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio under this clause (ii) for any subsequent proposed
payment to fund a Specified Transaction)), and

(©) Administrative Borrower has delivered a certificate to Administrative Agent
certifying that all conditions described in clauses (a) and (b) above have been satisfied.

"Payoff Letter" means that certain payoff letter, dated on or about May 12, 2023, by and between Orion
and Regions Bank, N.A.
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"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

"Pension Plan" means any employee pension benefit plan (as that term is defined in Section 3(2) of
ERISA), other than a Multiemployer Plan, that is subject to Title IV of ERISA and is sponsored or
maintained by any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate or to which any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate
contributes or has an obligation to contribute, or in the case of a multiple employer or other plan described
in Section 4064(a) of ERISA, has made contributions at any time during the immediately preceding five
plan years.

"Percentage Share" means, as to any Lender, at any time, subject to the terms hereof, with respect to all
Loans, payments, indemnification and reimbursement obligations, computations and other matters relating
to (a) the Revolver Commitment, the Revolver Loan of any Lender, the Letter of Credit Usage of any
Lender, and indemnification obligations of any Revolver Lender with respect to the Administrative Agent,
the percentage (expressed as a decimal carried out to the ninth decimal place) obtained by dividing (i) the
Revolver Commitment or the Revolver Exposure of that Lender, by (ii) the aggregate Revolver
Commitment or Revolver Exposure of all Lenders, and (b) the Term Loan Commitment, the Term Loan of
any Lender and indemnification obligations of any Term Loan Lender with respect to the Administrative
Agent, the percentage (expressed as a decimal carried out to the ninth decimal place) obtained by dividing
(i) the Term Loan Commitment or Term Loan Exposure of that Lender, by (ii) the aggregate Term Loan
Commitment or Term Loan Exposure of all Lenders. The initial Percentage Share of each Lender with
respect to the Revolver Commitment or the Revolver Loan or the Term Loan Commitment or Term Loan, as
applicable, is set forth opposite the name of such Lender on Schedule 2.01(a) or Schedule 2.01(b), as
applicable, or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Lender became a party hereto, as
applicable.

"Permit" means any permit, approval, authorization, certification, license, consent, exemption, variance,
accreditation or permission required from or issued or granted by a Governmental Authority under any
applicable Law or any accrediting organization.

"Permitted Discretion" means a determination made in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable credit
judgment (from the perspective of a senior secured, asset-based lender).

"Permitted Liens" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 7.01.

"Permitted Protest" means the right of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries to protest any Lien (other
than any Lien that secures the Obligations), taxes, or rental payment; provided, that (a) a reserve with
respect to such obligation is established on such Loan Party's or its Subsidiaries' books and records in such
amount as is required under GAAP, (b) any such protest is instituted promptly and prosecuted diligently by
such Loan Party or its Subsidiary, as applicable, in good faith, and (c) Administrative Agent is satisfied that,
while any such protest is pending, there will be no impairment of the enforceability, validity, or priority of
any of the Agents' Liens.

"Person" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association,
company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

"Plan" means any employee benefit plan (as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) established by
any Loan Party or, with respect to any such plan that is subject to Section 412 of the Code or Title IV of
ERISA, any ERISA Affiliate or with respect to which any Loan Party as an obligation to make a
contribution, in each case other than a Multiemployer Plan.
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"Post-Petition Interest" means any interest, fee or charge that accrues after the commencement of any case,
proceeding or other action relating to the bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of any one of more of the
Loan Parties (or would accrue but for the operation of applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws) whether or
not such interest, fee or other charge is allowed or allowable as a claim in any proceeding.

"Pro Forma Adjustment" means, for the purposes of calculating Consolidated EBITDA for any Test
Period, if at any time during such Test Period Orion or any of its Subsidiaries shall have made an
Investment or Disposition permitted hereunder, Consolidated EBITDA for such Test Period shall be
calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto as if any such Investment or Disposition permitted hereunder
occurred on the first day of such Test Period, including with respect to any Disposition, exclusion of the
actual historical results of operations of the disposed of Person or line of business or assets during such Test
Period.

"Pro Rata" means (a) with respect to any Revolver Lender, a percentage (rounded to the ninth decimal
place) determined by dividing the amount of such Revolver Lender's Revolver Commitment by the
aggregate outstanding Revolver Commitments; and (b) with respect to any Term Loan Lender, a percentage
(rounded to the ninth decimal place) determined by dividing the amount of such Term Loan Lender's Term
Loan Commitment and Term Loan by the aggregate outstanding Term Loan Commitment and Term Loans.

"Proceeds" means proceeds (as that term is defined in the UCC).
"Protective Advances" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 8.02(c).
"Public Lender" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.02(b)(ii).

"QFC" has the meaning assigned to the term "qualified financial contract" in, and shall be interpreted in
accordance with, 12 U.S.C. § 5390(c)(8)(D).

"QFC Credit Support" has the meaning specified therefor in Section 10.21.

"Qualified Cash" means, as of any date of determination, the lesser of (a) $5,000,000 of Cash and Cash
Equivalents of the type described in the following clause (b), and (b) the aggregate amount of unrestricted
Cash and Cash Equivalents of the Loan Parties on such date that is in a Deposit Account, which is subject to
a Control Agreement in favor of Collateral Agent and that is not subject to any Lien in favor of any Person
(other than (i) Liens in favor of Collateral Agent under the Loan Documents and (ii) Liens permitted under
Section 7.01(k)).

"Quarterly Test Period" means, for any date of determination under this Agreement, the most recent period
as of such date of one (1) Fiscal Quarter of Orion and its Subsidiaries for which financial statements have
been delivered (or were required to have been delivered) pursuant to Section 6.01(b).

"Real Property" means all land, together with the buildings, structures, parking areas, and other
improvements thereon, now or hereafter owned, leased, subleased, licensed or otherwise operated or
occupied by any Loan Party, including all easements, rights-of-way, and similar rights appurtenant thereto.

"Real Property Formula Amount" means 60% of the appraised forced liquidation value of Eligible Real
Property (according to an appraisal conducted by CBRE, Inc. or such other appraisal company acceptable to
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion); provided, that any such appraisal shall include a six (6) month
sale process for such valuation, net of any liens, deeds of trust, or other property interests paid off by
Administrative Agent, minus any amortization schedule determined by Administrative Agent in its sole
discretion.
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"Register" means a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of Lenders and, as applicable,
the Commitments of, and Credit Outstandings owing to (including principal and stated interest), each
Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time.

"Related Business" means any business that is the same, similar or otherwise reasonably related, ancillary
or complementary to the business of Orion on the Closing Date.

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's Affiliates and the partners, members,
directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees, administrator, managers, advisors, consultants, service
providers and representatives of such Person, and specifically includes, in the case of the Lending Parties,
WOCEF in its capacity as Administrative Agent.

"Release" means any release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, injection, pouring, deposit, disposal,
discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into or through the environment (including ambient air, indoor
air, surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata).

"Remedial Action" means all actions taken to (a) clean up, remove, remediate, contain, treat, monitor,
assess, evaluate, or in any way address Hazardous Materials in the indoor or outdoor environment,
(b) prevent or minimize a Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials so they do not migrate or
endanger or threaten to endanger public health or welfare or the indoor or outdoor environment, (c) restore
or reclaim natural resources or the environment, (d) perform any pre-remedial studies, investigations, or
post-remedial operation and maintenance activities, or (e) conduct any other actions with respect to
Hazardous Materials required by Environmental Laws.

"Rent and Charges Reserve" means the aggregate of (a) all past due rent and other amounts owing by an
obligor to any landlord, warehouseman, processor, repairman, mechanic, shipper, freight forwarder, broker
or other Person who possesses any Collateral or could assert a Lien on any Collateral; and (b) a reserve of
up to three months' rent and other charges that could be payable to any such Person as determined by
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion, unless it has executed a Collateral Access Agreement.

"Reportable Event" means any of the events set forth in Section 4043(c) of ERISA, other than events for
which the thirty day notice period has been waived.

"Required Lenders" means the Required Revolver Lenders and the Required Term Lenders.

"Requested Notice" means that the Administrative Agent shall endeavor to provide at least three (3)
Business Days' prior written notice to the Administrative Borrower (which may be by email), which notice
shall include a reasonably detailed description of any Reserve being established or eligibility standard being
changed (during which period (a) the Administrative Agent shall, if requested, discuss any such Reserve or
change with the Borrower and (b) the Borrower may take such action as may be required so that the event,
condition or matter that is the basis for such Reserve or change no longer exists or exists in a manner that
would result in the establishment of a lower Reserve or result in a lesser change to eligibility standards, in
each case in a manner and to the extent reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent); provided that a
non-willful failure of Administrative Agent to so notify Administrative Borrower shall not be a breach of
this Agreement and shall not cause such establishment or increase of any such Reserve to be ineffective.

"Required Revolver Lenders" means Revolver Secured Parties holding more than 50% of, (i) the
aggregate outstanding Revolver Commitments or (ii) after termination of the Revolver Commitments, the
aggregate outstanding Revolver Loans or, upon Payment in Full of all Revolver Loans, the aggregate
remaining Revolver Obligations; provided, however, that Revolver Commitments, Revolver Loans and
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other Revolver Obligations held by a Defaulting Lender and its Affiliates shall be disregarded in making
such calculation, but any related Fronting Exposure shall be deemed held as a Revolver Loan by the
Revolver Lender that funded the applicable Revolver Loan.

"Required Term Loan Lenders" means Term Loan Secured Parties holding more than 50% of (a) the
aggregate outstanding Term Loans; or (b) upon Payment in Full of all Term Loans, the aggregate remaining
Term Loan Obligations.

"Reserves" means, collectively, Revolver Availability Reserves and Term Loan Reserves.

"Resolution Authority" means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial
Institution, a UK Resolution Authority.

"Responsible Officer" means, with respect to each Loan Party, the chief executive officer, president, chief
financial officer, treasurer, controller or assistant treasurer, assistant secretary or any vice president of such
Loan Party. Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by a Responsible Officer of a Loan Party
shall be conclusively presumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership and/or other
action on the part of such Loan Party and such Responsible Officer shall be conclusively presumed to have
acted on behalf of such Loan Party.

"Restricted Payment" means, as to any Person: (a) any declaration or payment of any dividend or the
making of any other payment or distribution, directly or indirectly, (whether in cash, securities or other
property) with respect to any Equity Interests (including, for the avoidance of doubt, preferred equity
interests) of such Person; (b) any payment, purchase, redemption, making of any sinking fund or similar
payment, or other acquisition or retirement for value (whether in cash, securities or other property),
including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement,
acquisition, cancellation or termination of any Equity Interest of such Person (whether pursuant to put right
or otherwise); (c) any making of any payment to retire, or to obtain the surrender of, any outstanding
warrants, options, or other rights to acquire Equity Interests of such Person now or hereafter outstanding;
(d) any payment of principal or interest or any purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition or defeasance
with respect to any Debt of such Person which is subordinated to the payment of the Obligations; (e) the
acquisition for value by such Person of any Equity Interests issued by such Person or any other Person that
Controls such Person; (f) payment of any management, consulting, servicing or other similar fees payable
by any Loan Party to any shareholder or other Affiliate thereof; (g) reimbursement of out-of-pocket costs
and expenses incurred by any shareholder or other Affiliate of Loan Party in rendering, or in connection
with, the management, transactional, financial or other corporate advisory services provided to Orion and/or
its Subsidiaries, (h) the fees and expenses of any third-party advisors and expenses associated with any
business-related travel, or any indemnification payments or reimbursements to such shareholder or other
Affiliate providing such services; and (i) any payment of any Earn-Out Obligation.

"Retainage Accounts" means amounts withheld from Accounts pursuant to the terms of the contract or
other arrangement between a Borrower and the applicable Account Debtor the payment of which is
conditioned upon the applicable Borrower's completion of the performance or services required under the
contract or other arrangement and the satisfaction of other conditions specified in the contract or other
arrangement.

"Retainage Accounts Formula Amount" means the result of the sum of (i) 90% of the Value of Eligible
Retainage Accounts, minus (b) the amount, if any, of the Dilution Reserve.

"Revolver Availability" means the Revolver Borrowing Base minus Revolver Usage.
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"Revolver Availability Reserve" means the sum (without duplication, and without duplication of a Term
Loan Reserve) of (a) the Rent and Charges Reserve; (b) the aggregate amount of liabilities secured by Liens
that are senior to Collateral Agent's Liens, such as Liens or trusts in favor of carriers, mechanics,
materialmen, laborers, or suppliers, or Liens or trusts for ad valorem, excise, sales, or other taxes where
given priority under applicable law (but imposition of any such reserve shall not waive an Event of Default
arising therefrom); (c) reserves to reflect the amount of all book overdrafts of the Loan Parties in excess of
historical practices with respect thereto and past-due account payables (unless Administrative Agent
otherwise agrees at its sole option), including such amounts owing to material vendors and subcontractors,
or sums that any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries are required to pay under any Section of this Agreement or
any other Loan Document (such as taxes, assessments, insurance premiums, Environmental Liabilities or, in
the case of leased assets, rents or other amounts payable under such leases) and has failed to pay, and (d)
such additional reserves, in such amounts and with respect to such matters, as Administrative Agent may
elect in its Permitted Discretion to impose from time to time, including, without limitation, (i) the aggregate
amount of any mandatory prepayment required to be paid under Section 2.03(c), (ii) the amount of any
insurance claims that may be senior to the Revolver Obligations, (iii) obligations in respect of performance
bonds (other than surety bonds), state and local compliance bonds and similar obligations, and (iv) the cost
of repair of any physical injury to the whole or any other goods to which any accession, which is included in
the Revolver Borrowing Base, may be a part, and to account for any declines in underlying commodity
prices; provided that any such reserve shall have a reasonable relationship to the event, condition or other
matter which is the basis for such reserve. The Revolver Availability Reserve may be applied to the
Revolver Loan Borrowing Base and not the maximum aggregate amount of the Revolver Commitments.

The Administrative Agent shall provide the Requested Notice to the Administrative Borrower in
accordance with the terms thereof of any new categories of reserves that may be established after the date
hereof and will be available to consult with the Administrative Borrower in connection with the basis for
such new categories of Reserves.

"Revolver Borrowing Base" means on any date of determination, the result of (i) an amount equal to the
lesser of (A) the aggregate Revolver Commitments and (B) the sum of (1) the Accounts Formula Amount,
plus (2) the lesser of (x) $25,000,000 and (y) the sum of the Retainage Accounts Formula Amount plus the
Unbilled Retainage Accounts Formula Amount, plus (3) the Specified Overadvance, minus (ii) the Revolver
Availability Reserve.

"Revolver Commitment" means, as to any Revolver Lender at any time, its obligation to make a Revolver
Loan to Borrowers on or after the Closing Date in an aggregate principal amount equal to the amount set
forth opposite such Revolver Lender's name on Schedule 2.01(b) under the heading Revolver Commitment.
As of the Closing Date, the aggregate Revolver Commitment is $65,000,000.

"Revolver Commitment Termination Date" means the earliest to occur of (a) May 15, 2026; (b) the date
on which the Revolver Commitments are permanently reduced to zero pursuant to Section 2.01(b); and (c)
the date on which the Revolver Commitments are terminated pursuant to Section 2.01(b)(iii).

"Revolver Exposure" means, with respect to any Revolver Lender, as of any date of determination (a) prior
to the termination of the Revolver Commitments, the amount of such Lender's Revolver Commitment, and
(b) after the termination of the Revolver Commitments, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
Revolver Loans of such Lender.

"Revolver Lender" means each Lender which has a Revolver Commitment or, if the Revolver
Commitments have terminated, each Lender having any Revolver Usage outstanding.

"Revolver Loan" means any loan made pursuant to Section 2.01(b).
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"Revolver Loan Turnover Ratio" means, as of the last day of any Quarterly Test Period, determined on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, subject to Section 1.02(f), the ratio of: (a) aggregate
collections and other amounts received by the Loan Parties from any Account Debtor during such Fiscal
Quarter to (b) Average Revolver Usage for such Fiscal Quarter.

"Revolver Minimum Interest Amount" means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the
aggregate amount of interest which would have otherwise been payable on Revolver Loans if the Average
Revolver Usage calculated from the Closing Date through the date of the occurrence of the Prepayment
Event had been outstanding from the date of the occurrence of the Prepayment Event until the first
anniversary of the Closing Date.

"Revolver Obligations" means all (a) principal of and premium, if any, on the Revolver Loans, (b) interest,
expenses, fees, indemnification obligations and other amounts payable to Administrative Agent, Revolver
Lenders and/or any Revolver Secured Party by the Loan Parties (or any of them) under Loan Documents,
(c) obligations in respect of Letters of Credit, and (d) other Debts, obligations and liabilities of any kind
owing by the Loan Parties (or any of them) to Administrative Agent, Revolver Lenders, Issuing Bank and/or
any Revolver Secured Party pursuant to the Loan Documents, whether now existing or hereafter arising,
whether evidenced by a note or other writing, including Post-Petition Interest, whether allowed in any
Insolvency Proceeding, whether arising from an extension of credit, issuance of a letter of credit,
acceptance, loan, guaranty, indemnification or otherwise, and whether direct or indirect, absolute or
contingent, due or to become due, primary or secondary, or joint or several.

"Revolver Overadvance" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b)(iv).
"Revolver Secured Parties" means Administrative Agent, each Issuing Bank and Revolver Lenders.

"Revolver Usage" means the aggregate amount of outstanding Revolver Loans plus the Letter of Credit
Usage.

"Sanctioned Jurisdiction" shall mean any country or territory that is itself the subject of comprehensive
Sanctions (as of the date of this Agreement, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria, and the Crimea, Donetsk, and
Luhansk regions of Ukraine).

"Sanctioned Person" means, at any time a Person (a) that is a target of Sanctions, including any Person
named on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons maintained by OFAC, OFAC's
consolidated Non-SDN list, or any other Sanctions-related list maintained by any Governmental Authority
with jurisdiction over any Loan Party, (b) located, organized, or resident in a Sanctioned Jurisdiction, or (c)
any Person directly or indirectly owned or controlled 50% or more by, or acting on behalf of, any such
Person or Persons described in clauses (a) or (b) where the effect of such ownership or control would be to
render dealings with such Person to be restricted.

"Sanctions" means any economic sanctions, financial sanctions, sectoral sanctions, secondary sanctions, or
trade embargoes imposed, administered, or enforced from time to time by: (a) the United States of America,
including those administered by OFAC, the U.S. Department of State, the U.S. Department of Commerce,
or through any existing or future executive order, (b) the United Nations Security Council, (c) the European
Union or any European Union member state, (d) HM's Treasury of the United Kingdom, or (d) any other
Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over any Loan Party or any of their respective Subsidiaries.

"Scheduled Unavailability Date" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.02(b).
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"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and any successor thereto.
"Secured Parties" means the Term Loan Secured Parties and the Revolver Secured Parties.

"Semi-Annual Test Period" means, for any date of determination under this Agreement, the most recent
period as of such date of two (2) Fiscal Quarters of Orion and its Subsidiaries for which financial statements
have been delivered (or were required to have been delivered) pursuant to Section 6.01(b).

"Ship Mortgages" means, collectively, each of the First Preferred Fleet Mortgages with respect to
Documented Vessels, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by the relevant Borrower in favor of the Agent,
as such agreement may be amended, supplemented, modified or restated from time to time.

"SOFR" means, a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).

"SOFR Index Adjustment Date" means (a) the Closing Date and (b) thereafter, the last Business Day of
each calendar month with respect to Term Loans and the last Business Day of each calendar month with
respect to Revolver Loans as long as any Obligations remain outstanding.

"SOFR Index Rate" means, as of any SOFR Index Adjustment Date, the greater of (a) the Floor, and (b)
the sum of (i) the rate per annum for the forward-looking term rate for SOFR for a period one (1) month,
which appears on the CME Term SOFR Page on or about 5:00 a.m. on the date which is the last Business
Day prior to such SOFR Index Adjustment Date with respect to Term Loans and on such SOFR Index
Adjustment Date with respect to the Revolver Loans; provided, that, to the extent that the rate described in
this clause (b)(i) is not ascertainable pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this definition, then the rate
described in this clause (b)(i) shall be the interest rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent in
its reasonable discretion in accordance with Section 2.02(e) plus (ii) the SOFR Spread Adjustment.

"SOFR Screen Rate" means the SOFR quote on an applicable screen page that the Administrative Agent
designates to determine SOFR pursuant to Section 2.02 (or such other commercially available source
providing such quotations as may be designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time).

"SOFR Spread Adjustment" means 11.448 basis points per annum.
"SOFR Successor Rate" has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.02(e).

"SOFR Successor Rate Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any proposed SOFR Successor
Rate, any conforming changes to the definition of Base Rate, SOFR Index Rate, ABR Index Rate, SOFR
Screen Rate, CME Term SOFR Page, SOFR Spread Adjustment, Business Day, U.S. Government Securities
Business Day, or any related, similar or analogous definitions, timing and frequency of determining rates,
making payments of interest, the applicability and length of lookback periods, and other technical,
administrative and operational matters as may be appropriate, in the reasonable discretion of the
Administrative Agent, in consultation with Administrative Borrower, to reflect the adoption of such SOFR
Successor Rate and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner
substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent determines that adoption of
any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or that no market practice for the
administration of such SOFR Successor Rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the
Administrative Agent determines is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this
Agreement.
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"Software" means, as to any Person, all software (as that term is defined in the UCC) now owned or
hereafter acquired by such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a
secured party), including all computer programs and all supporting information provided in connection with
a transaction related to any program.

"Solvent" means, with respect to any Person as of any date of determination, that (a) at fair valuations, the
sum of such Person's debts (including contingent liabilities) is less than all of such Person's assets, (b) such
Person is not engaged or about to engage in a business or transaction for which the remaining assets of such
Person are unreasonably small in relation to the business or transaction or for which the property remaining
with such Person is an unreasonably small capital, (c) such Person has not incurred and does not intend to
incur, or reasonably believe that it will incur, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they become due
(whether at maturity or otherwise), and (d) such Person is "solvent" or not "insolvent", as applicable within
the meaning given those terms and similar terms under applicable laws relating to fraudulent transfers and
conveyances. For purposes of this definition, the amount of any contingent liability at any time shall be
computed as the amount that, in light of all of the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents
the amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability (irrespective of
whether such contingent liabilities meet the criteria for accrual under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 5).

"Specified Asset Dispositions" means, collectively, one or more sales or other dispositions of Equipment
constituting "yellow iron" Equipment or Fleet Equipment (but specifically excluding any dredge) or Real
Property of Borrowers (including in each case pursuant to a sale leaseback transaction), from and after the
Closing Date and on or prior to the six month anniversary thereof.

"Specified Closing Liquidity Transactions" means, collectively, but solely to the extent such cash
proceeds were received by Borrowers on or prior to the Closing Date, (i) one or more sales or other
dispositions of Equipment entered into by a Borrower which have been disclosed to the Administrative
Agent and resulted in Net Cash Proceeds to the Borrowers of not less than $900,000, (ii) an insurance
buyout transaction that has been disclosed to the Administrative Agent and resulted in net cash proceeds to
the Borrowers of not less than $622,000, (iii) the Cape Lisburne claim that has been disclosed to the
Administrative Agent and resulted in net cash proceeds to the Borrowers of not less than $1,100,000, and
(iv) one or more sale leaseback transactions for Equipment entered into by a Borrower with Gordon
Brothers and/or with Mobilease, which have been disclosed to the Administrative Agent and resulted in Net
Cash Proceeds to the Borrowers in the aggregate of not less than $12,378,000.

"Specified Materials" means, collectively, all written materials provided by or on behalf of any Loan Party
relating to the Loan Parties (or any of them) or their respective Affiliates or any other materials or matters
relating to the Loan Documents (including any amendments or waivers of the terms thereof or supplements
thereto).

"Specified Overadvance" means an amount equal to $11,500,000, from and after the Closing Date through
the date that is thirty days after the Closing Date, and $7,500,000 from and after the date that is thirty days
after the Closing Date.

"Specified Period" means, for any date of determination under this Agreement, the most recent period as of
such date of one (1), two (2), three (3) or four (4) consecutive Fiscal Quarters of Orion and its Subsidiaries
having elapsed from and after the Closing Date for which financial statements have been delivered (or were
required to have been delivered) pursuant to Section 6.01(b), beginning with the Fiscal Quarter ended
March 31, 2023.
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"Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transactions" means, without duplication, the Net Cash Proceeds
received by Borrowers resulting from Specified Asset Dispositions entered into on the Closing Date in an
amount equal to $1,993,543.80 and any Specified Asset Disposition entered into after the Closing Date and
on or prior to the six month anniversary thereof, the issuance of any Equity Interest of Orion other than
Disqualified Equity Interests after the Closing Date and on or prior to the six month anniversary thereof, or
from the settlement of the claims previously disclosed to Administrative Agent and referred to as the Cumby
claim and/or the Titus Claim, after the Closing Date and on or prior to the six month anniversary thereof.

"Specified Sale Leaseback Transactions" means, collectively, the Specified Closing Liquidity Transaction
described in clause (iv) of the definition thereof, together with one or more sale leaseback transactions for
Equipment or Real Property entered into by a Borrower after the Closing Date and on or prior to the six
month anniversary thereof.

"Specified Transaction" means any prepayment of Debt or Restricted Payment (or declaration of any
prepayment or Restricted Payment).

"Subordination Agreement" means any written subordination agreement with respect to subordinated
obligations by and among Administrative Agent, the holder(s) of such subordinated obligations and the
Loan Parties, which agreement subordinates payments under such subordinated obligations to Payment in
Full of all Obligations and is otherwise on subordination terms reasonably satisfactory to Administrative
Agent.

"Subsidiary" of a Person means any other Person of which a majority of the Equity Interests having
ordinary voting power for the election of directors or other governing body (other than securities or interests
having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) are at the time beneficially owned, or
the management of which is otherwise controlled, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
or both, by such Person. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "Subsidiary" or to
"Subsidiaries" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of a Loan Party.

"Supported QFC" has the meaning specified therefor in Section 10.21.

"Synthetic Lease Obligation" means the monetary obligation of a Person under either: (a) a so called
synthetic, off-balance-sheet or tax retention lease; or (b) an agreement for the use or possession of property
creating obligations that do not appear on the balance sheet of such Person but which, upon the insolvency
or bankruptcy of such Person, would be characterized as the indebtedness of such Person (without regard to
accounting treatment).

"Tax Distributions" means with respect to any taxable year, a Borrower or other Loan Party is a member of
(or treated as a disregarded entity of a member of) a consolidated, combined, or unitary tax group for
federal, state, and local income tax purposes (a "Tax Group"), payments, dividends or distributions by such
Loan Party, for further distribution to any direct or indirect parent company that is responsible under
applicable law for the income taxes of such Loan Party ("Tax Group Parent"), in order to permit Tax
Group Parent to pay consolidated or combined federal, state or local income taxes for which Tax Group
Parent is liable with respect to the taxable income of such Loan Party; provided however, the aggregate
amount of such payments, dividends, or distributions for any taxable period shall not exceed the amounts of
federal, state, and local income taxes such Loan Parties would have paid if they solely filed such a
consolidated, combined, or unitary tax return for a Tax Group made up of solely themselves for that taxable
year and any prior taxable years.
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"Taxes" means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including
backup withholdings), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority,
including any interest, additions to taxes or penalties applicable thereto.

"Term Loan" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a).
"Term Loan Amount" means $38,000,000.

"Term Loan Borrowing Base" means on any date of determination, the result of (i) an amount equal to the
lesser of (A) the aggregate Term Loan Amount, and (B) the sum of (1) the Equipment Formula Amount,
plus (2) the Fleet Equipment Formula Amount, plus (3) the Real Property Formula Amount, minus (ii) the
Term Loan Reserve.

"Term Loan Commitment" means, as to any Term Loan Lender at any time, its obligation to make a Term
Loan to Borrowers on the Closing Date in an aggregate principal amount equal to the amount set forth
opposite such Term Loan Lender's name on Schedule 2.01(a) under the heading Term Loan Commitment;
provided that, following the making by any Term Loan Lender of its Term Loan on the Closing Date in
accordance with the provisions hereof, the Term Loan Commitment of such Term Loan Lender shall be
zero.

"Term Loan Exposure" means, with respect to any Lender as of any date of determination: (a) prior to the
funding of the Term Loan, the amount of that Lender's Term Loan Commitment; and (b) after the funding of
the Term Loan, the Outstanding Amount of the Term Loan of that Lender.

"Term Loan Lender" means each Lender having a Term Loan Commitment.

"Term Loan LTV Ratio" means, as of the last day of any Test Period, determined on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, subject to Section 1.02(f), the ratio of: (a) the Outstanding
Amount of the Term Loans to (b) the sum of (i) the appraised NOLV of Eligible Equipment (according to
appraisals conducted by Gordon Brothers Group, LLC or such other appraisal company acceptable to
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, as such appraisals may be updated from time to time), plus,
(ii) the appraised NOLV of Eligible Fleet Equipment (according to appraisals conducted by North American
Marine Consultants, LLC or such other appraisal company acceptable to Administrative Agent in its sole
discretion, as such appraisals may be updated from time to time), plus (iii) the appraised forced liquidation
value of Eligible Real Property (according to an appraisal conducted by CBRE, Inc. or such other appraisal
company acceptable to Administrative Agent in its sole discretion); provided, that any such appraisal shall
include a six (6) month sale process for such valuation, net of any liens, deeds of trust, or other property
interests paid off by Administrative Agent, minus, (iv) without duplication, Term Loan Reserves.

"Term Loan Maturity Date" means the earlier of (i) May 15, 2026 and (ii) the date that all Term Loans
shall become due and payable in full hereunder, whether by acceleration or otherwise.

"Term Loan Minimum Interest Amount" means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the
aggregate amount of interest which would have otherwise been payable on all or that portion of the Term
Loans subject to the Prepayment Event from the occurrence of the Prepayment Event until the first
anniversary of the Closing Date.

"Term Loan Obligations” means all (a) principal of and premium, if any, on the Term Loans, (b) interest,
expenses, fees, indemnification obligations and other amounts payable by the Loan Parties (or any of them)
to any Agent, Term Loan Lenders and/or any Term Loan Secured Party under Loan
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Documents, and (c) other Debts, obligations and liabilities of any kind owing by the Loan Parties (or any of
them) to any Agent, Term Loan Lenders and/or any Term Loan Secured Party pursuant to the Loan
Documents, whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether evidenced by a note or other writing,
including Post-Petition Interest, whether allowed in any Insolvency Proceeding, whether arising from an
extension of credit, acceptance, loan, guaranty, indemnification or otherwise, and whether direct or indirect,
absolute or contingent, due or to become due, primary or secondary, or joint or several.

"Term Loan Overadvance" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(v).

"Term Loan Reserve" means the sum (without duplication, and without duplication of any Revolver
Availability Reserve) of (a) the Rent and Charges Reserve; (b) the aggregate amount of liabilities secured by
Liens that are senior to Collateral Agent's Liens, such as Liens or trusts in favor of landlords,
warehousemen, carriers, mechanics, materialmen, laborers, or suppliers, or Liens or trusts for ad valorem,
excise, sales, or other taxes where given priority under applicable law (but imposition of any such reserve
shall not waive an Event of Default arising therefrom); (c) Maritime Reserves and environmental reserves,
and (d) such additional reserves, in such amounts and with respect to such matters, as Administrative Agent
may elect in its Permitted Discretion to impose from time to time, including, without limitation, (i) the
aggregate amount of any mandatory prepayment required to be paid under Section 2.03(c), (ii) the amount
of any insurance claims that may be senior to the Term Loan Obligations, and (iii) the cost of repair of any
physical injury to the whole or any other goods to which any accession, which is included in the Term Loan
Borrowing Base, may be a part; provided that any such reserve shall have a reasonable relationship to the
event, condition or other matter which is the basis for such reserve. Administrative Agent shall provide the
Requested Notice to the Administrative Borrower in accordance with the terms thereof of any new
categories of reserves that may be established after the date hereof and will be available to consult with the
Administrative Borrower in connection with the basis for such new categories of Reserves.

"Term Loan Secured Parties" means each Agent and Term Loan Lenders.

"Test Period" means, as applicable, the Quarterly Test Period, Semi-Annual Test Period, the Tri-Quarterly
Test Period or the TFQ Test Period.

"TFQ Test Period" means, for any date of determination under this Agreement, the most recent period as of
such date of four (4) consecutive Fiscal Quarters of Orion and its Subsidiaries for which financial
statements have been delivered (or were required to have been delivered) pursuant to Section 6.01(b).

"Threshold Amount" means $2,000,000.

"Titled Vessels" means the Fleet Equipment of a Loan Party that is titled with a state of the United States,
including but not limited to Florida, Texas and Louisiana and is issued a distinct title number, including,
without limitation, the vessels listed on Schedule 1.03 and identified as Titled Vessels herein.

"Trademark License" means, as to any Person, all licenses and other similar rights now provided or
hereafter provided to such Person (or in which such Person has rights or the power to transfer rights to a
secured party) with respect to any Trademark of another Person.

"Trademark Security Agreement" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Guaranty and Security
Agreement.

"Trademarks" means, as to any Person, all of the following now owned or hereafter adopted or acquired by
such Person: (a) all trademarks, trade names, corporate names, business names, trade styles,
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service marks, logos, other source or business identifiers, prints and labels on which any of the foregoing
have appeared or appear, designs and general intangibles of like nature (whether registered or unregistered),
all registrations and recordings thereof, and all applications in connection therewith, including all
registrations, recordings and applications in the United States Patent and Trademark Office or in any similar
office or agency of the United States, any State or Territory thereof, or any other country or any political
subdivision thereof; (b) all reissues, extensions or renewals thereof; and (c) all Goodwill associated with or
symbolized by any of the foregoing.

"Tri-Quarterly Test Period" means, for any date of determination under this Agreement, the most recent
period as of such date of three (3) Fiscal Quarters of Orion and its Subsidiaries for which financial
statements have been delivered (or were required to have been delivered) pursuant to Section 6.01(b).

"UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the State of New York,
except when used in connection with the perfection of the Collateral, in which case, "UCC" means the
Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the applicable jurisdiction with respect to such
affected Collateral.

"UK Financial Institution" means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PRA
Rulebook (as amended form time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation
Authority) or any person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time)
promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions
and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment firms.

"UK Resolution Authority" means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority
having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

"Unasserted Obligations" means, at any time, Obligations consisting of obligations for taxes, costs,
indemnifications, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities (except for the principal of and interest on,
and fees relating to, any Debt) in respect of which no claim or demand for payment has been made (or, in
the case of obligations for indemnification, no notice for indemnification has been issued by the Indemnitee
or is otherwise known to the Indemnitee) at such time.

"Unbilled Retainage Accounts Formula Amount" means the result (i) 90% multiplied by (ii) the Value of
Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts multiplied by the Conversion Ratio.

"Undocumented Vessels" means the Fleet Equipment of a Loan Party that is neither Documented Vessels
nor Titled Vessels, including, without limitation, the vessels listed on Schedule 1.04 and identified as

Undocumented Vessels therein.

"Unfunded Pension Liability" means that the funding target attainment percentage (as defined in
Section 430(d)(2) of the Code) is less than 60%.

"United States" and "U.S." mean the United States of America.
"Unused Line Fee" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a).
"Value" means for an Account, its face amount, net of any returns, rebates, discounts (calculated on the

shortest terms), credits, customer deposits, unapplied cash, allowances or Taxes (including sales, excise or
other taxes) that have been or could be claimed by the Account Debtor or any other Person.
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"Vessel Eligible for Documentation" means the Fleet Equipment of a Loan Party that is either a Titled
Vessel or Undocumented Vessel but is eligible for documentation under 46 C.F.R Part 67, including, without
limitation, the Vessels listed on Schedule 1.05.

"Vessels" means collectively all of the Documented Vessels, Titled Vessels and Undocumented Vessels.

"U.S. Citizen" means a Person that is a "citizen of the United States" within the meaning of 46 U.S.C. §
50501, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, eligible and qualified to own and operate vessels in the
U.S. Coastwise Trade.

"U.S. Coastwise Trade" means the carriage or transport of merchandise and/or other materials and/or
passengers in the coastwise trade of the United States of America within the meaning of 46 U.S.C. Chapter
551.

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for (a) a Saturday, (b) a Sunday or (c)
a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed
income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States
government securities.

"U.S. Shipowner" shall mean each Loan Party, and each Subsidiary thereof, that is the owner of (i) a
Documented Vessel that is documented with the U.S. Coast Guard National Vessel Documentation Center,
or (ii) a Titled Vessel or an Undocumented Vessel that is operated in the United States.

"White Oak" means WOABL and WOCF.

"White Oak Indemnitees" means WOABL, WOCF, and their respective officers, directors, employees,
Affiliates, agents and attorneys.

"WOABL" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
"WOCEF" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
"Withholding Agent" means any Loan Party and each Agent.

"Write-Down and Conversion Powers" means, (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the
write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In
Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are
described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any powers
of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or change the
form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability
arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other
person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised
under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In
Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.
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SECTION 1.02 CERTAIN RULES OF CONSTRUCTION.
(a) General Rules.

@) Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, the meaning of a defined
term is applicable equally to the singular and plural forms thereof.

(ii) The words "hereof," "herein," "hereunder" and similar words refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

(iii) The word "documents" includes instruments, documents, agreements,
certificates, indentures, notices and other writings, however evidenced.

@iv) The words "include" and "including" are not limiting and, unless the
context otherwise clearly requires, the word "or" is not exclusive.

W) A "Default" or "Event of Default" hereunder referenced as "continuing"
(or any variation thereof) shall: (A) with respect to a Default that has not yet matured into an Event
of Default, be deemed to be continuing unless and until cured within any applicable cure period set
forth in this Agreement; and (B) with respect to an Event of Default, be deemed to be continuing
unless and until waived in writing by Required Lenders or all Lenders, as applicable.

(vi) In the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later
specified date, the word "from" means "from and including"; the words "te" and "until" each
mean "to but excluding" and the word "through" means "to and including".

(vii)  Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, the words "property,"
"properties," "asset" and "assets" refer to both personal property (whether tangible or intangible)
and real property.

(viii)  As used herein, "ordinary course of business" means, in respect of any
transaction involving any Person, the ordinary course of business of such Person, as undertaken by
such Person in accordance with past practices or reasonable extensions of such past practices, as
applicable, or otherwise undertaken by such Person in good faith and not for purposes of evading
any covenant or restriction in any Loan Document.

(ix) Wherever the phrase "to the knowledge of any Loan Party" or words of
similar import relating to the knowledge or the awareness of any Loan Party are used in this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, unless otherwise indicated, such phrase shall mean and
refer to the actual knowledge of a Responsible Officer of any Loan Party.

x) Unless the context otherwise clearly requires: (A) Article, Section,
subsection, clause, Schedule and Exhibit references are to this Agreement; (B) references to
documents (including this Agreement) shall be deemed to include all subsequent amendments and
other modifications thereto, but only to the extent such amendments and other modifications are not
prohibited by the terms of any Loan Document; (C) references to any statute or regulation are to be
construed as including all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending, replacing,
supplementing or interpreting the statute or regulation; and (D) or unless prohibited by the terms of
any Loan Document, references to any Person shall be deemed to include such Person's successors
and assigns.
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(b) Time References. Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, all references
herein to times of day shall be references to Eastern time (daylight or standard, as applicable).

(o) Captions. The captions and headings of this Agreement are for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.

(d) Cumulative Nature of Certain Provisions. This Agreement and the other Loan
Documents may use several different limitations, tests or measurements to regulate the same or similar
matters. All such limitations, tests and measurements are cumulative and shall be performed in accordance
with their respective terms.

(e) No Construction Against Any Party. This Agreement and the other Loan
Documents are the result of negotiations among, and have been reviewed by counsel to, the Loan Parties,
each Agent and the other Lending Parties and are the products of all parties. Accordingly, they shall not be
construed against any Agent or any other Lending Party merely because of the involvement of any or all of
the preceding Persons in their preparation.

® GAAP. Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, all accounting terms not
expressly defined herein shall be construed, and all financial computations required under this Agreement
shall be made, in accordance with GAAP applied in a manner consistent with that used in preparing the
Audited Closing Financial Statements, except as otherwise specifically prescribed herein. If at any time any
change in GAAP would affect the computation of any financial ratio, financial covenant or other
requirement set forth in any Loan Document and either Administrative Borrower or Required Lenders shall
so request, Administrative Agent, Lending Parties and Administrative Borrower shall negotiate in good faith
to amend such ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP
(subject to the approval of Required Lenders); provided that, until so amended: (i) such financial ratio,
financial covenant or other requirement shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP prior to
such change therein and (ii) the Loan Parties shall provide or cause to be provided to Administrative Agent
and the other Lending Parties financial statements and other documents required under this Agreement or as
reasonably requested hereunder setting forth a reconciliation between calculations of such financial ratio,
financial covenant or other requirement made before and after giving effect to such change in GAAP.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, all financial statements delivered hereunder
shall be prepared, and all financial covenants contained herein shall be calculated, without giving effect to
any election under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159 (or any similar accounting
principle) permitting a Person to value its financial liabilities or Debt at the fair value thereof.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, all financial statements delivered hereunder
shall be prepared, and all financial covenants contained herein shall be calculated, without giving effect to
any election under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159 (or any similar accounting
principle) permitting a Person to value its financial liabilities or Debt at the fair value thereof.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything other provision of the Loan Documents, financial calculations
and other deliverables under this Agreement or any other Loan Document and financial definitions
(including the determination of the amount of any obligations under Capital Leases) shall be computed to
exclude any change to lease accounting rules from those in effect pursuant to Financial Account Standards
Board Account Standards Codification 842 (Leases) and other related lease account guidance as in effect on
the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, any obligation of a Person under a lease that is not (or would
not be) required to be classified and accounted for as an obligation under a Capital Lease on a balance sheet
of such Person under GAAP as in effect on December 31, 2018, shall not be treated as an obligation under a
Capital Lease as a result of the adoption of changes in GAAP or changes in the application of GAAP and
shall continue to be treated as an operating lease.

51




(8 Rounding. Any financial ratios required to be maintained by the Loan Parties or
any of them pursuant to the Loan Documents shall be calculated by dividing the appropriate component by
the other component, carrying the result to one place more than the number of places by which such ratio is
expressed herein and rounding the result up or down to the nearest number using the common — or
symmetric arithmetic — method of rounding (in other words, rounding up if there is no nearest number).

(h) Documents Executed by Responsible Officers. Any document delivered hereunder
that is signed by a Responsible Officer of a Loan Party shall be conclusively presumed to have been
authorized by all necessary corporate or other organizational action on the part of such Loan Party and such
Responsible Officer shall be conclusively presumed to have acted on behalf of such Loan Party.

@) UCC Terms. Terms defined in the UCC in effect on the Closing Date and not
otherwise defined herein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meanings provided by those
definitions. Subject to the foregoing, the term "UCC" refers, as of any date of determination, to the UCC
then in effect.

) Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any
division or plan of division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction's
laws): (i) if any asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or
liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to
the subsequent Person, and (ii) if any new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be deemed to
have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of its Equity Interests at such time.

k) The Agents do not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any
liability with respect to, (a) the continuation of, administration of, submission of, calculation of or any other
matter related to SOFR or any SOFR Successor Rate, any component definition thereof or rates referenced
in the definition thereof, or with respect to any alternative, successor or replacement rate thereto (including
SOFR or any SOFR Successor Rate), including whether the composition or characteristics of any such
alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any SOFR Successor Rate), will be similar to, or
produce the same value or economic equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, SOFR or any
SOFR Successor Rate, prior to its discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, implementation or
composition of any SOFR Successor Rate Conforming Changes. Administrative Agent and its affiliates or
other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation of SOFR or any SOFR Successor
Rate, any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any SOFR Successor Rate) or any relevant
adjustments thereto and such transactions may be adverse to a Borrower. Administrative Agent may select
information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain any Benchmark, any component
definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement, and shall have no liability to Borrowers, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages
of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses
or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or
calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service. The
Agents shall not be liable for any inability, failure or delay on their part to perform any of their duties set
forth in this Agreement as a result of the unavailability of SOFR or the applicable SOFR Successor Rate and
absence of a designated SOFR Successor Rate, including as a result of any inability, delay, error or
inaccuracy on the part of any other transaction party, including without limitation the Required Lenders, in
providing any direction, instruction, notice or information required or contemplated by the terms of this
Agreement and reasonably required for the performance of such duties.
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ARTICLE II

CREDIT EXTENSIONS
SECTION 2.01 LOANS.
(a) Initial Term Loan.
@) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Lender with a

Term Loan Commitment agrees (severally, not jointly or jointly and severally) to make a term loan
to Borrowers (collectively, the "Term Loan") on the Closing Date in an amount equal to such
Lender's Term Loan Commitment; provided, that the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
Term Loan made on the Closing Date shall equal the Term Loan Amount. The Term Loan made on
the Closing Date shall be made pursuant to a Borrowing Request, duly completed and given by
Administrative Borrower to Administrative Agent not later than 12:00 p.m. (noon) on the second
(2nd) Business Day prior to the Closing Date, or such shorter time as Administrative Agent may
agree.

(ii) Loans and interest accruing thereon shall be evidenced by the records of
Administrative Agent and the applicable Term Loan Lender. At the request of a Term Loan Lender,
each Borrower shall deliver promissory note(s) to such Term Loan Lender, evidencing its Term
Loans.

(iii))  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 2.01(a),
Lenders will not be required and shall have no obligation to make any advances hereunder if a
Default or Event of Default then exists and is continuing or would result by virtue of the making
thereof. No Credit Extension (or any portion thereof) that has been repaid or prepaid may be
reborrowed. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall Lenders
be obligated to make to Borrowers, or Borrowers be entitled to borrow or receive from Lenders, any
loans, advances or extensions of credit hereunder other than the Term Loan.

@iv) No later than 12:00 p.m. (noon) on the Closing Date, each Lender shall
fund its pro rata portion of the Term Loan to Administrative Agent's Office in immediately available
funds. Upon receipt of all requested Term Loan funds, Administrative Agent will make the
proceeds of the Term Loan available to Borrowers on the Closing Date by sending such funds, in
immediately available funds, as directed by Borrowers pursuant to the Letter of Direction.

W) If the aggregate Outstanding Amount of the Term Loan exceeds the Term
Loan Borrowing Base ("Term Loan Overadvance") at any time, the excess shall be payable by
Borrowers promptly upon, and in any event within one Business Day of, demand by Administrative
Agent and shall constitute an Obligation secured by the Collateral, entitled to all benefits of the
Loan Documents. Administrative Agent may require Term Lenders to forbear from requiring
Borrowers to cure a Term Loan Overadvance without the consent of Required Term Lenders. No
funding or sufferance of a Term Loan Overadvance shall constitute a waiver by Administrative
Agent or applicable Term Lenders of the Event of Default caused thereby. Term Loan
Overadvances shall not include any Protective Advances made by the Term Loan Lenders. No
Loan Party shall be a beneficiary of this Section 2.01(a)(v) nor authorized to enforce any of its
terms.

53




(b) Revolver Commitment.

@) Revolver Loans. Each Revolver Lender agrees, severally on a Pro Rata
basis up to its Revolver Commitment, on the terms set forth herein, to make Revolver Loans to
Borrowers from time to time through the Revolver Commitment Termination Date. The Revolver
Loans may be repaid and reborrowed as provided herein. In no event shall Revolver Lenders have
any obligation to honor a request for a Revolver Loan if Revolver Usage at such time plus the
requested Loan would exceed the Revolver Borrowing Base. The Revolver Loans shall be made
pursuant to a Borrowing Request, duly completed and given by Administrative Borrower to
Administrative Agent not later than 11:00 a.m. on the requested funding date. If any Revolver
Lender shall not remit the full amount that it is required to make available to Administrative Agent
in immediately available funds as and when required hereby and if Administrative Agent has made
available to Borrowers such amount, then that Revolver Lender shall be obligated to immediately
remit such amount to Administrative Agent, together with interest at the Defaulting Lender Rate for
each day until the date on which such amount is so remitted. Notices received by the Administrative
Agent after the applicable required time shall be deemed received on the next Business Day. Each
Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable and shall specify (A) the Borrowing amount, and (B) the
requested funding date (which must be a Business Day). Any amount required to be paid as interest
hereunder, or as fees or other charges under this Agreement or any other Loan Document with
respect to Revolver Obligations, which shall become due, shall be deemed a request for a Revolver
Loan as of the date such payment is due, in the amount required to pay in full such interest, fee,
charge or Revolver Obligation under this Agreement, or any other Loan Document and such request
shall be irrevocable.

(ii) Notes. Loans and interest accruing thereon shall be evidenced by the
records of Administrative Agent and the applicable Revolver Lender. At the request of a Revolver
Lender, Borrowers shall deliver promissory note(s) to such Revolver Lender, evidencing its
Revolver Loans.

(iii)  Termination or Reduction of Revolver Commitments.

(A) The Revolver Commitments shall terminate on the Revolver
Commitment Termination Date, unless sooner terminated in accordance with this
Agreement. Upon at least five (5) days' prior written notice to Administrative Agent at any
time, Borrowers may, subject to payment of the Make-Whole Amount, if applicable, at their
option, terminate all or a portion of the Revolver Commitments provided, that any such
partial reduction shall be in a principal amount of not less than $2,500,000, or an integral
multiple of $250,000 in excess thereof. Any notice of termination given by Administrative
Borrower shall be irrevocable. On the Revolver Commitment Termination Date, Borrowers
shall make Payment in Full of all Revolver Obligations (including any Make-Whole
Amount, if applicable). Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Administrative
Borrower may rescind any notice of prepayment under this Section 2.01(b)(iii) if such
prepayment would have resulted from a refinancing of the Loans or other contingent
transaction, which refinancing or transaction shall not be consummated or shall otherwise
be delayed (in which case, a new notice shall be required to be sent in connection with any
subsequent termination).

@iv) Revolver Overadvances. If Revolver Usage exceeds the Revolver
Borrowing Base ("Revolver Overadvance") at any time, the excess shall be payable by Borrowers
on demand by Administrative Agent and shall constitute an Obligation secured by the Collateral,
entitled to all benefits of the Loan Documents. Administrative Agent may require Revolver Lenders
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to fund Revolver Loans that cause or constitute an Revolver Overadvance and to forbear from
requiring Borrowers to cure a Revolver Overadvance without the consent of Required Revolver
Lenders. In no event shall Loans be required that would cause Revolver Usage to exceed the
aggregate Revolver Commitments. No funding or sufferance of a Revolver Overadvance shall
constitute a waiver by Administrative Agent or applicable Revolver Lenders of the Event of Default
caused thereby. Revolver Overadvances shall not include any Protective Advances made by the
Revolver Lenders nor shall Revolver Overadvances include the Permitted Overadvance. No Loan
Party shall be a beneficiary of this Section 2.01(b)(iv) nor authorized to enforce any of its terms.

W) Maintenance of T.oan Account; Statements of Account. Administrative
Agent shall maintain an account on its books in the name of Borrowers (the "Loan Account") in
which Borrower will be charged with all Revolver Loans made by Revolver Lenders to Borrowers
or for Borrowers' account, including Revolver Loans, interest, fees, expenses and any other
Revolver Obligations. The Loan Account will be credited with all amounts received by
Administrative Agent from Borrowers or for Borrowers' account, including, as set forth below, all
amounts received in the Collection Accounts during a Cash Dominion Period. Administrative
Agent shall send Administrative Borrower a monthly statement reflecting the activity in the Loan
Account. Each such statement shall be an account stated and shall be final, conclusive and binding
on Borrowers, absent manifest error. Borrowers hereby authorize Administrative Agent to charge
the Loan Account with the amount of all principal, interest, fees, expenses and other payments to be
made hereunder and under the other Loan Documents with respect to Revolver Obligations.
Administrative Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, discharge Borrowers' payment obligations
hereunder by so charging the Loan Account.

(vi) Collection of Receivables. Subject to Schedule 6.19, Administrative Agent
shall, at all times have springing dominion and control over the Collection Account and each other
deposit account of any Loan Party (other than an Excluded Account), and the Collection Account
and each such other deposit account shall be subject to a Control Agreement which shall provide,
among other things, that upon notice by the Administrative Agent to the deposit account bank, all
amounts in each such deposit account will be forwarded by daily sweep to Administrative Agent. At
all times Borrowers shall cause all invoices evidencing accounts receivable to be marked payable to
Borrowers at the Lockbox or if payments are made electronically, payable directly to a Collection
Account. All collections and other amounts received by the Loan Parties from any account debtor,
in addition to all other cash received by the Loan Parties from any other source, shall upon receipt
be forwarded to the Lockbox in the form received or deposited into a Collection Account. During a
Cash Dominion Period, Administrative Agent will credit all payments received by it to the Loan
Account, conditional upon final collection; credit will be given only for cleared funds received prior
to 2:00 p.m. (New York time) by Administrative Agent; provided, however, that for purposes of
calculating interest due to the Revolver Lenders, credit will be given to collections on the date of
receipt by Administrative Agent of cleared funds. In all cases, the Loan Account will be credited
only with the net amounts actually received in payment of its accounts receivable. The Loan Parties
will not commingle any collections with any of their other funds or property, but will segregate
them from their other assets and will hold them in trust and for the account and as the property of
Revolver Lenders. During a Cash Dominion Period, Borrowers hereby agree to, and will cause the
other Loan Parties to, endorse any collections upon the request of Administrative Agent. During a
Cash Dominion Period, or at any time that an Application Event has not occurred, Administrative
Agent may apply all amounts received by it to such of the Revolver Obligations and in such order
as it may elect in its sole and absolute discretion.

(vii)  [Reserved.]
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(viii) Defaulting Lenders. Administrative Agent shall not be obligated to transfer
to a Defaulting Lender any payments made by a Borrower to Administrative Agent for the
Defaulting Lender's benefit or any proceeds of Collateral that would otherwise be remitted
hereunder to the Defaulting Lender, and, in the absence of such transfer to the Defaulting Lender,
Administrative Agent shall transfer any such payments (A) first, to Administrative Agent to the
extent of any Protective Advances or Revolver Overadvances that were made by Administrative
Agent and that were required to be, but were not, paid by Defaulting Lender, (B) second, to each
Non-Defaulting Lender ratably in accordance with their Commitments (but, in each case, only to
the extent that such Defaulting Lender's portion of a Revolver Loan (or other funding obligation)
was funded by such other Non-Defaulting Lender), (C) third, in Administrative Agent's sole
discretion, to a suspense account maintained by Administrative Agent, the proceeds of which shall
be retained by Administrative Agent and may be made available to be re-advanced to or for the
benefit of Borrowers (upon the request of a Borrower and subject to the conditions set forth in
Section 4.02) as if such Defaulting Lender had made its portion of Revolver Loans (or other
funding obligations) hereunder, and (D) fourth, from and after the date on which all other
Obligations have been paid in full, to such Defaulting Lender in accordance with Section 8.02(d).

Subject to the foregoing, Administrative Agent may hold and, in its discretion, re-lend to
Borrowers for the account of such Defaulting Lender the amount of all such payments received and
retained by Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender. Solely for the
purposes of voting or consenting to matters with respect to the Loan Documents and for the purpose
of calculating the fee payable under Section 2.04(a), such Defaulting Lender shall be deemed not to
be a "Lender" and such Lender's Commitment shall be deemed to be zero; provided, that the
foregoing shall not apply to any of the matters governed by Section 10.01(i)(A) through (C). The
provisions of this Section 2.3(g) shall remain effective with respect to such Defaulting Lender until
the earlier of (y) the date on which all of the Non-Defaulting Lenders, Agent, Issuing Bank, and
Borrowers shall have waived, in writing, the application of this Section 2.01(b)(viii) to such
Defaulting Lender, or (z) the date on which such Defaulting Lender makes payment of all amounts
that it was obligated to fund hereunder, pays to Administrative Agent all amounts owing by
Defaulting Lender in respect of the amounts that it was obligated to fund hereunder, and, if
requested by Administrative Agent, provides adequate assurance of its ability to perform its future
obligations hereunder. The operation of this Section 2.01(b)(viii) shall not be construed to increase
or otherwise affect the Commitment of any Lender, to relieve or excuse the performance by such
Defaulting Lender or any other Lender of its duties and obligations hereunder, or to relieve or
excuse the performance by a Borrower of its duties and obligations hereunder to any Agent or to the
Lenders other than such Defaulting Lender. Any failure by a Defaulting Lender to fund amounts
that it was obligated to fund hereunder shall constitute a material breach by such Defaulting Lender
of this Agreement and shall entitle each Borrower, at its option, upon written notice to
Administrative Agent, to arrange for a substitute Lender to assume the Commitment of such
Defaulting Lender, such substitute Lender to be reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent. In
connection with the arrangement of such a substitute Lender, the Defaulting Lender shall have no
right to refuse to be replaced hereunder. In the event of a direct conflict between the priority
provisions of this Section 2.01(b)(viii) and any other provision contained in this Agreement or any
other Loan Document, it is the intention of the parties hereto that such provisions be read together
and construed, to the fullest extent possible, to be in concert with each other. In the event of any
actual, irreconcilable conflict that cannot be resolved as aforesaid, the terms and provisions of this
Section 2.01(b)(viii)_shall control and govern.

SECTION 2.02 INTEREST.

(a) Interest. Subject to the provisions hereof (including Sections 2.02(c) and 2.02(e)),
the outstanding principal balance of each Loan shall bear interest from the date advanced until such Loan

56




is repaid in full at the Base Rate applicable to such Loan payable in cash. If a Market Disruption Event
occurs, then Administrative Agent shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, use commercially reasonable
efforts to give notice thereof in accordance with Section 10.02 to Administrative Borrower and Lenders.

(b) Payment Dates. Interest on each Loan shall be due and payable in arrears, in cash,
on each Interest Payment Date and at such other times as may be specified herein (including on demand if
specified herein). Interest hereunder shall be due and payable in accordance with the terms hereof both
before and after judgment, and both before and after the commencement of any proceeding under any
Bankruptcy Law. Subject to the provisions hereof, Borrowers shall pay accrued and unpaid interest under
Section 2.02(a) to the Administrative Agent to which such interest relates, for the benefit of the Applicable
Lenders, as follows: (i) on a monthly basis in arrears on each Interest Payment Date with respect to
Revolver Loans and on a monthly basis in arrears on each Interest Payment Date with respect to Term
Loans; (ii) upon payment or prepayment of the principal balance of the Loans or any portion thereof, on the
amount so paid or prepaid; and (iii) on the Maturity Date.

(o) Default Rate. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
Section 2.02(a), at any time that an Event of Default exists, then all (i) (or, in the sole discretion of
Administrative Agent, any portion) of the Term Loan Obligations shall automatically bear interest at the
applicable Default Rate, such interest to be payable in cash upon demand therefor by Administrative Agent
and (ii) (or, in the sole discretion of Administrative Agent, any portion) of the Revolver Obligations shall
automatically bear interest at the applicable Default Rate, such interest to be payable in cash upon demand
therefor by Administrative Agent.

(d) Compounding. Subject to the other provisions of this Section 2.02, without
affecting any of the Agents' or any Lender's rights and remedies hereunder or in respect hereof, all interest
(including interest at the Default Rate) on the Loans that is not paid when due shall, at the election of (i) in
the case of the Revolver Obligations, the Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Required
Revolver Lenders), be added to the outstanding principal balance thereof and thereafter bear interest at the
rate then applicable to the outstanding principal balance of the Revolver Loans, or (ii) in the case of the
Term Loan Obligations, the Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Required Term Loan
Lenders), be added to the outstanding principal balance thereof and thereafter bear interest at the rate then
applicable to the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loans.

(e) Inability to Determine Rates.

@) If, in connection with any request for a Loan based on the SOFR Index
Rate, (A) Administrative Agent determines, that (x) adequate and reasonable means do not exist for
determining the SOFR Index Rate with respect to any such proposed or existing Loan, and (y) the
circumstances described in clause (iii)(A) below do not apply (in each case with respect to this
clause (i)(A), "Impacted Loans"), or (B) Administrative Agent determines, for any reason, that the
SOFR Index Rate with respect to such a proposed Loan does not adequately and fairly reflect the
cost to the Lenders of funding such Loan, Administrative Agent will promptly so notify
Administrative Borrower and each Lender, in each case, in writing. Thereafter, (1) the obligation of
Lenders to make or maintain Loans based on the SOFR Index Rate shall be suspended (to the extent
of the affected Loans), and (2) in the event of a determination described in the preceding sentence
with respect to the SOFR Index Rate component of the Base Rate, the utilization of the SOFR Index
Rate component in determining the Base Rate shall be suspended, in each case until such Agent
revokes such notice in writing. Upon receipt of such notice, Administrative Borrower may revoke
any pending request for a Borrowing of Loans based on the SOFR Index Rate (to the extent of the
affected Loans).
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(ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Administrative Agent has made the
determination described in clause (i)(A) above, Administrative Agent, in consultation with
Administrative Borrower, may establish an alternative interest rate for the Impacted Loans, in which
case, such alternative rate of interest shall apply with respect to the Impacted Loans until (A)
Administrative Agent revokes the notice delivered in writing with respect to the Impacted Loans
under clause (i)(A) above, (B) Administrative Agent notifies Administrative Borrower in writing
that such alternative interest rate does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders of the
Impacted Loans, or (C) any Lender determines that any law has made it unlawful, or that any
Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for such Lender or its applicable Lending
Office to make, maintain or fund Loans whose interest is determined by reference to such
alternative rate of interest, or to determine or charge interest rates based upon such rate or any
Governmental Authority has imposed material restrictions on the authority of such Lender to do any
of the foregoing, and provides Administrative Agent, the other Lenders, and Administrative
Borrower written notice thereof.

(iii)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other
Loan Documents, if the Required Revolver Lenders, the Required Term Loan Lenders or
Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error)
that:

A. adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the SOFR Index Rate,
including, without limitation, because the SOFR Screen Rate is not available or published on a
current basis and such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary;

B. the administrator of the SOFR Screen Rate or a Governmental Authority having
jurisdiction over Administrative Agent or any Lender has made a public statement identifying a
specific date after which SOFR or the SOFR Screen Rate shall no longer be made available, or used
for determining the interest rate of loans (such specific date, the "Scheduled Unavailability Date");
or

C. syndicated loans currently being executed, or that include language similar to that
contained in this Section 2.02(e), are being executed or amended (as applicable) to incorporate or
adopt a new benchmark interest rate to replace SOFR,;

then, reasonably promptly after such determination by Administrative Agent, Required Revolver Lenders or
Required Term Loan Lenders, Administrative Agent, Required Lenders and Administrative Borrower may
amend this Agreement to replace SOFR with an alternate benchmark rate (including any mathematical or
other adjustments to the benchmark (if any) incorporated therein) (any such proposed rate, a "SOFR
Successor Rate"), together with any proposed SOFR Successor Rate Conforming Changes, and any such
amendment shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on the fifth (5th) Business Day after Administrative Agent
shall have notified all Lenders and Administrative Borrower of such proposed amendment unless
Administrative Borrower or Required Lenders shall have objected thereto by written notice to
Administrative Agent prior to such effective time. Such SOFR Successor Rate shall be applied in a manner
consistent with market practice; provided, that, to the extent such market practice is not administratively
feasible for Administrative Agent, such SOFR Successor Rate shall be applied in a manner as otherwise
reasonably determined by Administrative Agent.

@iv) If no SOFR Successor Rate has been determined and either the
circumstances under clause (iii)(A) above exist or the Scheduled Unavailability Date has occurred
(as applicable), Administrative Agent will promptly so notify Administrative Borrower and each
Lender in writing. Thereafter, (x) the obligation of the Lenders to make or maintain Loans based
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in the SOFR Index Rate shall be suspended (to the extent of the affected Loans), and (y) the SOFR
Index Rate component shall no longer be utilized in determining the Base Rate. Upon receipt of
such notice, Administrative Borrower may revoke any pending request for a Borrowing of Loans
based on the SOFR Index Rate (to the extent of the affected Loans).

W) Notwithstanding anything else herein, any definition of SOFR Successor
Rate shall provide that in no event shall such SOFR Successor Rate be less than the Floor for
purposes of this Agreement.
SECTION 2.03 PAYMENT AND PREPAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL.

Subject to the provisions hereof:

(a) Payment on Maturity Date. Borrowers shall repay in full (or Collateralize, as
applicable) the Credit Outstandings and all other outstanding Obligations on the Maturity Date.

(b) Voluntary Prepayments. Borrowers may voluntarily prepay the Outstanding
Amount of the Loans, in whole or in part, upon not less than three (3) Business Days' prior irrevocable
written notice by Administrative Borrower to the Administrative Agent (or such shorter period as the
Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, may otherwise agree); provided, that any prepayment of the
Term Loans shall be in a principal amount of not less than $2,500,000, or an integral multiple of $250,000
in excess thereof (or, if less, the entire Outstanding Amount of the Term Loans). In connection with any
voluntary prepayment of the Term Loans, Borrowers shall pay the sum of: (i) the Outstanding Amount of
the Term Loans being paid or prepaid; plus (ii) the Make-Whole Amount (if applicable); plus (iii) accrued
and unpaid interest (at the rate then applicable to the applicable Term Loans being prepaid) on the amounts
on the Outstanding Amount of the Loans being paid or prepaid. All prepayments of the Term Loans shall be
applied to the Outstanding Amount of the Term Loans. In connection with any such voluntary prepayment
of the Term Loans, each Borrower acknowledges that such prepayment may result in Lenders incurring
additional costs, expenses or liabilities, and that, as of the date hereof, it is difficult to ascertain the full
extent of such costs, expenses or liabilities. Accordingly, each Borrower agrees that the Make-Whole
Amount payable in connection with any such voluntary prepayment of the Term Loans, to the extent
applicable, represents a reasonable estimate of the costs, expenses or liabilities of Lenders in connection
with any such prepayment. Without affecting any of any Lending Party's rights and remedies hereunder or
in respect hereof, if a Borrower fails to pay the Make-Whole Amount (if applicable) when due, then the
amount thereof shall thereafter bear interest until paid in full at the Default Rate. Notwithstanding anything
herein to the contrary, Administrative Borrower may rescind any notice of prepayment under this
Section 2.03(b) if such prepayment would have resulted from a refinancing of the Loans or other contingent
transaction, which refinancing or transaction shall not be consummated or shall otherwise be delayed (in
which case, a new notice shall be required to be sent in connection with any subsequent prepayment). For
the avoidance of doubt, no Make-Whole Amount or other prepayment premium or penalty shall be payable
in connection with voluntary prepayments of Revolver Loans except to the extent accompanied by a
corresponding reduction in Revolver Commitments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no voluntary
prepayments in respect of the Term Loans shall be permitted to be made under this clause (b) prior to the
date that the Specified Prepayment has been made, and thereafter solely if the Payment Conditions are
satisfied.

(© Mandatory Prepayments.

@) Loss and Disposition Payments. In the event that Net Proceeds resulting

from
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(A) any Event of Loss or Disposition or series of Dispositions by Orion
or any Subsidiary thereof (other than any Disposition pursuant to Sections 7.05(b), (c), (d),
), (g), (), (§), and (k)) and (i) such Net Proceeds (other than Net Proceeds of any Event of
Loss) exceed, in the aggregate for all such Dispositions during the term of this Agreement,
and taken together with (but without duplication) all of the Net Proceeds received from the
Specified Sale Leaseback Transactions, $60,000,000 (the "Aggregate Loss and
Disposition Threshold Amount") and (ii) such Net Proceeds within any Fiscal Year
exceed, in the aggregate for all such Events of Loss and Dispositions in such Fiscal Year,
$500,000 (the "Annual Loss and Disposition Threshold Amount" and, together with the
Aggregate Loss and Disposition Threshold Amount, the "Loss and Disposition Threshold
Amounts"), promptly upon, and in any event within five (5) Business Days of, receipt of
such Net Proceeds, Borrowers shall prepay the Loans in an amount equal to the sum of:
(1) 100% of such Net Proceeds that exceed both Loss and Disposition Threshold Amounts
(in the case of the Annual Loss and Disposition Threshold Amount, in such Fiscal Year),
plus (2) solely with respect to Net Proceeds resulting from Dispositions (or series of
Dispositions) to the extent applied to prepay the Term Loans, the Make-Whole Amount, if
applicable, that would apply if such Net Proceeds were used by Borrowers to make a
voluntary prepayment of the Term Loans pursuant to Section 2.03(b). Such repayments
shall be applied (i) first, to repay Term Loans, until the Term Loan LTV Ratio, calculated on
a Pro Forma Basis to give effect to such Disposition or Event of Loss, is less than or equal
to 60%, (ii) second, to repay outstanding Revolver Loans so long as Liquidity is, or at any
time during the immediately preceding 60 consecutive calendar day period was, less than
$20,000,000, until Liquidity is equal to $20,000,000 and (iii) third, to repay Term Loans,
until the Term Loan LTV Ratio, calculated on a Pro Forma Basis to give effect to such
Disposition or Event of Loss, is less than or equal to 40%, and (iv) fourth, any then-
remaining sums shall be paid to the Borrowers. So long as (u) the Term Loan LTV Ratio,
calculated on a Pro Forma Basis to give effect to such Disposition or Event of Loss, is less
than or equal to 60%, (v) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and is
continuing or would result therefrom, (w) Administrative Borrower shall have given
Administrative Agent prior written notice (which shall include a description of the planned
reinvestment and certification by Administrative Borrower that such plan is realizable
within three hundred and sixty-five (365) days after the initial receipt of such monies) of
the applicable Loan Parties' intention to apply such monies to the costs of replacement of
the properties or assets that are the subject of such Disposition or Event of Loss or the cost
of purchase or construction of other assets useful in the business of Loan Parties, (x) the
monies are held in a Deposit Account in which Collateral Agent has a perfected first-
priority Lien until applied in accordance with this proviso, (y) the Loan Parties complete
such replacement, purchase, or construction within three hundred and sixty-five (365) days
after the initial receipt of such monies, and (z) the aggregate amount of any planned
reinvestments do not exceed when taken together with any other reinvestments made during
such Fiscal Year, $2,500,000 in the aggregate in any Fiscal Year, then the Loan Party whose
assets were the subject of such Disposition shall have the option to apply such monies to
the costs of replacement of the assets that are the subject of such Disposition or Event of
Loss or the costs of purchase or construction of other assets useful in the business of such
Loan Party unless and to the extent that such applicable period shall have expired without
such replacement, purchase, or construction being made or completed, in which case, any
amounts remaining in the Deposit Account referred to in clause (y) above shall be paid to
Agents and applied in accordance with this Section 2.03(c)(i)). Nothing contained in this
Section 2.03(c)(i) shall permit Loan Parties to sell or otherwise Dispose of any assets other
than in accordance with Section 7.05. In connection with any such prepayment of the Term
Loans pursuant to this Section 2.03(c)(i) requiring the payment of
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the Make-Whole Amount, each Borrower acknowledges that such prepayment may result in
Lenders incurring additional costs, expenses or liabilities, and that, as of the date hereof, it
is difficult to ascertain the full extent of such costs, expenses or liabilities. Accordingly,
each Borrower agrees that any applicable Make-Whole Amount payable in connection with
any such prepayment represents a reasonable estimate of the costs, expenses or liabilities of
Lenders in connection with any such prepayment. Without affecting any of any Lending
Party's rights and remedies hereunder or in respect hereof, if a Borrower fails to pay the
Make-Whole Amount when due, then the amount thereof shall thereafter bear interest until
paid in full at the Default Rate. The Administrative Borrower shall deliver to
Administrative Agent a Borrowing Base Report to the extent the assets subject to the Event
of Loss or Disposition giving rise to the mandatory prepayment had a value of $350,000 or
more, either individually or in the aggregate (based on the fair market value, or in the case
of Real Property, forced liquidation value, of the assets so disposed) and were included in
the most recently delivered Borrowing Base Report. For the avoidance of doubt no Make-
Whole Amount or other prepayment premium or penalty shall be payable in connection
with mandatory prepayments of Revolver Loans pursuant to this Section 2.03(c)(i).

3B) any Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transaction or other Event of
Loss, or any other issuance of any Equity Interest of Orion after the Closing Date, solely in
the event the Term Loan LTV Ratio, calculated on a Pro Forma Basis to give effect to such
Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transaction, Event of Loss or issuance of Equity Interests,
is greater than 60%, within five (5) Business Days of receipt of such Net Proceeds,
Borrowers shall prepay the Term Loans in an amount equal to the amount of such Net
Proceeds required to result in the Term Loan LTV Ratio, calculated on a Pro Forma Basis to
give effect to such Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transaction, Event of Loss or other
issuance of Equity Interests, to be less than or equal to 60%.

(ii) [Reserved]

(iii)  Payments in respect of Debt. Within five (5) Business Days after the date
of receipt by Loan Parties or their Subsidiaries of the Net Proceeds of any Debt incurred (other than
Debt permitted under Section 7.03), Borrowers shall prepay the Loans in an amount equal to the
sum of (A) the lesser of (1) 100% of such Net Proceeds received and (2) the Outstanding Amount of
the Loans plus (B) to the extent that such Net Proceeds are applied to prepay the Term Loans, the
Make-Whole Amount (if applicable) that would apply with respect to such prepayment if such Net
Proceeds were used by a Borrower to make a voluntary prepayment of the Term Loans pursuant to
Section 2.03(b). In connection with any such prepayment of the Term Loans pursuant to this
Section 2.03(c)(iii) requiring the payment of the Make-Whole Amount, each Borrower
acknowledges that such prepayment may result in Lenders incurring additional costs, expenses or
liabilities, and that, as of the date hereof, it is difficult to ascertain the full extent of such costs,
expenses or liabilities. Accordingly, each Borrower agrees that the Make-Whole Amount payable
in connection with any such prepayment represents a reasonable estimate of the costs, expenses or
liabilities of Lenders in connection with any such prepayment. Without affecting any of any
Lending Party's rights and remedies hereunder or in respect hereof, if a Borrower fails to pay the
Make-Whole Amount when due, then the amount thereof shall thereafter bear interest until paid in
full at the Default Rate. Such repayments shall be applied (w) first, to repay Term Loans, until the
Term Loan LTV Ratio is less than or equal to 60%, (x) second, to repay outstanding Revolver
Loans, so long as Liquidity is, or at any time during the immediately preceding 60 consecutive
calendar day period was, less than $20,000,000, until Liquidity is equal to $20,000,000 (z) third, to
repay Term Loans, until the Term Loan LTV Ratio is less than or equal to 40%, and (z)) then-
remaining sums shall be paid to the Borrowers. The provisions of this Section 2.03(c)(iii) shall not
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be deemed to be implied consent to any incurrence of Debt otherwise prohibited by the terms of this
Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt no Make-Whole Amount or other prepayment premium or
penalty shall be payable in connection with mandatory prepayments of Revolver Loans pursuant to
this Section 2.03(c)(iii).

@iv) Curative Equity. On the date of receipt by a Borrower of the proceeds of
any Curative Equity pursuant to Section 8.03, such Borrower shall prepay an aggregate principal
amount of the Loans in an amount equal to 100% of such proceeds of Curative Equity to be applied
by Administrative Agent (x) first, to the outstanding Term Loans and (y) second, to the Revolver
Loans. For the avoidance of doubt, no Make-Whole Amount or other prepayment premium or
penalty shall be due and owing in connection with mandatory prepayments of Revolver Loans
pursuant to this Section 2.03(e)(iv).

W) Overadvance. If a Revolver Overadvance exists at any time, each
Borrower shall, subject to Section 2.01(b)(iv), on the sooner of Administrative Agent's demand or
the first Business Day after such Borrower has knowledge thereof, repay Revolver Loans and/or
Collateralize outstanding Letters of Credit (or any combination thereof) in an amount sufficient to
reduce Revolver Usage to the then current Revolver Borrowing Base.

(vi) Term Loan Overadvance. If a Term Loan Overadvance exists at any time,
each Borrower shall, subject to Section 2.01(a)(v), on the sooner of Administrative Agent's demand
or the first Business Day after such Borrower has knowledge thereof, repay the Term Loans in an
amount sufficient to reduce the Outstanding Amount of the Term Loan to the then current Term
Loan Borrowing Base.

(vii)  Specified Prepayment. On or prior to the earlier of (i) the date that is 210
days from the Closing Date and (ii) the date that is three (3) Business Days after (and in any event,
promptly) after receipt of Net Proceeds in respect of the East and West Jones Sale, the Borrowers
shall make one or more mandatory prepayments of the Term Loans (collectively, the "Specified
Prepayment") designated by Borrowers to be in respect of the prepayment required by this Section
2.03(c)(vii) (and not in respect of any other mandatory prepayment required by this Section
2.03(c)) in increments of not less than $1,000,000 for any Specified Prepayment, and in an
aggregate amount for all Specified Prepayments equal to $15,000,000 (which shall not be subject to
the payment of the Make-Whole Amount).

(d) [Reserved.]

(e) Payments Under Certain Circumstances. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, upon the (i) prepayment of all or any part of the principal balance of the Term Loan
pursuant to Section 2.03(b), (ii) prepayment of all or any part of the principal balance of the Term Loan
pursuant to Section 2.03(c)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (vi), or (iii) any reduction or the termination of the Revolver
Commitments, (iv) in the event of any payment of principal on the Revolver Loans made, required to be
made or deemed to be made in connection with any repricing, refinancing or replacement of any Revolver
Loans through any waiver, consent or amendment, in each case prior to the Revolver Commitment
Termination Date, or (v) the acceleration of the Obligations or any portion thereof prior to the Maturity Date
as a result of or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, including in the event that the Obligations or
any portion thereof are satisfied or released by foreclosure (whether by power of judicial proceeding), deed
in lieu of foreclosure or by other similar means (each of clauses (i) through (v) referred to herein as a
"Prepayment Event"; provided that the foregoing clauses (i) through (iv) shall only be deemed to be a
Prepayment Event to the extent the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loans and Revolving
Commitments has been reduced to less than $55,000,000, then, in view of the impracticability and extreme
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difficulty of ascertaining the actual amount of damages to the Lenders or profits lost by the Lenders as a
result of such Prepayment Event, and by mutual agreement of the parties as to a reasonable estimation and
calculation of the lost profits or damages of the Lenders, each Borrower agrees to pay to Administrative
Agent, for the pro rata benefit of all of the Lenders entitled to a portion of the principal amount of the Term
Loan subject to such Prepayment Event, and each Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for
the pro rata benefit of the Revolver Lenders entitled to a portion of the principal amount of the Revolver
Loans subject to such Prepayment Event, in immediately available funds, measured as of the date of the
occurrence of such Prepayment Event, the applicable Make-Whole Amount. The Make-Whole payable in
accordance with the immediately preceding sentence shall be presumed to be the liquidated damages
sustained by each Lender as the result of the early termination, and each Borrower agrees that it is
reasonable under the circumstances. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is understood and
agreed that, as set forth in clauses (iii), (iv) and (v) of the definition of "Prepayment Event", if the Revolver
Commitments are reduced or terminated, if all or any portion of the Obligations are accelerated prior to the
third anniversary of the Closing Date as a result of or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Make-
Whole Amount, determined as of the date of acceleration or the reduction or termination of the Revolver
Commitments, as applicable, will also be due and payable as though said Obligations were voluntarily
prepaid and the Revolver Commitments were terminated as of such date and shall constitute part of the
Obligations. The Make-Whole Amount shall also be payable in the event the Obligations are satisfied or
released by foreclosure (whether by power of judicial proceeding), deed in lieu of foreclosure, or by any
other similar means. Each Borrower expressly agrees that: (A) the Make-Whole Amount is reasonable and
is the product of an arm's length transaction between sophisticated parties, ably represented by counsel, (B)
the Make-Whole Amount shall be payable notwithstanding the then prevailing market rates at the time
payment is made, (C) there has been a course of conduct between Lenders and Borrowers giving specific
consideration in this transaction for such agreement to pay the Make-Whole Amount and (D) Borrowers
shall be estopped hereafter from claiming differently than as agreed to in this paragraph. Each Borrower
expressly acknowledges that its agreement to pay the Make-Whole Amount as herein described is a material
inducement to the Lenders to provide the Commitment and make the Loans. Without affecting any of any
Lender's rights and remedies hereunder or in respect hereof, if a Borrower fails to pay the applicable Make-
Whole Amount when due, then the amount thereof shall thereafter bear interest until paid in full at the
Default Rate.

® [Reserved].

(8 Notice of Payments. Borrower shall provide written notice of any payments made
pursuant to Section 2.03(c) by 12:00 p.m. (noon) one (1) Business Day prior to the proposed prepayment
date, which notice shall state pursuant to which paragraph of Section 2.03(c) or (d) the prepayment is being
made.

SECTION 2.04 CERTAIN FEES.

(a) Unused Line Fee. Administrative Borrower shall pay to Administrative Agent, for
the ratable account of the Revolver Lenders, an unused line fee (the "Unused Line Fee") in an amount
equal to 0.50% per annum times the result of (i) the aggregate amount of the Revolver Commitments, less
(ii) the Revolver Usage during the immediately preceding month (or portion thereof), which Unused Line
Fee shall be due and payable, in arrears, on the first day of each month from and after the Closing Date up
to the first day of the month prior to the date on which the Obligations are paid in full and on the date on
which the Obligations are paid in full.

(b) Fees Generally. Without limiting any other provision set forth in this Agreement,

Borrowers shall also pay to Administrative Agent, for its own account, fees in the amounts and at the times
specified in the applicable Fee Letters.
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(o) Letter of Credit Fees and Expenses. Borrowers agree to pay to Administrative
Agent, for the benefit of Revolver Lenders, as compensation to such Lenders for Obligations in respect of
Letters of Credit incurred hereunder, (i) all costs and expenses Administrative Agent or any Revolver
Lender is required to reimburse any Issuing Bank in respect of any Letter of Credit and all other reasonable
costs and expenses incurred by Administrative Agent or any Revolver Lender on account of such Letter of
Credit Obligations, and (ii) for each month during which any Letter of Credit Obligation shall remain
outstanding, a fee (the "Letter of Credit Fee") in an amount equal to (A) a per annum rate equal to the
Applicable Margin in effect during such month applicable to Revolving Loans multiplied by (B) the
maximum amount available from time to time to be drawn under the applicable Letter of Credit for the
period of time such Letter of Credit is outstanding; provided, that no Letter of Credit Fee shall accrue for
the benefit of a Defaulting Lender described in clauses (a) or (b) of the definition thereof so long as such
Revolver Lender shall be a Defaulting Lender. Such fee shall be paid to Administrative Agent, for the
benefit of the Revolver Lenders, in arrears, on the last Business Day of each Fiscal Month. In addition,
Borrowers shall pay to any Issuing Bank, promptly, such customary reasonable fees (including all per
annum fees and fronting fees), charges and out-of-pocket expenses of such Issuing Bank in respect of the
issuance, negotiation, acceptance, amendment, transfer and payment of such Letter of Credit or otherwise
payable pursuant to, and in accordance with, the application and related documentation under which such
Letter of Credit is issued.

SECTION 2.05 LETTERS OF CREDIT.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and during the term of this
Agreement, Administrative Agent, upon the request of Administrative Borrower, shall cause an Issuing
Bank to issue for the account of any Borrower Letters of Credit of a tenor and containing terms acceptable
to Administrative Agent and the applicable Issuing Bank, in a maximum aggregate face amount outstanding
at any time not to exceed the Letter of Credit Sublimit; provided that, (i) Administrative Agent shall have no
obligation to cause to be issued any Letter of Credit with an expiration date after the Maturity Date or if
after giving effect to the requested issuance Letter of Credit Usage would exceed the Letter of Credit
Sublimit and (ii) if a Letter of Credit is issued with an expiration date after the Maturity Date, Borrowers
shall Collateralize such Letter of Credit in full immediately. The term of any Letter of Credit shall not
exceed three hundred sixty (360) days from the date of issuance, subject to renewal in accordance with the
terms thereof, but in no event to a date beyond the Maturity Date. All Letters of Credit shall be subject to
be included in calculating outstanding amounts for purposes of determining compliance with
Section 2.03(c)(v). Upon any Letter of Credit Disbursement, the amount of such Letter of Credit
Disbursement for all purposes under this Agreement shall become and be deemed to be, without any further
action on the part of any Person, a Revolver Loan made by Revolver Lenders on the date of such Letter of
Credit Disbursement (but without any requirement for compliance with the conditions precedent to the
making of Revolver Loans contained in this Agreement).

(b) Whenever Administrative Borrower desires the issuance of a Letter of Credit,
Administrative Borrower shall deliver to Administrative Agent a written notice no later than 9:00 a.m. at
least ten (10) Business Days in advance of the proposed date of issuance of a letter of credit request in a
form reasonably agreed by Administrative Borrower and Administrative Agent (a "Letter of Credit
Request"). The transmittal by Administrative Borrower of each Letter of Credit Request shall be deemed to
be a representation and warranty by Borrowers that the Letter of Credit may be issued in accordance with
and will not violate any of the requirements of this Section 2.05. Prior to the date of issuance of each Letter
of Credit, Administrative Borrower shall provide to Administrative Agent a precise description of the
documents and the text of any certificate to be presented by the beneficiary of such Letter of Credit which,
if presented by such beneficiary on or prior to the expiration date of such Letter of Credit, would require the
issuing bank to make payment under such Letter of Credit. Administrative Agent, in its reasonable
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judgment, may require changes in any such documents and certificates. No Letter of Credit shall require
payment against a conforming draft to be made thereunder prior to the second Business Day after the date
on which such draft is presented.

(© Upon any Letter of Credit Disbursement, (i) Administrative Borrower shall be
deemed to have timely given a Borrowing Request to Administrative Agent for a Revolver Loan on the date
on which such drawing is honored in an amount equal to the amount of such Letter of Credit Disbursement
and (ii) without regard to satisfaction of the applicable conditions specified in Section 4.02 and the other
terms and conditions of borrowings contained herein, Revolver Lenders shall, on the date of such drawing,
make a Revolver Loan (in accordance with their Percentage Shares) in the amount of such Letter of Credit
Disbursement, the proceeds of which shall be applied directly by Administrative Agent to reimburse the
applicable Issuing Bank for the amount of such Letter of Credit Disbursement.

(d By the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or an amendment or extension of a Letter of
Credit) and without any further action on the part of Issuing Bank or Revolver Lenders, Issuing Bank shall
be deemed to have granted to each Revolver Lender, and each Revolver Lender shall be deemed to have
purchased, a participation in each Letter of Credit issued by Issuing Bank, in an amount equal to its
Percentage Share of such Letter of Credit, and each such Revolver Lender agrees to pay to Administrative
Agent, for the account of Issuing Bank, such Revolver Lender's Percentage Share of any Letter of Credit
Disbursement made by Issuing Bank under the applicable Letter of Credit. In consideration and in
furtherance of the foregoing, each Revolver Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees to pay to
Administrative Agent, for the account of Issuing Bank, such Revolver Lender's Percentage Share of each
Letter of Credit Disbursement made by Issuing Bank and not reimbursed by Borrowers in accordance with
the terms of this Agreement, or of any reimbursement payment that is required to be refunded (or that
Administrative Agent or Issuing Bank elects, based upon the advice of counsel, to refund) to Borrowers for
any reason. Each Revolver Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to deliver to Administrative
Agent, for the account of Issuing Bank, an amount equal to its respective Percentage Share of each Letter of
Credit Disbursement pursuant to this Section 2.05(d) shall be absolute and unconditional and such
remittance shall be made notwithstanding the occurrence or continuation of an Event of Default or Default
or the failure to satisfy any condition set forth in Section 4. If any such Revolver Lender fails to make
available to Administrative Agent the amount of such Revolver Lender's Percentage Share of a Letter of
Credit Disbursement as provided in this Section, such Revolver Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting
Lender and Administrative Agent (for the account of Issuing Bank) shall be entitled to recover such amount
on demand from such Revolver Lender together with interest thereon at the Base Rate until paid in full.

(e) As between Borrowers and any Lending Party, Borrowers assume all risks of the
acts and omissions of such Lending Party and the applicable Issuing Bank (other than for the gross
negligence or willful misconduct of such Lending Party or such Issuing Bank) or misuse of the Letters of
Credit by the respective beneficiaries of such Letters of Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the
foregoing, Lending Parties shall not be responsible (i) for the accuracy, genuineness or legal effects of any
document submitted by any party in connection with the application for and issuance of or any drawing
honored under such Letters of Credit even if it should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid,
inaccurate, fraudulent or forged, (ii) for the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or
assigning or purporting to transfer or assign any such Letter of Credit, or the rights or benefits thereunder or
proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, (iii) for
errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of any messages, by mail, cable,
telegraph, telex, telecopy or otherwise, whether or not they be in cipher, (iv) for errors in interpretation of
technical terms, (v) for any loss or delay in the transmission or otherwise of any document required to make
a drawing under any such Letter of Credit, or of the proceeds thereof, (vi) for the misapplication by the
beneficiary of any such Letter of Credit, of the proceeds of any drawing honored under such Letter of
Credit, and (vii) for any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of the issuing bank or the
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applicable Lender; provided that, the foregoing shall not release any Lending Party or the applicable Issuing
Bank for any liability for its gross negligence or willful misconduct. None of the above shall affect, impair,
or prevent the vesting of any of Lending Parties' rights or powers hereunder. Any action taken or omitted to
be taken by any Lending Party under or in connection with any Letter of Credit, if taken or omitted in the
absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Lending Party, shall not create any liability of
any Lending Party to Borrowers.

® The obligations of Borrowers to reimburse Administrative Agent and Revolver
Lenders for drawings honored under the Letters of Credit shall be unconditional and irrevocable and shall
be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under all circumstances including, without
limitation, the following circumstances: (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any
Letter of Credit, any Letter of Credit Agreement or any other agreement or instrument relating thereto;
(ii) the existence of any claim, setoff, defense or other right which any Borrower or any Affiliate of any
Borrower may have at any time against a beneficiary or any transferee of any Letter of Credit (or any
Persons or entities for whom any such beneficiary or transferee may be acting), any Agent, any Lender or
any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, the transactions
contemplated herein or therein or any unrelated transaction; (iii) any draft, demand, certificate or other
documents presented under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or invalid in any respect or
any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect; (iv) the surrender or impairment of any
security for the performance or observance of any of the terms of any of the Loan Documents; (v) failure of
any drawing under a Letter of Credit or any non-application or misapplication by the beneficiary of the
proceeds of any drawing; or (vi) that a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

SECTION 2.06  MANNER OF PAYMENTS.

(a) Invoices. Administrative Agent agrees to provide Administrative Borrower with an
invoice setting forth the Outstanding Amount of the Loans and stating the amount of interest due on any
Interest Payment Date in reasonable detail; provided that (i) no Agent shall have liability for failing to do so
and (ii) any failure by any Agent to provide any such invoice shall not affect Administrative Borrower's (or
any other Loan Party's) obligation to pay when due any amounts owing hereunder in accordance with the
provisions hereof.

(b) Payments on Business Days. If any payment hereunder becomes due and payable
on a day (including an Interest Payment Date) that is not a Business Day, then such due date shall be
extended to the next succeeding Business Day; provided that interest and fees shall continue to accrue
during the period of any such extension.

(o) Computations. All interest and fees owing hereunder shall be computed on the
basis of a year of 360 days and calculated in each case for the actual number of days elapsed.

(d) Evidence of Debt. The Credit Extensions made by each Lender shall be evidenced
by one or more accounts or records maintained by such Lender and by Administrative Agent in the ordinary
course of business. The accounts or records maintained by Administrative Agent and each Lender shall be
conclusive absent manifest error of the amount of the Credit Extensions made by Lenders to Borrowers and
the interest and payments thereon. Any failure to so record or any error in doing so shall not, however, limit
or otherwise affect the obligation of Borrowers hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to the
Obligations. If any conflict exists between the accounts and records maintained by any Lender and the
accounts and records of Administrative Agent in respect of such matters, the accounts and records of
Administrative Agent shall control in the absence of manifest error. Upon the request of any Lender,
Borrowers shall execute and deliver to such Lender a Note, which shall evidence such Lender's Loans in
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addition to such accounts or records. Each Lender may attach schedules to its Note and endorse thereon the
date, amount and maturity of its Loans and payments with respect thereto.

SECTION 2.07 INCREASED COSTS.
(a) Increased Costs Generally. If any Change in Law shall:

@) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit,
compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the
account of, or credit extended or participated in by, any Lender;

(ii) subject any Lending Party to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes
or (B) Excluded Taxes) on any Credit Extension made by it, its Commitment or other obligations;
or

(ili)  impose on any Lender any other condition, cost or expense (other than
Taxes) affecting this Agreement and the Loans made by such Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lending Party of making,
converting to, continuing or maintaining any Loan or to increase the cost to such Lending Party, or to
reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lending Party hereunder (whether of
principal, interest or any other amount), then, upon request of such Lending Party, Borrowers shall pay to
such Lending Party such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lending Party for such
additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) Capital Requirements. If any Lender determines that any Change in Law affecting
such Lender or such Lender's holding company, if any, regarding capital requirements has or would have the
effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender's capital or on the capital of such Lender's holding
company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement, the Commitments of such Lender or the Credit
Extensions made by such Lender to a level below that which such Lender or such Lender's holding
company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration such Lender's policies
and the policies of such Lender's holding company with respect to capital adequacy), then from time to time
Borrowers shall pay to such Lender, as the case may be, such additional amount or amounts as will
compensate such Lender or such Lender's holding company for any such reduction suffered.

(© Certificates for Reimbursement. A certificate of a Lender setting forth the amount
or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, as specified in
subsection (a) or (b) of this Section 2.07, as well as the basis for determining such amount or amounts, and
delivered to Administrative Borrower shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Administrative shall pay
such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within ten (10) Business Days after receipt
thereof.

(d) Delay _in Requests. Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand
compensation pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.07 shall not constitute a waiver of such
Lender's right to demand such compensation, provided that Borrowers shall not be required to compensate a
Lender pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.07 for any reductions suffered more than nine
(9) months prior to the date that such Lender notifies Administrative Borrower of the Change in Law giving
rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender's intention to claim compensation therefor
(except that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the
nine (9) month period referred to in this subsection (d) shall be extended to include the period of retroactive
effect thereof)
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(e) Survival. All obligations of each Loan Party under this Section 2.07 shall survive
termination of the Commitments and the payment in full of all other Obligations.

SECTION 2.08 PAYMENTS FREE OF TAXES.

(a) Payments Free of Taxes. Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation
of any Loan Party under any Loan Document shall be made free and clear of and without reduction or
withholding for any Taxes, except as required by applicable Laws. If any applicable Law (as determined in
the good faith discretion of an applicable Withholding Agent) requires the deduction or withholding of any
Tax from any such payment, then the applicable Withholding Agent shall be entitled to make such deduction
or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental
Authority in accordance with applicable Laws and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable
by the applicable Loan Party shall be increased as necessary so that, after such deduction or withholding has
been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this
Section 2.08), the applicable Lending Party receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had
no such deduction or withholding been made.

(b) Payment of Other Taxes. Each Loan Party shall timely pay to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable Laws, or, at the option of any Agent, timely
reimburse it for the payment of, any Other Taxes.

(o) Indemnification by Loan Parties. The Loan Parties shall jointly and severally
indemnify each Lending Party, within ten (10) days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of any
Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to the amounts
payable under this Section 2.08) payable or paid by such Lending Party or required to be withheld or
deducted from a payment to such Lending Party and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with
respect thereto (including reasonable attorneys' fees and tax advisors' fees and expenses), other than any
penalties, interest and expenses resulting solely from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such
Lending Party (as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by a final and non-appealable judgment),
whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant
Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to a Borrower
by any such Lending Party (with a copy to Administrative Agent), or by any Agent on its own behalf or on
behalf of such Lending Party, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(d) Indemnification by Lenders. Each Lender hereby agrees to severally indemnify
each Agent, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such
Lender (but only to the extent that any Loan Party has not already indemnified such Agent for such
Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of any Loan Party to do so), (ii) any Taxes
attributable to such Lender's failure to comply with the provisions of Section 10.06(d) relating to the
maintenance of a Participant Register and (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case,
that are payable or paid by an Agent in connection with any Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses
arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or
asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability
delivered to any Lender by Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender
hereby authorizes each Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender
under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by any Agent to such Lender from any other source against
any amount due to such Agent under this Section 2.08(d).

(e) Evidence of Payments; Treatment of Payments. As soon as practicable after any
payment of Taxes by any Loan Party to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.08, such Loan
Party shall deliver to Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such

68




Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other
evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent.

® Status of Lending Parties.

@) Any Lender which is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of
withholding Tax with respect to payments made under any Loan Document shall deliver to
Administrative Agent and Administrative Borrower, at the time or times reasonably requested by
Administrative Agent or Administrative Borrower, such properly completed and executed
documentation reasonably requested by any Agent or Administrative Borrower as will permit such
payments to be made without withholding Tax or at a reduced rate of withholding Tax. In addition,
any Lender, if reasonably requested by any Agent or Administrative Borrower, shall deliver such
other documentation prescribed by applicable Laws or reasonably requested by any Agent or
Administrative Borrower as will enable Administrative Agent or Borrower to determine whether or
not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution
and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Section 2.08(f)
(ii)(A), (ii)(B) and (ii)(D)) shall not be required if, in such Lender's reasonable judgment, such
completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost
or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.

(ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(A) any Lender that is not a Foreign Lender shall deliver to
Administrative Agent and Administrative Borrower on or prior to the date on which such
Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of Administrative Agent and Borrower), executed valid copies of IRS
Form W-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax;

(B) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do
so, deliver to Administrative Agent and Administrative Borrower (in such number of copies
as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender
becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of Administrative Agent or Borrower), whichever of the following is
applicable:

1 in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an
income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (I) with respect to payments
of interest under any Loan Document, executed valid copies of IRS Form W-8BEN
or W-8BEN-E establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal
withholding Tax pursuant to the "interest" article of such tax treaty and (II) with
respect to any other applicable payments under any Loan Document, executed valid
copies of IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E establishing an exemption from, or
reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the "business profits" or
"other income" article of such tax treaty;

) executed valid copies of IRS Form W-8ECI;

3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the
exemption for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Code, (I) a
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certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit E-1 to the effect that such Foreign
Lender is not a "bank" within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a
"10 percent shareholder" of Borrowers within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B)
of the Code, or a "controlled foreign corporation” described in Section 881(c)(3)(C)
of the Code (a "U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate") and (IT) executed valid copies
of IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E; or

4) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the beneficial owner,
executed valid copies of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by IRS Form W-8ECI,
IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially
in the form of Exhibit E-2 or Exhibit E-3, IRS Form W-9, and/or other
certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that, if
the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners of
such Foreign Lender are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign
Lender may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of
Exhibit E-4 on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;

©) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do
so, deliver to Agent and Administrative Borrower (in such number of copies as shall be
requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a
Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request
of Administrative Agent or Borrower), executed copies of any other form prescribed by
applicable Laws as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S. federal
withholding Tax, duly completed, together with such supplementary documentation as may
be prescribed by applicable Laws to permit Administrative Agent and Borrower to
determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and

(D) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would
be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail
to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained
in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to
Administrative Agent and Administrative Borrower at the time or times prescribed by law
and at such time or times reasonably requested by v Agent or Administrative Borrower such
documentation prescribed by applicable Laws (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)
(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by any
Agent or Borrower as may be necessary for Administrative Agent or Borrower to comply
with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with
such Lender's obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold
from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (D), "FATCA" shall include any
amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

(iii)  Administrative Agent and any successor Administrative Agent that is a

U.S. Person shall deliver to the Administrative Borrower (in such number as shall be requested by
the recipient) executed copies of the Internal Revenue Service Form W-9, or any subsequent
versions or successors to such form, certifying that it is exempt from U.S. federal backup
withholding. Administrative Agent and any successor Administrative Agent that is not a U.S.
Person shall deliver to Administrative Borrower (in such number as shall be requested by the
recipient) executed copies of Internal Revenue Service Form W-8IMY certifying that it is a “U.S.
branch” and that the payments are not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business
in the United States and that it is using such form as evidence of its agreement with the Loan Parties
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to be treated as a U.S. Person with respect to such payments (and the Loan Parties and the Agent
agree to so treat the Agent as a U.S. Person with respect to such payments as contemplated by
Treasury Regulations Section 1.1441-1(b)(2)(iv)(A)).

Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or
inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify Agent and
Administrative Borrower in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(8 Treatment of Certain Refunds. If any party determines, in its sole discretion
exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified
pursuant to this Section 2.08 (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this
Section 2.08), it shall, subject to Section 8.02, pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such
refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section 2.08 with respect to the Taxes
giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such indemnified party
incurred in obtaining such refund and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant
Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such
indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this
subsection (g) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental
Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental
Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this subsection (g), in no event will the indemnified
party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this subsection (g) the payment of
which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the indemnified
party would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been
deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts with
respect to such Tax had never been paid. This subsection (g) shall not be construed to require any
indemnified party to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it
deems confidential) to the indemnifying party or any other Person.

(h) Survival. All obligations of each Loan Party under this Section 2.08 shall survive
the resignation or replacement of an Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender,
the termination of the Commitments, and the payment in full of all other Obligations.

SECTION 2.09 SHARING OF PAYMENTS.

If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff, recoupment or counterclaim or otherwise,
obtain payment in respect of any Credit Outstandings or accrued and unpaid interest thereon resulting in
such Lender receiving payment of a proportion of the Credit Outstandings or accrued and unpaid interest
thereon greater than its Percentage Share (or other applicable share) thereof as provided herein, then such
Lender receiving such greater proportion shall: (a) notify Administrative Agent of such fact; and
(b) purchase (for cash at face value) participations in that portion of the Credit Outstandings or accrued and
unpaid interest thereon held by the other Applicable Lenders, or make such other adjustments as shall be
equitable, so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with
their respective Percentage Shares thereof; provided that: (i) if any such participations are purchased and all
or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the
purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest; and (ii) the provisions of this
Section 2.09 shall not be construed to apply to: (A) any payment made by a Borrower pursuant to and in
accordance with the express terms of this Agreement; or (B) any payment obtained by a Lender as
consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any portion of the Credit Outstandings held
by it to any assignee or participant, other than to any Loan Party (as to which the provisions of this
Section 2.09 shall apply).
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Each Loan Party consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under
applicable Laws, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may,
except to the extent otherwise specified in such Lender's participation agreement, exercise against such
Loan Party rights of setoff, recoupment and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if
such Lender were a direct creditor of such Loan Party in the amount of such participation.

SECTION 2.10 PAYMENTS GENERALLY.

(a) Payments Generally. All payments to be made by any Loan Party hereunder shall
be made without condition or deduction for any counterclaim, defense, recoupment or setoff. Except as
otherwise expressly provided herein, all payments by any Loan Party hereunder shall be made to
Administrative Agent, for the account of Administrative Agent, the Lenders or such other parties to which
such payment is owed, at such Agent's Office in Dollars and in immediately available funds not later
than 11:00 a.m. on the date specified herein. In the case of any payment for the account of the Lenders,
Administrative Agent will promptly distribute to each Lender its applicable Percentage Share (or other
applicable share as provided herein) of such payment in like funds as received by wire transfer to such
Lender's Lending Office. All payments received by Administrative Agent after 11:00 a.m. may, in such
Agent's discretion, be deemed received on the next succeeding Business Day and any applicable interest or
fee shall continue to accrue.

(b) Clawback Rights.

@) Unless Administrative Agent shall have received notice from a Lender
prior to the proposed date of the making of the Loans that such Lender will not make available to
Administrative Agent such Lender's share thereof, such Agent may assume that such Lender has
made such share available on such date in accordance with Section 2.01 and may, in reliance upon
such assumption, make available to each Borrower a corresponding amount. In such event, if a
Lender has not in fact made its share of the Loans available to Administrative Agent, then the
Applicable Lender, on the one hand, and each Borrower, on the other hand, each severally agrees to
pay to such Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount in immediately available funds
with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is made available to such Borrower to
the date of payment to such Agent, at: (A) in the case of a payment to be made by such Lender, the
Federal Funds Rate; and (B) in the case of a payment to be made by a Borrower, the interest rate
applicable to the Loans. If Borrowers and such Lender shall pay such interest to Administrative
Agent for the same or an overlapping period, such Agent shall promptly remit to the applicable
Borrower the amount of such interest paid by such Borrower for such period. If such Lender pays
its share of the Loans to such Agent, then the amount so paid shall constitute such Lender's Loans
included within all Loans. Any payment by a Borrower shall be without prejudice to any claim
such Borrower may have against a Lender that shall have failed to make such payment to such
Agent.

(ii) Unless Administrative Agent shall have received notice from a Borrower
prior to the date on which any payment is due hereunder to such Agent for the account of Lenders
that such Borrower will not make such payment, such Agent may assume that such Borrower has
made such payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such
assumption, distribute to Lenders the amount due. In such event, if such Borrower has not in fact
made such payment, then each Lender severally agrees to repay to such Agent forthwith on demand
the amount so distributed to such Lender in immediately available funds with interest thereon, for
each day from the date such amount is distributed to it to the date of payment to such Agent, at the
Federal Funds Rate. A notice of Administrative Agent to any Lender or a Borrower with respect to
any amount owing under this subsection (b) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.
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(o) Failure to Satisfy Conditions Precedent. If any Lender makes available to
Administrative Agent funds for any Loan to be made by such Lender as provided in the foregoing
provisions of this Article I1, and such funds are not made available to Borrowers by such Agent because the
conditions to the applicable Credit Extension set forth in Article IV are not satisfied or waived in
accordance with the terms hereof, then such Agent shall promptly return such funds (in like funds as
received from such Lender) to such Lender, without interest.

(d) Obligations of Lenders Several. The obligations of Lenders hereunder to make
Loans and to make payments under Section 10.04(c) are several and not joint. The failure of any Lender to
make any Loans or to make any payment under Section 10.04(c) on any date required hereunder shall not
relieve any other Lender of its corresponding obligation to do so on such date, and no Lender shall be
responsible for the failure of any other Lender to so make its Loans or to make its payments under
Section 10.04(c).

(e) Funding Sources. Nothing herein shall be deemed to obligate any Lender to obtain
the funds for any Loan in any particular place or manner or to constitute a representation by any Lender that
it has obtained or will obtain the funds for any Loan in any particular place or manner.

SECTION 2.11 MITIGATION OBLIGATIONS; REPLACEMENT OF LENDERS.

(a) Designation of a Different Lending Office. If any Lender requests compensation
under Section 2.07, or requires the Loan Parties to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any
Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.08, then such
Lender shall (at the request of the Loan Parties) use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office
for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its
offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would
eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.07 or 2.08, as the case may be, in the future, and
(i) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be
disadvantageous to such Lender. The Loan Parties hereby agree to pay all reasonable costs and expenses
incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

(b) Replacement of Lenders. If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.07,
or if the Loan Parties are required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any Lender or any
Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.08 and, in each case, such
Lender has declined or is unable to designate a different lending office in accordance with paragraph (a) of
this Section, or if any Lender is a Non-Consenting Lender, then the Loan Parties may, at their sole expense
and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Agents, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without
recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in, and consents required by,
Section 10.06), all of its interests, rights (other than its existing rights to payments pursuant to Section 2.07
or Section 2.08) and obligations under this Agreement and the related Loan Documents to an Eligible
Assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts
such assignment); provided that:

@) the Loan Parties shall have paid to the Administrative Agent the assignment
fee (if any) specified in Section 10.06;

(ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the
outstanding principal of its Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts
payable to it hereunder and under the other Loan Documents from the assignee (to the extent of
such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Loan Parties (in the case of all other
amounts), together with the Make-Whole Amount with respect thereto;
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(iii)  in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation
under Section 2.07 or payments required to be made pursuant to Section 2.08, such assignment will
result in a reduction in such compensation or payments thereafter;

@iv) such assignment does not conflict with applicable Law; and

W) in the case of any assignment resulting from a Lender becoming a Non-
Consenting Lender, the applicable assignee shall have consented to the applicable amendment,
waiver or consent.

A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment or delegation if, prior thereto, as a
result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Loan Parties to require such
assignment and delegation cease to apply.

SECTION 2.12 NATURE AND EXTENT OF LIABILITY.

(a) Joint and Several Liability. Each Borrower agrees that it is jointly and severally
liable for, and absolutely and unconditionally guarantees to the Secured Parties, all Obligations and all
agreements under the Loan Documents. Each Borrower agrees that its guaranty obligations under the Loan
Documents constitute a continuing guaranty of payment and not of collection, that such obligations shall not
be discharged until the Maturity Date, and that such obligations are absolute and unconditional, irrespective
of (i) the genuineness, validity, regularity, enforceability, subordination or any future modification of, or
change in, any Obligations or Loan Document, or any other document, instrument or agreement to which
any Loan Party or Subsidiary thereof is or may become a party or be bound; (ii) the absence of any action to
enforce this Agreement (including this Section) or any other Loan Document, or any waiver, consent or
indulgence of any kind by any Agent or any Lender with respect thereto; (iii) the existence, value or
condition of, or failure to perfect a Lien or to preserve rights against, any security or guaranty for the
Obligations or any action, or the absence of any action, by any Agent or any Lender in respect thereof
(including the release of any security or guaranty); (iv) the insolvency of any Loan Party or Subsidiary
thereof; (v) any election by any Agent or any Lender in proceeding under Bankruptcy Laws for the
application of Section 1111(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code or similar provisions under other Bankruptcy
Laws; (vi) any borrowing or grant of a Lien by any other Loan Party or Subsidiary thereof, as debtor-in-
possession under Section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code or similar provisions under other Bankruptcy Laws,
or otherwise; (vii) the disallowance of any claims of any Agent or any Lender against any Loan Party or
Subsidiary thereof for the repayment of any Obligations under Section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code, or
similar provision under other Bankruptcy Laws, or otherwise; or (viii) any other action or circumstances
that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor, except
Payment in Full on the Maturity Date.

(b) Waivers.

@) Each Borrower expressly waives all rights that it may have now or in the
future under any statute, at common law, in equity or otherwise, to compel any Agent or Lenders to
marshal assets or to proceed against any Loan Party, other Person or security for the payment or
performance of any Obligations before, or as a condition to, proceeding against such Borrower.

Each Borrower waives all defenses available to a surety, guarantor or accommodation co-obligor
other than Payment in Full. It is agreed among each Loan Party and the Secured Parties that the
provisions of this Section 2.12 are of the essence of the transaction contemplated by the Loan
Documents and that, but for such provisions, the Secured Parties would decline to make Loans.
Each Borrower acknowledges that its guaranty pursuant to this Section is necessary to the conduct
and promotion of its business, and can be expected to benefit such business.
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(ii) The Secured Parties may, in their discretion, pursue such rights and
remedies as they deem appropriate, including realization upon Collateral by judicial foreclosure or
non-judicial sale or enforcement, without affecting any rights and remedies under this Section 2.12.

If, in taking any action in connection with the exercise of any rights or remedies, an Agent or any

Lender shall forfeit any other rights or remedies, including the right to enter a deficiency judgment
against any Loan Party or other Person, whether because of any applicable Laws pertaining to
"election of remedies" or otherwise, each Borrower consents to such action and waives any claim of
forfeiture of such rights or remedies based upon it, even if the action may result in loss of any rights
of subrogation that such Borrower might otherwise have had. Any election of remedies that results
in denial or impairment of the right of an Agent or any Lender to seek a deficiency judgment
against any Loan Party shall not impair any Borrower's obligation to pay the full amount of the
Obligations. Each Borrower waives all rights and defenses arising out of an election of remedies,
such as nonjudicial foreclosure with respect to any security for the Obligations, even though that
election of remedies destroys such Borrower's rights of subrogation against any other Person. Each
Agent may bid all or a portion of the Obligations at any foreclosure or trustee's sale or at any private
sale, and the amount of such bid need not be paid by the Agent but shall be credited against the
Obligations. The amount of the successful bid at any such sale, whether an Agent or any other
Person is the successful bidder, shall be conclusively deemed to be the fair market value of the
Collateral, and the difference between such bid amount and the remaining balance of the
Obligations shall be conclusively deemed to be the amount of the Obligations guaranteed under this
Section 2.12, notwithstanding that any present or future law or court decision may have the effect
of reducing the amount of any deficiency claim to which any Agent or any Lender might otherwise
be entitled but for such bidding at any such sale.

(© Extent of Liability; Contribution.

@) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, each Borrower's liability
under this Section 2.12 shall be limited to the greater of (i) all amounts for which such Borrower is
primarily liable, as described below, and (ii) such Borrower's Allocable Amount.

(ii) If any Borrower makes a payment under this Section 2.12 of any
Obligations (other than amounts for which such Borrower is primarily liable) (a "Guarantor
Payment") that, taking into account all other Guarantor Payments previously or concurrently made
by any other Borrower, exceeds the amount that such Borrower would otherwise have paid if each
Borrower had paid the aggregate Obligations satisfied by such Guarantor Payments in the same
proportion that such Borrower's Allocable Amount bore to the total Allocable Amounts of all
Borrowers, then such Borrower shall be entitled to receive contribution and indemnification
payments from, and to be reimbursed by, each other Borrower for the amount of such excess, pro
rata based upon their respective Allocable Amounts in effect immediately prior to such Guarantor
Payment. The "Allocable Amount" for any Borrower shall be the maximum amount that could
then be recovered from such Borrower under this Section 2.12 without rendering such payment
voidable under Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code or under any applicable state fraudulent
transfer or conveyance act, or similar statute or common law.

(d) Direct Liability. Nothing contained in this Section 2.12 shall limit the liability of

any Borrower to pay Loans made directly or indirectly to that Borrower (including Loans advanced to any
other Borrower and then re-loaned or otherwise transferred to, or for the benefit of, such Borrower), and all
accrued interest, fees, expenses and other related Obligations with respect thereto, for which such Borrower
shall be primarily liable for all purposes hereunder.
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(e) Joint Enterprise. Each Loan Party has requested that the Secured Parties make this
credit facility available to Borrowers on a combined basis, in order to finance Borrowers' business most
efficiently and economically. The Loan Parties' business is a mutual and collective enterprise, and the
successful operation of each Loan Party is dependent upon the successful performance of the integrated
group. The Loan Parties believe that consolidation of their credit facility will enhance the borrowing power
of each Loan Party and ease administration of the Facility, all to their mutual advantage. The Loan Parties
acknowledge that the Secured Parties' willingness to extend credit and to administer the Collateral on a
combined basis hereunder is done solely as an accommodation to Loan Parties and at Loan Parties' request.

® Subordination. Each Loan Party hereby subordinates any claims, including any
rights at law or in equity to payment, subrogation, reimbursement, exoneration, contribution,
indemnification or set off, that it may have at any time against any other Looan Party, howsoever arising, to
the Payment in Full on the Maturity Date.

(8 Administrative Borrower. Each Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints Orion as the
borrowing agent and attorney-in-fact for all Loan Parties (the "Administrative Borrower"), which
appointment shall remain in full force and effect unless and until Administrative Agent shall have received
prior written notice signed by each Borrower that such appointment has been revoked and that another
Borrower has been appointed Administrative Borrower. Each Loan Party hereby irrevocably appoints and
authorizes the Administrative Borrower (a) to provide Administrative Agent with all notices with respect to
Term Loans and Revolver Loans for the benefit of any Loan Party and all other notices and instructions
under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (and any notice or instruction provided by the
Administrative Borrower shall be deemed to be given by the Loan Parties hereunder and shall bind each
Loan Party), (b) to receive notices and instructions from the Lending Parties (and any notice or instruction
provided by any Lending Party to the Administrative Borrower in accordance with the terms hereof shall be
deemed to have been given to each Loan Party), (c) entering into any amendment or waiver of any provision
of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any consent to any departure by such Loan Party
therefrom, on each Loan Party's behalf, and (d) to take such action as the Administrative Borrower deems
appropriate on its behalf to obtain Loans and to exercise such other powers as are reasonably incidental
thereto to carry out the purposes of this Agreement. It is understood that the handling of the Loans and the
Collateral and the administration of the Loan Documents in a combined fashion, as more fully set forth
herein, is done solely as an accommodation to the Loan Parties in order to utilize the collective borrowing
powers of Borrowers in the most efficient and economical manner and at their request, and that the Agents
shall not incur liability to any Loan Party as a result hereof. Each Loan Party expects to derive benefit,
directly or indirectly, from the handling of the Loans and the Collateral in a combined fashion since the
successful operation of each Loan Party is dependent on the continued successful performance of the
integrated group. To induce Administrative Agent and the Lenders to do so, and in consideration thereof,
each Loan Party hereby jointly and severally agrees to indemnify each Agent and the Lenders and hold them
harmless against any and all liability, expense, loss or claim of damage or injury, made against an Agent by
any Loan Party or by any third party whosoever, arising from or incurred by reason of (i) the handling of the
Loans and the Collateral and the administration of the Loan Documents of the Loan Parties as herein
provided or (ii) the Agents and the Lenders relying on any instructions of the Administrative Borrower.
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ARTICLE III
[RESERVED]

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS

SECTION 4.01 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO INITIAL LOAN.

This Agreement shall become binding on the parties hereto upon, and the obligation of each Lender
to make the Loans hereunder is subject to, the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent (provided,
that, all Loan Documents and other documents to be delivered to any Agent or any other Lending Party
pursuant to this Section 4.01 shall be subject to prior reasonable approval as to form and substance by
Lenders, with delivery by a Lender of its signature page to this Agreement evidencing such Person's
acknowledgement that the conditions set forth in this Section 4.01 have been satisfied, unless otherwise set
forth below or waived in writing):

(a) Receipt of Certain Documents and Assurances. Administrative Agent shall have
received satisfactory evidence or assurances with respect to, and had delivered to it, all of the following,
each of which shall be, unless otherwise specified herein or otherwise required by Lenders, originals (or
facsimiles or portable document format versions thereof (in either such case, if requested by any Lender,
promptly followed by originals thereof)), each, to the extent to be executed by Borrowers, properly
executed by a Responsible Officer or, if applicable, an Authorized Financial Officer, of Orion and each
other Borrower, each dated the Closing Date (or, in the case of (x) certificates of governmental officials or
(y) resolutions or consents of Orion and each other Borrower authorizing action to enter into, or
performance under, the Loan Documents, a recent date prior to the Closing Date), all in sufficient number as
Administrative Agent shall identify (including, if specified by Administrative Agent, for purposes of the
distribution thereof to Administrative Agent, Lenders and each Borrower):

@) counterparts of each of the following agreements, in each case duly
executed and delivered by each of the parties thereto, and in a form reasonably acceptable to
Administrative Agent: (A) this Agreement; (B) the Guaranty and Security Agreement;
(C) [reserved], (D) the Intercompany Subordination Agreement; (E) a Borrowing Request attaching
the funds flow; (F) the Letter of Direction; (G) each Fee Letter, and (H) the Payoff Letter.

(ii) if requested by any Lender, a Note duly executed by each Borrower in
favor of such Lender evidencing any Loans made by such Lender to each Borrower;

(iii) counterparts of each of the other Loan Documents (including all applicable
Collateral Documents), duly executed by each of the parties thereto, and, as requested by any
Agent:

(A) any certificated securities representing shares of Equity Interests
owned by or on behalf of any Loan Party (other than Orion) constituting Collateral as of the
Closing Date, together with undated stock powers (or their equivalent) with respect thereto
executed in blank;

B) any promissory notes and other instruments evidencing all loans,
advances and other debt owed or owing to any Loan Party constituting Collateral as of the
Closing Date, together with undated instruments of transfer with respect thereto executed in
blank;
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© all other documents, including UCC financing statements, required
under the terms of the Collateral Documents to be filed, registered or recorded to create or
perfect the Liens intended to be created under the Collateral Documents existing on the
Closing Date; and

(D) a Due Diligence Certificate with respect to each Loan Party, dated
the Closing Date and duly executed by a Responsible Officer of the applicable Loan Party,
together with results of a search of the UCC (or equivalent) filings made and tax and
judgment lien searches with respect to each of Loan Party in the jurisdictions required by
Lenders and copies of the financing statements (or similar documents) disclosed by such
searches and evidence reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent that the Liens
indicated by such financing statements (or similar documents) are permitted by
Section 7.01 or have been otherwise appropriately released or terminated on (concurrently
with the transactions contemplated hereby) or prior to the Closing Date;

provided, however, that in no event shall any Agent be required to accept a Lien or Deed of Trust on
any Real Property prior to the receipt of all Flood Documentation with respect thereto;

@iv) a secretary's certificate from each Loan Party, (A) attaching a true and
correct copy of the Organizational Documents of each Loan Party, as amended, modified or
supplemented as of the Closing Date, which such Organizational Documents shall be (1) certified
by a Responsible Officer of each Loan Party and (2) with respect to Organizational Documents that
are charter documents, certified as of a recent date by the appropriate governmental official;
(B) certifying to and attaching resolutions, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to
Administrative Agent, approving the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents
by each Loan Party; (C) attesting to the incumbency and signatures of each Responsible Officer of
each Loan Party and (D) attaching a good standing certificate of a recent date from the applicable
Loan Party's jurisdiction of organization and any other jurisdiction in which the failure to be so
qualified could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, evidencing that it is duly
organized or formed, and that each Loan Party are validly existing, in good standing or words of
like import, as applicable, in each such jurisdiction;

W) a favorable opinion or opinions of Paul Hastings, counsel to each Loan
Party, together with such customary local counsel and specialty counsel (including maritime
counsel and real estate counsel) as is reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent, in each case
addressed to Administrative Agent and each Lending Party, as to such matters as are reasonably
required by Administrative Agent with respect to each Loan Party, the Collateral and the Loan
Documents;

(vi) [reserved];

(vii)  a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of each Borrower certifying as
to the matters described in Sections 4.01(c) and 4.01(d);

(viii)  a certificate signed by an Authorized Financial Officer of Orion, certifying
that the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are Solvent, after giving effect to the
transactions contemplated hereby on the Closing Date;

(ix) (A) evidence in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent

that each Loan Party will maintain as of the Closing Date in full force and effect the insurance
policies required by Section 6.07, and (B) draft insurance certificates to be issued by each Loan
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Party's insurance broker containing such information regarding such policies as Administrative
Agent shall request, naming Administrative Agent as an additional insured, lenders loss payee
and/or mortgagee, as applicable;

x) a copies of the financial statements referred to in Section 5.11, in each
case, the results of which shall be satisfactory to Administrative Agent or any third party consultant
selected by Administrative Agent to review such financial statements;

(xi) evidence that (A) all commitments under any secured facilities, if any not
otherwise permitted under Section 7.03 have been or will be terminated not later than the Closing
Date, and all outstanding amounts thereunder Paid in Full, (B) all Liens securing obligations under
any secured facilities not otherwise permitted under Section 7.03 have been or will be released and
terminated not later than the Closing Date, and (C) and all letters of credit issued or guaranteed as
part of such Indebtedness shall have been cash collateralized or supported by a Letter of Credit or
deemed issued hereunder;

(xii)  [reserved];
(xiii) [reserved]; and

(xiv) such other assurances, certificates, documents, consents, reports or
opinions as Administrative Agent or any other Lending Party may reasonably require.

(b) No Material Adverse Change. There shall have been no material adverse change in
the business, financial condition, revenues, sales volume, assets, liabilities or operations of Orion, any Loan
Party, or with respect to the Collateral since December 31, 2022.

(©) Truth and Correctness of Representations and Warranties; No Default. The
representations and warranties of Orion and each other Loan Party contained in this Agreement or any other
Loan Document, or that are contained in any document furnished at any time under or in connection
herewith or therewith, shall be true and correct in all material respects (except that such materiality qualifier
shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by
materiality in the text thereof) on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent that such representations
and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct in all material
respects (except that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties
that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof) as of such earlier date. No Default
or Event of Default shall exist or shall result, or could reasonably be expected to result, from the use of
proceeds of the Loans on the Closing Date.

(d) Payment of Fees. Borrowers shall have paid (or concurrently with the funding of
the Loans hereunder, will pay) (i) all fees required to be paid to Agents and Lenders on or before the
Closing Date and (ii) unless any Lending Party shall have agreed in writing to any delay in such payment,
all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to Agents to the
extent invoiced prior to or on the Closing Date, plus such additional amounts of such fees, charges and
disbursements as shall constitute such Person's reasonable estimate of such fees, charges and disbursements
incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing proceedings (provided that such estimate shall not
thereafter preclude subsequent billing by such Lending Party or White Oak).

(e) Liquidity. Liquidity shall be not less than $26,500,000; provided that for purposes
of this clause (e), clause (a) of the definition of qualified cash shall be deemed to be $15,000,000.
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® Borrowing_Base Report. Administrative Agent shall have received a Borrowing
Base Report as of a date not more than seven days prior to the Closing Date.

(8 Appraisals. Administrative Agent shall have completed field examinations and
appraisals of the Collateral and all books and records in connection therewith, the results of which shall be
satisfactory in form and substance to Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion. Administrative Agent
shall have completed appraisals of Fleet Equipment owned by the Borrowers, the results of which shall be
satisfactory in form and substance to it.

(h) Other Matters. Administrative Agent shall have received, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to it, such other assurances, documents or consents related to the foregoing as
Administrative Agent or Required Lenders may reasonably require.

For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in this Section 4.01 (but
without limiting the generality of the provisions of Section 9.04), each Lending Party that has signed this
Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or become satisfied with, each
document or other matter required hereunder to be consented to or approved by or to be acceptable or
satisfactory to a Lending Party unless otherwise waived in writing.

SECTION 4.02 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ALL CREDIT EXTENSIONS.

The Administrative Agent and the Revolver Lenders shall in no event be required to make any
credit extension hereunder (including funding any Loan or granting any other accommodation to or for the
benefit of Borrowers), unless all of the following conditions shall be satisfied on such date and upon giving
effect thereto:

(a) Borrowing_Request. Administrative Agent shall have received a Borrowing
Request in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to it.

(b) No Default. No Default (including, without limitation and for the avoidance of
doubt, any Default resulting from a failure to comply with any provision of Section 6.01 during the
applicable cure periods set forth in Section 8.01) or Event of Default exists or would occur upon the funding
of the transactions contemplated to occur on the applicable funding date.

(o) Truth and Correctness of Representations and Warranties. The representations and
warranties of each Loan Party contained in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or that are
contained in any document furnished at any time under or in connection herewith or therewith, shall be true
and correct in all material respects on and as of the applicable funding date (except that such materiality
qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified
by materiality in the text thereof), except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically
refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier
date (except that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that
already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof).

(d) [Reserved].

(e) Liquidity Triggers. Liquidity falls below $20,000,000 at any time, and Borrowers
shall not have directed Administrative Agent to commence a Cash Dominion Period.

® Borrowing Base Report. With respect to any credit extension (other than during the
Initial Increased Reporting Period, any other Increased Reporting Period, or any time that the most
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recent Borrowing Base Report delivered to Administrative Agent is dated as of a date within 5 (five)
Business Days of the Borrowing Request), Administrative Agent shall have received a Borrowing Base
Report, together with all supporting documentation requested by Administrative Agent (including details on
contra accounts).

Each request (or deemed request) by a Borrower for any credit extension shall constitute a
representation by such Borrower that the foregoing conditions are satisfied on the date of such request and
on the date of the credit extension. As an additional condition to a credit extension, Administrative Agent
may request any other information, certification, document, instrument or agreement as it deems
appropriate.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Each Borrower represents and warrants to each Lending Party that:
SECTION 5.01 CORPORATE EXISTENCE AND POWER.

Each of the Loan Parties and their respective Subsidiaries: (a) is a corporation, partnership or
limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction of its incorporation, organization or formation (subject to such changes after the Closing Date as
are permitted under the Loan Documents), except, other than with respect to Subsidiaries that are not Loan
Parties, to the extent that the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect; (b) has the power and authority and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and
approvals: (i) to own its assets and carry on its business, except to the extent that any failure to have any of
the foregoing could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and (ii) to execute,
deliver, and perform its obligations under the Loan Documents to which each is a party; and (c) is duly
qualified as a foreign corporation, partnership or limited liability company, as applicable, and is licensed
and in good standing under the laws of each jurisdiction where its ownership, leasing or operation of
property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification or license, except to the extent that the
failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.02 CORPORATE AUTHORIZATION; NO CONTRAVENTION.

The execution and delivery by each of the Loan Parties and their respective Subsidiaries (to the
extent such Subsidiary is party hereto or to any other Loan Document) of, and the performance by each of
the Loan Parties and their respective Subsidiaries of its obligations under, each Loan Document to which
such Person is party have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or other organizational action,
and do not and will not: (a) contravene the terms of any of such Person's Organizational Documents;
(b) conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of, or the creation of any Lien under, or require any
payment to be made under any order, injunction, writ or decree of any Governmental Authority or any
arbitral award to which such Person or its property is subject; or (c) violate any Law. No Loan Party or any
Subsidiary thereof is a party to or is bound by any Contractual Obligation, or is subject to any restriction in
any Organizational Document, or any requirement of Law, which could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.03 GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORIZATION; COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.
(a) Governmental Authorizations. No approval, consent, exemption, authorization,

order, or other action by, or notice to, or filing, registration, or qualification with, any Governmental
Authority is necessary or required in connection with the execution and delivery by any Loan Party of, or
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the performance by any Loan Party of its obligations under, any Loan Document to which it is a party, or
the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, other than (i) such as
have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect or (ii) filings necessary to perfect Liens created
by the Loan Documents.

(b) Compliance with Laws. Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary thereof are in
compliance in all respects with the requirements of all Laws (including the PATRIOT Act) and all orders,
writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its properties, except in such instances in which the
failure to comply therewith, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.

(© Certain Actions. No Loan Party is engaged in or has engaged in any course of
conduct that could subject any of their respective properties to any Lien, seizure or other forfeiture under
any racketeer influenced and corrupt organizations law, whether civil or criminal, or other similar Laws.

(d) Citizenship. Each U.S Shipowner, and each Loan Party and each Subsidiary thereof
that operates (i) a Documented Vessel, or (ii) a Titled Vessel or an Undocumented Vessel in the United
States, is a U.S. Citizen.

SECTION 5.04 BINDING EFFECT.

This Agreement has been, and each other Loan Document (when delivered hereunder) will have
been, duly executed and delivered by each Loan Party that is party thereto. This Agreement and each other
Loan Document to which any Loan Party is a party constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of
such Loan Party, enforceable against such Loan Party in accordance with their respective terms, except as
enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other
Laws of general application effecting enforcements of creditors' rights or general principles of equity.

SECTION 5.05  LITIGATION.

Except as specifically disclosed on Schedule 5.05, there are no actions, suits, proceedings, claims
or disputes pending, or to the knowledge of each Loan Party, threatened in writing, at law, in equity, in
arbitration or before any Governmental Authority, against any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof that: (a)
purport to affect or pertain to any Loan Document, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or (b)
could, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No
injunction, writ, temporary restraining order or any order of any nature has been issued by any court or
other Governmental Authority purporting to enjoin or restrain the execution, delivery or performance of this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, or directing that the transactions provided for therein not be
consummated as therein provided.

SECTION 5.06 NO DEFAULTS.

No Default or Event of Default exists or could reasonably be expected to result from the incurring
of any Obligations by any Loan Party or from the grant and perfection of the Liens upon the Collateral in
favor of Collateral Agent.

SECTION 5.07 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS.

(a) Compliance with ERISA Generally. Unless it could not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to result in liabilities in excess of the Threshold Amount or otherwise have
a Material Adverse Effect or a Lien under the Code or ERISA on the assets of any Loan Party: (i) each Plan
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is in compliance with, and has been operated in accordance with, the applicable provisions of ERISA, the
Code and other applicable Laws; (ii) each Plan which is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the
Code either (A) has obtained from the IRS a favorable determination letter from the IRS as to its qualified
status under the Code, or the expiration of the requisite period under applicable regulations promulgated by
the TRS under the Code or IRS pronouncements in which to apply for such determination letter and to make
any amendments necessary to obtain a favorable determination has not occurred, or (B) has been established
under a prototype plan for which an IRS opinion letter has been obtained by the plan sponsor and is valid as
to the adopting employer, and nothing has occurred that would cause the loss of such qualification; and (iii)
no Loan Party has any liability for a fine, penalty, Tax, or damage with respect to, or arising from the
operation of, a Plan or Multiemployer Plan.

(b) No Actions. Unless it could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to result in liabilities in excess of the Threshold Amount or otherwise have a Material Adverse
Effect: (i) there are no pending or, to the knowledge of any Loan Party, threatened claims, actions or
lawsuits, or action by any Governmental Authority, with respect to any Plan and (ii) there has been no
prohibited transaction or violation of the fiduciary responsibility rules with respect to any Plan.

(©) Certain Events. Unless it could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to result in liabilities in excess of the Threshold Amount or otherwise have a Material Adverse
Effect or a Lien under the Code or ERISA on the assets of any Loan Party, (i) no ERISA Event has occurred
or is reasonably expected to occur, and (ii) no Pension Plan has any Unfunded Pension Liability. No event
or circumstance has occurred or exists that, if such event or circumstance had occurred or arisen after the
Closing Date, would create an Event of Default under Section 8.01(i).

SECTION 5.08  USE OF PROCEEDS.
Each Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans solely in accordance with Schedule 5.08.
SECTION 5.09 TITLE TO ASSETS.

(a) Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary thereof has (a) good, valid, record and
marketable title in fee simple to, or valid leasehold interests in, or valid rights to use (including easements)
all Real Property material to the ordinary conduct of their respective businesses or reflected on the most
recent financial statements delivered pursuant thereto (but in all events with respect to the Mortgaged
Properties), and (b) good and marketable title to all of their respective personal property reflected on the
most recent financial statements delivered pursuant hereto, in each of the foregoing cases free and clear of
all Liens other than Permitted Liens.

(b) Schedule 5.09(b) sets forth the address (including street address, county and state)
of all Real Property that is owned in fee by the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date
and identifies the owner thereof. Each Loan Party and each of its Subsidiaries has good, marketable and
insurable fee simple title to the Real Property owned-by such Loan Party or such Subsidiary, free and clear
of all Liens other than Permitted Liens.

(©) Schedule 5.09(c) sets forth the address (including street address, county and state)
of all Real Property that is leased, subleased, or licensed to or by the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries as
of the Closing Date, and contains a true, correct, and complete description of such leases (the "Leases").
Each Loan Party and each of its Subsidiaries has a valid leasehold interest in such Real Properties, which
leasehold interest is free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens. Neither the Loan Parties nor any
of their Subsidiaries are currently in breach under any such Lease or received any notice alleging a default
hereof. Each such Lease is in full force and effect, and such Loan Parties and their
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Subsidiaries enjoy peaceful and undisturbed possession under all such Leases. The consummation of the
transactions described herein will not, with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both,
violate any such Lease. No Loan Party or Subsidiary thereof has subleased, licensed, transferred, assigned
or, in any material respect, otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy any Real Property or
portion thereof.

SECTION 5.10 TAXES.

Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary thereof has filed all federal and other material tax returns and
reports required to be filed, and has paid prior to delinquency all federal, state (including sales tax) and
other Taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges shown thereon, and all other material taxes
and assessments on it or any of its properties otherwise due and payable, except those that are subject to a
Permitted Protest and with respect to which no notice of Lien has been filed in any filing office. To the
knowledge of the Loan Parties, there is no unpaid proposed tax assessment against any Loan Party or any
Subsidiary thereof that, if made, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.1  FINANCIAL CONDITION.
(a) Financial Statements.

@) The Audited Closing Financial Statements: (A) except as set forth in
Schedule 5.11 hereof, were prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout the
period covered thereby; and (B) present fairly in all material respects the financial position, results
of operations, cash flows and the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and members' equity of
Orion as of the dates and for the periods covered thereby.

(ii) The unaudited financial statements of Orion comprised of the balance sheet
of Orion for the two (2) month period ended February 28, 2023 and the related statements of
income and cash flows for the two (2) month period ended February 28, 2023: (i) were prepared in
accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout the period covered thereby, except as set
forth therein or in Schedule 5.11 hereof; and (ii) present fairly in all material respects the financial
position, results of operations, cash flows and the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and
members' equity of Orion as of the dates and for the periods covered thereby, subject, in the case of
clauses (i) and (ii), to the absence of footnotes and to normal year-end audit adjustments.

(b) No Material Adverse Effect. Since December 31, 2022, no Material Adverse Effect

has occurred.
SECTION 5.12 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS.

Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to a Loan Party in excess of the
Threshold Amount:

(a) No Loan Party (i) has failed to comply with any applicable Environmental Law or
to obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any applicable
Environmental Law with respect to such Loan Party's operations or (ii) has received written notice of any
Environmental Claim involving the Loan Party’s operations.

(b) Hazardous Materials have not, to the knowledge of the Loan Parties, been released,
discharged or disposed of on any property currently owned or operated by any Loan Party or on any

property
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formerly owned or operated by any Loan Party in a manner that would reasonably expected to result in
liability to any Loan Party.

SECTION 5.13 MARGIN REGULATIONS; REGULATED ENTITIES.

(a) No Loan Party nor any Subsidiary thereof is engaged or will engage, principally or
as one of its important activities, in the business of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning
of Regulation U issued by the FRB), or extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin
stock. No Loan Party nor any Subsidiary thereof nor any Person controlling a Loan Party is an "investment
company" required to be registered as such within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940.

SECTION 5.14 LOCATION OF INVENTORY AND EQUIPMENT; CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICE; ELIGIBLE EQUIPMENT.

Each Loan Party will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep (a) their Inventory (other than
in-transit Inventory, Inventory located at project sites and Inventory with a value of less than $500,000 in
the aggregate) only at the locations identified on Schedule 5.14 to this Agreement (provided that Borrowers
may amend Schedule 5.14 to this Agreement so long as such amendment occurs by written notice to
Administrative Agent delivered simultaneously with the Compliance Certificate delivered to Administrative
Agent immediately following the date on which such Inventory is moved to such new location, and such
new location is within the United States), (b) their Equipment (other than Fleet Equipment, in-transit
Equipment, Equipment located at project sites and Equipment with a value of less than $500,000 in the
aggregate) only at the locations identified on Schedule 5.14 to this Agreement (provided that Borrowers
may amend Schedule 5.14 to this Agreement so long as such amendment occurs by written notice to
Administrative Agent delivered simultaneously with the Compliance Certificate delivered to Administrative
Agent immediately following the date on which such Equipment is moved to such new location, and such
new location is within the United States), (c) their Fleet Equipment (other than in-transit Fleet Equipment,
Fleet Equipment located at a project site, and Fleet Equipment with a value of less than $500,000 in the
aggregate) only at the locations identified on Schedule 5.14 to this Agreement (provided that Borrowers
may amend Schedule 5.14 to this Agreement so long as such amendment occurs by written notice to
Administrative Agent delivered simultaneously with the Compliance Certificate delivered to Administrative
Agent immediately following the date on which such Fleet Equipment is moved to such new location, and
such new location is within the United States), and (d) their respective chief executive offices only at the
locations identified on Schedule 7 to the Guaranty and Security Agreement. Each Loan Party will, and will
cause each of its Subsidiaries to obtain Collateral Access Agreements in accordance with Section 6.19 for
each of the locations identified on Schedule 7 to the Guaranty and Security Agreement and Schedule 5.14
to this Agreement (other than project sites), in each case, where Collateral with a fair market value in excess
of $500,000 is located. As to each item of Equipment that is identified by Borrowers as Eligible Equipment
or Eligible Fleet Equipment in a Borrowing Base Report submitted to Administrative Agent, such
Equipment is (a) of good and merchantable quality, free from known defects, and (b) not excluded as
ineligible by virtue of one or more of the excluding criteria (other than any Agent-discretionary criteria) set
forth in the definition of Eligible Equipment or Eligible Fleet Equipment, as applicable.

SECTION 5.15 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY.

Each Loan Party and each Subsidiary thereof owns or is licensed, or otherwise has the right to use,
all of the material Intellectual Property that is reasonably necessary for the operation of its business. To the
knowledge of each Loan Party, the use of such Intellectual Property by the Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries and the operation of their respective businesses do not infringe any valid and enforceable
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intellectual property rights of any other Person. No claim or litigation regarding any of the foregoing is
pending or, to the knowledge of each Loan Party, threatened, in writing.

SECTION 5.16 EQUITY INTEREST HELD BY LOAN PARTIES; EQUITY INTERESTS IN
BORROWERS.

As of the Closing Date: (a) no Loan Party has Subsidiaries other than those listed on Schedule 5.16;
(b) no Loan Party holds Equity Interests in any other Person other than those specifically disclosed on
Schedule 5.16; and (c) the holders of all Equity Interests in each Loan Party (other than Orion) are those
listed on Schedule 5.16. All of the outstanding Equity Interests in each Loan Party and in each Subsidiary
thereof have been validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable.

SECTION 5.17 INSURANCE.

The properties of each Loan Party are insured with financially sound and reputable insurance
companies that are not Affiliates of any of the Loan Parties, in such amounts, with such deductibles and
covering such risks as are customarily carried by companies engaged in similar businesses and owning
similar properties in localities where such Loan Party or its Subsidiary operates (including, without
limitation, flood insurance with respect to any Real Property located in any area identified by FEMA (or any
successor agency) as a Special Flood Zone with such providers, on such terms and in such amounts as
required pursuant to the Flood Disaster Protection Act and the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, and all
applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or as otherwise required by the Agents or any
Lender (but no less than the full insurable value of such Mortgaged Property or, if available, the "Probable
Maximum Loss" as calculated by a reputable engineer)). A true and complete listing of such insurance as of
the Closing Date, including issuers, coverages and deductibles, is set forth on Schedule 5.17.

SECTION 5.18 COLLATERAL AND COLLATERAL DOCUMENTS.

The provisions of this Agreement and each of the other Collateral Documents, when delivered, are
effective to create in favor of Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Lending Parties, a valid and
enforceable security interest or other Lien in all right, title, and interest of each Loan Party that is a party
thereto in the Collateral described therein. Each such security interest or other Lien in favor of an Agent, to
the extent the same may be perfected by the filing of a UCC financing statement or the filing of an
intellectual property security agreement or by control (within the meaning of the UCC), has, except as
otherwise expressly provided in any Collateral Document, been perfected. Except as otherwise expressly
provided herein or in any other Collateral Document, each security interest or other Lien in the Collateral
described in any Collateral Document constitutes a perfected, first-priority security interest or other Lien in
the subject Collateral (subject to Permitted Liens having priority by operation of law and except to the
extent otherwise expressly provided in any Loan Document or expressly agreed to in writing by
Administrative Agent), subject to no Liens other than Permitted Liens.

SECTION 5.19 LABOR RELATIONS.

There are no strikes, lockouts or other material labor disputes against any Loan Party or any
Subsidiary thereof or, to the knowledge of any Loan Party, threatened against or affecting any Loan Party or
any Subsidiary thereof, and no significant unfair labor practice complaint is pending against any Loan Party
or any Subsidiary thereof or, to the knowledge of any Loan Party, threatened against any of them before any
Governmental Authority that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Except as
set forth on Schedule 5.19: (a) none of the Loan Parties is a party to any collective bargaining agreements
or contracts; and (b) no union representation exists and, to the knowledge of each

86




Loan Party, no union organizing activities are taking place on any of the properties owned or operated by
any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 5.20 SOLVENCY.
The Loan Parties and their respective Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are Solvent.
SECTION 5.21 [RESERVED].

SECTION 5.22  SANCTIONS; ANTI-CORRUPTION LAWS; ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
LAWS.

No Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge of such Loan Party, any director,
officer, employee, agent or Affiliate (other than an Affiliate solely by virtue of being a shareholder) of such
Loan Party or such Subsidiary, (a) is a Sanctioned Person, (b) has any assets located in a Sanctioned
Jurisdiction, or (c) derives revenues from investments in, or transactions with, Sanctioned Persons in
violation of Sanctions. Each of the Loan Parties and its Subsidiaries has policies and procedures reasonably
designed to ensure compliance with applicable Sanctions, Anti-Corruption Laws, and Anti-Money
Laundering Laws. Each of the Loan Parties and its Subsidiaries, and to the knowledge of each such Loan
Party, each director, officer, employee, agent, and Affiliate (other than an Affiliate solely by virtue of being
a shareholder) of each such Loan Party and each such Subsidiary, is in compliance with applicable
Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Laws in all respects, and with Anti-Money Laundering Laws in all material
respects.

SECTION 5.23  [RESERVED].
SECTION 5.24  FULL DISCLOSURE.

None of the representations or warranties made by any Loan Party in the Loan Documents to which
it is a party as of the date such representations and warranties are made or deemed made, and none of the
statements contained in any exhibit, report, written statement or certificate furnished by, or on behalf of, any
Loan Party in connection with the Loan Documents (including the written disclosure materials delivered by
or on behalf of any Loan Party to Lending Parties (or any of the foregoing Persons) prior to the Closing
Date) (other than (i) projections, (ii) other forward-looking information, and (iii) information of a general
economic or industry nature), contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits any material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances
under which they are made, taken as a whole, not misleading in any material respect as of the time when
made or delivered (after giving effect to all supplements and updates thereto furnished to Lenders and/or
Administrative Agent from time to time); provided, that, with respect to any projections and forecasts
provided by a Borrower (whether with respect to Borrowers or any other Loan Parties), (a) Borrowers
represent only that such projections and forecasts were prepared in good faith based upon assumptions
believed to be reasonable at the time of the preparation thereof, and (b) Lending Parties acknowledge that
such projections and forecasts are not to be viewed as facts and are subject to significant uncertainties and
contingencies, many of which are beyond the Loan Parties' control, that no assurance can be given that any
particular financial projections will be realized, and that actual results during the period or periods covered
thereby may differ from the projected or forecasted results and that such differences in projected or
forecasted results may be material.
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ARTICLE VI
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

So long as any Obligations (other than Unasserted Obligations) have not been Repaid in Full:
SECTION 6.01 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND COLLATERAL REPORTING.

The Borrowers shall deliver, or shall cause to be delivered, to Administrative Agent for distribution
by Administrative Agent to each Lender, the following, in form and detail reasonably satisfactory to
Administrative Agent and Required Lenders:

(a) Annual Financial Statements. As soon as available, but in any event within one
hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each Fiscal Year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending
December 31, 2023: a consolidated balance sheet for Orion and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such Fiscal
Year, and the related consolidated statements of income or operations, shareholders' (or members") equity
and cash flows for such Fiscal Year (setting forth, in each case in comparative form, (A) the figures for the
previous Fiscal Year and (B) the figures from Orion's budget for the current Fiscal Year), all in reasonable
detail and prepared in accordance with GAAP, such consolidated statements to be audited and accompanied
by a report and opinion of KPMG, LLP or any other independent certified public accountant of nationally
recognized standing reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent (the "Auditor"), which report and
opinion shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and shall not be subject
to any "going concern" or like qualification or exception or any qualification or exception as to the scope of
such audit (other than any such statement, qualification or exception resulting from or relating to the
impending maturity date of any Debt permitted under this Agreement), and accompanied by management's
discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, including the Loan Parties' liquidity
and capital resources;

(b) Fiscal Quarter Financial Statements. As soon as available, but in any event
within forty-five (45) days after the end of each Fiscal Quarter of each Fiscal Year, unaudited consolidated
balance sheets for Orion and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such Fiscal Quarter, and the related
consolidated statements of income or operations (including a breakdown of revenue by entity) and cash
flows for such Fiscal Quarter and the portion of the Fiscal Year then ended (setting forth, in each case in
comparative form, (i) the figures for the corresponding portion of the previous Fiscal Year and (ii) the
figures from the corresponding portion of Orion's budget for the current Fiscal Year), all in reasonable
detail, such consolidated statements to be certified by an Authorized Financial Officer of Orion as fairly
presenting the financial condition, results of operations, shareholders' (or members') equity and cash flows
of Orion and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, subject only to normal year-end audit adjustments
and the absence of footnotes, and accompanied by management's discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations, including the Loan Parties' liquidity and capital resources;

(© Fiscal Month Financial Statements. As soon as available, but in any event
within thirty (30) days after the end of each Fiscal Month thereafter, unaudited consolidated balance sheets
for Orion and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such Fiscal Month, and the related consolidated statements of
income or operations and cash flows for such Fiscal Month and the portion of the Fiscal Year then ended
(setting forth, in each case in comparative form, (i) the figures for the corresponding portion of the previous
Fiscal Year and (ii) the figures from the corresponding portion of Orion's budget for the current Fiscal Year),
all in reasonable detail, such consolidated statements to be certified by an Authorized Financial Officer of
Orion as fairly presenting the financial condition, results of operations, shareholders' (or members') equity
and cash flows of Orion and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, subject only to normal year-end
audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes, and accompanied by a calculation of the financial covenants
set forth in Section 6.13;
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(d) Forecasts and Budgets. As soon as available, but in any event no later than January
31 of each Fiscal Year (commencing with January 31, 2024), forecasts prepared by the management of
Orion, in form reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent, of consolidated balance sheets and
statements of income or operations, statements of cash flows, together with Revolver Borrowing Base, Term
Loan Borrowing base and Liquidity projections and projected financial covenant calculations for Orion and
its Subsidiaries for (i) the then current Fiscal Year and (ii) each Fiscal Month in such year;

(e) [Reserved];

® MD&A. Concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements referred to in
subsections (a) and (b) above, management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations; and

() Borrowing_Base Report. Together with each Borrowing Request solely to the
extent required pursuant to Section 4.02(e) (but in no event less often than weekly, during the Initial
Increased Reporting Period and any subsequent Increased Reporting Period, and on each second week,
during any other time), a fully completed and executed Borrowing Base Report as of the last Business Day
of the previous week and on or before the 3rd day of each week (during an Increased Reporting Period) or
each second week (during any other time), in each case detailing the Eligible Accounts, Eligible Retainage
Accounts, Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts, Eligible Equipment and Eligible Fleet Equipment,
containing a calculation of Revolver Availability Reserves, Term Loan Reserves, and Revolver Availability
and reflecting all sales, collections, debit and credit adjustments, and a detailed calculation of those
Accounts that are not Eligible Accounts, those Retainage Accounts that are not Eligible Retainage Accounts
or Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts, and a calculation of Accounts owing directly from Governmental
Account Debtors and indirectly from Account Debtors who are not Governmental Account Debtors but that
relate to projects for whom the end customer is a Governmental Account Debtor, all which calculations
shall be prepared under the supervision of the chief financial officer of each Borrower and certified by such
officer.

(h) Accounts Receivable Agings. Concurrently with the delivery of each Borrowing
Base Report, agings of the Borrowers' accounts receivable, in scope and detail satisfactory to Administrative
Agent, together with an account roll-forward, in a format acceptable to Agent in its discretion, (A) as of the
last day of the preceding week, and (B) concurrently with the delivery of each Borrowing Base Report, if
applicable. Administrative Agent shall have the right at any time, in the name of Administrative Agent, any
designee of Administrative Agent or any Loan Party, to verify the validity, amount or any other matter
relating to any accounts receivable of the Loan Parties by mail, telephone or otherwise;

(0] Retainage Report. Concurrently with the delivery of each Borrowing Base Report,
a report setting forth a roll-forward for both billed and unbilled retainage, together with a separate aging for
billed retainage from the invoice date and unbilled retainage setting forth the expected billing date therefor,
together with a calculation of the Conversion Ratio;

) Accounts Payable Agings. Weekly, on or before the 3rd day of each week, a report
of the agings of the Borrowers' accounts payable (by vendor, and an aging, by vendor, of any held checks),
aged by due date, highlighting accounts payable owed to any subcontractors and material suppliers of any
Borrower, and identifying whether any vendors have filed (or are eligible to file, as a result of such unpaid
accounts payable) a Lien against the applicable project or are eligible to assert a Lien or other priority right
of the type described in the definition of Maritime Reserves;
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k) Fixed Asset Report. Concurrently with the delivery of each Borrowing Base
Report, a report of the Borrowers' Equipment (including Fleet Equipment), specifying the net book value
thereof, by category, with additional detail showing additions to and deletions therefrom together with a
detailed calculation of Equipment that is not eligible for the Term Loan Borrowing Base;

Q)] Executive WIP Report. Monthly (or more frequently as Administrative Agent may
request), not later than the 15th day of each month, an executive WIP report setting forth, on a customer by
customer basis, total contract value, changes in the contract value from the prior month, total contract cost,
changes in total cost from the prior month, project to date billings, project to date costs, billing in excess of
cost, cost in excess of billings, project to date change orders, increase in change orders from the prior
month, estimated completion date, project description, and, for all contracts greater than $10,000,000, a
management discussion and analysis with respect to the information set forth in the backlog report,
including but not limited to details regarding any changes in contract value and total costs estimates;

(m) Reconciliation Reports. Concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements
referred to in subsection (b) and (c), a report in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent,
reconciling the accounts receivable aging, together with a reconciliation and supporting documentation for
any reconciling items noted, and an account roll-forward, in a format acceptable to Agent in its discretion,
tied to the beginning and ending account receivable balances of Borrowers' general ledger, the accounts
payable aging, an Equipment (including Fleet Equipment) listing, together with a reconciliation to
Borrowers' general ledger, and a detailed fixed asset register reconciliation, billed and earned but unbilled
retainage, cost in excess of billings, billings in excess of cost and the accrued expense detail to the general
ledger, with a further reconciliation to the balance sheet, and bank account reconciliations to the general
ledger with a further reconciliation to the balance sheet.

(m) Utilization Report. Monthly (or more frequently as Administrative Agent may
request), not later than the 15th day of each month, a monthly utilization report, setting forth for each item
of Equipment and Fleet Equipment, information substantially consistent with the utilization reports
delivered to Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date, together with such other information (including
other asset categories) as to Administrative Agent may reasonably request.

(0) Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transactions Report. Monthly, not later than the
5th day of each month, and on the 31st day, 121st day and 181st day after the Closing Date, a report of
Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transactions completed for the prior month or for the applicable period
since the Closing Date, as applicable, which report shall be in form and substance satisfactory to
Administrative Agent and shall include, without limitation, the date such Specified Post-Closing Liquidity
Transaction was consummated, a description of the transaction, including which asset category was
involved, the counterparty, a schedule of gross proceeds, line item deductions therefrom (including, without
limitation, for taxes and fees) and net proceeds, asset identification numbers (if applicable), and description
of relevant contracts related to such Specified Post-Closing Liquidity Transaction.

(p) Cash Flow Reporting. At any time that Liquidity is below $20,000,000, weekly, on
or before the 3rd day of each week, a rolling 13-week cash flow forecast, setting forth on a weekly basis
operating receipts, certain expenses, and disbursements, total cash flows, total liquidity and other items
included therein, in form and substance satisfactory to, Administrative Agent;

(@) Additional Asset I.ocation Detail. Upon request of Administrative Agent, an
updated version of Schedule 5.14 which Schedule includes, for each asset category, detailed location
information with respect to Inventory, Equipment (other than Fleet Equipment) and Fleet Equipment located
on or at project sites.
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(r) Other Information. Upon request of the any Agent, such other information or items
reasonably requested by such Agent.

SECTION 6.02  CERTIFICATES; OTHER INFORMATION.

Orion shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Administrative Agent the following, in form and
detail reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent and Required Lenders:

(a) Compliance Certificate. Concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements
referred to in subsections (a), (b) and (c) of Section 6.01, a duly completed Compliance Certificate signed
by an Authorized Financial Officer of Administrative Borrower;

(b) Cash Balance Access. At all times, Administrative Agent shall have read-only,
electronic access to the Loan Parties' Deposit Accounts and other bank account;

(© Additional Accountant Reports. Promptly after any request by any Agent or any
other Lending Party, copies of any detailed audit reports, management letters or recommendations submitted
to the board of directors (or the audit committee of the board of directors) of any Loan Party by independent
accountants in connection with the accounts or books of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof, or any
audit of any of them; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, no Loan Party shall have any obligation
to disclose material or information that is protected by attorney client privilege or the disclosure of which
would prejudice a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries in current or future litigation with third parties not a party
to this Agreement, or violate applicable law or any confidentiality or security obligation of such Loan Party
or Subsidiary;

(d) [Reserved];
(e) [Reserved];

® Materials from or to Governmental Authorities. Promptly, and in any event within
ten (10) Business Days after receipt thereof (or such later date as the Agents may agree in their sole
discretion) by any Loan Party, copies of each material notice or other correspondence received from, or
delivered to, any Governmental Authority concerning any investigation or possible investigation or other
inquiry by such agency regarding any material financial or other material operational results of any Loan
Party or any Subsidiary thereof;

(8) Changes in Officers and Directors. Promptly, and in any event (i) within ten (10)
Business Days (or such later day as the Agents may agree in their sole discretion) of a Responsible Officer
of any Loan Party becoming aware thereof, written notice (which may be delivered through electronic mail)
of any change in the Persons constituting any of the chief executive officer (or equivalent position) or chief
financial officer (or equivalent position) of a Loan Party and (ii) concurrently with the delivery of the
financial statements referred to in Section 6.01(c), written notice (which may be delivered through
electronic mail) of any change in the Persons constituting the board of directors, board of managers or
managing member (or equivalent governing body) of a Loan Party; and

(h) Tax Returns. Promptly upon request of Administrative Agent, (i) copies of the
executed and dated state and federal income tax returns of each Loan Party and each of its Subsidiaries and
all related schedules, and copies of any extension requests, and (ii) a report detailing any Tax Distributions
made by any Loan Party; and
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@@ Additional Information. Promptly upon (but no later than ten (10) Business Days
after (or such later date as the Agents may agree in their sole discretion)) request therefor by any Lending
Party, such additional information (including budgets, sales projections, operating plans, other financial
information, and any information required to be delivered pursuant to the PATRIOT Act) regarding the
business or the financial or corporate affairs of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof or any assets
thereof or the compliance by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof with the terms of the Loan
Documents or any other matter related to the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries, in each case, as
Administrative Agent or any Lending Party may from time to time reasonably request; provided that,
notwithstanding the foregoing, no Loan Party shall have any obligation to disclose material or information
that is protected by attorney client privilege or the disclosure of which would prejudice a Loan Party or its
Subsidiaries in current or future litigation with third parties not a party to this Agreement, or violate
applicable law or any confidentiality or security obligation of such Loan Party or Subsidiary.

At the request of Administrative Agent, the Loan Parties shall deliver or shall cause to be delivered
all documents required to be delivered pursuant to Section 6.01 or Section 6.02(a) electronically (and in
such format(s) as may be specified by such Lending Party (acting reasonably)), including by email. If such
documents are so delivered, they shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date: (i) on which the Loan
Parties post such documents, or provide a link thereto on the Loan Parties' website on the Internet at the
website address listed on Schedule 10.02; (ii) on which such documents are posted on the Loan Parties'
behalf on an Electronic Platform to which each Lending Party has access or (iii) on which the Loan Parties
has received a "read" response if sent by email; provided that: (A) the Loan Parties shall also deliver paper
copies of such documents to Administrative Agent (or to any Lender upon its request) until such time, if at
all, that a written direction to cease delivering paper copies is given by such Agent or such Lender; and
(B) the Loan Parties shall notify each Lending Party (by facsimile or electronic mail) of the posting of any
such documents and provide to Administrative Agent by electronic mail electronic versions (i.e., soft
copies) of such documents. No Agent shall have an obligation to request the delivery of or to maintain
paper copies of the documents referred to in this paragraph, and in any event no Agent shall have any
responsibility to monitor compliance by the Loan Parties with any such request by a Lender for delivery,
and each Lender shall be solely responsible for requesting delivery to it or maintaining its copies of such
documents.

SECTION 6.03 NOTICES.

Borrowers shall, upon any Responsible Officer of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof
becoming aware thereof, promptly (and in any event within five (5) Business Days (or such later date as
Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion)) notify of such event each Lending Party in writing
of:

(a) Defaults. The occurrence of any Default;

(b) Matters Involving a Material Adverse Effect. Any matter that, to the knowledge of
any Loan Party, has resulted or could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a
Material Adverse Effect, including any such matter arising from: (i) any dispute, litigation, investigation,
proceeding or suspension between any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof and any Governmental
Authority; (ii) the commencement of, or any material development in, any litigation or proceeding affecting
any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof, including pursuant to any applicable Environmental Laws;
(iii) the loss of all or any material portion of the Collateral; or (iv) any dispute, litigation, investigation,
proceeding;
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(o) ERISA Events. The occurrence of any ERISA Event (together with a copy of any
notice to or from the PBGC regarding such ERISA Event) which has resulted or could reasonably be likely
to result in liability of a Loan Party in excess of the Threshold Amount;

(d) Labor Controversies. Any material labor controversy resulting in or that is
reasonably likely to result in any material strike, work stoppage, boycott, shutdown or other material labor
disruption against or involving any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof;

(e) Litigation. The filing or commencement of any action, suit, litigation, investigation
or proceeding, whether at law or in equity by or before any Governmental Authority, (i) against any Loan
Party or any Subsidiary thereof that has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, liability of
such Loan Party or Subsidiary in excess of the Threshold Amount, or (ii) with respect to any Loan
Document;

® Financial Matters. Any material change in accounting policies or financial
reporting practices by a Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof;

(8) New Subsidiaries. The acquisition or formation of any Subsidiary by any Loan
Party; and

(h) [Reserved.]

@) Auditor Discharge. The discharge by any Loan Party or Subsidiary thereof of its
present Auditors or any withdrawal or resignation by such Auditors.

G) Collective Bargaining_Agreement. Any collective bargaining agreement or other
labor contract to which a Loan Party becomes a party, or the application for the certification of a collective
bargaining agent;

k) Liens and Taxes. The filing of any Lien for unpaid Taxes against any Loan Party,
and the existence of all unreported vendor Liens since the delivery of the last Borrowing Base Report, to the
extent such Liens secure amounts in excess of $750,000 in the aggregate.

Q) Casualty and Insurance Damage. Any casualty or other insured damage to any
material portion of the Collateral or the commencement of any action or proceeding for the taking of any
interest in a material portion of the Collateral under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or
similar proceeding or if any material portion of the Collateral is damaged or destroyed.

(m) Beneficial Ownership Certification. As soon as practicable following receipt
thereof, notify Administrative Agent and each Lender of any change in the information provided in the
Beneficial Ownership Certification that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners identified in
such certification.

() Fleet Equipment Matters. Any (i) arrest or threatened arrest of any Vessel in which
any Lien is asserted against such vessel for loss, damage or expense which is covered by insurance required
hereunder, and it is necessary for such Loan Party to obtain a bond or supply other security to prevent arrest
of such Vessel on account of such claim or lien, and (ii) actual or constructive total loss of a Vessel or the
agreed or compromised total loss of a Vessel, or the arrest capture, condemnation, confiscation, registration,
seizure or forfeiture of a Vessel.
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(0) Material Notices. Any material notice received with respect to any Collateral that
adversely and materially affects the interests of the Secured Parties.

Each notice pursuant to this Section 6.03 shall be accompanied by a statement of a Responsible
Officer of each applicable Borrower setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating
what action, if any, Borrowers (or the other applicable Person) have taken or propose to take with respect
thereto. Each notice given pursuant to Section 6.03(a) shall describe with particularity any and all
provisions of this Agreement and any other Loan Document that have been (or could reasonably be
expected to be) breached or violated.

SECTION 6.04 PAYMENT OF CERTAIN OBLIGATIONS.

Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to pay and discharge prior to
delinquency all Tax liabilities, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon them or their
respective properties, other than to the extent that the validity of such Tax liability, assessment or
governmental charge or levy is the subject of a Permitted Protest, in each case, except where failure to do so
would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 6.05 PRESERVATION OF EXISTENCE, ETC.

Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to: (a) preserve, renew and maintain
in full force and effect their respective legal existence and good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction
of their organization except in a transaction expressly permitted by Section 7.04 or Section 7.05 and except,
solely with respect to any Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party, where the failure to do so would not result in a
Material Adverse Effect; (b) take all reasonable actions to maintain all rights, privileges, Permits, licenses
and franchises necessary or material in the normal conduct of their respective businesses; (c) use the
standard of care typical in the industry in the operation and maintenance of its facilities, except where
failure to do so would not result in a Material Adverse Effect; and (d) preserve or renew all of their
respective material registered Intellectual Property.

SECTION 6.06  MAINTENANCE OF PROPERTIES.

Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to: (a) maintain, preserve and protect
all of their respective properties and equipment necessary to the operation of their respective businesses in
good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear and permitted Dispositions hereunder excepted,;
(b) make all commercially reasonable repairs thereto and renewals and replacements thereof; and (c) use
commercially reasonable efforts to operate the facilities owned, leased or operated by such Person now or in
the future in a manner believed by such Person to be consistent with prevailing industry standards in the
locations where the facilities exist from time to time, in each case except where failure to do so would not
result in a Material Adverse Effect Each Loan Party shall maintain all material records required to be
maintained by all applicable Environmental Laws.

SECTION 6.07 MAINTENANCE OF INSURANCE.

Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain, with financially sound
and reputable insurance companies not Affiliates of any Loan Party, insurance with respect to their
respective properties and businesses against loss or damage (including, without limitation, (1) business
interruption, data breach and cyber policy liability coverage, and (2) flood insurance with respect to any
Real Property located in any area identified by FEMA (or any successor agency) as a Special Flood Zone
with such providers, on such terms and in such amounts as required pursuant to the Flood Disaster
Protection Act and the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, and all applicable rules and regulations
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promulgated thereunder, or as otherwise required by Administrative Agent or any Lender (but no less than
the full insurable value of such Mortgaged Property or, if available, the "Probable Maximum Loss" as
calculated by a reputable engineer)) of the kinds customarily insured against by Persons engaged in a
Related Business, of such types and in such amounts as are customarily carried under similar circumstances
by such other Persons. Subject to Section 6.19, all property policies shall have a lender's loss payable
endorsement showing Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lending Parties, as sole loss payee
(except for the other Agent), and all liability policies shall show Administrative Agent, on behalf of the
Lending Parties, or have endorsements showing Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Lending Parties, as
an additional insured. Subject to Section 6.19, business interruption insurance shall be assigned as
collateral security to Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lending Parties. All policies (or
the loss payable and additional insured endorsements) shall provide that the insurer shall give
Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Lending Parties, at least thirty (30) days' notice before canceling,
amending, or declining to renew its policy and ten (10) days' notice of any non-payment of premiums. At
any Lending Party's request, Borrowers shall deliver copies of all of the insurance policies of Loan Parties
and their Subsidiaries certified as complete and correct copies and that such insurance is in full force and
effect. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, Administrative Agent shall
have the right, at its election, in the name of any Loan Party and its Subsidiaries, to file claims under any
insurance policies, to receive, receipt and give acquittance for any payments that may be payable
thereunder, and to execute any and all endorsements, receipts, releases, assignments, reassignments or other
documents that may be necessary to effect the collection, compromise or settlement of any claims under any
such insurance policy. If any Loan Party fails to obtain insurance as required under this Section 6.07 or to
pay any amount or furnish any required proof of payment to third persons and Lenders, Administrative
Agent or Lenders may make all or part of such payments or obtain such insurance policies required in this
Section 6.07 and take any action under the policies that Lenders and Administrative Agent deem necessary
or prudent.

SECTION 6.08 @ COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.

Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply in all material respects
with the requirements of all Laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to them or to their
respective properties or businesses, except in such instances in which the failure to comply therewith could
not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Each Loan Party will, and will cause each of
its Subsidiaries to, comply with all applicable Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Laws in all respects, and with
Anti-Money Laundering Laws in all material respects. Each of the Loan Parties and its Subsidiaries shall
maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure compliance by the Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries with applicable Sanctions, Anti-Corruption Laws, and Anti-Money Laundering Laws. Each
U.S Shipowner, and each Loan Party and each Subsidiary thereof that operates (i) a Documented Vessel, or
(ii) a Titled Vessel or an Undocumented Vessel in the United States, shall remain a U.S. Citizen.

SECTION 6.09 BOOKS AND RECORDS.

Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to: (a) maintain proper Books and
Records, in which full, true and correct (in all material respects) entries in conformity with GAAP in all
material respects consistently applied are made of all financial transactions and matters involving their
respective properties and businesses; and (b) maintain such Books and Records in material conformity with
all applicable requirements of any Governmental Authority having regulatory jurisdiction over them, as the
case may be. Orion shall maintain a full, true and correct copy of its Books and Records regarding its
marine division at Administrative Borrower's offices located at 12000 Aerospace Avenue, Suite 300,
Houston, Texas 77034, and its Books and Records regarding its concrete division at 19319 Qil Center
Boulevard, Houston, Texas 77073.
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SECTION 6.10  INSPECTION RIGHTS; LENDER MEETINGS.

(a) Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of their Subsidiaries to permit
Administrative Agent from time to time, subject (unless any Event of Default, or any other Default that has
been continuing for three (3) Business Days, in respect of a failure to comply with any requirement of
Section 6.01 or Section 6.02(a), or five (5) Business Days in respect of any other any event or condition
that, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default, exists) to
reasonable prior notice and normal business hours, to visit and inspect any of their properties and assets,
including the Collateral, to conduct appraisals of Collateral and to inspect, audit and make extracts from any
Loan Party's or Subsidiary's books and records, and discuss with its officers, employees, agents, advisors
and independent accountants such Loan Party's or Subsidiary's business, financial condition, assets,
prospects and results of operations; provided that unless any Event of Default, or any other Default that has
been continuing for three (3) Business Days, in respect of a failure to comply with any requirement of
Section 6.01 or Section 6.02(a), or five (5) Business Days in respect of any other any event or condition
that, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default, exists the
costs of only one such visit or inspection by Administrative Agent during any 12 month period shall be
borne by Borrowers and the costs of such visits or inspections of Administrative Agent shall be limited as
set forth in clause (b) below. Neither the Agents nor any Lender shall have any duty to any Loan Party to
make any inspection, nor to share any results of any inspection, appraisal or report with any Loan Party or
any of their Subsidiaries. Each Loan Party acknowledge that all inspections, appraisals and reports are
prepared by Agents and Lenders for their purposes, and the Loan Parties shall not be entitled to rely upon
them. Each Loan Party shall cause its senior management to hold meetings with (a) the Agents in person (if
requested by Administrative Agent), on a semi-annual basis, and (b) with the Agents by conference call (in
addition to the public quarterly earnings calls), on a quarterly basis, in each case, to discuss the Loan Parties'
financial performance and projections.

(b) Each Loan Party shall reimburse (i) Administrative Agent for all its reasonable and
documented charges, costs and expenses in connection with examinations of Obligors' books and records or
any other financial or Collateral matters as it deems appropriate, up to three (3) times during any 12 month
period; and (ii) Administrative Agent for all its reasonable and documented charges, costs and expenses in
connection with (x) full appraisals of Equipment (other than Fleet Equipment) and Fleet Equipment, in each
case up to one (1) time per twelve month period (increasing to two (2) times per twelve month period for
each Collateral category if Liquidity falls below $20,000,000 for five (5) consecutive Business Days during
such twelve month period), (y) desktop appraisals of Equipment (other than Fleet Equipment) and Fleet
Equipment, in each case up to one (1) time per twelve month period, and (z) full appraisals and
environmental reviews of Real Property, in each case up to one (1) time per twelve month period; provided,
however, that if an examination, appraisal or review is initiated during any Event of Default, or any other
Default that has been continuing for three (3) Business Days, in respect of a failure to comply with any
requirement of Section 6.01 or Section 6.02(a), or five (5) Business Days in respect of any other any event
or condition that, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of
Default, all such charges, costs and expenses relating thereto shall be reimbursed by Borrowers without
regard to such limits. Borrowers shall pay the Administrative Agent's then standard charges for
examination, appraisal and review activities, including charges for its internal examination and appraisal
groups, as well as the documented charges of any third party used for such purposes. No Revolver
Borrowing Base or Term Loan Borrowing Base calculation shall include acquired Collateral until
completion of applicable field examinations, reviews and appraisals (which shall not be included in the
limits provided above) and other diligence required by (and with the results being satisfactory to)
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion.
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SECTION 6.11 USE OF PROCEEDS.

Borrowers shall use the proceeds of the Loans solely for the purposes set forth on Schedule 5.08;
provided that (y) no part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used, directly or, to Borrowers' knowledge,
indirectly, to make any payments, fund any investments, loans, or contributions in, or otherwise make such
proceeds available to, or fund any operations, activities, or business with, a Sanctioned Person in violation
of Sanctions, or in any other manner that would result in a violation of Sanctions by any Party to this
Agreement, and (z) that no part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used, directly or, to Borrowers'
knowledge, indirectly, in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment
or giving of money, or anything else of value, or in any other manner that would result in a violation of
Anti-Corruption Laws by any Party to this Agreement.

SECTION 6.12 COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS AND EXCLUDED ACCOUNTS.

(a) Schedule 6.12 sets forth details with respect to all Collateral Accounts and
Excluded Accounts of each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries in existence on the Closing Date (the "Closing
Date Accounts").

(b) Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, provide
Administrative Agent written notice within ten (10) days (or such longer period as Administrative Agent, in
its sole discretion, may otherwise agree) of: (i) establishing any new Collateral Account or Excluded
Account at or with any bank or other financial institution; or (ii) terminating or otherwise materially
modifying any existing Collateral Account. Subject to Section 6.19 with respect to the Closing Date
Accounts (other than Excluded Accounts) and within fifteen (15) days (or such later date as Administrative
Agent may agree in its sole discretion) of opening any new Collateral Account, for each Collateral Account
that any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries at any time maintains, Loan Parties shall (except to the extent
specifically not required by Administrative Agent in writing) cause the applicable bank or other financial
institution at or with which such Collateral Account is maintained to execute and deliver a Control
Agreement or other appropriate instrument with respect to such Collateral Account to perfect Administrative
Agent's Lien, for the ratable benefit of each Lender, in such Collateral Account in accordance with the terms
hereof and the Collateral Documents.

SECTION 6.13  FINANCIAL COVENANTS.

(a) Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. The Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, shall maintain, as of the end of each Fiscal Quarter for the applicable
Test Period then ended, a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.10:1.00 for each
such period, commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending September 30, 2024.

(b) Revolver TLoan Turnover Ratio. The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries, on a
consolidated basis, shall maintain, as of the end of each Fiscal Quarter for the Quarterly Test Period then
ended, a Revolver Loan Turnover Ratio of not less than 2.50:1.00 for each such period, commencing with
the Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2023.

(©) Term Loan LTV Ratio. The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries, on a consolidated
basis, shall maintain, as of the end of each Fiscal Quarter, a Term Loan LTV Ratio of not greater than 60%
for each such period, commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2023.

(d) Minimum EBITDA. The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries, on a consolidated
basis, shall achieve, as of the end of each Fiscal Quarter for the applicable Test Period then ended, EBITDA,
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measured for the periods set forth below, of at least the required amount set forth opposite thereto in the
following table:

Period Minimum EBITDA
Quarterly Test Period ended June 30, 2023 $1,039,102
Semi-Annual Test Period ended September 30, 2023 $8,657,960
Tri-Quarterly Test Period ended December 31, 2023 $14,975,675
TFQ Test Period ending March 31, 2024 $29,703,993
TFQ Test Period ending June 30, 2024 $45,857,579
(e) Minimum Liquidity. The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries shall maintain

Liquidity of greater than $15,000,000 at all times.
SECTION 6.14 PROTECTION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS.

Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to: (a) protect, defend and maintain
the validity and enforceability of their respective material Intellectual Property; (b) promptly advise
Administrative Agent in writing of material infringements of their respective material Intellectual Property
known to any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries; and (c) not allow any Intellectual Property that any
Loan Party, acting reasonably, believes is material to the business of Orion, any other Borrower or any of
their Subsidiaries to be abandoned, forfeited or dedicated to the public without Administrative Agent's
written consent.

SECTION 6.15 LITIGATION COOPERATION.

The Loan Parties shall make available to Lending Parties, without expense to Lending Parties, each
Loan Party and its officers, employees and agents and such Loan Party's Books and Records, to the extent
that any Lending Party may deem them reasonably necessary to prosecute or defend any third-party suit or
proceeding instituted by or against any Lending Party with respect to any Collateral the subject of any
Collateral Document or relating to such Loan Party; provided that any expense reimbursement with respect
thereto shall be governed by Section 10.04 of this Agreement.

SECTION 6.16 ERISA COMPLIANCE.

Except as could not be expected to result in liability to a Loan Party in excess of the Threshold
Amount, the Loan Parties shall comply and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply with the
provisions of ERISA with respect to any Pension Plans to which a Borrower or any such Subsidiary is a
party as employer.

SECTION 6.17 MATERIAL CONTRACTS.

Contemporaneously with the delivery of each Compliance Certificate (or such later date as agreed
to by Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion) pursuant to Section 6.02(a), Borrowers shall
provide Administrative Agent with copies of (a) each Material Contract entered into since the delivery of
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the previous Compliance Certificate, and (b) each material amendment or modification of any Material
Contract entered into since the delivery of the previous Compliance Certificate.

SECTION 6.18 FURTHER ASSURANCES.

Promptly upon the written request by Administrative Agent, each Loan Party shall and shall cause
each of its Subsidiaries to take such further acts (including the acknowledgement, execution, delivery,
recordation, filing and registering of documents) as may reasonably be required from time to time to:
(i) carry out more effectively the purposes of this Agreement or any other Loan Document; (ii) subject to the
Liens created by any of the Collateral Documents any of the properties, rights or interests covered by any of
the Collateral Documents or any other properties, rights or interests (including, without limitation, real
property) acquired by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof following the Closing Date, in each case,
other than Excluded Property and Excluded Real Property; (iii) perfect and maintain the validity,
effectiveness and priority of the Liens created or intended to be created by any of the Loan Documents; and
(iv) better assure, convey, grant, assign, transfer, preserve, protect and confirm to Lending Parties the rights,
remedies and privileges existing or granted or now or hereafter intended to be granted to such Persons under
any Loan Document or other document executed in connection therewith. Without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, as soon as practicable but in any event within thirty (30) days (or such longer period as the
Administrative Agent may agree) following any Person becoming a Subsidiary of any Loan Party, or
following the reasonable request of Administrative Agent in the case of any Person that is a Subsidiary of
any Loan Party on the Closing Date that is not a Loan Party on the Closing Date (other than any Subsidiary
that is a CFC or CFC Holdco) cause to be delivered to Administrative Agent each of the following, as
applicable:

(a) a Joinder (as defined in the Guaranty and Security Agreement) to the Guaranty and
Security Agreement duly executed by such Subsidiary, together with executed counterparts of each other
Loan Document reasonably requested by Administrative Agent, including all Collateral Documents and
other documents reasonably requested to establish and preserve the Lien of Collateral Agent in all Collateral
of such Subsidiary;

(b) (i) Uniform Commercial Code financing statements naming such Person as
"Debtor" and naming Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders as "Secured Party," in form,
substance and number sufficient in the reasonable opinion of Administrative Agent's counsel to be filed in
all Uniform Commercial Code filing offices and in all jurisdictions in which filing is necessary to perfect in
favor of Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Lenders the Lien on the Collateral conferred under such
security instrument to the extent such Lien may be perfected by Uniform Commercial Code filing, and,
once filed, copies of such Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, and (ii) pledge agreements
(which pledge, if reasonably requested by Collateral Agent, shall be governed by the laws of the jurisdiction
of such Subsidiary), control agreements, Documents and original collateral (including pledged Equity
Interests (other than Equity Interests that constitutes Excluded Property), Securities and Instruments) and
such other documents and agreements as may be reasonably required by Administrative Agent, all as
necessary to establish and maintain a valid, perfected security interest in favor of Collateral Agent for the
benefit of the Lending Parties in all Collateral in which such Subsidiary has an interest consistent with the
terms of the Loan Documents;

(© upon the reasonable request of Collateral Agent, an opinion of counsel to each such
Subsidiary and addressed to such Agent and the Lenders, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the
such Agent, each of which opinions may be in form and substance, including assumptions and qualifications
contained therein, substantially similar to those opinions of counsel delivered pursuant to Section 4.01(a)

v);
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(d current copies of the organization documents of each such Subsidiary, together with
minutes of duly called and conducted meetings (or duly effected consent actions) of the Board of Directors,
partners, or appropriate committees thereof (and, if required by such organization documents or applicable
law, of the shareholders, members or partners) of such Person authorizing the actions and the execution and
delivery of documents described in this Section 6.18, all certified by the applicable Governmental Authority
or appropriate officer as Administrative Agent may elect; and

(e) within one (1) Business Day prior to becoming a Loan Party, all "know-your-
customer” and customer due diligence documentation satisfactory to the Lenders to the extent such
information is requested by Administrative Agent or the Lenders reasonably promptly after written notice to
such Agent of the proposed joinder of a Loan Party.

SECTION 6.19 POST-CLOSING COVENANT.

The Loan Parties shall perform or cause to be performed each of the conditions subsequent set forth
in Schedule 6.19 within the time periods specified therein.

SECTION 6.20 ENVIRONMENTAL.

(a) Except as could not be expected to result in liability to a Loan Party in excess of the
Threshold Amount, the Loan Parties shall, and shall cause each of their respective Subsidiaries to (i) keep
any property either owned or operated by any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries free of any Environmental
Liens or post bonds or other financial assurances sufficient to satisfy the obligations or liability evidenced
by such Environmental Liens, (ii) conduct its operations and keep and maintain its Real Property in
compliance with Environmental Laws, (iii) obtain, renew, and comply with all permits necessary for its
operations and properties under Environmental Law, and (iv) provide to Administrative Agent
documentation of such compliance which Administrative Agent reasonably requests.

(b) The Loan Parties shall, and shall cause each of their respective Subsidiaries to
(i) promptly notify Administrative Agent of any material Release of a Hazardous Material in any reportable
quantity from or onto property owned or operated by any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries of which any Loan
Party has knowledge and (ii) take any Remedial Actions required to abate said Release or otherwise to come
into compliance, in all material respects, with applicable Environmental Law.

SECTION 6.21 LANDLORD AND STORAGE AGREEMENTS.

Upon request, provide Agents with copies of all agreements, between a Loan Party and any
landlord, warehouseman, processor, shipper, bailee or other Person that owns any premises at which any
Collateral may be kept or that otherwise may possess or handle any Collateral, in each case, (i) other than
project sites and (ii) other locations with a fair market value in excess of $500,000.

SECTION 6.22 AFTER ACQUIRED PROPERTY.

(a) If any Loan Party acquires a fee interest in any Real Property on or after the
Closing Date (other than Excluded Real Property), such Loan Party shall promptly notify the Agents
thereof, and the Loan Parties shall be required to provide, within ninety (90) days of any such acquisition
(or such longer period as Agents may in their discretion agree) a Deed of Trust and all Deed of Trust
Related Documents, including without limitation all Flood Documentation, with respect to such Real
Property. For avoidance of doubt, the Agents shall not be required to accept a Lien or Deed of Trust on any
Real Property (whether existing or acquired on or after the Closing Date) if, in its discretion, it chooses not
to accept such Lien or
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Deed of Trust for any reason, including, without limitation, the failure to receive the Flood Documentation
with respect thereto.

(b) Subject to Section 6.19, the delivery of a Deed of Trust and all Deed of Trust
Related Documents with respect to each Real Property owned in fee by any Loan Party or their Subsidiaries
as of the Closing Date shall be a condition precedent to Closing as set forth in Section 4.01(a) above.

(o) Subject to Section 6.19, the delivery of a Collateral Access Agreement with respect
to each Real Property leased, subleased, licensed, or otherwise occupied by any Loan Party or their
Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date shall be a condition precedent to Closing as set forth in Section 4.01(a)
above.

ARTICLE VII
NEGATIVE COVENANTS

So long as any Obligations (other than Unasserted Obligations) have not been Repaid in Full, no
Loan Party shall, nor shall it permit any Subsidiary of a Loan Party directly or indirectly to do any of the
following:

SECTION 7.01  LIENS.

Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its property, assets or revenues,
whether now owned or hereafter acquired, other than any of the following (collectively, "Permitted
Liens"):

(a) any Lien created in favor of any Lending Party under any Loan Document;

(b) customary Liens of a shipyard on a vessel prior to completion of construction or
retrofitting thereof;

(©) any Lien existing on the date hereof and listed on Schedule 7.01 (setting forth, as
of the Closing Date, the lienholder thereof, the principal amount of the obligations secured thereby and the
property or assets of such Loan Party or such Subsidiary party thereto), and any renewals or extensions
thereof, provided that: (i) the Lien does not extend to any additional property or assets (except for products
and proceeds thereof); (ii) the amount secured or benefited thereby is not increased; (iii) the direct or any
contingent obligor with respect thereto is not changed; and (iv) and any renewal or extension of the
obligations secured or benefited thereby is permitted by Section 7.03(b);

(d) Liens for unpaid Taxes, assessments, or other governmental charges or levies that
either (i) are not yet delinquent, or (ii) do not have priority over the Agents' Liens and the underlying Taxes,
assessments, or charges or levies are the subject of Permitted Protests for which adequate reserves have
been established in accordance with GAAP,

(e) Liens arising by operation of law in favor of warehousemen, landlords, carriers,
mechanics, materialmen, laborers, or suppliers, incurred in the ordinary course of business and not in
connection with the borrowing of money, and which Liens either (i) are for sums not yet overdue by more
than forty-five (45) days, or (ii) are the subject of Permitted Protests; provided such Liens have been waived
or subordinated to the Liens of Agents pursuant to Collateral Access Agreements reasonably acceptable to
Agents or, if required by Agents, are subject to Reserves acceptable to Agents in their Permitted Discretion;
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® Liens incurred, and pledges or deposits in the ordinary course of business in
connection with, workers' compensation, unemployment insurance, social security legislation or other forms
of governmental insurance or benefits, other than any Lien imposed by ERISA;

(g) any easement, right of way, encroachment, restriction or other similar encumbrance
affecting real property that is non-monetary in nature and that, when aggregated with all other such Liens on
such real property, is not substantial in amount, and that does not in any case materially detract from the
value of the property subject thereto or materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business of the
applicable Person;

(h) any Lien securing a judgment for the payment of money not constituting an Event
of Default under Section 8.01(h) or securing an appeal or other surety bond related to any such judgment;
provided such Lien is junior to the Liens of the Agents;

@) earnest money deposits with respect to executed letters of intent or purchase
agreements with respect to an Equipment purchase in the ordinary course of business;

) any Lien securing obligations in respect of a Capital Lease or purchase money
transaction on the assets subject to such Capital Lease or purchase money transaction; provided that (i) such
Capital Lease or purchase money transaction is permitted by Section 7.03(d), (ii) any such Lien does not at
any time encumber any property other than the property financed by the related Debt and proceeds thereof;

k) any Lien arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provision relating
to banker's liens, rights of set off or similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds
maintained with a creditor depository institution; provided that: (i) such deposit account is not a dedicated
cash collateral account and is not subject to restrictions against access by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary
thereof in excess of those set forth by regulations promulgated by the FRB; and (ii) such deposit account is
not intended by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof to provide collateral to the depository institution;
and;

Q) any Lien described in Section 5(IN) of the Ship Mortgages;

(m) in connection with any Disposition of any Equity Interests or other assets in a
transaction permitted under Section 7.05, to the extent constituting an encumbrance with respect thereto
customary restrictions on the activities of the entity that is the subject of such Disposition contained in
agreements relating to such Disposition pending the completion thereof;

(n) Liens cash collateralizing the Existing Letters of Credit and any extension or
renewal thereof;

(o) (i) deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure obligations to
insurance carriers and (ii) Liens on insurance policies and the proceeds thereof securing the financing of the
premiums with respect thereto; provided, that (A) the aggregate amount of such deposits, together with the
amount of premiums financed with respect to such Liens does not exceed $10,000,000 in the aggregate at
any time, to the extent the obligations related thereto are subject to a Subordination Agreement, and
(B) Agents may include as part of Reserves any amount secured by such Lien which is or becomes prior to
the Liens of the Applicable Agent;

) [reserved];
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(@ any zoning, building code or similar law or right reserved to or vested in any
Governmental Authority to control or regulate the use of any real property that does not materially interfere
with the ordinary conduct of the business of Loan Parties and the other Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

(r) deposits of cash with the owner or lessor of premises leased and operated by the
Loan Parties or any other Subsidiary to secure the performance of its obligations under the lease for such
premises, in each case in the ordinary course of business;

(s) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to
secure payment of customs duties in connection with the importation of goods; provided such Liens have
been waived or subordinated to the Liens of Agents pursuant to Collateral Access Agreements reasonably
acceptable to Agents or, if required by Agents, are subject to Reserves acceptable to Agents in their
Permitted Discretion;

® [reserved];

(w) any Lien securing Debt that is permitted by Section 7.03(m);

W) the right of a licensee or sub-licensee under a non-exclusive license agreement
entered into by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof, as licensor, in the ordinary course of business for

the use of intellectual property or other intangible assets of any Loan Party or any such Subsidiary; and

w) other Liens as to which the aggregate amount of the obligations secured thereby
does not exceed $1,000,000 at any time.

SECTION 7.02 INVESTMENTS.
Make any Investments or enter into any agreement to make Investments, except:

(a) Investments in cash and Cash Equivalents;

(b) Investments arising from transactions by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof
with customers or suppliers in the ordinary course of business (provided that, any such Investment with any
shareholder or any other Affiliate shall also be conditioned upon compliance with Section 7.08), including
Investments (including debt obligations) received in connection with the bankruptcy or reorganization of
customers and suppliers and in settlement of delinquent obligations of, and other disputes with, customers
or suppliers arising in the ordinary course of business;

(o) Investments made for the benefit of employees of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary
thereof for the purposes of deferred compensation in the ordinary course of business in accordance with past
practices;

(d) Guarantees of Debt permitted by Section 7.03(c);

(e) Investments existing as of the date hereof and disclosed on Schedule 7.02;

® prepaid rent and security deposits not exceeding $500,000 in the aggregate with
respect to real property leased by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof;

(8 [reserved];
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(h) loans or advances to officers, directors, or employees of Orion, any other Borrower
or any Subsidiary (i) for travel, entertainment, relocation and analogous ordinary business purposes in the
ordinary course of business, (ii) in connection with such Person's purchase of Equity Interests of Orion,
provided that no cash is actually advanced pursuant to this clause (ii), and (iii) for purposes not described in
the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii); provided that the aggregate amount of Investments at any time outstanding
under clauses (i) and (iii) not to exceed $250,000;

@) Investments in the ordinary course of business consisting of (i) endorsements for
collection or deposit and (ii) customary trade arrangements with customers consistent with the Loan Parties'
historical practices;

) [reserved];

k) deposits made in the ordinary course of business with respect to capital equipment
and construction projects;

Q)] Investments resulting from the receipt of promissory notes and other non-cash
consideration from a Disposition in compliance with Section 7.05(h);

(m)  loans and advances to Orion in lieu of, and not in excess of the amount of (after
giving effect to any other such loans, advances or Restricted Payments made to Orion), Restricted Payments
permitted to be made to Orion in accordance with Section 7.06; provided that any such loan or advance
shall reduce the amount of such applicable Restricted Payment thereafter permitted under Section 7.06 by a
corresponding amount for a corresponding period (if such applicable provision of Section 7.06 contains a
maximum amount);

(n) Investments constituting intercompany Debt in accordance with Section 7.03(g) or
Section 7.03(h), provided, that such Investments by the Loan Parties in any Subsidiary that is not a Loan
Party shall not exceed $250,000 at any time;

(o) [reserved];
) [reserved];
(@ [reserved];
(r) to the extent constituting Investments, transactions permitted by Section 7.04;

(s) (i) ownership of the Equity Interests of Subsidiaries existing on the Closing Date
and (ii) Investments by Loan Parties in other Loan Parties; and

® other Investments (other than Acquisitions) in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$3,000,000 in any Fiscal Year.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall this Section 7.02
permit the Borrowers or any other Loan Party to Dispose of or otherwise transfer, or make any Investment
transferring (i) ownership of, or exclusive rights in, any Material Intellectual Property, in or to any Person
other than a Loan Party that is a Domestic Subsidiary, or (ii) any of the Equity Interests of any such Person
that owns any Material Intellectual Property to any other Person, other than to a Loan Party that is a
Domestic Subsidiary, in each case, other than the non-exclusive licensing of Intellectual Property in the
ordinary course of business.
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SECTION 7.03 DEBT.
Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Debt, except:
(a) Debt under the Loan Documents;

(b) Debt outstanding on the date hereof and listed on Schedule 7.03 and any
refinancings, refundings, renewals or extensions thereof; provided that: (i) the amount of such Debt is not
increased at the time of such refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension except by an amount equal to a
reasonable premium or other reasonable amount paid, and fees and expenses reasonably incurred, in
connection with such refinancing and by an amount equal to any existing commitments unutilized
thereunder; and (ii) the terms relating to principal amount, amortization, maturity, collateral (if any) and
subordination (if any), and other material terms taken as a whole, of any such refinancing, refunding,
renewing or extending Debt, and of any agreement entered into and of any instrument issued in connection
therewith, are no less favorable in any material respect to the Loan Parties or Lenders than the terms of any
agreement or instrument governing the Debt being refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended and the
interest rate applicable to any such refinancing, refunding, renewing or extending Debt does not exceed the
then-applicable market interest rate;

(©) Unsecured Guarantees by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof of Debt or
operating leases (including real property leases) of any other Loan Party or any Subsidiary to the extent that
the Person that is obligated under such guaranty could have incurred such underlying Debt or such
operating leases (including real property leases) to the extent constituting Debt under this Section 7.03;

(d) Debt in respect of Capital Leases and purchase money obligations for fixed or
capital assets in an aggregate amount outstanding at any time not to exceed (i) amounts incurred pursuant to
the Specified Sale Leaseback Transactions, plus (ii) $30,000,000, plus (iii) an additional $20,000,000 so
long as the applicable fixed or capital assets relate to the Hawaii Project, plus (iv) an additional $20,000,000
so long as Liquidity exceeds $20,000,000 both immediately before and after giving effect to such
incurrence, plus (v) such other amounts as are approved in writing by Agents in their sole discretion.

(e) [reserved];

® Debt in respect of: (i) workers' compensation claims or obligations in respect of
health, disability or other employee benefits; (ii) property, casualty or liability insurance or self-insurance;
(iii) completion, bid, performance, customs, appeal or surety bonds issued for the account of any Loan Party
or any Subsidiary thereof; (iv) taxes, assessments or other government charges not yet delinquent or which
are the subject of a Permitted Protest; or (v) bankers' acceptances and other similar obligations not
constituting Debt for borrowed money; in each of the foregoing cases, to the extent incurred in the ordinary
course of business;

(8) Debt of any Loan Party owing to and held by any other Loan Party; provided, that
such Debt must be (i) unsecured and expressly subordinated to the prior payment in full in cash of all
Obligations (including, with respect to any Guarantor, its obligations under the Guaranty and Security
Agreement), (ii) subject to the terms of the Intercompany Subordination Agreement, and (iii) evidenced by a
promissory note pledged to Collateral Agent under the applicable Collateral Document;

(h) Debt of Orion or any of its Subsidiaries owing to and held by Orion or any of its
Subsidiaries pursuant to the Intracompany Master Services Agreement;

@) [reserved];
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G unsecured Debt in the form of purchase price adjustments, earn-outs, non-
competition agreements, indemnification obligations or other arrangements representing acquisition
consideration or deferred payments of a similar nature (including seller notes) incurred in connection with
any permitted Investment, so long as such unsecured Debt is on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable
to Administrative Agent;

k) (i) Debt owed in respect of any overdrafts and related liabilities, arising from
treasury, depository and other cash management services or in connection with any automated clearing-
house transfers of funds incurred in the ordinary course; (ii) cash management obligations and other
unsecured Debt incurred in respect of netting services, automatic clearinghouse arrangements, overdraft
protection, and other like services, in each case, incurred in the ordinary course of business, and (iii) Debt in
respect of credit cards, credit card processing services, debit cards, stored value cards, purchase cards
(including so-called "procurement cards" or "P-cards") or other similar cash management services, in each
case, incurred in the ordinary course of business, in an aggregate amount for this clause (iii) not to exceed
$1,000,000; provided that if such Debt is secured, such Debt shall be subject to an intercreditor agreement
acceptable to the Agents unless the foregoing Debt described in clauses (i) through (iii) above relates solely
to Deposit Accounts otherwise subject to a Control Agreement in favor of the Agents in form and substance
satisfactory to the Agents;

Q)] Debt consisting of the financing of insurance premiums in the ordinary course of
business; provided, that (A) the aggregate amount of such Debt, together with the aggregate amount of
deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure obligations to insurance carriers does not exceed
$10,000,000 in the aggregate at any time, to the extent the obligations related thereto are subject to a
Subordination Agreement, and (B) Agents may include as part of Reserves any amount of such Debt which
is not subject to a Subordination Agreement; or

(m) Debt (other than any Debt owed to any Loan Party or Subsidiary or Affiliate
thereof) not otherwise permitted by clauses (a) through (1) above in an aggregate outstanding amount not to
exceed $5,000,000 at any time outstanding and, if such Debt is secured by a Lien on Collateral, such Debt
shall be subject to an intercreditor agreement satisfactory to the Agents.

SECTION 7.04 FUNDAMENTAL CHANGES.
(a) Engage in any material line of business other than a Related Business;

(b) Merge, dissolve, liquidate, consolidate with or into another Person, or Dispose of
(whether in one transaction or in a series of transactions) all or substantially all or any material portion of its
assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) to or in favor of any Person, except that:

@) (A) any Loan Party may merge with another Loan Party; provided, that a
Borrower must be the surviving entity of any such merger to which it is a party, (B) any Loan Party
(other than Orion) may merge with a Subsidiary of such Loan Party that is not a Loan Party so long
as such Loan Party is the surviving entity of any such merger, and (C) any Subsidiaries of Loan
Parties that are not themselves Loan Parties may merge with each other;

(ii) [reserved]; and
(iii)  any Subsidiary of a Loan Party may Dispose of all, or substantially all, of

its assets (upon voluntary liquidation or otherwise) to such Loan Party or to another Subsidiary of a
Loan Party; provided, that, (x) if the transferor in such a transaction is a Loan Party, then the
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transferee must be a Loan Party, (y) transferor in such transaction may not be a Borrower, and (z) if
the transferor is a Domestic Subsidiary, then the transferee must be a Domestic Subsidiary;

(© without at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice (or such shorter notice as the
Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion) to Administrative Agent, in the case of any Loan
Party, (i) change its jurisdiction of organization; (ii) change its organizational structure or type; or
(iii) change its legal name; or

(d) suspend or cease operating a substantial portion of its or their business, except as
permitted pursuant to clause (b) above or in connection with a transaction permitted under Section 7.05.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall this Section 7.04 permit Orion, any other
Borrower or any other Guarantor to Dispose of or otherwise transfer any Material Intellectual Property or
any of the Equity Interests of any Person that owns any Material Intellectual Property to any other Person
other than to a Loan Party that is a Domestic Subsidiary, in each case, other than the non-exclusive licensing
of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business.

SECTION 7.05  DISPOSITIONS.
Make any Disposition, except:

(a) Dispositions of obsolete, surplus or worn out property (other than Intellectual
Property), whether now owned or hereafter acquired, in the ordinary course of business, and the
abandonment or other Disposition of Intellectual Property that is, in the reasonable judgment of the
management of such Loan Party, no longer economically practicable to maintain or useful in the conduct of
the business of such Loan Party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in an aggregate amount for all such
Dispositions (taken together with such Dispositions pursuant to clauses (c) and (h) below) not to exceed the
Disposition Limit in any Fiscal Year;

(b) Dispositions of inventory in the ordinary course of business;

(o) Dispositions of equipment in an aggregate amount for all such Dispositions (taken
together with such Dispositions pursuant to clause (a) above and clause (h) below) not to exceed the
Disposition Limit in any Fiscal Year, to the extent that: (i) such property is exchanged for credit against the
purchase price of similar replacement equipment; or (ii) the proceeds of such Disposition are reasonably
promptly applied to the acquisition of such replacement equipment;

(d) Dispositions permitted by Section 7.04(b);

(e) Specified Asset Dispositions, solely up to an amount necessary to comply with the
requirements of item 1 of Schedule 6.19, and the East and West Jones Sale;

® Dispositions of cash and Cash Equivalents, in each case in the ordinary course of
business;

(8 Dispositions of accounts receivable in connection with the compromise, settlement
or collection thereof in the ordinary course of business; and

(h) Dispositions of property for not less than 75% cash consideration that are not
otherwise permitted under this Section 7.05, so long as:
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@) such Disposition is to a Person who is not an Affiliate of any Loan Party;

(ii) (A) immediately prior to and immediately after giving effect to any such
Disposition, there does not exist a Default or Event of Default; (B) such Disposition could not
reasonably be expected to result in a Default or Event of Default and (C) no Revolver Overadvance
and no Term Loan Overadvance shall exist, in each case before or immediately after giving effect to
such Disposition; and,

(iii)  the aggregate fair market value of all assets subject to Dispositions in
reliance on this Section7.05(h) for all such Dispositions (taken together with such Dispositions
pursuant to clauses (a) and (c) above) does not exceed the Disposition Limit in any Fiscal Year.

@) Dispositions constituting (i) Liens permitted by Section 7.01, (ii) Investments
permitted by Section 7.02, and (iii) Restricted Payments permitted by Section 7.06;

G Dispositions constituting leases or subleases (other than in respect of Eligible Real
Property, Eligible Equipment and Eligible Fleet Equipment) entered into in the ordinary course of business,
to the extent that they do not materially interfere with the business of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary
thereof;

k) Dispositions of property to any Persons who are Loan Parties and Dispositions of
property among non-Loan Parties;

Q)] Dispositions of assets subject to an Event of Loss (including dispositions in lieu of
condemnation);

(m) [reserved];
(n) [reserved]; and

(o) Other Dispositions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,000,000 per Fiscal
Year.

provided that all sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted under this Section 7.05 shall
(1) except in the case of clauses (d) and (k) above, be made for at least fair value (as determined by such
Loan Party or Subsidiary in its good faith, commercially reasonable discretion) and (2) except in the case of
clauses (b), (d), (e), and (k) above, be accompanied by the delivery of an updated pro forma Borrowing
Base Report to the extent any asset or assets having a value of $500,000 or more, either individually or in
the aggregate (based on the fair market value of the assets so disposed) was included in the most recently
delivered Borrowing Base Report. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall this Section 7.05
permit Orion, any other Borrower or any other Guarantor to Dispose of or otherwise transfer any Material
Intellectual Property or any of the Equity Interests of any Person that owns any Material Intellectual
Property to any other Person other than to a Loan Party that is a Domestic Subsidiary, in each case, other
than the non-exclusive licensing of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business.

SECTION 7.06 RESTRICTED PAYMENTS; CERTAIN PAYMENTS OF DEBT.

(a) Declare or make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment, or incur any
obligation (contingent or otherwise) to do so, except that, so long as it is permitted by law,
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@) so long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be
continuing or would result therefrom, Orion may make (and Subsidiaries of Orion may make
distributions to Orion so that Orion may make) cash distributions to current and former employees,
officers, or directors of Orion or its Subsidiaries (or any spouses, ex-spouses, or estates of any of the
foregoing) on account of redemptions of Equity Interests of Orion held by such Persons; provided,
that the aggregate amount of such redemptions made by Orion during the term of this Agreement
does not exceed $1,500,000 per Fiscal Year,

(ii) payments of dividends or other distributions by Subsidiaries of a Loan
Party to such Loan Party;

(iii)  Orion may purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of its Equity
Interests that are not Disqualified Equity Interests or warrants or options to acquire any such equity
interests that are not Disqualified Equity Interests with the proceeds received from the substantially
concurrent issue of new shares of its equity interests that are not Disqualified Equity Interests;

@iv) Loan Parties may make Tax Distributions;
W) Restricted Payments in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,000,000;

(vi) to the extent constituting Restricted Payments, the Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries may take the actions permitted by Section 7.02, Section 7.04(b), and Section 7.06(b);

(vii)  Orion may declare and make dividend payments or other distributions, in
each case, which are payable solely by the issuance of Equity Interests of Orion that are not
Disqualified Equity Interests of such Person;

(viii) the Loan Parties may reimburse reasonable out-of-pocket costs and
expenses incurred by any shareholder or other Affiliate of Loan Party in rendering, or in connection
with, the management, transactional, financial or other corporate advisory services provided to
Orion and/or its Subsidiaries, and may reimburse the reasonable fees and expenses of any third-
party advisors and reasonable expenses associated with any business-related travel, and may
undertake reasonable indemnification payments or reimbursements to such shareholder or other
Affiliate providing such services, and

(ix) the payment of reasonable severance and director fees to any shareholder
or other Affiliate of a Loan Party or one of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and
consistent with industry practice, so long as it has been approved by such Loan Party's or such
Subsidiary's board of directors (or comparable governing body) in accordance with applicable law;

x) other Restricted Payments, in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$5,000,000 in any Fiscal Year of Orion, so long as the Payment Conditions are satisfied.

(b) Make any payment on account of, or redemption or acquisition for value of any
portion of, any Earn-Out Obligations or any other Debt that has been contractually subordinated to the

Obligations, except:

@) to the extent such payment is permitted at such time under the applicable
subordination terms;
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(ii) any refinancing of such Debt with the proceeds of other Debt permitted
under Section 7.03;

(iii) [reserved]; and

@iv) any payment with respect to any Earn-Out Obligations that is paid solely
and exclusively by the issuance of additional Equity Interests of Orion that are not Disqualified
Equity Interests.

(o) Make any optional or voluntary prepayment, redemption, defeasance, purchase or
other acquisition of any Debt of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, including the exercise of any purchase
option in respect of any Specified Sale Leaseback Transaction, except:

@) any refinancing of such Debt with the proceeds of other Debt permitted
under Section 7.03;

(ii) any payment of the Revolving Loan Obligations in accordance with this
Agreement; and

(iii)  other Debt (including any payment of the Term Loan Obligations and the
exercise of any purchase option in respect of any Specified Sale Leaseback Transaction) in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement or such Debt, as applicable, so long as the Payment
Conditions are satisfied.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Orion, any other Borrower or any other Loan Party
Dispose or otherwise transfer (whether as an in kind Restricted Payment or otherwise) any Material
Intellectual Property or any of the Equity Interests of any Person that owns any Material Intellectual
Property to any other Person other than to a Loan Party that is a Domestic Subsidiary, in each case, other
than the non-exclusive licensing of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business.

SECTION 7.07 CHANGES RELATING TO DEBT.

Directly or indirectly, amend, change, supplement or otherwise modify any agreement, instrument,
document, indenture or other writing evidencing or concerning any Debt that has been contractually
subordinated to the Obligations, if such modification would breach an applicable subordination agreement
or other subordination terms applicable to such Debt.

SECTION 7.08 TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES.

Enter into any transaction of any kind with any Affiliate of a Loan Party, irrespective of whether in
the ordinary course of business, other than on fair and reasonable terms substantially as favorable to such
Loan Party or Subsidiary of such Loan Party as would be obtainable by such Person at the time in a
comparable arm's length transaction with a Person other than an Affiliate, provided that the foregoing
restriction shall not apply to:

(a) any indemnity provided for the benefit of directors (or comparable managers) of a
Loan Party or one of its Subsidiaries so long as it has been approved by such Loan Party's or such

Subsidiary's board of directors (or comparable governing body) in accordance with applicable law,

(b) the payment of reasonable compensation, severance, or employee benefit
arrangements to employees, officers, and outside directors of a Loan Party or one of its Subsidiaries in the
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ordinary course of business and consistent with industry practice so long as it has been approved by such
Loan Party's or such Subsidiary's board of directors (or comparable governing body) in accordance with
applicable law;

(© (i) transactions solely among the Loan Parties, and (ii) transactions solely among
Subsidiaries of Loan Parties that are not Loan Parties,

(d Restricted Payments and Investments permitted hereunder and Debt permitted
under Section 7.03(g);

(e) Guarantees permitted by Section 7.03(c);

® transactions pursuant to the Loan Documents or any amendment thereto to the
extent such amendment, individually or in the aggregate with any other amendments thereto, is not adverse
to the Lender or any Loan Party when taken as a whole in any material respect;

(g) [reserved]; and

(h) payment of customary out-of-pocket costs and expenses of any future or current
officers, directors, employees, or managers of Orion, the other Borrowers and the other Subsidiaries.

SECTION 7.09 BURDENSOME AGREEMENTS.

(a) Enter into any Contractual Obligation that limits the ability: (A) of any Subsidiary
of a Loan Party to make Restricted Payments to such Loan Party or to otherwise transfer property to such
Loan Party; (B) of any Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party to Guarantee the Debt of a Borrower;
(C) of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist Liens on property
of such Person or (D) requires the grant of a Lien to secure an obligation of such Person if a Lien is granted
to secure another obligation of such Person; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to:

@) any negative pledge incurred or provided in favor of any holder of Debt
under Section 7.03(b), Section 7.03(d) or Section 7.03(t) solely to the extent that any such negative
pledge relates to the property financed by or the subject of such Debt and proceeds of, and after-
acquired property that is affixed or incorporated into, such assets;

(ii) restrictions imposed by law or contained in this Agreement or any Loan
Documents;

(iii) restrictions contained in any agreement or instrument relating to Debt
permitted under Section 7.03(d), but solely to the extent such restrictions relate to the property
financed by or the subject of such Debt and proceeds and products of, and after-acquired property
that is affixed or incorporated into, such assets;

@iv) customary provisions in leases, licenses and other agreements restricting
the assignment thereof and of the property or assets subject thereto;

W) restrictions on cash and other deposits contained in any agreements entered
into in the ordinary course of business;
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(vi) restrictions contained in any agreement in connection with any Disposition
permitted by Section 7.05, provided that such restrictions apply only to the assets or Subsidiaries
that are the subject of such Disposition;

(vii)  restrictions contained in any agreement or instrument relating to Debt of
any Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party permitted under Section 7.03, provided that such restrictions
apply only to such Subsidiary and its Subsidiaries;

(viii)  any restrictions or conditions set forth in any agreement in effect at any
time any Person becomes a Subsidiary (but not any modification or amendment expanding the
scope of any such restriction or condition); provided that such agreement was not entered into in
contemplation of such Person becoming a Subsidiary and the restriction or condition set forth in
such agreement does not apply to Orion, any other Borrower or any other Subsidiary;

(ix) agreements, instruments, deeds or leases that prohibit the granting of a Lien
on such agreement, instrument, deed or lease, or the assets that are the subjects thereof if and for so
long as such assets constitute Excluded Property or Excluded Real Property;

x) restrictions imposed by customary provisions in partnership agreements,
limited liability company organizational governance documents, joint venture agreements and other
similar agreements that restrict the transfer of the assets of, or ownership interests in, such
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or similar Person;

(xi) restrictions which arise in connection with cash or other deposits permitted
under Sections 7.01 and 7.02 and limited to such cash or deposit;

(xii)  customary provisions in agreements with clearing houses or other similar
agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(xiii) customary restrictions in respect of intellectual property contained in
licenses or sublicenses of, or other grants of rights to use or exploit, such intellectual property;

(b) amend, supplement, modify, waive or alter (or agree to do so) its Organizational
Documents, in each case to the extent such amendment, modification or waiver could reasonably be
expected, either individually or in the aggregate, to be adverse in any material respect to the interests of the
Lenders; or

(© pay excessive or unreasonable salaries, bonuses, commissions, consultant fees or
other compensation to any officer, director, management-level employee, equity holder or consultant of any
Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, or any family member of any of the foregoing.

SECTION 7.10 MARGIN STOCK.
Use the proceeds of any Credit Extension, whether directly or indirectly, and whether immediately,
incidentally or ultimately, to purchase or carry margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U of the

FRB) or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock or to refund
indebtedness originally incurred for such purpose.
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SECTION 7.11 CERTAIN GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS.

Fail to provide documentary and other evidence of any Loan Party's identity as may be requested by
any Lending Party at any time to enable such Lending Party to verify any Loan Party's identity or to comply
with any applicable Law, including Section 326 of the PATRIOT Act, the Investment Company Act, and the
FCPA.

SECTION 7.12  DISQUALIFIED EQUITY INTERESTS.

(a) Issue any Disqualified Equity Interests, or (b) be or become liable in respect of any
obligation (contingent or otherwise) to purchase, redeem, retire, acquire or make any other payment in
respect of any Equity Interests of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary.

SECTION 7.13 FLEET EQUIPMENT MATTERS.

(a) Transfer or change the flag of or change the name or vessel number of, any of the
Documented Vessels without the prior written consent of Administrative Agent; provided, that any such
consent, once obtained shall not be construed to be a waiver of this provision with respect to any subsequent
proposed transfer or change of flag, or change in the name or vessel number of such vessel, or any other
Documented Vessels; provided further, that, upon notice to Administrative Agent, any Loan Party or
Subsidiary of a Loan Party shall be permitted to document any Titled Vessel or Undocumented Vessel so
that such vessel becomes a Documented Vessel.

(b) Permit any Vessel that is Eligible Fleet Equipment to be flagged in any jurisdiction
other than the United States;

(© (i) Cause or permit any Vessel to be operated in any manner contrary to Law; (ii)
engage in any unlawful trade or violate any law or expose any Vessel to penalty or forfeiture, except where
any such operation, engagement, violation or exposure could not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect; or (iii) do, or suffer or permit to be done, anything which can or may injuriously affect, in
any material respect, the registration, documentation or trade endorsement of a Documented Vessel or Titled
Vessel under the laws and regulations of the United States or such other jurisdiction governing the
documentation or registration of such Documented Vessel or Titled Vessel;

(d) (i) Do or permit or willingly allow to be done any act to cause any insurance
required by the terms of this Agreement or any Ship Mortgage to be suspended, impaired or cancelled, and
(ii) permit or allow any Vessel to undertake any voyage or run any risk or transport any cargo or passengers
which may not be permitted by the policies in force, without having first insured such Vessel by additional
coverage for such voyages, risks, passengers or cargos; and

(e) Move any Fleet Equipment that is Eligible Fleet Equipment outside of the United
States, unless (i) pursuant to a binding contract for a project, and (ii) having first delivered to the
Administrative Agent a certificate duly executed by an executive officer of Orion that describes the intended
geographic location of the Fleet Equipment, which shall be an Approved Operating Jurisdiction, and
duration of the project.

SECTION 7.14  ORION CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION.

Each Loan Party agrees to the maximum extent not prohibited by applicable law that, absent the
express prior written consent of Administrative Agent to the contrary, (a) such Loan Party shall not propose
or agree to any compromise, arrangement or reorganization of a type or in a manner described in Article 12
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of the Orion COI as in effect on the date hereof (or any similar clause in any other Governing Document of
any Loan Party as may be in effect from time to time), or otherwise under Sections 102(b)(2) and/or 302 of
the Delaware General Corporation Law, or directly or indirectly seek to have a court order a meeting of
creditors in respect of any such compromise, arrangement or reorganization, and (b) notwithstanding
anything to the contrary set forth in the Orion COI (or any other Governing Document of any Loan Party as
may be in effect from time to time), Agents and the Lenders (and the Obligations) shall not be bound by or
subject to any compromise of creditors of the type described in Article 12 of the Orion COI as in effect on
the date hereof (or any similar clause in any other Governing Document of any Loan Party as may be in
effect from time to time) or Sections 102(b)(2) and 302 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

ARTICLE VIII
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

SECTION 8.01 EVENTS OF DEFAULT.
Each of the following shall constitute an event of default hereunder (each, an "Event of Default"):

(a) Non-Payment. A Borrower or any other Loan Party fails to pay when due (whether
by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand or otherwise) (i) all or any portion of the
Obligations consisting of fees or charges due to any Agent or Lender, reimbursement of costs and expenses
under Section 10.04(a), or other amounts (other than any portion thereof consisting of principal or interest)
constituting Obligations, and such failure continues for a period of three (3) Business Days, or (ii) all or any
portion of the principal or interest on any of the Loans; or

(b) Specific Covenants. (i) A Borrower or any other Loan Party or Subsidiary thereof
fails to perform or observe (A) any term, covenant or agreement contained in any of Section 6.01(g)
through 6.01(q), Section 6.02(a), Section 6.03, Section 6.05(a), Section 6.07, Section 6.10, Section 6.11,
Section 6.12, Section 6.13, Section 6.18, Section 6.19 (other than item 1 of Schedule 6.19), or Article VII;
provided that (x) any Event of Default arising under Section 6.13 shall be subject to cure pursuant to
Section 8.03, and (y) Borrowers may be not more than three (3) days late in delivering any of the materials
required by Sections 6.01(h) through 6.01(q) without such delay constituting an Event of Default (but
during such period such event shall constitute a Default), or (B) any other term of any Loan Document
(other than item 1 of Schedule 6.19) which by its terms is incapable of cure, including, without limitation,
the defaults set forth in Section 7(A)(iii) of any Ship Mortgage, or (ii) any Loan Party fails to perform or
observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in the Guaranty and Security Agreement; or

(©) Representations and Warranties. Any representation, warranty, certification or
statement of fact made or deemed made by or on behalf of a Borrower or any other Loan Party herein, in
any other Loan Document or in any document delivered in connection herewith or therewith shall be
incorrect or misleading in any material respect (except that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable
to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text
thereof) when made or deemed made; or

(d) Other Defaults. (i) Any Loan Party fails to perform or observe any other covenant
or agreement (not specified in Section 8.01(a), Section 8.01(b), Section 8.01(c), or Section 8.01(d)(ii))
contained in any Loan Document (other than item 1 of Schedule 6.19) on its part to be performed or
observed and such failure continues for thirty (30) days (without duplication with respect to the 30-day
grace period set forth in Section 7(A)(iv) of any Ship Mortgage), (ii) any Loan Party fails to perform or
observe any other covenant or agreement in Section 6.01(a) through 6.01(f) and such failure continues for
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five (5) days, or (iii) any Loan Party fails to perform or observe any other covenant or agreement in
Section 6.02(c) or Section 6.02(i) and such failure continues for ten (10) days; or

(e) [Reserved]; or

® Cross Default. (i) Any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof: (x) subject to any
applicable cure period, fails to make any payment when due (whether by scheduled maturity, required
prepayment, acceleration, demand, or otherwise) in respect of any Debt (other than Debt hereunder and
Debt under any swap contracts) having an aggregate principal amount (including undrawn committed or
available amounts and including amounts owing to all creditors under any combined or syndicated credit
arrangement) of more than the Threshold Amount; or (y) subject to any applicable cure period fails to
observe or perform any other agreement or condition relating to any such Debt described in clause (i) above
or contained in any document evidencing, securing or relating to any of such Debt, or any other default or
event occurs, the effect of which failure, default or other event is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders
of such Debt (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause, with the giving of notice if
required, such Debt to be demanded or to become due or to be repurchased, prepaid, defeased or redeemed
(automatically or otherwise), or an offer to repurchase, prepay, defease or redeem such Debt to be made,
prior to its stated maturity, or (ii) there occurs under any swap contract an early termination date (as defined
in such swap contract) resulting from (A) any event of default under such swap contract as to which any
Loan Party or any Subsidiary is the Defaulting Party (as defined in such swap contract) or (B) any
Termination Event (as so defined) under such swap contract as to which any Loan Party or any Subsidiary is
an Affected Party (as so defined) and, in either event, the swap termination value owed by a Loan Party or
any Subsidiary as a result thereof is greater than the Threshold Amount; provided that this clause (f) shall
not apply to secured Debt that becomes due, or which any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof shall be
required to prepay or repurchase, as a result of the sale or transfer (including by way of condemnation or
casualty) of the property or assets securing such Debt if such sale or transfer is permitted hereunder and
under the documents providing for such Debt; or

(8 Insolvency Proceedings, Etc. Any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof
(i) institutes or consents to the institution of any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law, or makes an
assignment for the benefit of creditors; (ii) applies for or consents to the appointment of any receiver,
trustee, custodian, conservator, liquidator, rehabilitator or similar officer for it or for all or any material part
of its property; or any receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator, liquidator, rehabilitator or similar officer is
appointed without the application or consent of such Person and the appointment continues undischarged or
unstayed for sixty (60) days; or (iii) is the subject of any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law relating to
any such Person or to all or any material part of its property that is instituted without the consent of such
Person and continues undismissed or unstayed for sixty (60) days, or an order for relief is entered in any
such proceeding; or

(h) Inability to Pay Debts; Attachment. (i) Any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof
becomes unable or admits in writing its inability or fails generally to pay its debts as they become due; or
(ii) any writ or warrant of attachment or execution or similar process is issued or levied against all or any
material part of the property of any such Person and is not released, vacated or fully bonded within forty-
five (45) days after its issue or levy; or

@) Judgments. There is entered against any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof: (i) a
final judgment or order for the payment of money in an aggregate amount exceeding the Threshold Amount
(to the extent not covered by independent third-party insurance as to which the insurer does not dispute
coverage); or (ii) any one or more non-monetary final judgments that have, or could reasonably be expected
to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect and, in either case: (A) enforcement
proceedings are commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or order; or (B) there is
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a period of forty-five (45) consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of such judgment, by reason
of a pending appeal or otherwise, is not in effect; or

G ERISA. (i) An ERISA Event occurs with respect to a Pension Plan or
Multiemployer Plan which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in liability of any Loan
Party under Title IV of ERISA to the Pension Plan, Multiemployer Plan or the PBGC in an aggregate
amount in excess of the Threshold Amount or a Lien on the assets of any Loan Party under Section 303(k)
of ERISA or Section 4068 of ERISA or Section 430(k) of the Code; or (ii) any Loan Party or any ERISA
Affiliate fails to pay when due, after the expiration of any applicable grace period, any installment payment
with respect to its withdrawal liability under Section 4201 of ERISA under a Multiemployer Plan in an
aggregate amount in excess of the Threshold Amount; or

k) Invalidity_of Loan Documents. Any Loan Document or any material provision
thereof, at any time after its execution and delivery and for any reason other than as expressly permitted
hereunder or thereunder or the satisfaction in full of all of the Obligations (other than Unasserted
Obligations) and other than as a result of an action or inaction by an Agent or any Lender, ceases to be in
full force and effect other than in accordance with its terms; or any Loan Party or any other Person (other
than a Lending Party) contests in any manner in writing the validity or enforceability of any Loan
Document or any provision thereof; or any Loan Party denies that it has any or further liability or obligation
under any Loan Document, or purports to limit, revoke, terminate or rescind any Loan Document or any
provision thereof; or

Q) Impairment of Collateral. Any Lien purported to be created by any Collateral
Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by any Loan Party not to be, a valid, perfected, first-priority
(except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or such Collateral Document) Lien in the assets
covered thereby, other than in respect of assets that, individually and in the aggregate, do not have a value in
excess of the Threshold Amount; or

(m) Certain Actions. Any Loan Party or any of its senior officers is criminally indicted
or convicted of (i) a felony or (ii) violating any state or federal Laws (including the Controlled Substances
Act, Money Laundering Control Act of 1986 and Illegal Exportation of War Materials Act) that has resulted
in, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, a forfeiture of any material property or any assets (including
the Collateral) upon which such Loan Party has granted a Lien to an Agent or the right to conduct a material
part of such Loan Party's business; or

(n) Invalidity _of Subordination Provisions. The subordination provisions of any
Subordination Agreement or any other agreement or instrument governing any subordinated obligations
shall for any reason be revoked or invalidated, or otherwise cease to be in full force and effect, or any
Person shall contest in any manner the validity or enforceability thereof or deny that it has any further
liability or obligation thereunder, or the Obligations, for any reason shall not have the priority contemplated
by this Agreement or such subordination provisions; or

(o) [Reserved];

(p) Guaranty. If the obligation of any Guarantor under the guaranty contained in the
Guaranty and Security Agreement is limited or terminated by operation of law or by such Guarantor (other
than in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or such Guaranty) or if any Guarantor repudiates or
revokes or purports to repudiate or revoke any such guaranty; or

(@ Change of Control. There occurs a Change of Control.

116




SECTION 8.02 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.

(a) Rights and Remedies Generally. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation
of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent may (and, at the instruction of the applicable Required
Lenders, shall), in each case except as otherwise provided in clauses (i) and (ii) below, in addition to any
other rights or remedies provided for hereunder or under any other Loan Document or by applicable law,
without notice or demand, do any one or more of the following:

@) Administrative Agent may, and at the instruction of the Required Revolver
Lenders, Administrative Agent shall terminate the Revolver Commitments, or adjust the Revolver
Borrowing Base (but if an Event of Default described in Section 8.01(g) occurs, all Revolver
Commitments shall immediately be terminated without any action by Administrative Agent or any
Revolver Lender), and Administrative Agent may, and at the instruction of the Required Term Loan
Lenders, Administrative Agent shall adjust the Term Loan Borrowing Base;

(ii) (A) Administrative Agent may, and at the instruction of the Required Term
Loan Lenders, Administrative Agent shall declare all Term Loan Obligations (including the
applicable Make-Whole Amount) immediately due and payable (but if an Event of Default
described in Section 8.01(g) occurs, all Term Loan Obligations (including the applicable Make-
Whole Amount) outstanding shall immediately be due and payable without any action by
Administrative Agent or any Term Loan Lender) and (B) Administrative Agent may, and at the
instruction of the Required Revolver Lenders, Administrative Agent shall declare all Revolver
Obligations (including the applicable Make-Whole Amount) immediately due and payable (but if an
Event of Default described in Section 8.01(g) occurs, all Revolver Obligations (including the
applicable Make-Whole Amount) outstanding shall immediately be due and payable without any
action by Administrative Agent or any Revolver Lender);

(iii)  stop advancing money or extending credit for a Borrower's benefit under
this Agreement or under any other agreement between any Loan Party and Administrative Agent or
any Revolver Lender;

@iv) settle or adjust disputes and claims directly with Account Debtors on
accounts of any Loan Party for amounts on terms and in any order that either Agent considers
advisable, notify any Person owing any Loan Party money of either Agent's Lien on such funds, and
verify the amount of such account. Each Loan Party shall collect all payments in trust for
Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders and, if requested by either Agent, immediately
deliver the payments to the Lenders in the form received from the Account Debtor, with proper
endorsement for deposit;

) make any payments and do any acts it considers necessary or reasonable to
protect the Collateral and/or its Lien upon the Collateral. Each Loan Party shall assemble the
Collateral if either Agent so requests and make it available as such Agent so designates. Any Agent
or any Lender may enter the premises where the Collateral is located, take and maintain possession
of any part of the Collateral, and pay, purchase, contest, or compromise any Lien which appears to
be prior or superior to such Agent's Lien thereon and pay all expenses incurred. Each Loan Party
grants the Agents for the benefit of Lenders a license to enter and occupy any of its premises,
without charge, to exercise any of Agents' or any other Lending Party's rights or remedies;

(vi) (A) apply to the Term Loan Obligations any (x) balances and deposits of

any Loan Party that it holds, or (y) any amount held by either Agent or any Lender owing to or for
the credit or the account of any Loan Party and (B) apply to the Revolver Obligations any
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(x) balances and deposits of any Loan Party that it holds, or (y) any amount held by either Agent or
any Lender owing to or for the credit or the account of any Loan Party;

(vii)  ship, reclaim, recover, store, finish, maintain, repair, prepare for sale,
advertise for sale, and sell the Collateral. For the purpose of enabling the Collateral Agent to
exercise the rights and remedies under this Agreement when an Event of Default is continuing and
for no other purpose, to the extent of such Loan Party's rights and subject to any limitations set forth
in any Intellectual Property license, each Agent is hereby granted a non-exclusive, royalty-free
license or other right to use without charge, each Loan Party's or any of its Subsidiaries' labels,
patents, copyrights, mask works, rights of use of any name, trade secrets, trade names, trademarks,
service marks, and advertising matter, other Intellectual Property, or any similar property as it
pertains to the Collateral, in completing production of, advertising for sale, and selling any
Collateral and, in connection with such Agent's exercise of its rights under this Section 8.02, Each
Loan Party's and each of its Subsidiaries' rights under all licenses and all franchise agreements inure
to each Agent for benefit of Lenders;

(viii)  place a "hold" on any account maintained with the Agents and/or deliver a
notice of exclusive control, any entitlement order, or other directions or instructions pursuant to any
Control Agreement or similar agreements providing control of any Collateral;

(ix) demand and receive possession of the Books and Records of each Loan
Party; and

x) exercise all default rights and remedies available to any of the Lending
Parties under the Loan Documents or at law or equity, including all default remedies provided under
the UCC (including disposal of the collateral (including all Collateral) pursuant to the terms
thereof).

(b) Power of Attorney. Each Loan Party hereby irrevocably appoints (A) WOABL as
Collateral Agent and (B) WOCF as Administrative Agent, in each case, as its lawful attorney-in-fact, to: (i)
if such Loan Party refuses to, or fails timely to execute and deliver any of the documents required to be
delivered by it pursuant to the terms hereof, sign the name of such Loan Party on any of such documents;
(ii) endorse such Loan Party's name on any checks or other forms of payment or security, sign such Loan
Party's name on any invoice or bill of lading for any account or drafts against Account Debtors or sign such
Loan Party's name on any notices to Account Debtors; (iii) send requests for verification of Accounts; (iv)
endorse each Loan Party's name on any collection item that may come into either Agent's possession; (v) at
any time that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, make, settle, and adjust all claims under
such Loan Party's policies of insurance and make all determinations and decisions with respect to such
policies of insurance; (vi) at any time that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, take control,
in any manner, of any item of payment or proceeds relating to any Collateral; (vii) at any time that an Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing, prepare, file, and sign such Loan Party's name to a proof of claim
in bankruptcy or similar document against any Account Debtor, or to any notice of lien, assignment, or
satisfaction of lien or similar document in connection with any of the Collateral; (viii) at any time that an
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, receive, open and dispose of all mail addressed to such
Loan Party, and notify postal authorities to change the address for delivery thereof to such address as either
Agents may designate; (ix) at any time that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, use the
information recorded on or contained in any data processing equipment, computer hardware, and software
relating to the Collateral; (x) at any time that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, settle and
adjust disputes and claims respecting the Accounts, Chattel Paper or General Intangibles directly with
Account Debtors, for amounts and upon terms that each Agent determines to be reasonable, and such Agent
may cause to be executed and delivered any documents and releases that such Agent determines to be

118




necessary; (xi) file UCC-3 assignments reflecting such Agent as assignee of such Loan Party with respect
to UCC-1 financing statements filed by such Loan Party in connection with Collateral; (xii) to the extent
any Loan Party has the right to do so, cause an Account Debtor's insurers to add Agents as loss payee under
the relevant insurance policy; (xiii) at any time that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, pay,
contest or settle any Lien, charge, encumbrance, security interest, and adverse claim in or to the Collateral,
or any judgment based thereon, or otherwise take any action to terminate or discharge the same; (xiv) at any
time that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, transfer any Collateral into the name of each
Agent for the benefit of Lenders or a third-party as the UCC permits; and (xv) do all other acts and things
necessary, in the Applicable Agent's determination, to fulfill each Loan Party's obligations under this
Agreement. Each Loan Party hereby appoints each Agent as its lawful attorney-in-fact to sign such Loan
Party's name on any documents necessary to perfect or continue the perfection of any security interest or
other Lien in the Collateral regardless of whether an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing until
all Obligations have been Repaid in Full. Each Agent's foregoing appointment as the attorney-in-fact for
each Loan Party, and all of the Agents' rights and powers, being coupled with an interest, are irrevocable
until all Obligations have been fully paid and performed when due (as applicable).

(©) Protective Advances. Each Agent, any Lender (or any of them) with the consent of
the Administrative Agent shall be authorized, in their sole discretion, to make Loans ("Protective
Advances") if such Agent deems such Loans necessary or desirable (a) to preserve or protect Collateral, or
to enhance the collectability or repayment of Obligations, (b) to obtain any insurance if any Loan Party fails
to obtain the insurance required by the terms hereof or fails to pay any premium thereon, (c); to pay any
other amounts chargeable to Loan Parties under any Loan Documents, including interest, costs, fees and
expenses. Any Agent or any Lender which intends to make any Protective Advance shall use commercially
reasonable efforts, to the extent practicable, to consult with the Agents and/or the other Lenders (as
applicable) prior to making any Protective Advance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall any
Agent or any Lender have any duty or obligation to make any Protective Advance(s). All Protective
Advances paid shall constitute expenses reimbursable under Section 10.04, shall be immediately due and
payable, shall bear cash interest until paid at the then highest interest rate applicable to any of the
Obligations and shall be secured by the Collateral. Required Revolver Lenders may at any time revoke any
Administrative Agent's and any Revolver Lender's authority to make Protective Advances hereunder by
written notice to such Administrative Agent. Required Term Loan Lenders may at any time revoke any
Administrative Agent's and any Term Loan Lender's authority to make Protective Advances hereunder by
written notice to such Administrative Agent. Absent such revocation, each Agent's determination that
funding of a Protective Advance is appropriate shall be conclusive. Each Agent will use good faith
commercially reasonable efforts (with no liability for failing to do so) to provide Borrowers with notice of
such Agent or Lenders obtaining any insurance on behalf of Administrative Borrower or any other Loan
Party at the time it is obtained or within a reasonable time thereafter. The making of any Protective
Advances shall not be or be deemed to be an agreement to make Protective Advances in similar or different
circumstances in the future and shall not operate or be deemed to operate as a waiver by any Agent or any
Lender of any Event of Default.

(d) Application of Funds.

@) No Loan Party shall have the right to specify the order or the accounts to
which Administrative Agent shall allocate or apply any payments required to be made by any Loan
Party to Administrative Agent on behalf of Term Loan Lenders or otherwise received by
Administrative Agent on behalf of Term Loan Lenders under this Agreement when any such
allocation or application is not specified elsewhere in this Agreement.
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(ii) Following an Application Event, all payments or prepayments to
Administrative Agent or any Term Loan Lender on account of the Term Loan Obligations shall be
applied by Administrative Agent until exhausted in the following order:

(A) first, to Administrative Agent, to pay all fees, costs, expenses and
indemnification payments then due to Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents
(excluding all Protective Advances made by Administrative Agent);

B) second, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and any Term Loan
Lender which has made a Protective Advance, to pay all Protective Advances held by
Administrative Agent or any Term Loan Lender and all unpaid interest on such Protective
Advances;

©) third, pro rata, to the Term Loan Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay all accrued but unpaid interest and fees (including
interest at the applicable Default Rate and any Make-Whole Amounts) on the Term Loans
owing to Term Loan Lenders;

(D) fourth, pro rata, to the Term Loan Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay the Outstanding Amount of the Term Loans until such
time as the Outstanding Amount of the Term Loans has been Paid in Full;

(E) fifth, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and the Term Loan Lenders,
to pay all remaining Credit Outstandings and other Term Loan Obligations owing to
Administrative Agent or any Term Loan Lenders;

(F) sixth, to Administrative Agent, to pay all fees, costs, expenses and
indemnification payments then due to Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents
(excluding all Protective Advances made by Administrative Agent);

()] seventh, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and any Revolver
Lender which has made a Protective Advance, to pay all Protective Advances held by
Administrative Agent or any Revolver Lender and all unpaid interest on such Protective
Advances;

(H) eighth, pro rata, to the Revolver Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay all accrued but unpaid interest and fees (including
interest at the applicable Default Rate and any Make-Whole Amounts) on the Revolver
Loans owing to Revolver Lenders;

D ninth, pro rata, to the Revolver Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay the Outstanding Amount of the Revolver Loans until
such time as the Outstanding Amount of the Revolver Loans has been Paid in Full; and

Q) tenth, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and the Revolver Lenders,
to pay all remaining Credit Outstandings and other Revolver Obligations owing to
Administrative Agent or any Revolver Lenders.

(ili)  No Loan Party shall have the right to specify the order or the accounts to

which Administrative Agent shall allocate or apply any payments required to be made by any Loan
Party to Administrative Agent on behalf of Revolver Lenders or otherwise received by
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Administrative Agent on behalf of Revolver Lenders under this Agreement when any such
allocation or application is not specified elsewhere in this Agreement.

@iv) Following an Application Event, all payments or prepayments to
Administrative Agent or any Revolver Lender on account of the Revolver Obligations shall be
applied by Administrative Agent until exhausted in the following order:

(A) first, to Administrative Agent, to pay all fees, costs, expenses and
indemnification payments then due to Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents
(excluding all Protective Advances made by Administrative Agent);

(B) second, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and any Revolver Lender
which has made a Protective Advance, to pay all Protective Advances held by
Administrative Agent or any Revolver Lender and all unpaid interest on such Protective
Advances;

© third, pro rata, to the Revolver Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay all accrued but unpaid interest and fees (including
interest at the applicable Default Rate and any Make-Whole Amounts) on the Revolver
Loans owing to Revolver Lenders;

(D) fourth, pro rata, to the Revolver Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay the Outstanding Amount of the Revolver Loans until
such time as the Outstanding Amount of the Revolver Loans has been Paid in Full;

(E) fifth, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and the Revolver Lenders,
to pay all remaining Credit Outstandings and other Revolver Obligations owing to
Administrative Agent or any Revolver Lenders;

(€3] sixth, to Administrative Agent, to pay all fees, costs, expenses and
indemnification payments then due to Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents
(excluding all Protective Advances made by Administrative Agent);

(G) seventh, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and any Term Loan
Lender which has made a Protective Advance, to pay all Protective Advances held by
Administrative Agent or any Term Loan Lender and all unpaid interest on such Protective
Advances;

(H) eighth, pro rata, to the Term Loan Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay all accrued but unpaid interest and fees (including
interest at the applicable Default Rate and any Make-Whole Amounts) on the Term Loans
owing to Term Loan Lenders;

O ninth, pro rata, to the Term Loan Lenders according to their
respective Percentage Shares, to pay the Outstanding Amount of the Term Loans until such
time as the Outstanding Amount of the Term Loans has been Paid in Full; and

) tenth, pro rata, to Administrative Agent and the Term Loan

Lenders, to pay all remaining Credit Outstandings and other Term Loan Obligations owing
to Administrative Agent or any Term Loan Lenders.
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After payment in full of all Obligations (other than Unasserted Obligations), any surplus remaining
shall be paid to Borrowers or other Persons legally entitled thereto; if any deficiency exists, Borrowers shall
remain liable to the Agents and Lenders for such deficiency. If any Agent or any Lender, in its good faith
business judgment, directly or indirectly enters into a deferred payment or other credit transaction with any
purchaser at any sale of any collateral (including the Collateral), such Agent or such Lender, as applicable,
shall have the option, exercisable at any time, of either reducing the applicable Obligations by the principal
amount of the purchase price or deferring the reduction of the applicable Obligations until the actual receipt
by such Agent or such Lender of cash therefor.

(e) Cash Collateralization. With respect to all Letters of Credit outstanding at the time
of the acceleration of the Obligations under Section 8.02(a) or otherwise at any time after the Maturity Date,
Borrowers shall at such time deposit in a cash collateral account established by or on behalf of
Administrative Agent an amount equal to 105% of the aggregate Letter of Credit Usage. Amounts held in
such cash collateral account shall be under the sole dominion and control of Administrative Agent and
applied by Administrative Agent to the payment of drafts drawn under such Letters of Credit, and the
balance, if any, in such cash collateral account, after all such Letters of Credit shall have expired or been
fully drawn upon shall be applied to repay the other Obligations. After all such Letters of Credit shall have
expired or been fully drawn upon and all Obligations shall have been satisfied, the balance, if any, in such
cash collateral account shall be returned to Borrowers or to such other Person as may be lawfully entitled
thereto. If Borrowers fail to provide Collateralization as required by this Section 8.02(e), Revolver Lenders
may (and, upon direction of Administrative Agent, shall) advance, as Revolver Loans the amount of the
cash collateral required pursuant to the definition of Collateralization so that the then existing Letter of
Credit Usage is cash collateralized in accordance with the definition of Collateralization (whether or not the
Commitments have terminated, an Overadvance exists or the conditions in Section 4.02 are satisfied).

® Agent's Liability for Collateral. So long as the Agents and Lenders comply with
reasonable banking practices regarding the safekeeping of any collateral the subject of the Collateral
Documents, the Agents and Lenders shall not be liable or responsible for: (i) the safekeeping of all or any
such collateral; (ii) any loss or damage to all or any such collateral; (iii) any diminution in the value of all or
any such collateral; or (iv) any act or default of any carrier, warehouseman, bailee, or other Person. The
Loan Parties bear all risk of loss, damage or destruction of any collateral the subject of the Collateral
Documents.

(g) No Waiver. Any Agent's or any Lender's failure, at any time or times, to require
strict performance by any Loan Party of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall
not waive, affect, or diminish any right of such Agent or such Lender thereafter to demand strict
performance and compliance herewith or therewith. Each Agent and Lenders have all rights and remedies
provided under the UCC, by law, or in equity. Any amounts paid by any Agent or any Lender on any Loan
Party's behalf as provided herein are expenses reimbursable under Section 10.04 and shall bear interest at
the highest interest rate then applicable to any of the Obligations and shall be secured by the collateral the
subject of the Collateral Documents. No payments by any Agent or any Lender shall be deemed an
agreement to make similar payments in the future or a waiver of any Event of Default by any Agent or any
Lender.

(h) Right to Appoint Receiver. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and at all
times thereafter during the continuance of an Event of Default, each Agent shall be entitled to the immediate
appointment of a receiver for all or any part of the Collateral, whether or not waste or deterioration of the
Collateral has occurred; whether or not there is a risk that the Collateral is in danger of being lost, removed,
or materially injured; and whether or not other arguments based on equity or pursuant to statute would
justify the appointment. Each Agent and the Loan Parties agree and consent that said receiver shall be
directed to manage, protect, preserve, sell and otherwise dispose of all or any portion of the Collateral and
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continue the operation of the business of the Loan Parties, and to collect all revenues and profits thereof and
apply the same to the payment of all expenses and other charges of such receivership, including the
compensation of the receiver, and to the payment of the Loans and other fees and expenses due hereunder
and under the Loan Documents as aforesaid until a sale or other disposition of such Collateral shall be
finally made and consummated. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH LOAN
PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION CONSENTS TO AND
WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO OBJECT TO OR OTHERWISE CONTEST THE APPOINTMENT OF A
RECEIVER AS PROVIDED ABOVE. EACH LOAN PARTY (I) GRANTS SUCH WAIVER AND
CONSENT KNOWINGLY AFTER HAVING DISCUSSED THE IMPLICATIONS THEREOF WITH
COUNSEL, (IT) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) THE UNCONTESTED RIGHT TO HAVE A RECEIVER
APPOINTED FOR THE FOREGOING PURPOSES IS CONSIDERED ESSENTIAL BY EACH AGENT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE ENFORCEMENT OF THE LENDERS' AND AGENTS' RIGHTS AND
REMEDIES HEREUNDER AND UNDER THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, AND (B) THE
AVAILABILITY OF SUCH APPOINTMENT AS A REMEDY UNDER THE FOREGOING
CIRCUMSTANCES WAS A MATERIAL FACTOR IN INDUCING THE LENDERS TO MAKE THE
LOANS TO BORROWERS; AND (IIT) AGREES TO ENTER INTO ANY AND ALL STIPULATIONS IN
ANY LEGAL ACTIONS, OR AGREEMENTS OR OTHER INSTRUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH
THE FOREGOING AND TO COOPERATE FULLY WITH EACH AGENT AND THE LENDERS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE ASSUMPTION AND EXERCISE OF CONTROL BY THE RECEIVER
OVER ALL OR ANY PORTION OF THE COLLATERAL.

(6] Remedies Cumulative. The rights and remedies of the Agents and the Lenders
under this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, and all other agreements shall be cumulative. In addition
to the other rights and remedies set forth in this Agreement or in any other Loan Documents, the Agents and
the Lenders shall have all other rights and remedies not inconsistent herewith as provided under the UCC,
by law, or in equity. No exercise by an Agent or any Lender of one right or remedy shall be deemed an
election, and no waiver by any Agent or any Lender of any Default or Event of Default shall be deemed a
continuing waiver. No delay by any Agent or any Lender shall constitute a waiver, election, or acquiescence
by it.

SECTION 8.03 EQUITY CURE.

(a) Subject to the limitations set forth in clauses (e) and (f) below, Borrowers may cure
an Event of Default arising solely out of a breach of any of the financial covenants set forth in
Sections 6.13(a) and (d) (the "Specified Financial Covenants") if a Borrower (A) provides notice to
Administrative Agent within two (2) days' after the date that is the earlier to occur of (i) the date on which
the Compliance Certificate is delivered to Administrative Agent in respect of the applicable Test Period with
respect to which any such breach occurred, and (ii) the date on which the Compliance Certificate is required
to be delivered to Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 6.02(a) in respect of the applicable Test Period
with respect to which any such breach occurred and (B) receives Curative Equity within ten (10) days in the
case of the financial covenants set forth in Section 6.13(a), after the date that is the earlier to occur of (i) the
date on which the Compliance Certificate is delivered to Administrative Agent in respect of the applicable
Test Period with respect to which any such breach occurred, and (ii) the date on which the Compliance
Certificate is required to be delivered to Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 6.02(a) in respect of the
applicable Test Period with respect to which any such breach occurred; provided, that Borrowers' right to so
cure an Event of Default shall be contingent on its timely delivery of such Compliance Certificate as
required under Section 6.02(a).

(b) Each Borrower shall promptly notify Administrative Agent of its receipt of any

proceeds of Curative Equity (and shall immediately apply the same to the payment of the Obligations to the
extent required by Section 2.03(c)(iv)).
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(o) Any investment of Curative Equity shall be in immediately available funds and,
subject to the limitations set forth in clause (e) below, shall be in an amount that is sufficient to cause the
applicable Borrower to be in compliance with the Specified Financial Covenants as at the end of the
applicable Test Period (but not greater than such amount), calculated for such purpose as if such amount of
Curative Equity were additional Consolidated EBITDA for the last Fiscal Quarter in such Test Period (such
Fiscal Quarter, the "Designated Fiscal Quarter"). Contemporaneously with the receipt and application of
Curative Equity, such Borrower shall deliver to Administrative Agent an updated Compliance Certificate
that shall (i) include evidence of such Borrower's receipt of Curative Equity proceeds, and (ii) to cure the
financial covenants in Section 6.13(a), set forth a calculation of the financial results and balance sheet of
such Borrower as at the end of the applicable Test Period (including for such purposes the proceeds of such
Curative Equity (broken out separately) as deemed Consolidated EBITDA for the Designated Fiscal
Quarter), which shall confirm that on a pro forma basis after taking into account the receipt of such Curative
Equity proceeds, such Borrower would have been in compliance with the Specified Financial Covenants in
Sections 6.13(a) as of such date.

(d) Upon (i) the receipt of Curative Equity pursuant to this Section 8.03 and inclusion
of such Curative Equity in the calculation of the Specified Financial Covenants in Sections 6.13(a) as
deemed Consolidated EBITDA for any Test Period including the applicable Designated Fiscal Quarter, and
(ii) delivery of an updated Compliance Certificate conforming to the requirements of this Section 8.03, any
Event of Default that occurred and is continuing as a result of a breach of any of the Specified Financial
Covenants shall be deemed cured with no further action required by any Lenders. In the event a Borrower
does not cure all financial covenant violations, the existing Event(s) of Default shall continue unless waived
in writing by in accordance with Section 10.01 hereof.

(e) From and after the receipt by Administrative Agent of a written notice from a
Borrower (a "Notice of Intent to Cure"), on or prior to the date which is two (2) days after the date on
which the Compliance Certificate is required to be delivered to Administrative Agent pursuant to
Section 6.02(a) in respect of the Test Period with respect to which the Curative Equity is to be invested, that
Orion's existing equityholders intend to invest Curative Equity in such Borrower with respect to a particular
Test Period until the expiration of the tenth (10th) day after the date that is the earlier to occur of (i) the date
on which the Compliance Certificate is delivered to Administrative Agent in respect of the applicable Test
Period with respect to which any such breach occurred, and (ii) the date on which the Compliance
Certificate is required to be delivered to Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 6.02(a) in respect of the
applicable Test Period with respect to which any such breach occurred; provided, that such Borrower's right
to so cure an Event of Default shall be contingent on its timely delivery of such Compliance Certificate as
required under Section 6.02(a) and to the extent no Event of Default exists (other than an Event of Default
arising solely out of a breach of the Specified Financial Covenants), neither Agent nor any Lender shall
exercise any right under Section 8.02 solely on the basis of an Event of Default having occurred and being
continuing in respect of a failure to comply with the requirements of Section 6.13; provided that such
written notice shall be irrevocable upon receipt by Administrative Agent; provided, further, during such
period (until the Curative Equity has been received by such Borrower and has been used to prepay the
Loans to the extent provided in this Agreement), an Event of Default in respect of such failure to comply
shall continue to exist for all purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (including for the
purposes of Section 4.02 hereof).

® Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the foregoing or this
Agreement, (i) a Borrower's rights under this Section 8.03 may (A) be exercised not more than three (3)
times during the term of this Agreement and (B) not be exercised more in more than two consecutive Fiscal
Quarters, (ii) the amount of any Curative Equity in any Fiscal Quarter shall be no greater than the amount
required to cause such Borrower to be in compliance with the Specified Financial Covenants as at the end of
the applicable Test Period ending as of the last day of such Fiscal Quarter, and (iii) the Curative Equity
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shall be disregarded for purposes of determining Consolidated EBITDA for any pricing, financial covenant-
based conditions or any baskets with respect to the covenants contained in this Agreement and for all other
purposes under this Agreement or any other Loan Document (other than determining compliance with the
Specified Financial Covenants) and there shall be no pro forma reduction in Debt with the proceeds of any
Equity Cure for determining compliance with the Specified Financial Covenants or for determining any
pricing, financial covenant-based conditions or baskets with respect to the covenants contained in this
Agreement or for any other purposes under this Agreement or any other Loan Document (other than
determining compliance with the Specified Financial Covenants), in each case in the Fiscal Quarter in
which such Curative Equity is received.

ARTICLE IX
AGENTS

SECTION 9.01 APPOINTMENT AND AUTHORIZATION OF AGENTS.

Each Secured Party hereby irrevocably appoints WOCF to act on its behalf as Administrative
Agent, Collateral Agent and security trustee hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and authorizes
each such Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to each such
Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental
thereto. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the use of the term "agent" or "security trustee" in
this Agreement or the other Loan Documents with reference to Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent is
not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency
doctrine of any applicable law. The provisions of this Article IX are solely for the benefit of Lending
Parties, and neither Borrowers nor any other Loan Party shall have rights as a third-party beneficiary of any
of such provisions.

SECTION 9.02 RIGHTS AS ALENDER.

If the Person serving as an Agent hereunder is also a Lender, such Person shall have the same rights
and powers in such capacity(ies) as any other Person in such capacity(ies) and may exercise the same as
though it were not an Agent. Such Person and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, act as
the financial advisor or in any other advisory capacity for, make equity investments in, and generally engage
in any kind of business with any Loan Party or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of any Loan Party as if such
Person were not an Agent hereunder and without any duty to account therefor to any other Lending Party.

SECTION 9.03 EXCULPATORY PROVISIONS.

No Agent shall have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth herein and in the
other Loan Documents, and its duties hereunder are administrative in nature. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the Agents and White Oak and its Affiliates (in each of their respective
capacities as attorney-in-fact, general partner or manager for one or more of the Lenders):

(a) No Fiduciary Duties. Shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties,
regardless of whether a Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;

(b) No Obligations Regarding Certain Actions. Shall not have any duty to take any
discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers (including any consent, approval, acceptance,
election, designation, use of judgment or expression of satisfaction) contemplated hereby or by the other
Loan Documents unless directed in writing to take such discretionary action or exercise such discretionary
power by the applicable Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of Lenders as shall be
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expressly provided for herein or in any other Loan Documents with respect to such discretionary action or
discretionary power); provided that no Agent shall be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the
opinion of its counsel, may expose such Agent to liability or that is contrary to any Loan Document or
applicable Laws;

(© Disclosure Obligations. Shall not, except as expressly set forth herein and in the
other Loan Documents, have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any
information relating to any Loan Party or any of its Affiliates that is communicated to or obtained by the
Person serving as an Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity; and

(d) Limitation on Liability. Shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it:
(i) with the consent or at the request of Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of Lenders as
shall be necessary, or as the Agents shall believe in good faith shall be necessary, under the circumstances as
provided in Section 8.02 and Section 10.01); or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful
misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by a final and non-appealable judgment. The
Agents shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default or Event of Default, unless and until a Loan
Party, or a Lending Party provides written notice to an Agent describing such Default or Event of Default
and stating that such notice is a "Notice of Default". The Agents shall not be responsible for or have any
duty to ascertain or inquire into: (A) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection
with this Agreement or any other Loan Document; (B) the contents of any certificate, report or other
document delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith; (C) the performance or
observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth herein or therein or
the occurrence of any Default; (D) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of this
Agreement, any other Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document; or (E) the
satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article IV or elsewhere herein, other than to confirm receipt of
items expressly required to be delivered to Administrative Agent.

SECTION 9.04 RELIANCE BY THE AGENTS.

Each Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any
notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any
electronic message, Internet or intranet website posting or other distribution) believed by it to be genuine
and to have been signed, sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person. Each Agent also may rely
upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper
Person and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any condition
hereunder to the making of the Loans that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a specified
Lending Party, each Agent may presume that such condition is satisfactory to such Lending Party, unless
such Agent shall have received notice to the contrary from such Lending Party prior to the making of the
Loans. Each Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for any Loan Party), independent
accountants and other experts it selects and shall not be liable for any action it takes or does not take in
accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

SECTION 9.05 DELEGATION OF DUTIES.

Each Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder or
under any other Loan Document by or through any one or more sub-agents it appoints. Each Agent and any
such sub-agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through their
respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of this Article IX shall apply to any such sub-agent
and to the Related Parties of each Agent and any such sub-agent and shall apply to their respective activities
in connection with the administration and/or syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein, as well
as activities as Agent. No Agent shall be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of
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any sub-agents, except to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction determines in a final, non-
appealable judgment that an Agent acted with gross negligence or willful misconduct in the selection of
such sub-agents.

SECTION 9.06 RESIGNATION OF THE AGENTS.

Each Agent may at any time give notice of its resignation to Lending Parties and Administrative
Borrower. Upon receipt of any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, with,
unless an Event of Default exists, the consent of Administrative Borrower (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), to appoint a successor. If no such successor shall have
been so appointed by the Required Lenders, and shall have accepted such appointment within thirty (30)
days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation, then the retiring Agent may (but shall not be
obligated to) on behalf of Lending Parties, with, unless an Event of Default exists, the consent of
Administrative Borrower (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed),
appoint a successor Agent meeting the qualifications set forth in this Section 9.06; provided that, if such
Agent shall notify Lending Parties and Administrative Borrower that no qualifying Person has accepted
such appointment, then such resignation shall nonetheless become effective in accordance with such notice
and (a) the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder and under the other
Loan Documents (except that in the case of any Collateral held by any Agent on behalf of any Lending
Party under any of the Loan Documents, the retiring Agent shall continue to hold such Collateral until such
time as a successor Agent is appointed) and (b) all payments, communications and determinations provided
to be made by, to or through such Agent shall instead be made by or to each Lending Party directly, until
such time as the Required Lenders appoint a successor Agent as provided for in this Section 9.06. Upon the
acceptance of a successor's appointment as an Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed to and become
vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring (or retired) Agent (other than any
rights to indemnity payments and expense reimbursement owed to the retiring Agent), and the retiring
Agent shall be discharged from all of its duties and obligations hereunder or under the other Loan
Documents (if not already discharged therefrom as provided in this Section 9.06). The fees payable by
Borrowers to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise
agreed between such Borrower and such successor. After the retiring Agent's resignation hereunder and
under the other Loan Documents, the provisions of this Article IX and Section 10.04 shall continue in
effect for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of
any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while the retiring Agent was acting as Agent.

SECTION 9.07 NON-RELIANCE ON AGENT AND OTHER LENDERS.

Each Lending Party acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon any Agent,
any other Lending Party or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it
has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each
Lending Party also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon any Agent, any other
Lending Party or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it shall from
time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or
based upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any related agreement or any document furnished
hereunder or thereunder.

SECTION 9.08 NO OTHER DUTIES, ETC.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no Person identified herein or on the
facing page or signature pages hereof as a "Documentation Agent," "Co Agent," "Book Manager," "Book
Runner," "Arranger," "Lead Arranger," "Co-Lead Arranger" or "Co-Arranger," if any, shall have or be
deemed to have any right, power, obligation, liability, responsibility or duty under this Agreement or the
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other Loan Documents, other than: (a) in such Person's capacity as: (i) an Agent or a Lender hereunder; and
(ii) an Indemnitee hereunder; or (b) under Section 9.05.

SECTION 9.09 EACHAGENT MAY FILE PROOFS OF CLAIM.

In case of the pendency of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization,
arrangement, adjustment, composition or other judicial proceeding relative to any Loan Party, any Agent
(irrespective of whether the principal of the Loans shall then be due and payable as herein expressed or by
declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether any Agent shall have made any demand on any Loan
Party) shall be entitled and empowered (but not obligated), by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:
(a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect
of the Loans and all other Obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents as may be
necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of Lending Parties (including any claim for the
reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of Lending Parties and their respective
agents and counsel and all other amounts due Lending Parties under Sections 2.04, Section 2.09 and
Section 10.04) allowed in such judicial proceeding; and (b) to collect and receive any monies or other
property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same; and any custodian, receiver,
assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such judicial proceeding is hereby
authorized by each Lending Party to make such payments to such Agent and, in the event that such Agent
shall consent to the making of such payments directly to Lenders, to pay to such Agent any amount due for
the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of such Agent and its agents and
counsel, and any other amounts due to such Agent under Section 2.09 and Section 10.04. Nothing
contained herein shall be deemed to authorize any Agent to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on
behalf of any Lending Party any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting
the Obligations or the rights of any Lending Party or to authorize any Agent to vote in respect of the claim
of any Lending Party in any such proceeding.

SECTION 9.10 GUARANTY MATTERS.

Each Secured Party hereby: (a) irrevocably authorizes each Agent, at its option and in its discretion,
to release any Guarantor from its obligations under a Guaranty if such Person ceases to be a Subsidiary as a
result of a transaction permitted hereunder; and (b) agrees that, upon request by Administrative Agent at any

time, it will confirm in writing each Agent's authority to release any such Guarantor pursuant to this
Section 9.10.

SECTION 9.11  COLLATERAL AND OTHER MATTERS.

(a) Directions by Lenders.

@) Each Secured Party hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs each Agent:
(i) to enter into the Collateral Documents for the benefit of such Person; (ii) without the necessity
of any notice to or further consent from any such Person from time to time prior to an Event of
Default, to take any action with respect to any Collateral Documents or the collateral the subject
thereof that may be necessary to perfect and maintain perfected the Liens upon the collateral
granted pursuant to the Collateral Documents; (iii) [reserved]; (iv) to subordinate any Lien on any
property granted to or held by any Agent under any Loan Document to the holder of any Lien on
such property that is permitted by this Agreement or any other Loan Document to be senior to the
Lien of any Agent; (v) to consent to the sale of, credit bid, or purchase (either directly or indirectly
through one or more entities) all or any portion of the Collateral at any sale thereof conducted under
the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, including Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code; (vi) to credit
bid or purchase (either directly or indirectly through one or more entities) all or any portion
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of the Collateral at any sale or other disposition thereof conducted under the provisions of the UCC,
including pursuant to Sections 9-610 or 9-620 of the UCC; and (vii) to credit bid or purchase (either
directly or indirectly through one or more entities) all or any portion of the Collateral at any other
sale or foreclosure conducted or consented to by any Agent in accordance with applicable law in
any judicial action or proceeding or by the exercise of any legal or equitable remedy. In connection
with any such credit bid or purchase, (i) the Obligations owed to the Lenders shall be entitled to be,
and shall be, credit bid on a ratable basis (with Obligations with respect to contingent or
unliquidated claims being estimated for such purpose if the fixing or liquidation thereof would not
impair or unduly delay the ability of any Agent to credit bid or purchase at such sale or other
disposition of the Collateral and, if such contingent or unliquidated claims cannot be estimated
without impairing or unduly delaying the ability of any Agent to credit bid at such sale or other
disposition, then such claims shall be disregarded, not credit bid, and not entitled to any interest in
the Collateral that is the subject of such credit bid or purchase) and the Lenders whose Obligations
are credit bid shall be entitled to receive interests (ratably based upon the proportion of their
Obligations credit bid in relation to the aggregate amount of Obligations so credit bid) in the
Collateral that is the subject of such credit bid or purchase (or in the Equity Interests of the any
entities that are used to consummate such credit bid or purchase), and (ii) any Agent, based upon the
instruction of the Required Lenders, may accept non-cash consideration, including debt and equity
securities issued by any entities used to consummate such credit bid or purchase and in connection
therewith any Agent may reduce the Obligations owed to the Lenders (ratably based upon the
proportion of their Obligations credit bid in relation to the aggregate amount of Obligations so
credit bid) based upon the value of such non-cash consideration. Upon request by any Agent at any
time, each Lender will confirm in writing any Agent's authority to release or subordinate its interest
in particular types or items of collateral the subject of any Collateral Document pursuant to this
Section 9.11.

(ii) Secured Parties authorize each Agent to release any Lien on any Collateral
(a) upon Payment in Full of the Obligations; (b) that is the subject of a Disposition that a Borrower
certifies in writing is a Disposition permitted hereunder (and each Agent may rely conclusively on
such certificate without further inquiry); (c) in connection with any foreclosure sale or other
disposition of any collateral the subject of any Collateral Document after the occurrence of an Event
of Default; or (d) subject to Section 10.01, if approved, authorized or ratified by the Required
Lenders.

(iii) [Reserved].

@iv) Secured Parties authorize the Agents to subordinate their applicable Liens
to any Purchase Money Lien or other Lien entitled to priority hereunder. No Agent has any
obligation to assure that any Collateral exists or is owned by a Loan Party, or is cared for, protected
or insured, nor to assure that such Agent's Liens have been properly created, perfected or enforced,
or are entitled to any particular priority, nor to exercise any duty of care with respect to any
Collateral.

(b) Certain Actions by the Agents. Subject to Section 9.11(a)(iii) and Section 9.11(a)

(iv), Each Agent shall (and is hereby irrevocably authorized by each Lender to) execute such documents as
may be necessary to evidence the release or subordination of Liens granted to each Agent herein or pursuant
hereto upon the applicable collateral; provided that: (i) no Agent shall be required to execute any such
document on terms that, in any Agent's opinion, would expose such Agent to or create any liability or entail
any consequence other than the release or subordination of such Liens without recourse or warranty; and
(ii) such release or subordination shall not in any manner discharge, affect or impair the Obligations or any
Liens upon (or obligations of Borrowers or any other Loan Party in respect
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of) all interests retained by Borrowers or any other Loan Party, including the proceeds of the sale, all of
which shall continue to constitute part of the collateral the subject of the Collateral Documents. In the event
of any sale or transfer of any collateral the subject of any of the Collateral Documents, or any foreclosure
with respect to any of the collateral the subject of any of the Collateral Documents, each Agent shall be
authorized to deduct all expenses reasonably incurred by such Agent in connection with such action for
which an Agent is entitled to reimbursement pursuant to Section 10.04(a) from the proceeds of any such
sale, transfer or foreclosure.

(o) No Obligations Regarding_Certain Actions. The Agents shall have no obligation
whatsoever to any Lending Party or any other Person to assure that all or any of the collateral the subject of
the Collateral Documents exists or is owned by a Borrower or any other Loan Party or is cared for,
protected or insured or that the Liens granted to any Agent herein or in any of the Collateral Documents or
pursuant hereto or thereto have been properly or sufficiently or lawfully created, perfected, protected or
enforced or are entitled to any particular priority, or to exercise or to continue exercising at all or in any
manner or under any duty of care, disclosure or fidelity any of the rights, authorities and powers granted or
available to each Agent in this Section 9.11 or in any of the Collateral Documents, it being understood and
agreed that in respect of the collateral the subject of the Collateral Documents, or any act, omission or event
related thereto, each Agent may act in any manner it may deem appropriate, in its sole discretion, if such
Agent has an interest in the collateral the subject of the Collateral Documents by virtue of being one of the
Lending Parties.

(d) Appointment of Lending Parties as Agents. Each Lending Party hereby appoints
each other such Person as agent for the purpose of perfecting each Agent's or such Person's security interest
in assets that, in accordance with Article 9 of the UCC, can be perfected only by possession. Should any
such Person (other than an Agent) obtain possession of any collateral the subject of the Collateral
Documents, such Person shall notify the Agents thereof, and, promptly upon such Agent's request therefor,
shall deliver such collateral to such Agent or in accordance with such Agent's instructions.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, except as expressly set forth in Section 9.11(a)(iii), in no event shall
this Section 9.11 require any Agent to release (i) the Liens securing the Obligations on any Material
Intellectual Property or any of the Equity Interests of any Person that owns any Material Intellectual
Property or (ii) any Subsidiary from its obligations under the Guaranty if such Subsidiary owns any
Material Intellectual Property or any Equity Interests of any Person that owns any Material Intellectual
Property.

ARTICLE X
GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 10.01 AMENDMENTS, ETC.

No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and no
consent to any departure by a Borrower or any other Loan Party therefrom, shall be effective unless in
writing signed by the Required Lenders (or the Agents specified below at the written request of the
applicable Required Lenders specified below) (such request may be by electronic means)) and Borrowers or
the applicable Loan Party, as the case may be, with receipt acknowledged by each Agent, and each such
waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which
given; provided that:

@) no such amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed

by each Borrower and by any such Lender as to whom such amendment, waiver or consent is
intended to apply, with receipt acknowledged by Administrative Agent, do any of the following:
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(A) increase, or extend the expiry of, the Commitment of any Lender
(or reinstate any such Commitment to the extent terminated pursuant to Section 8.02)
without the written consent of such Lender;

(B) postpone or delay any date fixed by this Agreement or any other
Loan Document for any payment of principal, interest, any applicable Make-Whole
Amount, fees or other amounts due to any Lender hereunder or under any other Loan
Document, including any prepayments specified under Section 2.03, or reduce the amount
due to any Lender on any such date, in each case without the written consent of such
Lender; provided, however, that only the consent of (x) the Required Revolver Lenders
shall be necessary to amend the definition of "Default Rate", to the extent that such
amendment solely impacts the Revolver Loans, or waive any obligation of the Borrowers to
pay interest on the Revolver Loans at the Default Rate, or (y) the Required Term Loan
Lenders shall be necessary to amend the definition of "Default Rate", to the extent that such
amendment solely impacts the Term Loans, or waive any obligation of the Borrowers to
pay interest on the Term Loans at the Default Rate;

© reduce or forgive the principal of, or the rate of interest or the
Make-Whole Amount specified herein on, any or all of the Loans or other amounts payable
to any Lender hereunder or under any other Loan Document, in each case without the
written consent of such Lender; provided, however, that only the consent of (x) the
Required Revolver Lenders shall be necessary to amend the definition of "Default Rate", to
the extent that such amendment solely impacts the Revolver Loans, or waive any obligation
of the Borrowers to pay interest on the Revolver Loans at the Default Rate, or (y) the
Required Term Loan Lenders shall be necessary to amend the definition of "Default Rate",
to the extent that such amendment solely impacts the Term Loans, or waive any obligation
of the Borrowers to pay interest on the Term Loans at the Default Rate; or

(D) amend any provision herein or in any other Loan Document
providing for consent or other action by Required Lenders so that such consent or other
action requires the consent of a lesser or greater portion of the Lenders without the written
consent of all Lenders directly and adversely affected thereby; or

(E) (1) subordinate, or have the effect of subordinating, the Obligations
hereunder in right of payment to any other Debt, or (2) subordinate or have the effect of
subordinating, the Liens securing the Obligations to Liens securing any other Debt without
the written consent of all Lenders directly affected thereby; or

(ii) no such amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed
by all Lenders and Borrowers, with receipt acknowledged by Administrative Agent, do any of the
following:

(A) amend this Section 10.01, Section 2.09, Section 2.10 or
Section 8.02(d) or any provision herein providing for consent or other action by all
Lenders;

B) release, compromise or subordinate all or any substantial portion of
the collateral the subject of the Collateral Documents and securing the Obligations, except
as otherwise expressly provided herein or in any of the Collateral Documents, or amend the
definition of the obligations secured by any of the Collateral Documents;
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© release, compromise, subordinate or terminate any of the
Guaranties except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in any of the Loan Documents;

(D) amend the definition of "Required Lenders", "Required Term
Loan Lenders" and "Required Revolver Lenders" contained in Section 1.01;

(E) amend Section 10.06(b)(v);

® effect any waiver, amendment or modification of any Loan
Document that would alter the relative priorities of the rights of the Secured Parties in the
Collateral; or

(G) amend or otherwise modify this Agreement to (x) subordinate the
Liens on all or substantially all of the Collateral securing the Obligations to any Lien
securing other Indebtedness or (y) provide for payment subordination of the Obligations;

(iii)  any such amendment, waiver or consent shall be effective if in writing and
signed by the Required Term Loan Lenders and Borrowers, with receipt acknowledged by
Administrative Agent, to the extent that it does any of the following:

(A) amend Sections 2.01(a), 2.03(c)(i), (ii) or (iii), 2.03(d), 2.03(h), or
6.13(b) and provided that such amendments are not in any manner adverse to the Revolver
Secured Parties, or waive any Event of Default resulting from the failure to comply with
any of the foregoing;

B) amend the definitions of "Borrowing Base Report", "Eligible
Equipment"”, "Eligible Fleet Equipment"”, "Eligible Real Estate”, "Equipment
Formula Amount"”, "Fleet Equipment Formula Amount”, "NOLV", "Real Estate
Formula Amount”, "Term Loan", "Term Loan Amount"”, "Term Loan Borrowing
Base", "Term Loan Exposure”, "Term Loan Fee Letter", "Term Loan Lender",
"Term Loan Obligations", "Term Loan Overadvance", "Term Loan Reserves" or
"Term Loan Secured Parties";

© amend the definition of Applicable Margin (other than clause (b)
thereof) or the definitions of Term Loan Commitment, or Term Loan Maturity Date, subject
to the provisions of subclause (i) above;

(D) amend the definitions of "Anti-Corruption Laws," "Anti-Money
Laundering Laws," "OFAC," "PATRIOT Act," "Sanctioned Jurisdiction," "Sanctioned
Person," or "Sanctions," or Sections 5.22, 6.08, 6.11, or 7.11 (or any other defined terms
used therein) in a manner that would make such definitions or provisions to be more
restrictive with respect to any Loan Party than the respective provisions as currently in
effect in this Agreement;

(E) amend the definition of "Floor" with respect to Term Loans; or

(F) amend Section 6.13(b), amend any of the reporting covenants set
forth in any of the Loan Documents, add new covenants regarding leverage ratios, financial
reporting, financial performance and compliance with respect to such matters or described
therein, and add or amend Events of Default with respect to the foregoing, if such
amendments would cause such provisions to be more restrictive on the Loan Parties than
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the applicable provisions of the Loan Documents in effect immediately prior to such
amendment;

@iv) any such amendment, waiver or consent shall be effective if in writing and
signed by the Required Revolver Lenders and Borrowers, with receipt acknowledged by
Administrative Agent, do any of the following:

(A) amend the definitions of "Accounts Formula Amount",
"Borrowing Base Report", "Eligible Accounts", "Eligible Retainage Accounts",
"Eligible Unbilled Retainage Accounts”, "Rent and Charges Reserve", "Retainage
Accounts Formula Amount”, "Revolver Availability”, "Revolver Availability
Reserve", "Revolver Borrowing Base", "Fee Letter"”, "Revolver Lender", "Revolver
Loan", "Revolver Overadvance", "Revolver Secured Parties", "Revolver
Obligations"”, "Revolver Usage", "Unbilled Retainage Accounts Formula Amount",
"Value" (or any defined term used in such definitions for the purposes of such definitions);

(B) amend clause (b) of the definition of "Applicable Margin", or the
definitions of "Average Excess Revolver Availability", "Revolver Commitment", or
"Revolver Commitment Termination Date", subject to the provisions of subclause (i)
above;

©) amend any of Sections 2.01(b), 2.03(c)(v), 2.03(i) or 6.01(g), (h)
(i), (§) or (k) or waive any Event of Default resulting from the failure to comply with any
of the foregoing;

D) amend the definitions of "Anti-Corruption Laws," "Anti-Money
Laundering Laws," "OFAC," "PATRIOT Act," "Sanctioned Jurisdiction," "Sanctioned
Person," or "Sanctions," or Sections 5.22, 6.08, 6.11, or 7.11 (or any other defined terms
used therein) in a manner that would make such definitions or provisions to be more
restrictive with respect to any Loan Party than the respective provisions as currently in
effect in this Agreement; or

(E) amend the definition of "Fleor" with respect to Revolver Loans;

provided further that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein: (1) no amendment, waiver
or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Applicable Agent in addition to such Lenders (other
than any Defaulting Lender) as are otherwise required by this Section 10.01, affect the rights or duties of
such Agent under this Agreement or any other Loan Document; (2) no consent of a Borrower shall be
required with respect to any amendment or waiver described in Section 10.01(i)(D) or Section 10.01(ii)(A),
if at the time of such amendment or waiver a Default or Event of Default exists; (3) any amendment, waiver,
or consent with respect to any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document that relates only to
the relationship of the Lending Parties among themselves, and that does not affect the rights or obligations of
the Loan Parties (or any of them), shall not require consent by, or the agreement of, any Loan Party; (4)
Administrative Agent, and Borrower may amend any Loan Document without the consent of any other
party in order to correct technical errors, omissions or inconsistencies within or between the Loan
Documents; and (5) each Fee Letter may be amended, or rights or privileges thereunder waived, in a writing
executed only by the parties thereto.
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SECTION 10.02 NOTICES; ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS.

(a) Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications
expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in Section 10.02(b)), all notices and
other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight
courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail, sent by facsimile transmission or sent by approved
electronic communication in accordance with Section 10.02(b), and all notices and other communications
expressly permitted to be given by telephone shall be made to the applicable telephone number, as follows:

@) if to Borrowers, any other Loan Party or an Agent, to the address, facsimile
number, e-mail address or telephone number specified for such Person on Schedule 10.02; and

(ii) if to any Lender, to the address, facsimile number, e-mail address or
telephone number specified in its Administrative Detail Form.

Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be
deemed to have been given when received, and notices sent by facsimile transmission or by means of
approved electronic communication shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not given
during normal business hours for the recipient, shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of
business on the next Business Day for the recipient); provided that notices delivered through electronic
communications to the extent provided by Section 10.02(b) shall be effective as provided in such
subsection (b).

(b) Electronic Communications.

@) Each Lender agrees that notices and other communications to it hereunder
may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or
intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by each Agent; provided that the foregoing shall
not apply to notices to any Lender pursuant to Article II if such Lender has notified each Agent that
it is incapable of receiving notices under Article II by electronic communication; provided further
that, as of the Closing Date, each Lender which is a party hereto confirms that it is capable of
receiving notices under Article II by electronic communication. In furtherance of the foregoing,
each Lender hereby agrees to notify each Agent in writing, on or before the date such Lender
becomes a party to this Agreement, of such Lender's e-mail address to which a notice may be sent
(and from time to time thereafter to ensure that each Agent has on record an effective e-mail address
for such Lender). Each of the Agents and Borrowers may, in such Person's discretion, agree to
accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by means of electronic communication
pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to
particular notices or communications.

Unless an Agent otherwise prescribes: (A) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail
address shall be deemed received upon the sender's receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended
recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, return e-mail or other written
acknowledgement); provided that, if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal
business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the
opening of business on the next Business Day for the recipient; and (B) notices or communications posted
to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended
recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (A) of notification that such notice or
communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.
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(ii) Each Loan Party hereby acknowledges that: (A) each Agent may make
Specified Materials available to Lending Parties by posting some or all of the Specified Materials
on an Electronic Platform; (B) the distribution of materials and information through an electronic
medium is not necessarily secure and that there are confidentiality and other risks associated with
any such distribution; (C) the Electronic Platform is provided and used on an "As Is," "As
Avanasre" basis; and (D) neither Agents nor any of its Affiliates warrants the accuracy,
completeness, timeliness, sufficiency or sequencing of the Specified Materials posted on the
Electronic Platform. Each Loan Party further acknowledges that certain of the Lending Parties
(each, a "Public Lender") may have personnel who do not wish to receive material non-public
information with respect to the Loan Parties or their Subsidiaries or Affiliates or the respective
securities of any of the foregoing, and who may be engaged in investment and other market-related
activities with respect to such Persons' securities. Each Loan Party hereby agrees that: (1) all
Specified Materials that are to be made available to Public Lenders shall be clearly and
conspicuously marked "PUBLIC," which, at a minimum, shall mean that the word "PUBLIC" shall
appear prominently on the first page thereof; (2) by marking Specified Materials "PUBLIC," each
Loan Party shall be deemed to have authorized Lending Parties to treat such Specified Materials as
not containing any material non-public information with respect to each Loan Party or its securities
for purposes of United States federal and state securities laws (provided that, to the extent such
Specified Materials constitute Information, they shall be treated as set forth in Section 10.07);
(3) all Specified Materials marked "PUBLIC" may be made available through a portion of the
Electronic Platform designated "Public Investor" (or words to similar effect); and (4) each Agent
shall be entitled to treat any Specified Materials that are not marked "PUBLIC" as being suitable
only for posting on a portion of the Electronic Platform not designated "Public Investor" (or words
of similar effect).

EACH AGENT, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND ITS AFFILIATES, EXPRESSLY AND
SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS, WITH RESPECT TO THE ELECTRONIC PLATFORM, DELAYS
IN POSTING OR DELIVERY, OR PROBLEMS ACCESSING THE SPECIFIED MATERIALS
POSTED ON THE ELECTRONIC PLATFORM, AND ANY LIABILITY FOR ANY LOSSES,
COSTS, EXPENSES OR LIABILITIES THAT MAY BE SUFFERED OR INCURRED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE ELECTRONIC PLATFORM. NO WARRANTY OF ANY KIND,
EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSES, NON-INFRINGEMENT
OF THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS OR FREEDOM FROM VIRUSES OR OTHER CODE DEFECTS,
IS MADE BY AN AGENT OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ELECTRONIC PLATFORM.

(iii) Each Lender hereby agrees that notice to it in accordance with
Section 10.02(b)(i) specifying that any Specified Materials have been posted to the Electronic
Platform shall, for purposes of this Agreement, constitute effective delivery to such Lender of such
Specified Materials. @EACH LENDER: (A) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE SPECIFIED
MATERIALS, INCLUDING INFORMATION FURNISHED TO IT BY ANY LOAN PARTY OR
ANY AGENT PURSUANT TO, OR IN THE COURSE OF ADMINISTERING, THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS, MAY INCLUDE MATERIAL, NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION CONCERNING
THE LOAN PARTIES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OR THEIR
RESPECTIVE SECURITIES; AND (B) CONFIRMS THAT: (1) IT HAS DEVELOPED
COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES REGARDING THE USE OF MATERIAL, NON-PUBLIC
INFORMATION; (2) IT WILL HANDLE SUCH MATERIAL, NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION IN
ACCORDANCE WITH SUCH PROCEDURES AND APPLICABLE LAWS, INCLUDE
FEDERAL AND STATE SECURITIES LAWS; AND (3) TO THE EXTENT IT HAS SUCH A
PERSON, IT HAS IDENTIFIED IN ITS ADMINISTRATIVE DETAIL FORM
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A CONTACT PERSON WHO MAY RECEIVE SPECIFIED MATERIALS THAT MAY CONTAIN
MATERIAL, NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS COMPLIANCE
PROCEDURES AND APPLICABLE LAWS.

(© Change of Address, Etc. Borrowers and the Agents may change their respective
address(es), facsimile number(s), telephone number(s) or e-mail address(es) for notices and other
communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. Each Lender may change its address(es),
facsimile number(s), telephone number(s) or e-mail address(es) for notices and other communications
hereunder by notice to Borrowers and each Agent.

(d) Reliance by Lending Parties. Lending Parties shall be entitled to rely and act upon
any notices purportedly given by or on behalf of any Loan Party even if: (i) such notices were not made in a
manner specified herein, were incomplete or were not preceded or followed by any other form of notice
specified herein; or (ii) the terms thereof, as understood by the recipient, varied from any confirmation
thereof. Each Loan Party shall indemnify each Indemnitee from all losses, costs, expenses and liabilities
resulting from the reliance by such Person on each notice purportedly given by or on behalf of any Loan
Party. All telephonic notices to and other telephonic communications with an Agent may be recorded by
such Agent, and each of the parties hereto hereby consents to such recording.

SECTION 10.03 NO WAIVER; CUMULATIVE REMEDIES.

No failure by any Agent or any other Lending Party to exercise, and no delay by any such Person in
exercising, any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof; no single or
partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder shall preclude any other or further
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege. The rights, remedies, powers
and privileges herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, remedies, powers and
privileges provided by law.

SECTION 10.04 EXPENSES; INDEMNITY; DAMAGE WAIVER.

(a) Costs and Expenses. Borrowers shall pay (i) all reasonable and documented out-of-
pocket expenses incurred by each Agent, Lenders and their respective Affiliates, (A) in connection with this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including without limitation the reasonable and documented
fees, charges and disbursements of (1) one separate counsel for Administrative Agent (including fees, time
charges and disbursements of counsel who may be employees of Administrative Agent or its Affiliates), and
the Revolver Lenders, taken as a whole (and, in the case of an actual or potential conflict of interest, one
additional lead counsel for each affected party similarly situated) and if reasonably necessary, one local
counsel in each relevant jurisdiction and one regulatory counsel in each regulatory area of law (and, in the
case of an actual or potential conflict of interest, one additional local counsel in each relevant jurisdiction
and one additional regulatory counsel in each regulatory area of law for each affected party similarly
situated) for the Administrative Agent and the Revolver Lenders, taken as a whole (the "Revolver Single
Counsel Limitation"), (2) one separate counsel for Term Loan Lenders (including fees, time charges and
disbursements of counsel who may be employees of Term Loan Lenders or their Affiliates), taken as a
whole (and, in the case of an actual or potential conflict of interest, one additional lead counsel for each
affected party similarly situated) and if reasonably necessary, one local counsel in each relevant jurisdiction
and one regulatory counsel in each regulatory area of law (and, in the case of an actual or potential conflict
of interest, one additional local counsel in each relevant jurisdiction and one additional regulatory counsel
in each regulatory area of law for each affected party similarly situated) for the Administrative Agent and
the Term Loan Lenders, taken as a whole (the "Term Loan Single Counsel Limitation"), (3) outside
consultants for the each Agent, (4) appraisers, (5) all out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any workout,
restructuring or negotiations in respect of the Obligations, and (6) environmental site assessments,
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(B) subject to the Revolver Single Counsel Limitation and the Term Loan Single Counsel Limitation, in
connection with (1) the administration and/or syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein, (2) the
preparation, negotiation, administration, management, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents or any amendments, modifications or waivers of, or consents relating to, the
provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be
consummated), (3) the enforcement or protection of their rights in connection with this Agreement or the
Loan Documents or efforts to preserve, protect, collect, or enforce the Collateral, or (4) any workout,
restructuring or negotiations in respect of any Obligations, (ii) subject to the Revolver Single Counsel
Limitation, all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred by any Agent or any Revolver
Lender or any Affiliate of any of them after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of
Default and (iii) subject to the Term Loan Single Counsel Limitation, all reasonable and documented out-of-
pocket expenses incurred by any Term Loan Lender or any Affiliate of any of them after the occurrence and
during the continuance of an Event of Default.

(b) Indemnification by Loan Parties. Each Loan Party shall indemnify each
Indemnitee against, and hold harmless each Indemnitee from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities
and related expenses (including the reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, charges and
disbursements of counsel for any Indemnitee), incurred by any Indemnitee or asserted against any
Indemnitee by any third party or by a Borrower or any other Loan Party arising out of, in connection with,
or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any document,
agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the performance by the parties hereto of their
respective obligations hereunder or thereunder, or any other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby,
(ii) any Loan or the use or proposed use of the proceeds therefrom; or, in the case of an Agent (and any sub-
agent thereof) and its Affiliates only, the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
(iii) any actual or alleged presence or Release of Hazardous Materials on or from any property owned or
operated by any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Claim or Environmental
Liability related to the operations of any Loan Party, (iv) any claims of, or amounts paid by any Lending
Party to, a Collateral Account bank or other Person which has entered into a control agreement with any
Lending Party hereunder or (v) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding
relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory, whether brought by a
third party or by a Borrower or any other Loan Party or Subsidiary, and regardless of whether any
Indemnitee is a party thereto, in all cases, whether or not caused by or arising, in whole or in part, out of the
comparative, contributory or sole negligence of the Indemnitee; provided that such indemnity shall not, as
to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related
expenses (x) are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and non-appealable judgment to
have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee, (y) result from a claim
brought by a Borrower against an Indemnitee for breach in bad faith of such Indemnitee's obligations
hereunder or under any other Loan Document, if a Borrower has obtained a final and non-appealable
judgment in its favor on such claim as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or (z) result from a
claim not involving an act or omission of a Borrower and that is brought by an Indemnitee against another
Indemnitee (other than against the arranger or Agent in their capacities as such). This Section 10.04(b) shall
not apply with respect to Taxes other than Taxes arising from a non-Tax claim.

(© Reimbursement by Lenders. If a Borrower for any reason fails to pay when due
any amount that it is required to pay under Section 10.04(a) or Section 10.04(b) to each Agent (or any sub-
agent thereof) or any Related Party of any of the foregoing, (i) each Revolver Lender severally agrees to pay
to Administrative Agent (or any such sub-agent) or such Related Party, as the case may be, such Revolver
Lender's pro rata share (based on its Percentage Share (determined as of the time that the applicable
unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought)) of such unpaid amount and (ii) each Term Loan
Lender severally agrees to pay to Administrative Agent (or any such sub-agent) or such Related Party, as the
case may be, such Term Loan Lender's pro rata share (based on its Percentage Share
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(determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought)) of
such unpaid amount; provided that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability
or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against an Agent (or any such sub-agent)
or any Related Party of any of the foregoing acting for such Agent (or any such sub-agent) in connection
with such capacity. The obligations of Lenders under this subsection (c) are subject to the provisions of
Section 2.10(d).

(d) Waiver of Consequential Damages, Etc. To the fullest extent permitted by
applicable Laws, no party hereto shall assert, and each party hereto hereby waives, any claim against any
other party hereto, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as
opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement, any
other Loan Document or any document contemplated hereby, any of the other transactions contemplated
hereby or thereby, any of the Loans or the use of the proceeds thereof provided that this sentence shall not
limit the Loan Parties' indemnity or reimbursement obligations to the extent such special, indirect,
consequential or punitive damages are included in any third party claim in connection with which an
Indemnitee is otherwise entitled to indemnification under this Agreement or any other Loan Document. No
Indemnitee referred to in Section 10.04(b) shall be liable for any damages arising from the use by
unintended recipients of any information or other materials distributed by it through telecommunications,
electronic or other information transmission systems in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan
Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. Each Loan Party acknowledges that White
Oak and certain of its Affiliates are signing this agreement in their respective capacities as attorney-in-fact,
general partner or manager for certain of the Lenders solely for administrative purposes, and neither White
Oak nor any of its Affiliate shall have any responsibility or liability for any action taken by any of the
Lenders, nor shall White Oak or any of its Affiliates have any obligation to disclose any information
regarding any of the Lenders to any Loan Party or any other Person.

(e) Payments. All amounts due under this Section 10.04 shall be payable not later than
ten (10) Business Days after demand therefor.

® Survival. The agreements in this Section 10.04 shall survive the resignation of any
Agent, the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all other
Obligations.

SECTION 10.05 MARSHALLING; PAYMENTS SET ASIDE.

Neither Agent nor any other Lending Party shall be under any obligation to marshal any asset in
favor of any Loan Party or any other Person or against or in payment of any or all of the Obligations. To the
extent that any payment by or on behalf of any Loan Party is made to any Agent or any other Lending Party,
or any Agent or any other Lending Party exercises its right of setoff, and such payment or the proceeds of
such setoff or any part thereof is subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside
or required (including pursuant to any settlement entered into by any Agent or any other Lending Party in
such Person's discretion) to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party, in connection with any
proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law or otherwise, then: (a) to the extent of such recovery, the obligation
or part thereof originally intended to be satisfied shall be revived and continued in full force and effect as if
such payment had not been made or such setoff had not occurred; and (b) each Lending Party severally
agrees to pay to each Agent upon demand its applicable share (without duplication) of any amount so
recovered from or repaid by such Agent plus interest thereon from the date of such demand to the date such
payment is made at a rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Rate. The obligations of each Lending
Party under clause (b) of the preceding sentence shall survive the payment in full of the Obligations and the
termination of this Agreement.

138




SECTION 10.06 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

(a) Successors and Assigns Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns
permitted hereby, except that neither a Borrower nor any other Loan Party may assign or otherwise transfer
any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of Administrative Agent and each
Lending Party, and no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligation hereunder
except: (i) to an Eligible Assignee, in accordance with the provisions of subsection (b) of this Section 10.06;
(ii) by way of participation in accordance with the provisions of subsection (d) of this Section 10.06; or
(iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of subsection (f) of this
Section 10.06; and any other attempted assignment or transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void.
Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than
the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent
provided in subsection (d) of this Section 10.06 and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the
Related Parties of each of the Agents and each other Lending Party) any legal or equitable right, remedy or
claim under or by reason of this Agreement.

(b) Assignments by any Lender. Any Lender may at any time assign to one or more
Eligible Assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a
portion of its Commitment, the Loans at the time owing to it); provided that any such assignment shall be
subject to the following conditions:

@) Minimum Amounts.

(A) in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the
assigning Lender's Commitment (if any), the Loans at the time owing to it, no minimum
amount need be assigned; or

B) in any case not described in the immediately preceding
subclause (A), the aggregate amount of any Commitment (which, for this purpose, includes
the Outstanding Amount of all Loans) or, if the applicable Commitment is not then in
effect, the Outstanding Amount of all Loans of the assigning Lender subject to each such
assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such
assignment is delivered to Administrative Agent) shall not be less than $1,000,000 (or, if
less, the remaining portion of Lender's Outstanding Amount in the case of any assignment
in respect of the Outstanding Amount of the Loans), unless (I) Administrative Agent
consents (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and (II) so long as
a Default has not occurred and is continuing, Administrative Borrower consents (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed); provided that such Borrower shall
be deemed to have consented to any such amount unless it shall have objected thereto by
written notice to Administrative Agent within ten (10) Business Days following the date it
receives notice of such amount, and the consent of such Borrower shall not be required in
the event any Lender is assigning such lesser amount to an Eligible Assignee under
clauses (a) through (d) of either clause (I) or clause (II) of the definition thereof.

(ii) Proportionate Amounts. Each partial assignment shall be made as an
assignment of a proportionate part of all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this
Agreement with respect to the Loans or Commitments assigned.

139




(iii)  Required Consents. No consent shall be required for any assignment other
than:

(A) any consent required by Section 10.06(b)(i)(B);

(B) the consent of Administrative Borrower (which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed); provided that such Borrower shall be
deemed to have consented to any such assignment unless it shall have objected thereto by
written notice to Administrative Agent within ten (10) Business Days following the date it
received notice of such assignment; provided further that no consent of Administrative
Borrower shall be required under this Section 10.06(b)(iii)(B) if (I) an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing or (II) such assignment is to an Eligible Assignee under
clauses (a) through (d) of either clause (I) or clause (II) of the definition thereof; and

© the consent of Administrative Agent (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) if such assignment is: (I) an assignment of
a Commitment to a Person (irrespective of whether such Person is an Eligible Assignee)
who does not then have a Commitment; or (II) an assignment of Loans to a Person that is
not an Eligible Assignee under clauses (a) through (d) of either clause (I) or clause (II) of
the definition thereof.

@iv) Assignment and Assumption. The parties to each assignment shall execute
and deliver to Administrative Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and
recordation fee in the amount of $3,500; provided that Administrative Agent: (A) may, in its sole
discretion, elect to waive such processing and recordation fee in the case of any assignment; and
(B) shall waive such processing and recordation fee in the case of any assignment by a Lender to an
Eligible Assignee. The assignee, if it is not a Lender, shall deliver to Administrative Agent an
Administrative Detail Form and all documentation and other information with respect to the
assignee that is required by regulatory authorities under applicable "know your customer"
provisions of Anti-Money Laundering Laws, including the PATRIOT Act and all tax forms required
by Section 2.07.

W) No Assignment to any Loan Party or Affiliate. No such assignment shall
be made to any Loan Party or any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries.

(vi) No Assignment to Certain Persons. No such assignment shall be made to a
natural person.

Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by Administrative Agent pursuant to subsection (c) of

this Section 10.06, from and after the date recorded in the Register, the assignee thereunder shall be a party
to this Agreement and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the
rights and obligations of the assigning Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder
shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its
obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the
assigning Lending Party's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lending Party shall cease to be
a party hereto) but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.07, Section 2.08 and
Section 10.04 with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such
assignment. Upon request, each Borrower (at its expense) shall execute and deliver Notes to the assignee
Lending Party. Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that
does not comply with this subsection shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such
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Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with subsection (d) of this
Section 10.06.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents: (A) no Lender shall be required to comply with this Section 10.06(b) in connection with any
assignment of all or any portion of its rights and other obligations under or relating to the Loans, this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents to any Affiliate of such Lender (other than any Loan Party, any
Affiliate thereof or a natural person) or any Approved Fund related to such Lender, and such Lender shall
have no obligation to disclose any such assignment to any such Person; provided that such Lender shall
continue to be liable as a "Lender" under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents until such time, if
at all, that such Lender and such other Person have complied with the provisions of this Section 10.06(b) in
order for such other Person to become a "Lender" hereunder; (B) a Lender may pledge, or grant a security
interest in, all or any portion of its rights and other obligations under or relating to the Loans, this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents to a financial institution or other funding source (other than any
Loan Party, any Affiliate thereof or any natural person) or any trustee or agent therefor in support of
obligations owing by such Lender to such Person(s); (C) any Lender which is a fund may pledge, or grant a
security interest in, all or any portion of its rights and other obligations under or relating to the Loans, this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents to its trustee (except if such trustee is any Loan Party, any
Affiliate thereof or a natural person) in support of its obligation to its trustee; and (D) no pledge or grant of
a security interest pursuant to the immediately preceding clauses (A) or (C) shall release the transferor
Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents and such Lender
such Lender shall continue to be liable as a "Lender" under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents
until such time, if at all, that such Lender and such other Person have complied with the provisions of this
Section 10.06(b) in order for such other Person to become a "Lender" hereunder.

(o) Register. Administrative Agent, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary
agent of each Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices a copy of each Assignment and Assumption
delivered to it and a Register. The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and each
Borrower and Lending Parties may treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the
terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for
inspection by any Borrower and each Lender at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable
prior written notice. It is intended that the Register and any Participant Register (as defined below) be
maintained such that the Loans are in "registered form" for the purposes of the Code.

(d) Participations. Any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to,
any Borrower or any Agent, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural Person, any Loan Party or
any Loan Party's Affiliates or Subsidiaries) (each, a "Participant") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights
and/or obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitments and/or the Loans
owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged,
(ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such
obligations and (iii) each Borrower, Administrative Agent and Lenders shall continue to deal solely and
directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement.
For the avoidance of doubt, each Lender shall be responsible for the indemnity under Section 2.08(d) with
respect to any payments made by such Lender to its Participant(s).

Any document pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender
shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and to approve any
amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;
provided that such document may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant,
agree to any amendment, waiver or other modification described in the first proviso to Section 10.01 that
affects such Participant. Each Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of
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Section 2.07 and Section 2.08, (subject to the requirements and limitations therein) (it being understood
that the documentation required under Section 2.08(f) shall be delivered to the participating Lender who
shall hold such documentation for its behalf and on behalf of Borrowers and Agents)) to the same extent as
if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to Section 10.06(b); provided that
such Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.07 or Section 2.08,
with respect to any participation, than its participating Lender would have been entitled to receive. To the
extent permitted by applicable Laws, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 10.08
as though it were a Lender; provided that such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.09 as though it
were a Lender. Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary
agent of a Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the
principal amounts of (and stated interest on) each Participant's interest in the Loans or other obligations
under the Loan Documents (the "Participant Register"); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation
to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant or any
information relating to a Participant's interest in any commitments, loans or its other obligations under any
Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such
commitment, loan or other obligation is in registered form for the purposes of the Code. The entries in the
Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person
whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this
Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, neither Agent (in its
capacity as an Agent) shall have any responsibility for maintaining a Participant Register.

(e) Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest
in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement (including under its Note, if any) to secure
obligations of such Lender owing to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment
shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee
for such Lender as a party hereto.

® Electronic Execution of Assignments. The words "execution," "signed,"
"signature,” and words of like import in any Assignment and Assumption shall be deemed to include
electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal
effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper based recordkeeping
system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable Law, including the Federal
Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and
Records Act or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

SECTION 10.07 TREATMENT OF CERTAIN INFORMATION; CONFIDENTIALITY.

Each Agent and each other Lending Party (on behalf of itself and its Related Parties) each agrees to
treat the Information in a confidential manner and to not disclose the Information to Persons not party to
this Agreement (or Affiliates thereof), except that Information may be disclosed (including by means of the
Electronic Platform): (a) to its Affiliates and to its and its Affiliates' respective partners, directors, officers,
employees, agents, advisors, representatives and funding and financing sources (it being understood that the
Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information
and agree to keep such Information confidential on the same terms as provided herein); (b) to the extent
requested by any regulatory authority, purporting to have jurisdiction over it (including any self-regulatory
authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners); provided that each Agent or such
Lender, as applicable, will use commercially reasonable efforts to give Administrative Borrower advance
notice of such disclosure (to the extent not prohibited and reasonably possible); provided further that no
such advance notice shall be required to be delivered with respect to any routine audit or examination
conducted by any banking authority, auditor, or any governmental agency or other authority exercising
examination or regulatory authority over any Agent or any Lender which such examination is not directly
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focused on a Borrower, Guarantor or any of their Subsidiaries; (c) to the extent required by applicable Laws
or by any subpoena or similar legal process (in which case the Agents or Lenders, as applicable, shall notify
the Borrowers to the extent practicable and to the extent permitted by applicable Laws); (d) to any other
party hereto; (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under any other Loan
Document or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the
enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder; (f) to "Gold Sheets" or other similar bank trade publications
announcements; provided that such information consist solely of deal terms and other information
customarily found in such publications; (g) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the
same as those of this Section 10.07 to: (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of
or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement; or (ii) any actual or prospective
counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction or credit insurance relating to any Loan
Party; (h) with the consent of each Borrower; or (i) to the extent such Information: (i) becomes publicly
available other than as a result of a breach of this Section 10.07; or (ii) becomes available to any Agent, any
Lending Party or any of their respective Affiliates on a non-confidential basis from a source other any Loan
Party and not in contravention of this Section 10.07. For purposes of this Section 10.07, "Information"
means all material non-public information (including financial information) received from any Loan Party
relating to such Loan Party or its business, other than any such information that is available to any Agent or
any other Lending Party on a non-confidential basis, and not in contravention of this Section 10.07, prior to
disclosure by such Loan Party. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as
provided in this Section 10.07: (A) shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such
Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such
Person would accord to its own confidential information; and (B) shall not disclose any financial
information concerning any Loan Party or its business (including any information based on any such
financial information) or use any such financial information for commercial purposes without the prior
written consent of the applicable Loan Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Loan Party authorizes
each Lending Party to make announcements which are commonly known as "tombstones" of the financial
arrangements entered into among the Loan Parties, the Agents, and Lenders, in such publications as each
Lending Party may in its sole and absolute discretion deem appropriate. Any other announcements
regarding the financing arrangements among the Loan Parties, the Agents and Lenders may only be made
with the Borrowers' prior consent.

SECTION 10.08 RIGHT OF SETOFF.

If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each of Lending Parties and their
respective Affiliates is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted
by applicable Laws, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand,
provisional or final, in whatever currency) at any time held and other obligations (in whatever currency) at
any time owing by such Lending Party to or for the credit or the account of a Borrower or any other Loan
Party against any and all of the Obligations to such Lending Party or such Affiliate, irrespective of whether
or not such Lending Party shall have made any demand under this Agreement or any other Loan Document
and although such obligations of such Borrower or such Loan Party may be contingent or unmatured or are
owed to a branch or office of such Lending Party different from the branch or office holding such deposit or
obligated on such obligations. The rights of each Lending Party and its Affiliates under this Section 10.08
are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) that such Lending Party or its
Affiliates may have. Each Lending Party agrees to notify each Borrower and Administrative Agent
promptly after any such setoff and application; provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect
the validity of such setoff and application. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, NO LENDING
PARTY SHALL EXERCISE, OR ATTEMPT TO EXERCISE, ANY RIGHT OF SET OFF, BANKER'S
LIEN, OR THE LIKE, AGAINST ANY DEPOSIT ACCOUNT OR PROPERTY OF A BORROWER OR
ANY OTHER LOAN PARTY HELD OR MAINTAINED BY
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SUCH LENDING PARTY WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE
AGENT.

SECTION 10.09 INTEREST RATE LIMITATION.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any Loan Document, the interest paid or
agreed to be paid under the Loan Documents shall not exceed the Maximum Rate. If an Agent or any
Lender shall receive interest in an amount that exceeds the Maximum Rate, the excess interest shall be
applied to the principal of the Loans or, if it exceeds such unpaid principal, refunded to the applicable
Borrower. In determining whether the interest contracted for, charged, or received by an Agent or a Lender
exceeds the Maximum Rate, such Person may, to the extent permitted by applicable Laws: (a) characterize
any payment that is not principal as an expense, fee, or premium rather than interest; (b) exclude voluntary
prepayments and the effects thereof; and (c) amortize, prorate, allocate, and spread in equal or unequal parts
the total amount of interest throughout the contemplated term of the Obligations hereunder.

SECTION 10.10 COUNTERPARTS; INTEGRATION; EFFECTIVENESS.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in different
counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall
constitute a single contract. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents constitute the entire agreement
among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous documents,
agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Except as provided in
Section 4.01, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed and delivered by each
Agent and when each Agent shall have received counterparts hereof that, when taken together, bear the
signatures of each of the other parties hereto. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of
this Agreement by facsimile or in portable document format or by electronic signature shall be effective as
delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement. Electronic signatures shall be of the same
legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature to the extent and as provided for in
any applicable Law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the
New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform
Electronic Transactions Act.

SECTION 10.11 SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

All representations and warranties made hereunder and in any other Loan Document or other
document delivered pursuant hereto or thereto or in connection herewith or therewith shall survive the
execution and delivery hereof and thereof. Such representations and warranties have been or will be relied
upon by each Agent and each Lender, regardless of any investigation made by any Agent or any Lender or
on their behalf and notwithstanding that any Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any
Default at the time of any Credit Extension, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as any Loans
or any other Obligations (other than Unasserted Obligations) have not been Paid in Full.

SECTION 10.12 SEVERABILITY.

If any provision of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents is held to be illegal, invalid or
unenforceable, (a) the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement and
the other Loan Documents shall not be affected or impaired thereby and (b) the parties shall endeavor in
good faith negotiations to replace the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the
economic effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provisions. The invalidity of a provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.
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SECTION 10.13 PATRIOT ACT NOTICE.

Each Lending Party that is subject to the PATRIOT Act and each Agent (for itself and not on behalf
of any Lending Party) hereby notify each Borrower and each other Loan Party that, pursuant to the
requirements of the PATRIOT Act, they are each required to obtain, verify, and record, and each Borrower
and each other Loan Party agrees to provide to the requesting Lending Party or Agent promptly upon
request, information that identifies each Borrower and each other Loan Party, which information includes
the name and address of each Borrower and each other Loan Party and other information that will allow
such Lending Party or Agent, as applicable, to identify each Borrower and each other Loan Party in
accordance with the PATRIOT Act.

SECTION 10.14 [RESERVED].
SECTION 10.15 TIME OF THE ESSENCE.
Time is of the essence of the Loan Documents.
SECTION 10.16 GOVERNING LAW; JURISDICTION; ETC.

(a) GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY,
AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW OTHER THAN NEW YORK
GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW 5-1401 AND 5-1402).

(b) SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS, FOR ITSELF AND ITS PROPERTY, TO
THE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF NEW YORK SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY IN THE BOROUGH OF
MANHATTAN AND OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN
DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FROM ANY THEREOF, IN ANY
ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR
ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT TO WHICH EACH IS A PARTY, OR FOR RECOGNITION OR
ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF
ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH STATE
COURTS OR, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAWS, IN SUCH
FEDERAL COURTS. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT
IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE
ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER
MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW. NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENT SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT THAT ANY AGENT OR ANY OTHER LENDING
PARTY MAY OTHERWISE HAVE TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO
THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AGAINST ANY LOAN PARTY OR
ANY OF ITS PROPERTIES IN THE COURTS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION.

(c) WAIVER _OF VENUE. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAWS, ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR
HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN
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DOCUMENT IN ANY COURT REFERRED TO IN SUBSECTION (B) OF THIS SECTION 10.16.

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST
EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAWS, THE DEFENSE OF AN INCONVENIENT
FORUM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH
COURT.

(d) SERVICE OF PROCESS. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO
IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO SERVICE OF PROCESS IN THE MANNER PROVIDED FOR
NOTICES IN SECTION 10.02. NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT WILL AFFECT THE RIGHT
OF ANY PARTY HERETO TO SERVE PROCESS IN ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAWS.

SECTION 10.17 WAIVER OF RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL.

TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAWS, EACH OF THE
PARTIES HERETO HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM. EACH
OF THE PARTIES HERETO REPRESENTS THAT IT HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER AND
EACH KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS FOLLOWING
CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL. IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, A COPY OF
THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE FILED AS A WRITTEN CONSENT TO A TRIAL BY THE COURT.

SECTION 10.18 RELEASE.

Upon the proposed Disposition of any Collateral (including any Equity Interests) that is permitted
by this Agreement or to which Required Lenders have otherwise consented for which a Loan Party desires
to obtain a security interest release from an Agent and/or release of a Guarantor under its guaranty, such
Loan Party shall deliver an officer's certificate: (a) stating that the Collateral or Guarantor the subject to
such Disposition is being sold or otherwise disposed of in compliance with the terms of this Agreement; and
(b) specifying the Collateral being sold or otherwise disposed of in the proposed transaction. To the extent
permitted by this Agreement (and each Agent shall be permitted, but not required to rely on such
certificate), upon receipt thereof, each Agent shall, at such Loan Party's expense, return to such Loan Party
any such Collateral in the possession or control of such Agent and execute and deliver such releases of its
security interest in such Collateral and/or guaranty as may be reasonably requested by such Loan Party.

SECTION 10.19 TERMINATION.

This Agreement will terminate (other than indemnification provisions and other provisions that by
their express terms survive termination of this Agreement) upon the payment in full of all Obligations of
each Borrower (other than Unasserted Obligations). Upon any such termination, each Agent will, at each
Borrower's expense, return to the applicable Loan Party any Collateral in the possession or control of each
Agent or any Lender and execute and deliver to the Loan Parties such documents as any Loan Party shall
reasonably request to evidence such termination and release of security interests and guarantees.

SECTION 10.20 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND CONSENT TO BAIL-IN OF AFFECTED
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS.

Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding
among any such parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any Affected Financial
Institution arising under any Loan Document, to the extent such liability is unsecured, may be subject to
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the write-down and conversion powers of the applicable Resolution Authority and agrees and consents to,
and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

(a) the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable
Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party
hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution; and

(b) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
@) a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(ii) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other
instruments of ownership in such Affected Financial Institution, its parent undertaking, or a bridge
institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that such shares or other
instruments of ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such
liability under this Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(iii) the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise
of the write-down and conversion powers of the applicable Resolution Authority.

SECTION 10.21 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT REGARDING ANY SUPPORTED QFCS.

To the extent that the Loan Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for
Hedge Agreements or any other agreement or instrument that is a QFC (such support, "QFC Credit
Support” and each such QFC a "Supported QFC"), the parties acknowledge and agree as follows with
respect to the resolution power of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the Federal Deposit
Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together
with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the "U.S. Special Resolution Regimes") in respect of such
Supported QFC and QFC Credit Support (with the provisions below applicable notwithstanding that the
Loan Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated to be governed by the laws of the State of
New York and/or of the United States or any other state of the United States): In the event a Covered Entity
that is party to a Supported QFC (each, a "Covered Party") becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S.
Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported QFC and the benefit of such QFC Credit Support
(and any interest and obligation in or under such Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support, and any
rights in property securing such Supported QFC or such QFC Credit Support) from such Covered Party will
be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime
if the Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in
property) were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the event a
Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Party becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S.
Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Loan Documents that might otherwise apply to such
Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may be exercised against such Covered Party are permitted
to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special
Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and the Loan Documents were governed by the laws of the United
States or a state of the United States.

SECTION 10.22 ERRONEOUS PAYMENTS.

(a) Each Lender and any other party hereto hereby severally agrees that if (i) an Agent
notifies (which such notice shall be conclusive absent manifest error) such Lender (or a Lender which is an
Affiliate of such Lender) or any other Person that has received funds from an Agent or any of its Affiliates,
either for its own account or on behalf of a Lender (each such recipient, a "Payment Recipient") that such
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Agent has determined in its sole discretion (whether or not after receipt of any notice under clause (b)
below) that any funds received by such Payment Recipient were erroneously or mistakenly transmitted to,
or otherwise erroneously or mistakenly received by, such Payment Recipient (whether or not known to such
Payment Recipient) or (ii) any Payment Recipient receives any payment from an Agent (or any of its
Affiliates) (x) that is in a different amount than, or on a different date from, that specified in a notice of
payment, prepayment or repayment sent by an Agent (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such payment,
prepayment or repayment, as applicable, (y) that was not preceded or accompanied by a notice of payment,
prepayment or repayment sent by an Agent (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such payment,
prepayment or repayment, as applicable, or (z) that such Payment Recipient otherwise becomes aware was
transmitted or received in error or by mistake (in whole or in part) then, in each case, an error in payment
shall be presumed to have been made (any such amounts specified in clauses (i) or (ii) of this
Section 10.22(a), whether received as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees,
distribution or otherwise; individually and collectively, an "Erroneous Payment"), then, in each case, such
Payment Recipient is deemed to have knowledge of such error at the time of its receipt of such Erroneous
Payment; provided that nothing in this Section shall require such Agent to provide any of the notices
specified in clauses (i) or (ii) above. Each Payment Recipient agrees that it shall not assert any right or
claim to any Erroneous Payment, and hereby waives any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or
recoupment with respect to any demand, claim or counterclaim by an Agent for the return of any Erroneous
Payments, including without limitation waiver of any defense based on "discharge for value" or any similar
doctrine.

(b) Without limiting the immediately preceding clause (a), each Payment Recipient
agrees that, in the case of clause (a)(ii) above, it shall promptly notify Administrative Agent in writing of
such occurrence.

(© In the case of either clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) above, such Erroneous Payment shall at
all times remain the property of the Agent and shall be segregated by the Payment Recipient and held in
trust for the benefit of such Agent, and upon demand from such Agent such Payment Recipient shall (or,
shall cause any Person who received any portion of an Erroneous Payment on its behalf to), promptly, but in
all events no later than one Business Day thereafter, return to such Agent the amount of any such Erroneous
Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made in same day funds and in the currency so
received, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Erroneous
Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Payment Recipient to the date such amount is repaid to
such Agent at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by such Agent in accordance with
banking industry rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect (such amount, the "Erroneous
Payment Return").

(d) In the event that an Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) is not recovered by an
Agent for any reason, after demand therefor by such Agent in accordance with immediately preceding
clause (c), from any Lender that is a Payment Recipient or an Affiliate of a Payment Recipient (such
unrecovered amount as to such Lender, an "Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency"), then at the sole
discretion of such Agent and upon such Agent's written notice to such Lender (i) such Lender shall be
deemed to have made a cashless assignment of the full face amount of the portion of its Loans (but not its
Commitments) with respect to which such Erroneous Payment was made (the "Erroneous Payment
Impacted Loans") to such Agent or, at the option of such Agent, such Agent's applicable lending affiliate
(such assignee, the "Agent Assignee") in an amount that is equal to the Erroneous Payment Return
Deficiency (or such lesser amount as such Agent may specify) (such assignment of the Loans (but not
Commitments) of the Erroneous Payment Impacted Loans, the "Erroneous Payment Deficiency
Assignment") plus any accrued and unpaid interest on such assigned amount, without further consent or
approval of any party hereto and without any payment by the Agent Assignee as the assignee of such
Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment. Without limitation of its rights hereunder, following the
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effectiveness of the Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment, such Agent may make a cashless
reassignment to the applicable assigning Lender of any Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment at any
time by written notice to the applicable assigning Lender and upon such reassignment all of the Loans
assigned pursuant to such Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment shall be reassigned to such Lender
without any requirement for payment or other consideration. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that
(1) any assignment contemplated in this clause (d) shall be made without any requirement for any payment
or other consideration paid by the applicable assignee or received by the assignor, (2) the provisions of this
clause (d) shall govern in the event of any conflict with the terms and conditions of Section 10.06 and (3) an
Agent may reflect such assignments in the Register without further consent or action by any other Person.

(e) Each party hereto hereby agrees that (x) in the event an Erroneous Payment (or
portion thereof) is not recovered from any Payment Recipient that has received such Erroneous Payment (or
portion thereof) for any reason, each Agent (1) shall be subrogated to all the rights of such Payment
Recipient and (2) is authorized to set off, net and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such
Payment Recipient under any Loan Document, or otherwise payable or distributable by such Agent to such
Payment Recipient from any source, against any amount due to such Agent under this Section 10.22 or
under the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, (y) the receipt of an Erroneous Payment by a
Payment Recipient shall not for the purpose of this Agreement be treated as a payment, prepayment,
repayment, discharge or other satisfaction of any Obligations owed by Borrowers or any other Loan Party,
except, in each case, to the extent such Erroneous Payment is, and solely with respect to the amount of such
Erroneous Payment that is, comprised of funds received by such Agent from Borrowers or any other Loan
Party for the purpose of making a payment on the Obligations and (z) to the extent that an Erroneous
Payment (other than an Erroneous Payment comprised of funds received by an Agent from Borrowers or
any other Loan Party for the purpose of making a payment on the Obligations) was in any way or at any
time credited as payment or satisfaction of any of the Obligations, the Obligations or any part thereof that
were so credited, and all rights of the Payment Recipient, as the case may be, shall be reinstated and
continue in full force and effect as if such payment or satisfaction had never been received.

® Each party's obligations under this Section 10.22 shall survive the resignation or
replacement of an Agent or any transfer of right or obligations by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the
termination of the Commitments or the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all Obligations (or any
portion thereof) under any Loan Document.

(g) The provisions of this Section 10.22 to the contrary notwithstanding, (i) nothing in
this Section 10.22 will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from any
Payment Recipient's receipt of an Erroneous Payment and (ii) there will only be deemed to be a recovery of
the Erroneous Payment to the extent that such Agent has received payment from the Payment Recipient in
immediately available funds the Erroneous Payment Return, whether directly from the Payment Recipient,
as a result of the exercise by such Agent of its rights of subrogation or set off as set forth above in clause (e)
or as a result of the receipt by Agent Assignee of a payment of the outstanding principal balance of the
Loans assigned to Agent Assignee pursuant to an Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment, but excluding
any other amounts in respect thereof (it being agreed that any payments of interest, fees, expenses or other
amounts (other than principal) received by Agent Assignee in respect of the Loans assigned to Agent
Assignee pursuant to an Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment shall be the sole property of the Agent
Assignee and shall not constitute a recovery of the Erroneous Payment).

[Signature pages follow.
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the
date first written above.




BORROWERS:

ORION GROUP HOLDINGS
INC., a Delaware corporation

ORION MARINE
CONTRACTORS, INC,, a
Delaware corporation

ORION CONCRETE
CONSTRUCTION, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability
company

TAS CONCRETE
CONSTRUCTION LLC, a
Delaware limited liability
company

TONY BAGLIORE
CONCRETE, INC., a Texas
corporation

T.A.S. COMMERCIAL
CONCRETE SOLUTIONS,
LLC, a Texas limited liability
company

T.A.S. PROCO, LLC, a Texas
limited liability company

ORION CONSTRUCTION,
LLC, a Texas limited liability
company

ORION INDUSTRIAL
CONSTRUCTION, LLC, a
Louisiana limited liability
company

INDUSTRIAL CHANNEL AND
DOCK COMPANY, a Texas
corporation

COMMERCIAL CHANNEL
AND DOCK COMPANY, a
Texas corporation

T.LAQUAY DREDGING, LLC,
a Texas limited liability company

KING FISHER MARINE
SERVICE, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company

ORION CORPORATE
SERVICES, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company

ORION ADMINISTRATIVE
SERVICES, INC., a Texas
corporation

EAST & WEST JONES
PLACEMENT AREAS, LLC, a
Texas limited liability company

PREFERRED TOOL
SERVICES, INC., a Texas



corporation




ORION MARINE GROUP,
LLC, a Texas limited liability
company

SCHNEIDER E&C COMPANY,
INC,, a Florida corporation

ORION MARINE
CONSTRUCTION INC., a
Florida corporation

SSL SOUTH, LLC, a Florida
limited liability company

ORION GOVERNMENT
SERVICES, LLC, a Washington
limited liability company

MISENER MARINE
CONSTRUCTION, INC,, a
Georgia corporation

ARTEMIS BUSINESS
SOLUTIONS, LLC, a Louisiana
limited liability company

By: /s/ Travis J. Boone

Name: Travis J. Boone

Title: President & Chief Executive
Officer




AGENTS:

WHITE OAK COMMERCIAL
FINANCE, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability
company, as Administrative Agent
and Collateral Agent

By: /s/ Robert L. Dean
Name: Robert L. Dean
Title: Executive Vice President

LENDERS:

WHITE OAK ABL, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability
company, as attorney-in-fact for
each of the Lenders so identified
on Schedule 2.01(a) to the
Agreement

By: /s/ Thomas K. Otte
Name: Thomas K. Otte
Title: Manager

WHITE OAK COMMERCIAL
FINANCE, LLC,

not in its individual capacity but as
attorney-in-fact for all Revolver
Lenders

By: /s/ Robert L. Dean
Name: Robert L. Dean
Title: Executive Vice President




SCHEDULE 5.08
Schedule of Permitted Uses of Proceeds of Loans

Borrowers shall use the proceeds of the Term Loan made on the Closing Date (i) to refinance
certain of the existing Debt of the Borrowers, and (ii) to pay fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection
with the Loan Agreement, (iii) to satisfy certain past due accounts payable, including certain past due
amounts owing to subcontractors and material suppliers, and (iv) for working capital and general corporate
purposes (including investments, restricted payments and capital expenditures), in each case, in accordance
with the Loan Agreement.

Borrowers shall use the proceeds of the Revolver Loans (i) to refinance certain of the existing Debt
of the Borrowers, and (ii) to pay fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Loan Agreement,
(iii) to satisfy certain past due accounts payable, including certain past due amounts owing to subcontractors
and material suppliers, and (iv) for working capital and general corporate purposes (including investments,
restricted payments and capital expenditures), in each case, in accordance with the Loan Agreement.




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a - 14(a)/15d - 14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED

I, Travis J. Boone, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Form 10-Q of Orion Group Holdings, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)), and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
Quarterly report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Travis J. Boone
May 15, 2023 Travis J. Boone
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a - 14(a)/15d - 14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED

I, Scott Thanisch, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Form 10-Q of Orion Group Holdings, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)), and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
Quarterly report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Scott Thanisch
May 15, 2023 Scott Thanisch
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Orion Group Holdings, Inc (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Travis
J. Boone, President and Chief Executive Officer and Scott Thanisch, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to our knowledge:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result
of operations of the Company.

By: /s/Travis J. Boone
May 15, 2023 Travis J. Boone
President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ Scott Thanisch
May 15, 2023 Scott Thanisch
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




